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The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed or supplemented. The securities described in this prospectus cannot be sold
until the registration statement that we have filed to cover the securities has become effective under the rules of the Securities and Exchange
Commission. This prospectus is not an offer to sell the securities, nor is it a solicitation of an offer to buy the securities in any jurisdiction where an
offer or sale is not permitted.
SUBJECT TO COMPLETION, DATED APRIL 15, 2005
PROSPECTUS

Shares of Common Stock

This is our initial public offering. We are offering
shares of our common stock and the selling stockholders are offering
common stock. We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of shares by the selling stockholders.

shares of our

We expect the public offering price to be between $
and $
per share. Prior to this offering, there has been no public market for our
common stock. We intend to apply to list our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "JRT."
We are managed by JER Commercial Debt Advisors LLC, an affiliate of J.E. Robert Company, Inc. We are organized and conduct our operations to
qualify as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, for federal income tax purposes. We intend to elect to be taxed as a REIT commencing with our taxable year
ended December 31, 2004.

Investing in our common stock involves risks. See " Risk Factors" beginning on page 11 of this prospectus for a
discussion of those risks.
Per Share

Public offering price
Underwriting discount
Proceeds to us, before expenses
Proceeds to selling stockholders, before expenses

$
$
$
$

We expect delivery of the shares of common stock to be on or about

Total

$
$
$
$

, 2005.

We have granted the underwriters a 30 day option from the date of this prospectus to purchase up to an additional shares of our common stock at the
offering price less the underwriting discount to cover over-allotments, if any.
Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission, any state securities commission, nor any other regulatory body has approved or
disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

FRIEDMAN BILLINGS RAMSEY

BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES LLC
The date of this prospectus is

, 2005

Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS
SUMMARY
RISK FACTORS
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
USE OF PROCEEDS
CAPITALIZATION
DISTRIBUTION POLICY
DILUTION
PRICE RANGE OF SHARES OF OUR COMMON STOCK
SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
OUR COMPANY
OPERATING POLICIES AND STRATEGIES
OUR MANAGER AND THE MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT
MANAGEMENT
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
SELLING STOCKHOLDERS
DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK
SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE
IMPORTANT PROVISIONS OF MARYLAND LAW AND OF OUR CHARTER AND BY-LAWS
FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS
ERISA CONSIDERATIONS
UNDERWRITING
LEGAL MATTERS
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1
11
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
50
64
67
76
82
83
84
85
90
91
96
116
118
121
121
F-1

You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus. Neither we nor the underwriters have authorized anyone to provide you
with different or additional information. This prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell, or a solicitation of an offer to purchase, the securities
offered by this prospectus in any jurisdiction to or from any person to whom or from whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation of an
offer in such jurisdiction. You should not assume that the information contained in this prospectus is accurate as of any date other than the date on
the front cover of this prospectus. Neither the delivery of this prospectus nor any distribution of securities pursuant to this prospectus shall, under
any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the information set forth in this prospectus or in our affairs since the date
of this prospectus.
i
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SUMMARY
The following summary highlights information contained elsewhere in this prospectus. You should read the entire prospectus, including "Risk Factors,"
before making a decision to invest in our common stock. In this prospectus, unless the context suggests otherwise, references to "our company," "the
company," "we," "us" and "our" mean JER Investors Trust Inc. Unless indicated otherwise, the information included in this prospectus assumes no exercise of
the underwriters' option to purchase up to
additional shares of our common stock and that the common stock to be sold in this offering is sold at
$ per share, which is the midpoint of the range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus.
Our Company
We are a specialty finance company organized by J.E. Robert Company, Inc. primarily to originate and acquire real estate debt securities and loans. We
are externally managed and advised by JER Commercial Debt Advisors LLC, an affiliate of J.E. Robert Company, Inc. J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates
are a fully integrated real estate investment management firm. We will continue to capitalize on the knowledge and substantial resources of J.E. Robert
Company and its affiliates. We intend to take advantage of the growing volume and complexity of commercial real estate structured finance products by
investing primarily in loans and debt securities that we believe will yield attractive risk-adjusted returns. Our target investments include commercial real
estate structured finance products such as commercial mortgage backed securities (commonly known as CMBS), mezzanine loans and B-Note participations
in mortgage loans, as well as commercial mortgage loans, loans to real estate companies, preferred equity and net-leased real estate. We may also invest in
residential mortgages and related securities.
We were organized in April 2004 and completed a private placement of our common stock in June 2004. We have fully invested the proceeds from the
private placement and have acquired a portfolio of CMBS, mezzanine loans and B-Note participations in mortgage loans.
Since raising our initial equity in June 2004, we have invested approximately $348.9 million in commercial real estate debt securities and loans. As of
December 31, 2004, we had invested in the following:
Estimated
Fair Value (1)

% of Our Total
Investments

Estimated Yield
to Maturity

(in
thousands)

CMBS
BBB
BB
B
Non-rated

$

CMBS
Mezzanine loans
Total at December 31, 2004

(1)

$

66,226
40,295
37,850
22,699

33.6%
20.5%
19.2%
11.5%

5.5%
7.4%
10.5%
14.7%

167,070
29,865

84.8%
15.2%

8.3%
9.9%

196,935

100.0%

8.5%

Our CMBS investments are carried at estimated fair value. In estimating fair value, we generally use available pricing information from dealers who
make markets in these securities, but under certain circumstances, we may adjust these valuations based on our knowledge of the securities and the
underlying collateral.

During the period from January 1, 2005 through April 15, 2005, we acquired two mezzanine loans totaling $34.5 million, $92.6 million in CMBS
comprised of BBB-, BB, B and non-rated classes of bonds and a $34 million
1
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B-Note participation in a $176.5 million mortgage loan. During the same period, we also originated three mezzanine loans totaling $7.5 million. In February
2005, we sold 50% of our B-Note participation to an unaffiliated third party at par, reducing our investment to $16.8 million.
Our investments generally are secured, directly or indirectly, by individual real estate properties or portfolios of real estate properties with a loan to
value ratio ranging from 60% to 90%. We currently finance our investments with short-term warehouse facilities, but we intend to use match-funded
financing structures, such as collateralized debt obligations, or CDOs. Our strategy is to maximize the difference between the yield on our investments and the
cost of financing these investments. Our objective is to generate cash for distribution, increase net asset value per share and provide attractive total returns to
our stockholders.
Competitive Strengths
We believe that our competitive strengths include:
•

Strong Management Team. The principal executives of our manager have an average of more than 19 years of experience in real estate
investing and finance, including significant experience in CMBS investment, private equity investment, capital markets, transaction structuring
and risk management, providing us with significant expertise in key areas of our business.

•

Disciplined Underwriting. Established in 1981, J.E. Robert Company has significant experience as a real estate investor and provides us with
the expertise to implement our detailed underwriting approach. The non-investment grade nature of certain CMBS and mezzanine loans increases
the importance of underwriting both the borrower and underlying real estate assets.

•

Access to J.E. Robert Company's Extensive Relationships. J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates' extensive relationships with participants in
the real estate industry and participants in real estate financing also provides us access to significant investment and financing opportunities. In
addition, our relationship with J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates' provides us access to their extensive relationships with major financial
institutions that provide both short-term lending facilities as well as long-term structured debt capabilities through the issuance of CDOs. These
relationships are important in structuring debt programs to achieve our goals of match-funding our debt and our investments.

•

Special Servicer Expertise. J.E. Robert Company currently has the highest special servicer ratings from both Fitch Investor's Service, Inc. and
Standard & Poor's, Inc. The special servicer function is critical with respect to maximizing the return of principal and interest from the underlying
loans. As an experienced special servicer, J.E. Robert Company has gained in-depth knowledge of debt, loan participation and syndication
documentation, intercreditor agreements, bankruptcy and other creditor rights issues. We believe this expertise provides us a competitive
advantage in sourcing and structuring our investments.
Summary Risk Factors

An investment in shares of our common stock involves various material risks. You should consider carefully the risks discussed below and under "Risk
Factors" before purchasing our common stock:
•

We have a limited operating history and limited experience operating as a REIT or a public company and may not operate successfully.

•

We are dependent upon our manager and certain key personnel of J.E. Robert Company provided to us through our manager and may not find a
suitable replacement if our manager terminates the management agreement or key personnel are no longer available to us.
2
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•

There are conflicts of interest in our relationship with J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates and with our manager that could result in decisions
that are not in the best interest of our stockholders, such as conflicts in allocating investments that may also be suitable for J.E. Robert Company
and its affiliates or in allocating time of officers between us and J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates.

•

The conflicts of interest policy developed by J.E. Robert Company and the JER Fund III partnership agreement may limit the type of investments
we make and may impact our ability to comply with REIT requirements and restrictions and with the Investment Company Act.

•

The incentive fee may cause our manager to invest in more risky investments to increase Funds From Operations and thereby increase the
incentive fee earned by our manager.

•

The base management fee is payable to our manager regardless of our performance.

•

Our board of directors has approved very broad investment guidelines for our manager and does not approve each investment decision made by
our manager.

•

Our investments in mortgage backed securities are subject to the risks of delinquency and foreclosure, which could subject us to losses.

•

Investments in mezzanine loans and B-Notes involve greater risks of loss than senior loans secured by income producing properties.

•

We expect to incur significant debt to finance our investments, which will subject us to increased risk of loss and reduce the cash available for
distributions to our stockholders.

•

We may not be able to access financing sources on favorable terms, or at all, which could adversely affect our ability to execute our business
plan.

•

We may not be able to acquire eligible securities for a CDO issuance, or may not be able to issue CDO securities on attractive terms that closely
match fund the duration of our assets and liabilities, which may require us to seek more costly financing for our investments or to liquidate assets.

•

Interest rate fluctuations may reduce the returns on our investments and cause losses.

•

We are subject to significant competition and we may not compete successfully.

•

Future sales of shares of our common stock, including shares eligible for resale by our existing stockholders upon effectiveness of our resale
registration statement within 90 days after the completion of this offering, may depress the price of our shares.

•

Our failure to qualify as a REIT would result in higher taxes and reduced cash available for distribution to our stockholders.

•

Maintenance of our Investment Company Act exemption imposes limits on our operations.

•

The stock ownership limit for REITs imposed by the Internal Revenue Code and our charter may reduce the liquidity of our common stock and
restrict business combination opportunities.

•

Complying with REIT requirements may cause us to forego otherwise attractive business opportunities.

•

Our manager has discretion in the use of the proceeds of this offering, and investors in this offering will not have an opportunity to evaluate the
investments that may be made with the proceeds of this offering.
3
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Targeted Investments
We have the ability to invest across a wide range of assets, allowing us to determine the type of investment in a project that we believe will offer the
best risk-adjusted return. As certain of our targeted asset classes (summarized below) become relatively more attractive, we can adjust our asset mix to invest
in the portion of the capital structure that we believe offers the best relative value.
•

CMBS. Within the CMBS market, we intend to focus on (i) non-investment grade classes, including the BB rated, B rated and non-rated classes,
which together typically total 3% to 6% of the principal amount of a CMBS issuance and (ii) BBB rated classes, which typically total 3% to 4%
of the principal amount of a CMBS issuance. According to Commercial Mortgage Alert (January 7, 2005), CMBS issuance in the United States
averaged approximately $68 billion per year from 2000 through 2004 and increased by a compound annual growth rate of more than 17% over
that same five-year period. We believe that CMBS issuance will continue to increase over the next several years. We believe the investment
opportunity in CMBS currently lies in our ability to underwrite prudently and purchase the "first-loss" tranches and non-investment grade bonds,
capitalizing on our manager's ability to price the underlying real estate risk.

•

Mezzanine Loans. We intend to originate and invest in mezzanine loans, which are subordinate to conventional first mortgage loans and senior
to the borrower's equity. A mezzanine loan is typically secured by a subordinate mortgage on the property or the borrower's ownership interest in
the property owner. We may hold junior or senior positions in such mezzanine loans.

•

B-Notes. "B-Notes" are junior participations in a first mortgage loan on a single property or group of related properties. The B-Note market has
grown substantially in recent years with the expansion of the securitization market. The senior participation is known as the "A-Note." The BNote shares a single borrower and mortgage with the A-Note and is secured by the same collateral.

•

Bridge Loans. We intend to provide bridge loans to borrowers who are typically seeking short-term capital to be used in the acquisition,
construction or redevelopment of a property. We expect our bridge loans to be predominantly secured by first mortgage liens on the property.

•

Net Leased Real Estate. We expect to make investments in net leased real estate assets. J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates' underwriting
experience with this class of assets also allows us to pursue assets with lease terms of under 10 years.

•

Other Real Estate Structured Finance Products. We may invest in other real estate structured finance products, including preferred equity,
commercial mortgage loans, residential mortgages and related securities and loans to real estate companies that are not specific to a particular
property. We may acquire portfolios of performing mortgage loans at a discount where we believe we can achieve appropriate risk adjusted
returns. We may also make investments in real estate-related operating companies, including REITs. These investments may take the form of
secured debt, preferred stock and other hybrid instruments such as corporate mezzanine loans.
Our Manager

We are externally managed and advised by JER Commercial Debt Advisors LLC, an affiliate of J.E. Robert Company. JER Commercial Debt Advisors
LLC is 99% owned by Mr. Joseph E. Robert, Jr. and 1% owned by J.E. Robert Company, Inc. J.E. Robert Company is wholly owned by Mr. Robert. Founded
in 1981, J.E. Robert Company is a fully integrated real estate investment management firm with more than 23 years of experience in sourcing, underwriting
and managing a broad spectrum of real estate debt products and equity investments.
4
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During the 1980s and early 1990s, J.E. Robert Company was retained by U.S. governmental agencies, including the U.S. Federal Savings and Loan Insurance
Company, the U.S. Resolution Trust Corporation and the U.S. Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, to manage and liquidate non-performing financial
assets. Starting in 1991, J.E. Robert Company managed portfolios of performing, sub-performing and non-performing mortgage loans and real estate assets
for other institutional investors. In addition to identifying investment opportunities for these investors, J.E. Robert Company was responsible for overseeing
the due diligence, valuation, acquisition, asset management and disposition of the investments. J.E. Robert Company currently has the highest special servicer
ratings from Fitch Investors Service, Inc. and Standard & Poor's, Inc. rating services, and has served as special servicer or asset manager for over 30
securitized pools of non-performing and performing commercial loans with a par value at issuance of over $15 billion. Since 1997, J.E. Robert Company has
primarily conducted its real estate investment management activities on a global basis through a series of private equity funds, which we refer to as the JER
Funds.
J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates have more than 150 employees with headquarters in McLean, Virginia and additional offices in California,
Connecticut, Texas, France, Mexico and the United Kingdom.
As of December 31, 2004, our chairman, Joseph E. Robert, Jr., our manager and other affiliates of J.E. Robert Company owned approximately 11.6% of
our common stock. Upon consummation of this offering, Mr. Robert, our manager and other affiliates of J.E. Robert Company will own in the aggregate
approximately
% of our common stock.
Management Agreement
A management agreement governs the relationship between our company and our manager and describes the services to be provided by our manager
and its compensation for those services. The management agreement requires our manager to oversee our business affairs in conformity with the policies and
the investment guidelines that are approved and monitored by our board of directors.
The management agreement has an initial term of two years, expiring on June 4, 2006, and will automatically be renewed for one-year terms thereafter
unless terminated by either us or our manager upon at least 180 days prior notice. We are able to terminate the management agreement without cause only
after the initial two-year term and upon payment of a substantial termination fee.
Our manager is entitled to receive a base management fee from us, incentive compensation based on certain financial performance criteria and a
termination fee if we decide to terminate the management agreement without cause. The following table summarizes the fees payable to our manager pursuant
to the management agreement:
Fee

Base Management Fee

Incentive Fee

Summary Description

The base management fee is payable monthly in an amount equal to 1/12 of the sum of (i) 2.0% of the first $400
million of our equity, (ii) 1.5% of our equity in excess of $400 million and up to $800 million and (iii) 1.25% of
our equity in excess of $800 million.
The incentive fee is payable quarterly in an amount equal to the product of: (i) 25% of the dollar amount by
which (a) Funds From Operations for such quarter per share of common stock exceed (b) an amount equal to (A)
the weighted average of prices per share of common stock in all offerings multiplied by (B) the greater of (1)
2.25% or (2) .875% plus one fourth of the ten-year U.S. treasury rate (as defined) for such quarter, multiplied by
(ii) the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during such quarter.
5
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Fee

Termination Fee

Summary Description

The termination fee, payable for termination without cause or non-renewal of the management agreement, shall
be equal to four times the sum of the base management fee and the incentive fee for the 12-month period
preceding the date of termination.

For the period ended December 31, 2004, we incurred $1.9 million in base management fees, $0.3 million for expenses incurred on our behalf and no
incentive fee. No incentive fee is payable in connection with this offering. We will pay incentive fees only if Funds From Operations exceed the threshold
described in the table above.
Conflicts of Interest
J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates currently manage and invest in, and will continue to manage and invest in, other entities, including real estaterelated investment entities. In addition, our chairman and our other officers also serve as officers and/or directors of these other entities and our chairman
indirectly wholly owns our manager. In particular, affiliates of J.E. Robert Company, in their capacity as general partners of the JER Funds, are currently in
the process of making investments in a wide range of commercial real estate equity and debt assets for JER Fund III, one of the JER Funds. The JER Fund III
partnership agreement restricts the ability of affiliates of J.E. Robert Company to form another pooled investment fund with investment objectives
substantially similar to those of JER Fund III. However, J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates are permitted by the JER Fund III partnership agreement to
manage an entity that, like us, invests primarily in (a) CMBS and other related loans issued in connection with conduit securitizations and (b) residential
mortgages and related securities. The JER Fund III partnership agreement restricts our manager's ability to cause us to invest in real estate structured finance
products other than (a) CMBS and other related loans issued in connection with conduit securitizations and (b) residential mortgages and related securities.
This may require us to forego desirable investment opportunities and subject us to the risk that we will be limited in our ability to refocus our investment
strategy if trends in the availability and performance of residential mortgages and related securities and conduit securitization investments make such a change
desirable.
Certain investments appropriate for us may also be appropriate for JER Fund III. While we target primarily conduit commercial mortgage backed
securities, mezzanine loans, B-Notes, bridge loans, preferred equity, loans to real estate companies, mortgage loans, net leased real estate assets and
residential mortgages and related securities, JER Fund III seeks to invest in direct ownership of real estate, non-conduit commercial mortgage backed
securities, equity securities, preferred equity and high yield debt (typically with equity participation). J.E. Robert Company has developed a conflicts policy in
an effort to provide fair treatment of us and JER Fund III with respect to investment allocation. Under the conflicts policy, to the extent that a specific
investment opportunity is determined to be suitable for and advantageous to us and JER Fund III, J.E. Robert Company will allocate the investment
opportunity equally between us and JER Fund III wherever reasonably practicable. Where J.E. Robert Company determines that an equal allocation is not
reasonably practicable, it will allocate that investment in a manner that it determines in good faith to be fair and reasonable. J.E. Robert Company will also
apply the foregoing allocation procedures between us and any future investment funds, companies or vehicles or other entities that it controls with which we
have overlapping investment objectives.
In addition, so long as the management agreement is in effect, J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates have agreed not to raise, sponsor or advise any
new investment fund, company or vehicle (including any REIT) that invests primarily in conduit CMBS and other related loan products in the United States.
For a more detailed discussion of our conflicts of interest, see "Our Manager and the Management Agreement—Conflicts of Interest in Our Relationship with
Our Manager."
6
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Our Structure
The following chart illustrates the structure and ownership of our company prior to this offering.

(1)

We formed JER TRS Holding Company, Inc., a taxable REIT subsidiary, because it gives us flexibility to hold certain assets or engage in certain
activities that we, as a REIT, cannot hold or in which we cannot engage directly. To date, JER TRS Holding Company, Inc. has no assets and is our
only subsidiary. We have not formed any partnerships with third parties or other subsidiaries to date.
7
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The Offering
Common stock we are offering
Common stock offered by selling stockholders
Total shares offered
Common stock to be outstanding after this offering
Use of proceeds

Proposed New York Stock Exchange Symbol
(1)

shares
shares
shares
shares(1)
We estimate that the net proceeds from our sale of shares of common stock in this offering, at an
assumed initial public offering price of $
per share, the midpoint of the range set forth on the
cover page of this prospectus, after deducting the underwriting discount and other estimated
offering expenses, will be approximately $
million. If the underwriters exercise their overallotment option in full, we estimate that our net proceeds will be approximately $
million.
We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of shares of our common stock by the selling
stockholders.
We intend to use all of the net proceeds from this offering to repay outstanding indebtedness under
our two repurchase agreements.
"JRT"

Includes 5,000 shares of restricted stock granted to our independent directors pursuant to our incentive plan that have not yet vested.
Tax Status

We intend to elect to be treated as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. To qualify as a REIT, we must meet various tax law requirements,
including, among others, requirements relating to the nature of our assets, the sources of our income, the timing and amount of distributions that we make and
the composition of our stockholders. As a REIT, we generally are not subject to federal income tax on income that we distribute to our stockholders on a
current basis. If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, we will be subject to federal income tax at regular corporate rates, and we may be precluded
from qualifying as a REIT for the subsequent four taxable years following the year during which we lost our qualification. Further, even to the extent that we
qualify as a REIT, we will be subject to tax at normal corporate rates on net income or capital gains not distributed to our stockholders, and we may be subject
to other taxes, including payroll taxes, and state and local income, franchise, property, sales and other taxes. Moreover, we may have subsidiary entities that
are subject to federal income taxation and to various other taxes. Any dividends received from us, with limited exceptions, will not be eligible for taxation at
the preferred capital gain rates that currently apply, pursuant to legislation enacted in 2003, to dividends received by individuals, trusts and estates from
taxable corporations. See "Federal Income Tax Considerations."
8
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Restrictions on Ownership of Our Capital Stock
Due to limitations on the concentration of ownership of a REIT imposed by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, our charter generally
prohibits any stockholder from directly or indirectly owning more than 9.8% of the aggregate value of our outstanding capital stock, referred to in this
prospectus as the stock ownership limit. Our board of directors has discretion to grant exemptions from the ownership limit, subject to terms and conditions as
it deems appropriate.
Distribution Policy
We generally need to distribute at least 90% of our net taxable income each year (subject to certain adjustments) in order to qualify as a REIT under the
Internal Revenue Code. We may, under certain circumstances, make a distribution of capital or of assets. Distributions will be made at the discretion of our
board of directors. We had a net loss in 2004, and no distributions have been made to date. We intend to make regular quarterly distributions to the holders of
our common stock, commencing with a distribution for the first quarter of 2005, which we intend to pay in the second quarter of 2005, subject to board
approval.

We were incorporated in the State of Maryland on April 19, 2004. Our principal executive offices are located at 1650 Tysons Blvd., Suite 1600,
McLean, Virginia 22102. Our telephone number is (703) 714-8000. We will maintain a web site at
. Information at our web site is not and should not
be considered part of this prospectus.
9
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Summary Consolidated Financial Information
The following table presents summary historical consolidated financial information as of December 31, 2004 and for the period from April 19, 2004
(inception) to December 31, 2004, which we refer to in this prospectus as the period ended December 31, 2004. The summary historical consolidated financial
information presented below under the captions "Consolidated Income Statement Data" and "Consolidated Balance Sheet Data" have been derived from our
audited consolidated financial statements. In addition, since the information presented below is only a summary and does not provide all of the information
contained in our historical consolidated financial statements, including the related notes, you should read it in conjunction with "Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and our historical consolidated financial statements, including the related notes, included
elsewhere in this prospectus.
Period from April 19, 2004
(inception) to
December 31, 2004

(in thousands, except
per share data)

Consolidated Income Statement Data:
Interest income
Expenses:
Management fees
General and administrative (excluding stock compensation)
Stock compensation

$

3,540
1,864
2,438
5,137

Total expenses
Net loss available to common stockholders
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

$

9,439

$

(5,899)

$
$

(0.62)
(0.62)
9,512
9,512
As of December 31, 2004

(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
CMBS
Real estate loans
Total Assets
Debt secured by pledge of CMBS
Stockholders' equity

$
$
$
$
$
10

167,070
29,865
199,679
39,200
158,789

Table of Contents

RISK FACTORS
An investment in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks described below, which describe all the
material risks of an investment in our common stock, together with the other information contained in this prospectus before buying shares of our common
stock. In connection with the forward-looking statements that appear in this prospectus, you should also carefully review the cautionary statement referred to
under "Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements."
Risks Relating to Our Management and our Relationship with Our Manager and J.E. Robert Company and its Affiliates
We are dependent upon our manager and certain key personnel of J.E. Robert Company provided to us through our manager and may not find a
suitable replacement if our manager terminates the management agreement or such key personnel are no longer available to us.
Neither we nor our manager have any employees. All of our officers are employees of J.E. Robert Company. We have no separate facilities and are
completely reliant on our manager and J.E. Robert Company, which has significant discretion as to the implementation of our operating policies and
strategies. Pursuant to a services agreement among us, our manager and J.E. Robert Company, our manager relies on J.E. Robert Company to provide our
manager with the personnel, services and resources as needed by our manager to enable it to carry out its obligations and responsibilities under the
management agreement. Our manager is not significantly capitalized and does not have its own facilities or employees separate from J.E. Robert Company.
Mr. Robert is the sole stockholder of J.E. Robert Company. J.E. Robert Company and Mr. Robert are the only members of our manager, and as a result, Mr.
Robert is in a position to control the policies, decision making and operations of our manager. We are subject to the risk that our manager will terminate the
management agreement and that no suitable replacement will be found to manage us. We believe that our success depends to a significant extent upon the
experience of certain of J.E. Robert Company's executive officers, whose continued service is not guaranteed. If our manager terminates the management
agreement or key officers leave our manager, we may be unable to execute our business plan.
There are conflicts of interest in our relationship with J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates and with our manager, which could result in decisions
that are not in the best interests of our stockholders.
The chairman and another member of our board and each of our executive officers also serve as officers of our manager and other J.E. Robert Company
affiliates and our chairman indirectly wholly owns our manager. J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates currently manage and invest in, and will continue to
manage and invest in, other real estate-related investment entities and the personnel provided to us through our manager are not required to devote a specific
amount of time to our business. At the time of our formation when our management agreement, incentive plan, conflicts policy and other organizational
matters were approved for us, Mr. Robert, the sole stockholder of J.E. Robert Company, was our sole stockholder and our sole director. As a result, these
matters were not negotiated at arm's length, and their terms, including fees payable to our manager, may not be as favorable to us as if they had been
negotiated with an unaffiliated third party. In addition, we may enter into transactions in the future with J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates that may result
in conflicts of interest. In addition, we have agreed to indemnify J.E. Robert Company and our manager and their respective directors and officers with respect
to all expenses, losses, damages, liabilities, demands, charges and claims arising from acts constituting bad faith, willful misconduct, gross negligence, or
reckless disregard of their respective duties, performed in good faith in accordance with and pursuant to the management agreement and the related services
agreement.
The base management fee payable to our manager is payable regardless of our performance.
We will pay our manager substantial base management fees, based on our equity capital, regardless of the performance of our portfolio. For example,
$1.9 million of base management fees were payable to our manager for the period ending December 31, 2004 despite the fact that we experienced a net loss of
$5.9 million during the same period. In addition, the incentive management compensation structure that we have agreed to with our manager may cause our
manager to invest in high risk investments.
11

Table of Contents

The incentive fee may cause our manager to invest in more risky investments to increase Funds From Operations and thereby increase the incentive
fee earned by our manager.
Our manager is entitled to receive incentive compensation based upon our achievement of targeted levels of Funds From Operations. In evaluating
investments and other management strategies, the opportunity to earn incentive compensation based on Funds From Operations may lead our manager to
place undue emphasis on the maximization of Funds From Operations at the expense of other criteria, such as preservation of capital, in order to achieve
higher incentive compensation. Investments with higher yield potential are generally riskier or more speculative. This could result in increased risk to the
value of our investment portfolio.
The JER Fund III partnership agreement limits our ability to invest in certain real estate structured finance products.
Affiliates of J.E. Robert Company, in their capacity as general partner of the JER Funds, are currently in the process of making investments in a wide
range of commercial real estate equity and debt assets for JER Fund III, one of the JER Funds. The JER Fund III partnership agreement provides that neither
J.E. Robert Company nor any affiliate can close on another pooled investment vehicle with objectives substantially similar to those of JER Fund III, other
than certain kinds of funds, including a JER CMBS Fund. The JER Fund III partnership agreement further provides that none of J.E. Robert Company and its
affiliates shall make investments outside of JER Fund III that are substantially similar to the type of investments to be made by JER Fund III, except for
investments that a JER CMBS Fund is permitted to make under its governing documents. It is J.E. Robert Company's intention that we qualify as a JER
CMBS Fund under the JER Fund III partnership agreement. The JER Fund III partnership agreement defines a "JER CMBS Fund" as a fund organized by J.E.
Robert Company or any of its affiliates to "primarily" invest in (a) CMBS and other related loans issued in connection with conduit securitizations and (b)
residential mortgages and related securities. The JER Fund III partnership agreement defines "conduit securitizations" as CMBS collateralized primarily by
newly originated loans (i) issued for the purposes of securitizations, (ii) with fixed interest rates and maturities of seven to ten years and (iii) with loan to
value ratios generally averaging approximately 75% and debt service coverage ratios generally averaging 1.25% based on net cash flow from the underlying
real estate, all as reasonably determined by an affiliate of J.E. Robert Company as general partner acting in good faith. We contemplate investing in a variety
of structured finance products, including CMBS issued in connection with conduit securitizations, mezzanine loans, B-Note participations in mortgage loans,
commercial loans, loans to real estate companies, and net leased real estate. We may also invest in residential mortgages and related securities such as
residential mortgage backed securities. The ability of our manager to invest in these types of structured finance products on our behalf is limited, but not
completely restricted, so long as we meet the definition in the JER Fund III partnership agreement of a JER CMBS Fund, which requires us to invest
"primarily" in (a) CMBS and other related loans issued in connection with conduit securitizations and (b) residential mortgages and related securities. The
JER Fund III partnership agreement may prevent our manager from pursuing desirable investment opportunities on our behalf and subject us to the risk that
we will be limited in our ability to refocus our investment strategy if trends in the availability and performance of residential mortgages and related securities
and conduit securitization investments make such a change desirable.
While we target primarily conduit commercial mortgage backed securities, mezzanine loans, bridge loans, B-Notes, preferred equity, corporate loans,
mortgage loans and net leased real estate and residential mortgages and related securities, JER Fund III generally seeks to invest in direct ownership of real
estate, non-conduit commercial mortgage backed securities, equity securities, preferred equity and high yield debt (typically with equity participation). The
investments we pursue may overlap with the investment objectives of JER Fund III. To the extent that specific investment opportunities are determined by
J.E. Robert Company to be suitable for and advantageous to us and JER Fund III, J.E. Robert Company will allocate the opportunities equally between us and
JER Fund III wherever reasonably practicable. Where J.E. Robert Company determines that an equal allocation is not reasonably practicable, it will allocate
that investment in a manner that it determines in good faith to be fair and reasonable. J.E. Robert Company will also apply the foregoing allocation procedures
between us and any future investment funds, companies or vehicles or other entities that it controls with which we have
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overlapping investment objectives. J.E. Robert Company may nonetheless allocate investments potentially of value for us to JER Fund III under its conflicts
policy. J.E. Robert Company may also alter the policy at any time without notice to or input from us or our stockholders.
Termination of our management agreement would be costly.
Termination of the management agreement with our manager without cause or non-renewal of the management agreement is costly. We may terminate
the management agreement without cause only upon the completion of the initial term of the management agreement, which is June 4, 2006. After that time,
the management agreement renews automatically and we must give our manager 180 days prior notice of any termination or non-renewal and pay a
termination fee, within 90 days of termination, equal to four times the sum of the base management fee and the incentive fee for the 12-month period
preceding the date of termination, calculated as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal quarter prior to the date of termination. We also must pay the
termination fee if we fail to renew the agreement upon expiration of the initial term or subsequent terms. In addition, following any termination of the
management agreement, we must pay our manager all compensation accruing to the date of the termination. These provisions increase the effective cost to us
of terminating or electing not to renew the management agreement, thereby adversely affecting our ability to terminate our manager without cause, even if we
believe the manager's performance is not satisfactory.
The conflicts of interest policy developed by J.E. Robert Company and the JER Fund III partnership agreement may limit the type of investments
we make and may impact our ability to comply with REIT requirements and restrictions and with the Investment Company Act.
We must abide by the terms of the conflicts of interest policy developed by J.E. Robert Company with respect to conflicts of interest with JER Fund III.
The conflicts policy may at times prevent us from acquiring 100% of certain attractive investments because the policy requires that investments determined to
be appropriate for both us and JER Fund III be allocated equally between us and JER Fund III whenever reasonably practicable. In addition, where J.E. Robert
Company determines that it is not reasonably practicable to equally allocate an investment, that investment may be allocated solely to JER Fund III. Because
the JER Fund III partnership agreement restricts our manager's ability to cause us to invest in real estate structured finance products other than (a) CMBS and
other related loans issued in connection with conduit securitizations and (b) residential mortgages and related securities, it may be difficult for us to avoid the
registration requirements of the Investment Company Act or satisfy the REIT requirements of the tax laws. This requirement may also cause us to forego
desirable investment opportunities and subject us to the risk that we may be limited in our ability to refocus our investment strategy if needed.
Mr. Joseph E. Robert, Jr. has significant control over our company and will influence decisions regarding our operations and our business.
Mr. Joseph Robert, Jr. is our chairman and is also the chairman and chief executive officer of our manager. Mr. Robert and J.E. Robert Company, of
which Mr. Robert is the sole stockholder, are the only members of our manager. Upon completion of this offering, Mr. Robert will own approximately % of
our common stock. As a result, Mr. Robert has significant control over us, particularly in elections of directors of our company and in change of control
transactions. Mr. Robert may exercise his influence over us according to interests with which you may disagree.
Our board of directors has approved very broad investment guidelines for our manager and does not approve each investment decision made by our
manager.
Our manager is authorized to follow very broad investment guidelines. Our directors will periodically review our investment guidelines and our
investment portfolio. However, our board does not review each proposed investment. In addition, in conducting periodic reviews, the directors will rely
primarily on information
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provided to them by our manager. Furthermore, transactions entered into by our manager may be difficult or impossible to unwind by the time they are
reviewed by the directors. Our manager has great latitude within the broad investment guidelines in determining the types of assets it may decide are proper
investments for us.
We may change our investment strategy without stockholder consent, which may result in riskier investments.
We may change our investment strategy at any time without the consent of our stockholders, which could result in our making investments that are
different from, and possibly riskier than, the investments described in this prospectus. A change in our investment strategy may increase our exposure to
interest rate and real estate market fluctuations.
We may change our operational policies without stockholder consent, which may adversely affect the market price of our common stock and our
ability to make distributions to our stockholders.
Our board of directors determines our operational policies and may amend or revise our policies, including our policies with respect to our REIT status,
acquisitions, growth, operations, indebtedness, capitalization and distributions or approve transactions that deviate from these policies, without a vote of, or
notice to, our stockholders. Operational policy changes could adversely affect the market price of our common stock and our ability to make distributions to
our stockholders.
Risks Relating to Our Business Strategy
We have a limited operating history, limited experience operating as a REIT and no experience operating as a public company and may not operate
successfully.
We were organized in April 2004 and have a limited operating history. Our senior management team has limited experience with the complex rules and
regulations governing public companies in general and REITs in particular. Our results of operations depend on many factors, including the performance of
our assets, the availability of opportunities for the acquisition of additional assets, the level and volatility of interest rates, readily accessible short and long
term financing, conditions in the financial markets and economic conditions, and we may not operate successfully.
We had a net loss for the year ended December 31, 2004 and cannot assure you that we will be profitable in the future.
For the year ended December 31, 2004, we had a net loss of $5.9 million. We cannot assure you that we will be profitable or have funds available to
make distributions to our stockholders in the future.
We expect to incur significant debt to finance our investments, which may subject us to increased risk of loss and reduce cash available for
distributions to our stockholders.
We intend to leverage our assets through borrowings, generally through the use of bank credit facilities, repurchase agreements and the issuance of
CDOs. The percentage of leverage varies depending on our ability to obtain credit facilities and the lender's estimate of the stability of the portfolio's cash
flow. Our return on our investments and cash available for distribution to our stockholders may be reduced to the extent that changes in market conditions
cause the cost of our financing to increase relative to the income that can be derived from the assets acquired. As of December 31, 2004 and April 15, 2005,
we had outstanding indebtedness totaling $39.2 million and $186.7 million, respectively.
Our debt service payments reduce cash available for distribution to stockholders. For the period from inception (April 19, 2004) to December 31, 2004,
no debt service payments were due on the $39.2 million that we borrowed on December 28, 2004 related to our repurchase agreements. We may not be able to
meet our debt service obligations and, to the extent that we cannot, we risk the loss of some or all of our assets to foreclosure or sale to satisfy our debt
obligations.
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While we intend to maintain target debt-to-equity ratios of between approximately two-to-one to three-to-one, our governing documents contain no
limitation on the amount of debt we may incur, and our board of directors may change our debt policy at any time without stockholder approval. In addition,
we may leverage individual assets at substantially higher levels. Incurring debt could subject us to many risks, including the risks that:
•

our cash flow from operations will be insufficient to make required payments of principal and interest, resulting in the loss of some or all of our
assets to foreclosure or sale in order to satisfy our debt obligations;

•

our debt may increase our vulnerability to adverse economic and industry conditions;

•

we may be required to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our debt, thereby reducing funds available
for operations and capital expenditures, future business opportunities or other purposes;

•

the terms of any refinancing will not be as favorable as the terms of the debt being refinanced; and

•

the use of leverage could adversely affect our ability to make distributions to our stockholders and the market price of our common stock.

We leverage certain of our investments through repurchase agreements. A decrease in the value of the assets may lead to margin calls that we will have
to satisfy. We may not have the funds available to satisfy these margin calls.
We may not be able to access financing on favorable terms, or at all, which could adversely affect our ability to execute our business plan.
We expect to finance our assets over the long-term through a variety of means, including credit facilities, issuance of CDOs and other structured
financings. Our ability to execute this strategy depends on various conditions in the markets that are beyond our control, including liquidity and credit spreads.
We cannot assure you that these markets will remain an efficient source of long-term financing for our assets. If our strategy is not viable, we will have to find
alternative forms of long-term financing for our assets, as secured revolving credit facilities and repurchase facilities may not accommodate long-term
financing. This could subject us to more recourse indebtedness and the risk that debt service on less efficient forms of financing would require a larger portion
of our cash flows, thereby reducing cash available for distribution to our stockholders, funds available for operations as well as for future business
opportunities.
Interest rate fluctuations could reduce our ability to generate income on our investments and may cause losses.
Our primary interest rate exposures relate to our loans, mortgage backed securities and variable-rate debt, as well as our interest rate swaps that we
utilize for hedging purposes. Changes in interest rates will affect our net interest income, which is the difference between the interest income we earn on our
interest-earning investments and the interest expense we incur in financing these investments. Changes in the level of interest rates also may affect our ability
to originate and acquire assets, the value of our assets and our ability to realize gains from the disposition of assets. Changes in interest rates may also affect
borrower default rates. In a period of rising interest rates, our interest expense could increase, while the interest we earn on our fixed-rate debt investments
would not change, adversely affecting our profitability. As of December 31, 2004, 84% of the cost basis of our assets have fixed rate terms and we had no
indebtedness with fixed rate terms. However, in December 2004, we entered into two forward-starting interest rate swaps to mitigate the risk of changes in the
interest-related cash outflows on a forecasted issuance of long-term debt. Under these swaps, we agreed to pay the counterparties a weighted average fixed
interest rate of 4.65% per annum in exchange for floating payments on the total notional amount of $100 million. The monthly interest payments are
forecasted to begin between May 15, 2005 and November 15, 2005.
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Our operating results depend in large part on differences between the income from our assets, net of credit losses, and our financing costs. We
anticipate that, in most cases, for any period during which our assets are not match-funded, the income from such assets will respond more slowly to interest
rate fluctuations than the cost of our borrowings. Consequently, changes in interest rates, particularly short-term interest rates, may significantly influence our
net income. Increases in these rates will tend to decrease our net income and market value of our assets. Interest rate fluctuations resulting in our interest
expense exceeding interest income would result in operating losses for us.
The following table shows the estimated change in net income for a 12-month period based on changes in the interest rates applied to our assets and
liabilities as of December 31, 2004:
Estimated Change in
Net Income Over 12
Months

Rate Change (Basis Points)

(in thousands)

-100
+100
+200

$

93.4
(93.4)
(186.7)

Interest rate changes will also affect the fair value of our CMBS investments, real estate loans and derivatives.
If credit spreads widen before we obtain long-term financing for our net assets, the value of our net assets may suffer.
We price our net assets based on our assumptions about future levels of credit spreads for longer term fixed rate financing of those assets. We expect to
obtain longer term financing for these assets at a spread over a certain benchmark, such as the yield on United States Treasury bonds, swaps, or the London
Inter-Bank Offered Rate (LIBOR). If the spread that investors will pay over the benchmark widens and the rates we charge on our loans or the income we
generate from our other assets are not increased accordingly, we may experience a material adverse effect on our income and a reduction in the economic
value of the assets that we have originated or acquired.
We may not be able to acquire eligible securities for a CDO issuance, or may not be able to issue CDO securities on attractive terms that closely
match fund the duration of our assets and liabilities, which may require us to seek more costly financing for our investments or to liquidate assets.
We intend to finance our real estate securities on a long-term basis, such as through the issuance of CDOs. We will initially finance our investments
with relatively short-term credit facilities. We use these short-term facilities to finance the acquisition of real estate securities until a sufficient quantity of
securities is accumulated, at which time we intend to refinance these facilities through a securitization, such as a CDO issuance, or other long-term financing.
As a result, we are subject to the risk that we will not be able to acquire, during the period that our short-term facilities are available, a sufficient amount of
eligible securities to maximize the efficiency of a CDO issuance. We also bear the risk that we will not be able to obtain short-term credit facilities or may not
be able to renew any short-term credit facilities after they expire should we find it necessary to extend our short-term credit facilities to allow more time to
seek and acquire the necessary eligible securities for a long term financing. Inability to renew our short-term credit facilities may require us to seek more
costly financing for our investments or to liquidate assets. In addition, conditions in the capital markets may make the issuance of a CDO less attractive to us
when we do have a sufficient pool of collateral. If we are unable to issue a CDO to finance these assets, we may be required to seek other forms of potentially
less attractive financing or otherwise to liquidate the assets.
The use of CDO financings with over-collateralization requirements may have a negative impact on our cash flow.
The terms of the CDOs we intend to issue generally provide that the principal amount of assets must exceed the principal balance of the related bonds
by a certain amount. This excess collateral requirement is commonly
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referred to as "over-collateralization." The CDO terms provide that, if certain delinquencies or losses exceed the specified levels based on rating agencies' (or
the financial guaranty insurer's, if applicable) analyses of the characteristics of the assets pledged to collateralize the bonds, the required level of overcollateralization may be increased or may be prevented from decreasing as would otherwise be permitted if losses or delinquencies did not exceed those
levels. Other tests (based on delinquency levels or other criteria) may restrict our ability to receive net income from assets pledged to secure CDOs. We
cannot assure you that the performance tests will be satisfied. Nor can we assure you, in advance of completing negotiations with the rating agencies or other
key transaction parties on our future CDO financings, of the actual terms of the delinquency tests, over-collateralization terms, cash flow release mechanisms
or other significant factors regarding the calculation of net income to us. Failure to obtain favorable terms with regard to these matters may materially and
adversely affect our net income. If our assets fail to perform as anticipated, our over-collateralization or other credit enhancement expense associated with our
CDO financings will increase.
We may be required to repurchase loans that we have sold to indemnify holders of our CDOs.
If any of the loans we originate or acquire and sell or securitize do not comply with representations and warranties that we make about certain
characteristics of the loans, the borrowers and the underlying properties, we may be required to repurchase those loans (including from a trust vehicle used to
facilitate a structured financing of the assets through CDOs) or replace them with substitute loans. In addition, in the case of loans that we have sold instead of
retained, we may be required to indemnify purchasers for losses or expenses incurred as a result of a breach of a representation or warranty. Repurchased
loans typically require a significant allocation of working capital to carry on our books, and our ability to borrow against such assets is limited. Any
significant repurchases or indemnification payments could materially and adversely affect our financial condition and operating results.
An increase in prepayment rates could adversely affect yields on our investments.
The value of our assets may be affected by prepayment rates on mortgage loans. Prepayment rates on mortgage loans are influenced by changes in
interest rates and a variety of economic, geographic and other factors beyond our control, and consequently, prepayment rates cannot be predicted with
certainty. In periods of declining mortgage interest rates, prepayments on mortgage loans generally increase. If general interest rates decline as well, we are
likely to reinvest the proceeds of prepayments received during these periods in assets yielding less than the mortgage loans that were prepaid. In addition, the
market value of the mortgage loan assets may, because of the risk of prepayment, benefit less than other fixed-income securities from declining interest rates.
Conversely, in periods of rising interest rates, prepayments on mortgage loans generally decrease, in which case we would not have the prepayment proceeds
available to invest in assets with higher yields. Under certain interest rate and prepayment scenarios, we may fail to recoup fully our cost of certain
investments.
Our hedging transactions may limit our gains or result in losses.
We intend to use derivative instruments, including forwards, futures, swaps and options, in our risk management strategy to limit the effects of changes
in interest rates on our operations. The value of our forwards, futures and swaps may fluctuate over time in response to changing market conditions, and will
tend to change inversely with the value of the risk in our liabilities that we intend to hedge. Hedges are sometimes ineffective because the correlation between
changes in value of the underlying investment and the derivative instrument is less than was expected when the hedging transaction was undertaken. Since
most of our hedging activity is intended to cover the period between origination or purchase of loans and obtaining permanent fixed-rate financing for those
loans, unmatched losses in our hedging program tend to occur when the planned securitized financing fails to occur, or if the hedge proves to be ineffective.
Losses on hedge positions will reduce cash available for distribution to stockholders and such losses may exceed amounts invested in these instruments.
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Hedging instruments often are not traded on regulated exchanges, guaranteed by an exchange or its clearing house, or regulated by any U.S. or
foreign governmental authorities and involve risks and costs.
The cost of using hedging instruments increases as the period covered by the instrument increases and during periods of rising and volatile interest
rates. We may increase our hedging activity and thus increase our hedging costs during periods when interest rates are volatile or rising and hedging costs
have increased.
In addition, hedging instruments involve risk since they often are not traded on regulated exchanges, guaranteed by an exchange or its clearing house, or
regulated by any U.S. or foreign governmental authorities. Consequently, there are no requirements with respect to record keeping, financial responsibility or
segregation of customer funds and positions. Furthermore, the enforceability of agreements underlying derivative transactions may depend on compliance
with applicable statutory and commodity and other regulatory requirements and, depending on the identity of the counterparty, applicable international
requirements. The business failure of a hedging counterparty with whom we enter into a hedging transaction will most likely result in a default. Default by a
party with whom we enter into a hedging transaction may result in the loss of unrealized profits and force us to cover our resale commitments, if any, at the
then current market price. Although generally we will seek to reserve the right to terminate our hedging positions, it may not always be possible to dispose of
or close out a hedging position without the consent of the hedging counterparty, and we may not be able to enter into an offsetting contract in order to cover
our risk. We cannot assure you that a liquid secondary market will exist for hedging instruments purchased or sold, and we may be required to maintain a
position until exercise or expiration, which could result in losses.
We are subject to significant competition and we may not compete successfully.
We are subject to significant competition in seeking investments. We compete with several other companies, including other REITs, insurance
companies and other investors, including funds and companies affiliated with J.E. Robert Company. Recently, there has been increased competition in the
CMBS market, with many companies seeking to invest in CMBS issuances. Some of our competitors have greater resources than us and we may not be able
to compete successfully for investments.
Risks Related to Our Investments
Our real estate investments are subject to risks particular to real property.
We own assets secured by real estate and may own real estate directly. Real estate investments will be subject to various risks, including:
•

acts of God, including earthquakes, floods and other natural disasters, which may result in uninsured losses;

•

acts of war or terrorism, including the consequences of terrorist attacks, such as those that occurred on September 11, 2001;

•

adverse changes in national and local economic and market conditions;

•

changes in governmental laws and regulations, fiscal policies and zoning ordinances and the related costs of compliance with laws and
regulations, fiscal policies and ordinances;

•

costs of remediation and liabilities associated with environmental conditions such as indoor mold; and

•

the potential for uninsured or under insured property losses.

If any of these or similar events occurs, it may reduce our return from an affected property or investment and reduce or eliminate our ability to make
distributions to stockholders.
The mortgage loans in which we invest and the mortgage loans underlying the mortgage backed securities in which we invest will be subject to
delinquency, foreclosure and loss, which could result in losses to us.
Commercial mortgage loans are secured by multifamily or commercial property and are subject to risks of delinquency and foreclosure, and risks of
loss that are greater than similar risks associated with loans made on
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the security of single-family residential property. The ability of a borrower to repay a loan secured by an income-producing property typically is dependent
primarily upon the successful operation of the property rather than upon the existence of independent income or assets of the borrower. If the net operating
income of the property is reduced, the borrower's ability to repay the loan may be impaired. Net operating income of an income-producing property can be
affected by the risks particular to real property described above, as well as, among other things:
•

tenant mix;

•

success of tenant businesses;

•

property management decisions;

•

property location and condition;

•

competition from comparable types of properties;

•

changes in specific industry segments;

•

declines in regional or local real estate values, or rental or occupancy rates; and

•

increases in interest rates, real estate tax rates and other operating expenses.

In the event of any default under a mortgage loan held directly by us, we will bear a risk of loss of principal to the extent of any deficiency between the
value of the collateral and the principal and accrued interest of the mortgage loan, which could have a material adverse effect on our cash flow from
operations and limit amounts available for distribution to our stockholders. In the event of the bankruptcy of a mortgage loan borrower, the mortgage loan to
that borrower will be deemed to be secured only to the extent of the value of the underlying collateral at the time of bankruptcy (as determined by the
bankruptcy court), and the lien securing the mortgage loan will be subject to the avoidance powers of the bankruptcy trustee or debtor-in-possession to the
extent the lien is unenforceable under state law. Foreclosure of a mortgage loan can be an expensive and lengthy process that could have a substantial negative
effect on our anticipated return on the foreclosed mortgage loan.
CMBS evidence interests in, or are secured by, a single commercial mortgage loan or a pool of commercial mortgage loans. Accordingly, the mortgage
backed securities we invest in are subject to all of the risks of the underlying mortgage loans. To date, there have not been any delinquencies or credit loss on
any of the underlying loans in the five new issue conduit securitization trusts in which we have acquired CMBS. We have also acquired CMBS in two other
securitization trusts. As of March 17, 2005, one of these seasoned securitizations consisted of 284 total underlying loans with an outstanding loan pool
balance of approximately $1.98 billion. There were three delinquent loans totaling approximately $9.1 million, which equaled 0.46% of the outstanding pool
balance. As of March 28, 2005,a second seasoned securitization consisted of 7,412 total underlying loans with an outstanding pool balance of approximately
$36.5 billion. There were 168 delinquent loans totaling approximately $905.9 million, which equaled 2.48% of the outstanding pool balance.
Our investments in subordinated mortgage backed securities could subject us to increased risk of losses.
In general, losses on an asset securing a mortgage loan included in a securitization will be borne first by the equity holder of the property, then by a
cash reserve fund or letter of credit provided by the borrower, if any, and then by the "first loss" subordinated security holder. In the event of default and the
exhaustion of any equity support, reserve fund, letter of credit and any classes of securities junior to those in which we invest, we may not be able to recover
all of our investment in the securities we purchase. In addition, if the underlying mortgage portfolio has been overvalued by the originator, or if the values
subsequently decline and, as a result, less collateral is available to satisfy interest and principal payments due on the related mortgage backed securities, the
securities in which we invest may effectively become the "first loss" position behind the more senior securities, which may result in significant losses to us.
The prices of lower credit quality securities are generally less sensitive to interest rate changes than more highly rated investments, but more sensitive
to adverse economic downturns or individual issuer developments.
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A projection of an economic downturn, for example, could cause a decline in the price of lower credit quality securities because the ability of obligors of
mortgages underlying mortgage backed securities to make principal and interest payments or to refinance may be impaired. In this case, existing credit
support in the securitization structure may be insufficient to protect us against loss of our principal on these securities. As of December 31, 2004 and April 15,
2005, approximately 51% and 50%, respectively, of the cost basis of our portfolio consisted of subordinated mortgage backed securities.
Investments in mezzanine loans involve greater risks of loss than senior loans secured by income producing properties.
Investments in mezzanine loans take the form of subordinated loans secured by second mortgages on the underlying property or loans secured by a
pledge of the ownership interests in the entity that directly or indirectly owns the property. These types of investments involve a higher degree of risk than a
senior mortgage loan because the investment may become unsecured as a result of foreclosure by the senior lender. In the event of a bankruptcy of the entity
providing the pledge of its ownership interests as security, we may not have full recourse to the assets of the property owning entity, or the assets of the entity
may not be sufficient to satisfy our mezzanine loan. If a borrower defaults on our mezzanine loan or debt senior to our loan, or in the event of a borrower
bankruptcy, our mezzanine loan will be satisfied only after the senior debt is paid in full. As a result, we may not recover some or all of our investment, which
could result in losses. In addition, mezzanine loans may have higher loan to value ratios than conventional mortgage loans, resulting in less equity in the
property and increasing the risk of loss of principal. As of December 31, 2004 and April 15, 2005, approximately 15% and 21%, respectively, of the cost basis
of our portfolio consisted of mezzanine loans.
The B-Notes in which we invest may be subject to additional risks relating to the privately negotiated structure and terms of the transaction, which
may result in losses to us.
A B-Note is a mortgage loan typically (i) secured by a first mortgage on a single large commercial property or group of related properties and (ii)
subordinated to an A-Note secured by the same first mortgage on the same collateral. As a result, if a borrower defaults, there may not be sufficient funds
remaining for B-Note holders after payment to the A-Note holders. B-Notes reflect similar credit risks to comparably rated commercial mortgage backed
securities. However, since each transaction is privately negotiated, B-Notes can vary in their structural characteristics and risks. For example, the rights of
holders of B-Notes to control the process following a borrower default may be limited in certain investments. We cannot predict the terms of each B-Note
investment. Further, B-Notes typically are secured by a single property, and so reflect the increased risks associated with a single property compared to a pool
of properties. B-Notes also are less liquid than commercial mortgage backed securities, thus we may be unable to dispose of underperforming or nonperforming investments. The higher risks associated with our subordinate position in our B-Note investments could subject us to increased risk of losses. As
of December 31, 2004 we had no B-Notes in our portfolio. As of April 15, 2005, approximately 5% of the cost basis of our portfolio consisted of B-Notes.
Bridge loans involve a greater risk of loss than traditional mortgage loans.
We may provide bridge loans secured by first lien mortgages on a property to borrowers who are typically seeking short-term capital to be used in an
acquisition or renovation of real estate. The borrower has usually identified an undervalued asset that has been under-managed or is located in a recovering
market. If the market in which the asset is located fails to recover according to the borrower's projections, or if the borrower fails to improve the quality of the
asset's management or the value of the asset, the borrower may not receive a sufficient return on the asset to satisfy the bridge loan, and we may not recover
some or all of our investment.
In addition, owners usually borrow funds under a conventional mortgage loan to repay a bridge loan. We may therefore be dependent on a borrower's
ability to obtain permanent financing to repay our bridge loan, which could depend on market conditions and other factors. Bridge loans are also subject to
risks of borrower
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defaults, bankruptcies, fraud, losses and special hazard losses that are not covered by standard hazard insurance. In the event of any default under bridge loans
held by us, we bear the risk of loss of principal and non-payment of interest and fees to the extent of any deficiency between the value of the mortgage
collateral and the principal amount of the bridge loan. To the extent we suffer such losses with respect to our investments in bridge loans, the value of our
company and the price of our common stock may be adversely affected.
Preferred equity investments involve a greater risk of loss than traditional debt financing.
Preferred equity investments are subordinate to debt financing and are not secured. Should the issuer default on our investment, we would only be able
to proceed against the entity that issued the preferred equity in accordance with the terms of the preferred security, and not any property owned by the entity.
Furthermore, in the event of bankruptcy or foreclosure, we would only be able to recoup our investment after any lenders to the entity are paid. As a result, we
may not recover some or all of our investment, which could result in losses.
Investments in REIT debt securities are subject to specific risks relating to the particular REIT issuer of the securities and to the general risks of
investing in subordinated real estate securities, which may result in losses to us.
We may invest in REIT debt securities. Investments in REIT debt securities involve special risks relating to the particular REIT issuer of the securities,
including the financial condition and business outlook of the issuer. Investments in REIT debt securities are subject to the inherent risks associated with real
estate-related investments discussed in this prospectus, including the risks described above with respect to mortgage loans and mortgage backed securities and
similar risks, including:
•

risks of delinquency and foreclosure, and risks of loss in the event thereof;

•

the dependence upon the successful operation of and net income from real property;

•

risks generally incident to interests in real property; and

•

risks specific to the type and use of a particular commercial property.

REIT debt securities are generally unsecured and may also be subordinated to other obligations of the issuer. We may also invest in REIT debt
securities that are rated non-investment grade. As a result, investments in REIT debt securities are also subject to risks of:
•

limited liquidity in the secondary trading market;

•

substantial market price volatility resulting from changes in prevailing interest rates;

•

subordination to the prior claims of banks and other senior lenders to the issuer;

•

the operation of mandatory sinking fund or redemption provisions during periods of declining interest rates that could cause the issuer to reinvest
premature redemption proceeds in lower yielding assets;

•

the possibility that earnings of the REIT security issuer may be insufficient to meet its debt service and dividend obligations; and

•

the declining creditworthiness and potential for insolvency of the issuer of REIT securities during periods of rising interest rates and economic
downturn.

These risks may adversely affect the value of outstanding REIT debt securities and the ability of the issuers thereof to repay principal and interest or
make dividend payments, which could reduce our ability to make distribution to our stockholders.
Investments in net lease properties may generate losses.
We expect to make investments in net leased real estate assets. The value of our investments and the income from our investments in net lease
properties will depend upon the ability of the applicable tenant to meet its obligations to maintain the property under the terms of the net lease. If a tenant fails
or becomes unable to so
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maintain a property, we will be subject to all risks associated with owning real estate. In addition, under many net leases the owner of the property retains
certain obligations with respect to the property, including among other things, the responsibility for maintenance and repair of the property, to provide
adequate parking, maintenance of common areas and compliance with other affirmative covenants in the lease. If we were to fail to meet these obligations, the
applicable tenant could abate rent or terminate the applicable lease, which may result in a loss of our capital invested in, and anticipated profits from, the
property. In addition, we may find it difficult to lease property to new tenants that may have been suited to the particular needs of a former tenant.
We may make investments in non-U.S. dollar denominated securities, which subject us to currency rate exposure and the uncertainty of foreign laws
and markets.
We may purchase CMBS denominated in foreign currencies. We expect that our exposure, if any, would be principally to the British pound and the
euro. A change in foreign currency exchange rates may have an adverse impact on returns on our non-dollar denominated investments. Although we may
hedge our foreign currency risk, subject to the REIT income qualification tests, we may not be able to do so successfully and may incur losses on these
investments as a result of exchange rate fluctuations. Investments in foreign countries also subject us to risks of multiple and conflicting tax laws and
regulations and political and economic instability abroad, which could adversely affect our receipt of interest income on these investments.
Investment in non-conforming and non-investment grade loans may involve increased risk of loss.
Except in rare instances, loans we may acquire or originate will not conform to conventional loan criteria applied by traditional lenders and will not be
rated or will be rated as non-investment grade (for example, for investments rated by Moody's Investors Service, ratings lower than Baa3, and for Standard &
Poor's, BBB- or below). The non-investment grade ratings for these loans typically result from the overall leverage of the loans, the lack of a strong operating
history for the properties underlying the loans, the borrowers' credit history, the properties' underlying cash flow or other factors. As a result, loans we
originate or acquire may have a higher risk of default and loss than conventional loans. Any loss we incur may reduce distributions to stockholders and
adversely affect the value of our common stock. We currently anticipate investing primarily in unrated or non-investment grade assets. There are no limits on
the percentage of unrated or non-investment grade assets we may hold in our portfolio.
Credit ratings assigned to our investments are subject to ongoing evaluations and we cannot assure you that the ratings currently assigned to our
investments will not be downgraded.
Some of our investments are rated by Moody's Investors Service, Fitch Ratings or Standard & Poor's, Inc. The credit ratings on these investments are
subject to ongoing evaluation by credit rating agencies, and we cannot assure you that any such rating will not be changed or withdrawn by a rating agency in
the future if, in its judgment, circumstances warrant. If rating agencies assign a lower-than-expected rating or reduce, or indicate that they may reduce, their
ratings of our investments in the future, the value of these investments could significantly decline, which may have an adverse affect on us.
Insurance on mortgage loans and real estate securities collateral may not cover all losses.
There are certain types of losses, generally of a catastrophic nature, such as earthquakes, floods, hurricanes, terrorism or acts of war, that may be
uninsurable or not economically insurable. Inflation, changes in building codes and ordinances, environmental considerations and other factors, including
terrorism or acts of war, also might make the insurance proceeds insufficient to repair or replace a property if it is damaged or destroyed. Under these
circumstances, the insurance proceeds received might not be adequate to restore our economic position with respect to the affected real property.
As a result of the events of September 11, 2001, insurance companies are limiting and excluding coverage for acts of terrorism in insurance policies. As
a result, we may suffer losses from acts of terrorism that are not
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covered by insurance. In addition, the mortgage loans that are secured by certain of our properties contain customary covenants, including covenants that
require us to maintain property insurance in an amount equal to the replacement cost of the properties. There can be no assurance that the lenders under our
mortgage loans will not take the position that exclusions from our coverage for losses due to terrorist acts is a breach of a covenant that, if uncured, could
allow the lenders to declare an event of default and accelerate repayment of the mortgage loans.
Many of our investments are illiquid and we may not be able to vary our portfolio in response to changes in economic and other conditions.
The real estate securities that we purchase in connection with privately negotiated transactions are not registered under the relevant securities laws,
resulting in a prohibition against their transfer, sale, pledge or other disposition except in a transaction that is exempt from the registration requirements of, or
is otherwise in accordance with, those laws. A majority of the mortgage backed securities and all of the B-Notes that we purchase are traded in private,
unregistered transactions and are therefore subject to restrictions on resale or otherwise have no established trading market. As a result, our ability to vary our
portfolio in response to changes in economic and other conditions may be relatively limited. The mezzanine and bridge loans we originate are particularly
illiquid investments due to their short life, their potential unsuitability for securitization and the greater difficulty of recovery in the event of a borrower's
default.
Lack of diversification in number of investments increases our dependence on individual investments.
Our investment policy allows us to invest up to 20% of our equity in any individual investment. As a result, our portfolio may be concentrated in a
small number of assets, increasing the risk of loss to us and our stockholders if a default or other problem arises.
Liability relating to environmental matters may impact the value of our properties or the properties underlying our investments.
Under various federal, state and local laws, an owner or operator of real property may become liable for the costs of removal of certain hazardous
substances released on its property. These laws often impose liability without regard to whether the owner or operator knew of, or was responsible for, the
release of such hazardous substances.
When we acquire net-leased properties directly, there may be environmental problems associated with the property of which we were unaware. The
presence of hazardous substances may adversely affect an owner's ability to sell real estate or borrow using real estate as collateral. To the extent that an
owner of a property underlying one of our debt investments becomes liable for removal costs, the ability of the owner to make debt payments to us may be
reduced, which in turn may adversely affect the value of the relevant mortgage asset held by us and our ability to make distributions to stockholders.
The presence of hazardous substances on a property may adversely affect our ability to sell the property and we may incur substantial remediation costs,
thus harming our financial condition. In addition, although our leases will generally require our tenants to operate in compliance with all applicable laws and
to indemnify us against any environmental liabilities arising from a tenant's activities on the property, we nonetheless will be subject to strict liability by
virtue of our ownership interest for environmental liabilities created by our tenants, and we cannot ensure you that our tenants would satisfy their
indemnification obligations under the applicable sales agreement or lease. The discovery of material environmental liabilities attached to our properties could
have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.
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Our targeted investment properties and the properties underlying our investments are required to comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act
and fire, safety and other regulations, which may require us or them to make unintended expenditures that adversely impact their ability to make
interest payments to us and our ability to pay dividends to stockholders.
Any properties we acquire directly, and the properties underlying our investments, are required to comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act, or
the ADA. The ADA has separate compliance requirements for "public accommodations" and "commercial facilities," but generally requires that buildings be
made accessible to people with disabilities. Compliance with the ADA requirements could require removal of access barriers and non-compliance could result
in imposition of fines by the U.S. Government or an award of damages to private litigants, or both. While the tenants to whom we lease properties are
obligated by law to comply with the ADA provisions, and we expect under our leases will be obligated to cover costs associated with compliance, if required
changes involve greater expenditures than anticipated, or if the changes must be made on a more accelerated basis than anticipated, the ability of these tenants
to cover costs could be adversely affected and we could be required to expend our own funds to comply with the provisions of the ADA, which could
adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition and our ability to make distributions to stockholders. In addition, we are required to operate
our properties in compliance with fire and safety regulations, building codes and other land use regulations, as they may be adopted by governmental agencies
and bodies and become applicable to our targeted investment properties and properties underlying our investments. We may be required to make substantial
capital expenditures to comply with those requirements and these expenditures could have a material adverse effect on our ability to make distributions to our
stockholders. Further, required compliance with these rules and regulations by the owners of the properties underlying our investments may reduce their funds
available to make interest payments to us.
We may be adversely affected by unfavorable economic changes in geographic areas where the properties underlying our investments may be
concentrated.
Adverse conditions in the areas where the properties underlying our investments are located (including business layoffs or downsizing, industry
slowdowns, changing demographics and other factors) and local real estate conditions (such as oversupply of, or reduced demand for, office and industrial
properties) may have an adverse effect on the value of our properties. A material decline in the demand or the ability of tenants to pay rent for office and
industrial space in these geographic areas may result in a material decline in our cash available for distribution.
A prolonged economic slowdown, a lengthy or severe recession or declining real estate values could harm our operations.
We believe the risks associated with our business will be more acute during periods of economic slowdown or recession if these periods are
accompanied by declining real estate values. Declining real estate values will likely reduce our level of new mortgage loan originations, since borrowers often
use increases in the value of their existing properties to support the purchase of or investment in additional properties. Further, declining real estate values
significantly increase the likelihood that we will incur losses on our loans in the event of default. Any sustained period of increased payment delinquencies,
foreclosures or losses could adversely affect both our net interest income from loans in our portfolio as well as our ability to originate, sell and securitize
loans, which would significantly harm our revenues, results of operations, financial condition, business prospects and our ability to make distributions to our
stockholders.
Risks Related to Our Organization and Structure
Maryland takeover statutes may prevent or make difficult a change of control of our company that could be in the interests of our stockholders.
Under Maryland law, "business combinations" between a Maryland corporation and an interested stockholder or an affiliate of an interested stockholder
are prohibited for five years after the most recent date on
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which the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. These business combinations include a merger, consolidation, share exchange, or, in
circumstances specified in the statute, an asset transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity securities. An interested stockholder is defined as:
•

any person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power of the outstanding voting stock of the corporation's shares; or

•

an affiliate or associate of the corporation who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in question, was the beneficial owner of
10% or more of the voting power of the then outstanding voting stock of the corporation.

A person is not an interested stockholder under the statute if the board of directors approved in advance the transaction by which he otherwise would
have become an interested stockholder.
After the five-year prohibition, any business combination between the Maryland corporation and an interested stockholder generally must be
recommended by the board of directors of the corporation and approved by the affirmative vote of at least:
•

80% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of outstanding shares of voting stock of the corporation, voting together as a single voting group;
and

•

two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of voting stock of the corporation other than shares held by the interested stockholder with
whom or with whose affiliate the business combination is to be effected or held by an affiliate or associate of the interested stockholder.

The business combination statute may discourage others from trying to acquire control of a corporation and increase the difficulty of consummating any
offer, including potential acquisitions that might involve a premium price for the common stock of that corporation or otherwise be in the interest of the
stockholders of that corporation.
We have exempted by charter provision all business combinations from the application of this statute and consequently, the five-year prohibition and
the super-majority vote requirements described above will not apply to any business combination between any other party and us. However, we may, by
charter amendment approved by our board of directors and our stockholders, opt into the business combination provisions of Maryland law in the future.
We also have opted out of the "control share" provisions of Maryland law that provide that "control shares" of our company (defined as shares that,
when aggregated with other shares controlled by the stockholder, entitle the stockholder to exercise one of three increasing ranges of voting power in electing
directors) acquired in a "control share acquisition" (defined as the direct or indirect acquisition of ownership or control of "control shares") have no voting
rights except to the extent approved by our stockholders by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter,
excluding all interested shares. However, we may, by amendment to our by-laws, opt in to the control share provisions of Maryland law in the future without
stockholder approval, which could inhibit a third party from making or completing an acquisition of us that is in the interests of our stockholders. See
"Important Provisions of Maryland Law and of Our Charter and Bylaws—Business Combinations" and "—Control Share Acquisitions."
Our authorized but unissued common and preferred stock may prevent a change in our control.
Our charter authorizes us to issue additional authorized but unissued shares of our common stock or preferred stock. In addition, our board of directors
may classify or reclassify any unissued shares of common stock or preferred stock and may set the preferences, rights and other terms of the classified or
reclassified shares. As a result, our board may issue additional common and preferred shares and may establish a series of preferred stock with terms that
could delay or prevent a transaction or a change in control that might involve a premium price for our common stock or otherwise be in the best interest of our
stockholders.
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Maintenance of our exemption from the requirements of the Investment Company Act imposes limits on our operations.
We conduct our operations so as not to become regulated as an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended. In order
to remain exempt from regulation under the Investment Company Act, we and many of our subsidiaries or companies that we control must comply with the
requirements of certain exemptions from the definition of investment company provided in the Investment Company Act. For example, we currently intend to
rely on the exemption provided in Rule 3a-1 of the Investment Company Act, which requires us to maintain at least 55% of our assets in, and to derive at least
55% of our net income after taxes for the past four quarters combined from, certain types of assets. To comply with this requirement, we intend for a
substantial majority of our assets to be securities issued by companies that we control and we intend to ensure that at least 55% of the assets of these entities
are considered to be mortgages and other liens on and interests in real estate and at least 80% of the assets in these entities are considered to be mortgages and
other liens on and interests in real estate and real estate related securities, thereby allowing these entities to qualify for the exemption from the definition of
investment company provided in Section 3(c)(5)(C) of the 1940 Act. The assets that we, our subsidiaries and controlled affiliates acquire, therefore, are
limited by the provisions of the Investment Company Act and the rules and regulations promulgated under the Investment Company Act.
If a sufficient amount of our assets are determined to be investment securities rather than interests in qualifying exempt entities for purposes of the
Investment Company Act, we could be characterized as an investment company, which would likely have a material adverse effect on our business and
operations. The characterization of us as an investment company would require us to either (i) change the manner in which we conduct our operations to avoid
being required to register as an investment company or (ii) to register as an investment company, either of which could have an adverse effect on us and the
market price for our common stock. Further, if we were determined to be an unregistered investment company, we would be subject to monetary penalties and
injunctive relief in an action brought by the SEC, we may be unable to enforce contracts with third parties and third parties could seek to obtain rescission of
transactions undertaken during the period it was established that we were an unregistered investment company. Any of these results would likely have a
material adverse effect on us.
Our rights and the rights of our stockholders to take action against our directors and officers are limited, which could limit your recourse in the
event of actions not in your best interests.
Under Maryland law generally, a director's actions will be upheld if he or she performs his or her duties in good faith, in a manner he or she reasonably
believes to be in our best interests and with the care that an ordinarily prudent person in a like position would use under similar circumstances. Our charter
authorizes us to indemnify our directors and officers for actions taken by them in those capacities to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law. In
addition, our charter limits the liability of our directors and officers to us and our stockholders for money damages, except for liability resulting from:
•

actual receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money, property or services; or

•

active and deliberate dishonesty by the director or officer that was established by a final judgment as being material to the cause of action
adjudicated.

As a result, we and our stockholders may have more limited rights against our directors and officers than might otherwise exist. Our by-laws require us
to indemnify each director or officer who has been successful, on the merits or otherwise, in the defense of any proceeding to which he or she is made a party
by reason of his or her service to us. In addition, we may be obligated to fund the defense costs incurred by our directors and officers.
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Our charter contains provisions that make removal of our directors difficult, which could make it difficult for our stockholders to effect changes to
our management.
Our charter provides that a director may only be removed with cause upon the affirmative vote of holders of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast in
the election of directors. Vacancies may be filled by the board of directors. This requirement makes it more difficult to change our management by removing
and replacing directors and may prevent changes in control of our company that are in the interest of our stockholders.
Risks Related to Our Taxation as a REIT
Our failure to qualify as a REIT would result in higher taxes and reduced cash available for distribution to our stockholders.
We operate in a manner intended to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. Although we do not intend to request a ruling from the Internal
Revenue Service (the IRS) as to our REIT status, we expect to receive the opinion of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP with respect to our
qualification as a REIT. This opinion will be issued in connection with this offering of common stock. Investors should be aware, however, that opinions of
counsel are not binding on the IRS or any court. The opinion of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP represents only the view of our counsel based on
our counsel's review and analysis of existing law and on certain representations as to factual matters and covenants made by us and our manager, including
representations relating to the values of our assets and the sources of our income. The opinion will be expressed as of the date issued and will not cover
subsequent periods. Counsel has no obligation to advise us or the holders of our common stock of any subsequent change in the matters stated, represented or
assumed, or of any subsequent change in applicable law. Furthermore, both the validity of the opinion of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, and
our continued qualification as a REIT will depend on our satisfaction of certain asset, income, organizational, distribution, stockholder ownership and other
requirements on a continuing basis, the results of which will not be monitored by Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP. Our ability to satisfy the asset
tests depends upon our analysis of the fair market values of our assets, some of which are not susceptible to a precise determination, and for which we will not
obtain independent appraisals. Our compliance with the REIT income and quarterly asset requirements also depends upon our ability to successfully manage
the composition of our income and assets on an ongoing basis. Moreover, the proper classification of an instrument as debt or equity for federal income tax
purposes may be uncertain in some circumstances, which could affect the application of the REIT qualification requirements as described below. Accordingly,
there can be no assurance that the IRS will not contend that our interests in subsidiaries or other issuers will not cause a violation of the REIT requirements. If
we were to fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, we would be subject to federal income tax, including any applicable alternative minimum tax, on our
taxable income at regular corporate rates, and distributions to stockholders would not be deductible by us in computing our taxable income. Any such
corporate tax liability could be substantial and would reduce the amount of cash available for distribution to our stockholders, which in turn could have an
adverse impact on the value of our common stock. Unless entitled to relief under certain Internal Revenue Code provisions, we also would be disqualified
from taxation as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year during which we ceased to qualify as a REIT.
Dividends payable by REITs do not qualify for the reduced tax rates under recently enacted tax legislation.
Legislation enacted in 2003 generally reduces the maximum tax rate for dividends payable to domestic stockholders that are individuals, trusts and
estates from 38.6% to 15% (through 2008). Dividends payable by REITs, however, are generally not eligible for the reduced rates. Although this legislation
does not adversely affect the taxation of REITs or dividends paid by REITs, the more favorable rates applicable to regular corporate dividends could cause
investors who are individuals, trusts and estates to perceive investments in REITs to be relatively less attractive than investments in the stocks of non-REIT
corporations that pay dividends, which could adversely affect the value of the stock of REITs, including our common stock.
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REIT distribution requirements could adversely affect our ability to execute our business plan.
We generally must distribute annually at least 90% of our net taxable income, excluding any net capital gain, in order for corporate income tax not to
apply to earnings that we distribute. To the extent that we satisfy this distribution requirement, but distribute less than 100% of our taxable income, we will be
subject to federal corporate income tax on our undistributed taxable income. In addition, we will be subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax if the actual
amount that we pay out to our stockholders in a calendar year is less than a minimum amount specified under federal tax laws. We intend to make
distributions to our stockholders to comply with the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code. However, differences in timing between the recognition of
taxable income and the actual receipt of cash could require us to sell assets or borrow funds on a short-term or long-term basis to meet the 90% distribution
requirement of the Internal Revenue Code. Certain of our assets may generate substantial mismatches between taxable income and available cash. As a result,
the requirement to distribute a substantial portion of our net taxable income could cause us to: (i) sell assets in adverse market conditions, (ii) borrow on
unfavorable terms or (iii) distribute amounts that would otherwise be invested in future acquisitions, capital expenditures or repayment of debt, in order to
comply with REIT requirements.
The stock ownership limit imposed by the Internal Revenue Code for REITs and our charter may restrict our business combination opportunities.
In order for us to maintain our qualification as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code, not more than 50% in value of our outstanding stock may be
owned, directly or indirectly, by five or fewer individuals (as defined in the Internal Revenue Code to include certain entities) at any time during the last half
of each taxable year after our first year. Our charter, with certain exceptions, authorizes our board of directors to take the actions that are necessary and
desirable to preserve our qualification as a REIT. Unless exempted by our board of directors, no person may own more than 9.8% of the aggregate value of
our outstanding capital stock following the completion of this offering. Our board may grant an exemption in its sole discretion, subject to such conditions,
representations and undertakings as it may determine. The ownership limits imposed by the tax law are based upon direct or indirect ownership by
"individuals," but only during the last half of a tax year. The ownership limits contained in our charter key off of the ownership at any time by any "person,"
which term includes entities. These ownership limitations in our charter are common in REIT charters and are intended to provide added assurance of
compliance with the tax law requirements, and to minimize administrative burdens. However, these ownership limits might also delay or prevent a transaction
or a change in our control that might involve a premium price for our common stock or otherwise be in the best interest of our stockholders.
Even if we remain qualified as a REIT, we may face other tax liabilities that reduce our cash flow.
Even if we remain qualified for taxation as a REIT, we may be subject to certain federal, state and local taxes on our income and assets, including taxes
on any undistributed income, tax on income from some activities conducted as a result of a foreclosure, and state or local income, property and transfer taxes,
such as mortgage recording taxes. See "Federal Income Tax Considerations—Taxation of JER Investors Trust—Taxation of REITs in General." Any of these
taxes would decrease cash available for distribution to our stockholders. In addition, in order to meet the REIT qualification requirements, or to avert the
imposition of a 100% tax that applies to certain gains derived by a REIT from dealer property or inventory, we may hold some of our assets through taxable
subsidiary corporations. Such subsidiaries will be subject to corporate level income tax at regular rates.
Complying with REIT requirements may cause us to forego otherwise attractive opportunities.
To qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, we must continually satisfy tests concerning, among other things, the sources of our income, the
nature and diversification of our assets, the amounts we distribute to our stockholders and the ownership of our stock. We may be required to make
distributions to stockholders at disadvantageous times or when we do not have funds readily available for distribution. Thus, compliance with the REIT
requirements may hinder our ability to make certain attractive investments.
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Complying with REIT requirements may force us to liquidate otherwise attractive investments.
To qualify as a REIT, we must ensure that at the end of each calendar quarter, at least 75% of the value of our assets consists of cash, cash items,
government securities and qualified REIT real estate assets, including certain mortgage loans and mortgage backed securities. The remainder of our
investment in securities (other than government securities and qualified real estate assets) generally cannot include more than 10% of the outstanding voting
securities of any one issuer or more than 10% of the total value of the outstanding securities of any one issuer. In addition, in general, no more than 5% of the
value of our assets (other than government securities and qualified real estate assets) can consist of the securities of any one issuer, and no more than 20% of
the value of our total securities can be represented by securities of one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries. See "Federal Income Tax Considerations—
Taxation of JER Investors Trust—Asset Tests." If we fail to comply with these requirements at the end of any calendar quarter, we must correct the failure
within 30 days after the end of the calendar quarter or qualify for certain statutory relief provisions to avoid losing our REIT status and suffering adverse tax
consequences. As a result, we may be required to liquidate from our portfolio otherwise attractive investments. These actions could have the effect of
reducing our income and amounts available for distribution to our stockholders.
Liquidation of assets may jeopardize our REIT status.
To continue to qualify as a REIT, we must comply with requirements regarding our assets and our sources of income. If we are compelled to liquidate
our investments to repay obligations to our lenders, we may be unable to comply with these requirements, ultimately jeopardizing our status as a REIT, or we
may be subject to a 100% tax on any resultant gain if we sell assets that are treated as dealer property or inventory.
Complying with REIT requirements may limit our ability to hedge effectively.
The REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code may limit our ability to hedge our operations. Under current law, any income that we generate from
derivatives or other transactions intended to hedge our interest rate or foreign currency risks will generally constitute income that does not qualify for
purposes of the 75% income requirement applicable to REITs, and will also be treated as nonqualifying income for purposes of the REIT 95% income test
unless specified requirements are met. See "Federal Income Tax Consideration—Taxation of JER Investors Trust—Derivatives and Hedging Transactions."
As a result of these rules, we may have to limit our use of hedging techniques that might otherwise be advantageous, which could result in greater risks
associated with interest rate or other changes than we would otherwise incur.
The "taxable mortgage pool" rules may increase the taxes that we or our stockholders may incur, and may limit the manner in which we effect
future securitizations.
Certain of our future securitizations could be considered to result in the creation of taxable mortgage pools for federal income tax purposes. As a REIT,
so long as we own 100% of the equity interests in a taxable mortgage pool, we would generally not be adversely affected by the characterization of the
securitization as a taxable mortgage pool. Certain categories of stockholders, however, such as foreign stockholders eligible for treaty benefits, stockholders
with net operating losses, and certain tax-exempt stockholders that are subject to unrelated business income tax, could be subject to increased taxes on a
portion of their dividend income from us that is attributable to the taxable mortgage pool. In addition, to the extent that our stock is owned by tax-exempt
"disqualified organizations," such as certain government-related entities that are not subject to tax on unrelated business income, although Treasury
regulations have not yet been drafted to clarify the law, we may incur a corporate level tax on a portion of our income from the taxable mortgage pool. In that
case, we may reduce the amount of our distributions to any disqualified organization whose stock ownership gave rise to the tax. See "Federal Income Tax
Considerations—Taxation of JER Investors Trust—Taxable Mortgage Pools and Excess Inclusion Income" and "Federal Income Tax Considerations—
Taxation of Stockholders—Taxation of Tax29
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Exempt Stockholders." Moreover, we would be precluded from selling equity interests in these securitizations to outside investors, or selling any debt
securities issued in connection with these securitizations that might be considered to be equity interests for tax purposes. These limitations may prevent us
from using certain techniques to maximize our returns from securitization transactions.
The tax on prohibited transactions will limit our ability to engage in transactions, including certain methods of securitizing mortgage loans, that
would be treated as sales for federal income tax purposes.
A REIT's net income from prohibited transactions is subject to a 100% tax. In general, prohibited transactions are sales or other dispositions of
property, other than foreclosure property, but including mortgage loans, held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business. We might be
subject to this tax if we were to dispose of or securitize loans in a manner that was treated as a sale of the loans for federal income tax purposes. Therefore, in
order to avoid the prohibited transactions tax, we may choose not to engage in certain sales of loans at the REIT level, and may limit the structures we utilize
for our securitization transactions, even though the sales or structures might otherwise be beneficial to us.
Risks Related to this Offering
There may not be an active market for our common stock, which may cause our common stock to trade at a discount and make it difficult to sell the
common stock you purchase.
Prior to the this offering, there has been no public market for our common stock. The initial public offering price for our common stock will be
determined by negotiations between the underwriters and us. We cannot assure you that the initial public offering price will correspond to the price at which
our common stock will trade in the public market subsequent to this offering or that the price of our shares available in the public market will reflect our
actual financial performance.
We intend to apply to list our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "JRT." Listing on the New York Stock Exchange
would not ensure that an actual market will develop for our common stock. Accordingly, no assurance can be given as to:
•

the likelihood that an actual market for our common stock will develop;

•

the liquidity of any such market;

•

the ability of any holder to sell shares of our common stock; or

•

the prices that may be obtained for our common stock.

The market price and trading volume of our common stock may be volatile following this offering.
Even if an active trading market develops for our common stock after this offering, the market price of our common stock may be highly volatile and be
subject to wide fluctuations. In addition, the trading volume in our common stock may fluctuate and cause significant price variations to occur. If the market
price of our common stock declines significantly, you may be unable to resell your shares at or above the initial public offering price. We cannot assure you
that the market price of our common stock will not fluctuate or decline significantly in the future.
Broad market fluctuations could negatively impact the market price of our common stock.
The stock market has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected the market price of many companies in industries similar or
related to ours and that have been unrelated to these companies' operating performances. These broad market fluctuations could reduce the market price of our
common stock. Furthermore, our operating results and prospects may be below the expectations of public market analysts and investors or may be lower than
those of companies with comparable market capitalizations, which could lead to a material decline in the market price of our common stock.
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Future offerings of debt securities, which would rank senior to our common stock upon our liquidation, and future offerings of equity securities,
which would dilute our existing stockholders and may be senior to our common stock for the purposes of dividend and liquidating distributions, may
adversely affect the market price of our common stock.
In the future, we may attempt to increase our capital resources by making offerings of debt or additional offerings of equity securities. Upon liquidation,
holders of our debt securities and shares of preferred stock and lenders with respect to other borrowings will receive a distribution of our available assets prior
to the holders of our common stock. Additional equity offerings may dilute the holdings of our existing stockholders or reduce the market price of our
common stock, or both. Our preferred stock, if issued, could have a preference on liquidating distributions or a preference on dividend payments that could
limit our ability to make a dividend distribution to the holders of our common stock. Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock (including shares of
our common stock issued pursuant to our incentive plan), or the perception that these sales could occur, could have a material adverse effect on the price of
our common stock. Because our decision to issue securities in any future offering will depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, we
cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing or nature of our future offerings. Thus, holders of our common stock bear the risk of our future offerings
reducing the market price of our common stock and diluting their stock holdings in us.
Future sales of shares of our common stock may depress the price of our shares.
We cannot predict the effect, if any, of future sales of our common stock or the availability of shares for future sales on the market price of our common
stock. We have agreed to file a shelf registration statement for the benefit of the holders of shares of our common stock issued in the private placement within
90 days after the completion of this offering. We may also issue shares of common stock pursuant to our incentive plan. Any sales of a substantial number of
our shares in the public market, or the perception that sales might occur, may cause the market price of our shares to decline.
You should not rely on lock-up agreements in connection with the private placement or this offering to limit the amount of common stock sold into
the market.
We will agree with the underwriters not to offer to sell, contract to sell, or otherwise dispose of, loan, pledge or grant any rights with respect to any
shares of our common stock, any options or warrants to purchase any shares of our common stock or any securities convertible into or exercisable for any of
our common stock for a period of
days following the date of this prospectus, subject to certain exceptions. Our directors and officers will agree, with
limited exceptions, for a period of
days after the date of this prospectus, and the selling stockholders will agree, with limited exceptions, for a period
of 90 days after the date of this prospectus, that they will not, without the prior written consent of Friedman, Billings, Ramsey & Co., Inc., directly or
indirectly, offer to sell, sell or otherwise dispose of any shares of our common stock or any securities convertible into, or exercisable or exchangeable for,
shares of our common or our other capital stock other than the shares of common stock sold by the selling stockholders in this offering.
In addition, holders of common stock issued in the private placement have agreed not to sell their shares for a period of 30 days prior to, and 90 days
following, the effective date of the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part.
Friedman, Billings, Ramsey & Co. may, at any time, release all or a portion of the securities subject to the foregoing lock-up provisions. There are no
present agreements between the underwriters and us or any of our executive officers, directors or stockholders releasing them or us from these lock-up
agreements. However, we cannot predict the circumstances or timing under which Friedman, Billings, Ramsey & Co., Inc. may waive these restrictions. If the
restrictions under the lock-up agreements with members of our senior management, directors
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or stockholders are waived or terminated, or upon expiration of a lock-up period, approximately
shares will be available for sale into the market at that
time, subject only to applicable securities rules and regulations. These sales or a perception that these sales may occur could reduce the market price for our
common stock.
The following table summarizes when shares of common stock may be resold following the completion of this offering:
Total Shares Outstanding
Prior to Offering

Shares Available for Sale
After Expiration of 90 Day Lock-Up

Additional Shares Available for
Sale After
Day Lock-Up

11,845,010

All of the shares issued prior to this offering are "restricted securities" as defined under Rule 144 of the Securities Act. We have agreed to file a shelf
registration statement to register the shares sold to investors in the private placement. Until the shelf is effective, only limited resales can be made under Rule
144.
We have not established a minimum distribution payment level and we cannot assure you of our ability to make distributions in the future.
We expect to make quarterly distributions to our stockholders in amounts such that we distribute all or substantially all of our taxable income in each
year, subject to certain adjustments. We have not established a minimum distribution payment level, and our ability to make distributions may be adversely
affected by the risk factors described in this prospectus. All distributions will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our
earnings, our financial condition, maintenance of our REIT status and other factors as our board of directors may deem relevant from time to time. We may
not be able to make distributions in the future. In addition, some of our distributions may include a return of capital. To the extent that we decide to make
distributions in excess of taxable income, such distributions would generally be considered a return of capital for federal income tax purposes.
Our manager has discretion in the use of borrowings under our repurchase agreements, and stockholders will not have an opportunity to evaluate
the investments that may be made with these borrowings.
We expect to be able to re-borrow the amounts we repay on our two repurchase agreements with the proceeds of this offering. We may use the reborrowed funds to acquire assets that we have not yet identified. Our stockholders, including investors in this offering, will not have an opportunity to
evaluate the investments that may be made with the proceeds of these borrowings.
An increase in market interest rates may have an adverse effect on the market price of our common stock.
One of the factors that investors may consider in deciding whether to buy or sell shares of our common stock is our distribution rate as a percentage of
our share price relative to market interest rates. If the market price of our common stock is based primarily on the earnings and return that we derive from our
investments and income with respect to our properties and our related distributions to stockholders, and not from the market value or underlying appraised
value of the properties or investments themselves, then interest rate fluctuations and capital market conditions will likely affect the market price of our
common stock. For instance, if market rates rise without an increase in our distribution rate, the market price of our common stock could decrease as potential
investors may require a higher distribution yield on our common stock or seek other securities paying higher distributions or interest. In addition, rising
interest rates would result in increased interest expense on our variable rate debt, thereby adversely affecting cash flow and our ability to service our
indebtedness and pay distributions.
32

Table of Contents

Investors in this offering will suffer immediate and substantial dilution.
The initial public offering price of our common stock is higher than the net tangible book value per share of our common stock outstanding
immediately after this offering. Our net tangible book value per share as of December 31, 2004 was approximately $13.41. Net tangible book value per share
as of December 31, 2004 represents the amount of our total tangible assets minus our total liabilities, divided by the 11,845,010 shares of our common stock
that were outstanding on December 31, 2004. Investors who purchase our common stock in this offering will pay a price per share that substantially exceeds
the net tangible book value per share of our common stock. If you purchase our common stock in this offering, you will experience immediate and substantial
dilution of $
in the net tangible book value per share of our common stock, based upon an assumed initial public offering price of $
per share,
which is the midpoint of the range listed on the cover page of this prospectus. Investors who purchase our common stock in this offering will have
purchased
% of the shares outstanding immediately after the offering, but will have paid
% of the total consideration for those shares.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This prospectus contains certain forward-looking statements that are subject to various risks and uncertainties, including without limitation, statements
relating to the operating performance of our investments and financing needs. Forward-looking statements are generally identifiable by use of forwardlooking terminology such as "may," "will," "should," "potential," "intend," "expect," "endeavor," "seek," "anticipate," "estimate," "overestimate,"
"underestimate," "believe," "could," "project," "predict," "continue" or other similar words or expressions. Forward-looking statements are based on certain
assumptions, discuss future expectations, describe future plans and strategies, contain projections of results of operations or of financial condition or state
other forward-looking information. Our ability to predict results or the actual effect of future plans or strategies is inherently uncertain. Although we believe
that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions, our actual results and performance could differ
materially from those set forth in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could have a material adverse effect on our operations and future prospects
include, but are not limited to:
•

changes in economic conditions generally and the real estate and bond markets specifically;

•

legislative and regulatory changes (including changes to laws governing the taxation of real estate investment trusts);

•

availability of capital to us;

•

our ability to obtain future financing arrangements;

•

changes in interest rates and interest rate spreads;

•

changes in generally accepted accounting principles;

•

market trends;

•

policies and rules applicable to REITs; and

•

other factors discussed under the heading "Risk Factors."

When considering forward-looking statements, you should keep in mind the risk factors and other cautionary statements in this prospectus. Readers are
cautioned not to place undue reliance on any of these forward-looking statements, which reflect our management's views as of the date of this prospectus. The
"Risk Factors" and other factors noted throughout this prospectus could cause our actual results to differ significantly from those contained in any forwardlooking statement.
Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, levels of
activity, performance or achievements. We are under no duty to update any of the forward-looking statements after the date of this prospectus to conform
these statements to actual results.
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USE OF PROCEEDS
We estimate that the net proceeds to us from the sale of the
shares of common stock issued and sold by us in this offering will be approximately
$
million, or approximately $
million if the underwriters exercise their over-allotment option in full, after deducting the underwriting discount
and estimated offering expenses payable by us. We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of shares of our common stock by the selling stockholders.
We intend to use all of the net proceeds from this offering to repay approximately $
million of outstanding indebtedness under our two
repurchase agreements. As of April 15, 2005, $186.7 million was outstanding under our $250 million maximum availability repurchase agreement at a
weighted average borrowing rate of 3.56%. Our $250 million maximum availability repurchase agreement matures on the earlier of December 31, 2005 or the
completion of a collateralized debt obligation of a majority of the assets financed under the facility. One of our underwriters, Banc of America Securities
LLC, is the lender under this maximum availability repurchase agreement. As of April 15, 2005, there were no amounts outstanding under our $100 million
repurchase agreement. Our $100 million repurchase agreement matures on December 30, 2005. We used the proceeds from our borrowings under our two
repurchase agreements to acquire additional investments after the proceeds from the private placement were fully invested. The borrowings under our two
repurchase agreements are secured by certain of our investments. We make borrowings under our repurchase agreements primarily to finance additional
investments.
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CAPITALIZATION
The following table sets forth our consolidated capitalization as of December 31, 2004:
(i)

on an actual basis; and

(ii)

as adjusted to give effect to the sale of
described in "Use of Proceeds."

shares of our common stock offered by us in this offering and application of the net proceeds as

Actual

As Adjusted

(in thousands)

Debt
$ 39,200 $
Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value per share: 50,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding; no shares issued and
—
outstanding as adjusted
Common stock, $0.01 par value per share: 100,000,000 shares authorized; 11,845,010 shares issued and outstanding;
shares issued
118
and outstanding as adjusted
Additional paid-in capital
165,147
Undistributed earnings
(5,899)
Accumulated other comprehensive income
(577)
Total stockholders' equity

158,789

Total capitalization

$197,989 $
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DISTRIBUTION POLICY
In order to qualify as a REIT so that corporate income tax generally does not apply to our earnings, we must, in addition to meeting other requirements,
distribute to our stockholders an amount at least equal to (i) 90% of our REIT taxable income (determined before the deduction for dividends paid and
excluding any net capital gain), plus (ii) 90% of the excess of our net income from foreclosure property (as defined in Section 856(e) of the Internal Revenue
Code) over the tax imposed on such income by the Internal Revenue Code, less (iii) any excess non-cash income (as determined under the Internal Revenue
Code). We are subject to income tax on income that is not distributed, and to an excise tax to the extent that certain percentages of our income are not
distributed by specified dates. See "Federal Income Tax Considerations—Taxation of JER Investors Trust—Annual Distribution Requirements." Income as
computed for purposes of the foregoing tax rules will not necessarily correspond to our income as determined for financial reporting purposes. The actual
amount and timing of distributions will be at the discretion of our board of directors, and will depend upon a number of factors, including:
•

our actual results of operations;

•

restrictions under Maryland law;

•

the timing of the investment of our equity capital;

•

the amount of our Funds From Operations;

•

our financial condition;

•

our debt service requirements;

•

our capital expenditure requirements;

•

our taxable income;

•

the annual distribution requirements under the REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code;

•

our operating expenses; and

•

other factors our board of directors deems relevant.

Subject to the distribution requirements referred to in the immediately preceding paragraph, we intend, to the extent practicable, to invest substantially
all of the proceeds from repayments, sales and refinancings of our assets in real estate-related assets and other assets. We may, however, under certain
circumstances, make a distribution of capital or of assets. Such distributions, if any, will be made at the discretion of our board of directors. Distributions will
be made in cash to extent that cash is available for distribution.
It is anticipated that distributions generally will be taxable as ordinary income to our non-exempt stockholders, although a portion of such distributions
may be designated by us as long-term capital gain or may constitute a return of capital. To the extent that we decide to make distributions in excess of taxable
income, such distributions generally would be considered a return of capital. We will furnish annually to each of our stockholders a statement setting forth
distributions paid during the preceding year and their federal income tax status. For a discussion of the federal income tax treatment of distributions by us, see
"Federal Income Tax Considerations—Taxation of JER Investors Trust—Taxation of REITs in General," "Federal Income Tax Considerations—Taxation of
JER Investors Trust—Annual Distribution Requirements" and "Federal Income Tax Considerations—Taxation of Stockholders."
We have not yet made any distributions to our stockholders. We intend to make regular quarterly distributions to the holders of our common stock,
commencing with a distribution for the first quarter of 2005, which we intend to pay in the second quarter of 2005, subject to board approval.
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DILUTION
Our net tangible book value as of December 31, 2004 was approximately $158.8 million, or $13.41 per share of our common stock. Net tangible book
value per share represents the amount of our total tangible assets minus our total liabilities, divided by the 11,845,010 shares of our common stock that were
outstanding on December 31, 2004. After giving effect to the sale of
shares of our common stock in this offering at an assumed initial public
offering price of $
per share, which is the midpoint of the range listed on the cover page of this prospectus, our net tangible book value on December
31, 2004 would have been approximately $
million, or $
per share. This represents an immediate increase in net tangible book value of
$
per share to our existing stockholders and an immediate dilution of $
per share to new investors who purchase our common stock in this
offering at an assumed initial public offering price of $
. The following table shows this immediate per share dilution:
Initial public offering price per share
Net tangible book value per share on December 31, 2004, before giving effect to this offering
Increase in net tangible book value per share attributable to this offering
Pro forma net tangible book value per share on December 31, 2004, after giving effect to this offering
Dilution in pro forma net tangible book value per share to new investors

$
$
$
$
$

The discussion and table above exclude 5,000 shares of our common stock subject to restricted stock awards, which are not vested.
The following table summarizes, as of December 31, 2004, the differences between the average price per share paid by our existing stockholders and by
new investors purchasing shares of common stock in this offering at an assumed initial public offering price of $
per share, before deducting the
underwriting discount and estimated offering expenses payable by us in this offering:
Shares Purchased

Number

Total Consideration

Percent

Existing stockholders
New investors
Total

Amount

%
%
%

Average
Price for
Share

Percent

% $
% $
% $

If the underwriters fully exercise their over-allotment option, the number of shares of common stock held by existing holders will be reduced to
% of the aggregate number of shares of common stock outstanding after this offering, and the number of shares of common stock held by new investors will
be increased to
, or
%, of the aggregate number of shares of common stock outstanding after this offering.
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PRICE RANGE OF SHARES OF OUR COMMON STOCK
We issued an aggregate of 11,500,000 shares of our common stock in June 2004 in a private offering. There is no established market for the shares,
which are not listed on any securities exchange, and trading in the shares has not been quoted on any inter-dealer or over-the-counter bulletin board since the
original offering. The shares are eligible for trading in the Private Offering, Resales and Trading through Automated Linkages Market of the National
Association of Securities Dealers, Inc., the PORTAL Market. As of April 14, 2005, there were approximately 220 beneficial owners of our shares. This figure
does not reflect the beneficial ownership of shares held in nominee name.
The table below reflects the high and low prices for trades of our shares on the PORTAL Market known to us for each of the quarterly periods
indicated.
High

Low

Month

Second Quarter 2004
Third Quarter 2004
Fourth Quarter 2004
First Quarter 2005

$
$
$
$
39

15.00
15.00
15.25
15.25

$
$
$
$

15.00
15.00
15.00
15.00
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
The following table presents selected historical consolidated financial information as of December 31, 2004 and for the period ended December 31,
2004. The selected historical consolidated financial information presented below under the captions "Consolidated Income Statement Data" and "Consolidated
Balance Sheet Data" have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements. In addition, since the information presented below is only a
summary and does not provide all of the information contained in our historical consolidated financial statements, including the related notes, you should read
it in conjunction with "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and our historical consolidated financial
statements, including the related notes, included elsewhere in this prospectus.
Period from April 19, 2004
(inception)
to December 31, 2004
(in thousands, except
per share data)

Consolidated Income Statement Data:
Interest income
Expenses:
Management fees
General and administrative (excluding stock compensation)
Stock compensation

$

3,540
1,864
2,438
5,137

Total expenses
Net loss available to common stockholders
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

$

9,439

$

(5,899)

$
$

(0.62)
(0.62)
9,512
9,512
As of December 31, 2004

(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
CMBS
Real estate loans
Total assets
Debt secured by pledge of CMBS
Stockholder's equity

$
$
$
$
$
40

167,070
29,865
199,679
39,200
158,789
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
General
We are a specialty finance company established in April 2004 to capitalize on the growing volume of commercial real estate structured finance
products. We are externally managed and advised by JER Commercial Debt Advisors LLC, an affiliate of J.E. Robert Company, Inc. J.E. Robert Company
and its affiliates are a fully integrated real estate investment management firm. We will continue to capitalize on the knowledge and substantial resources of
J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates. Utilizing borrowings and the net proceeds of our June 2004 private placement, we have invested in CMBS, mezzanine
loans and B-Note participations in mortgage loans. We also intend to originate, acquire and invest in whole commercial mortgage loans, preferred equity,
loans to real estate companies and net leased real estate assets. We expect to derive substantially all our income from the difference between the interest or
rental income we earn on our investments and the expense we incur in financing our investments. We may also invest in residential mortgages and related
securities, but expect that such investments will be limited.
We are organized and conduct our operations to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. As a REIT, we will generally not be subject to
federal income tax on that portion of our income that is distributed to stockholders if we distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income to our
stockholders by the due date of our federal income tax return and comply with various other requirements.
In June 2004, we sold 11,500,000 shares of common stock in the private placement for net proceeds of approximately $160.1 million. Additionally, we
issued 335,000 shares of common stock to our manager and an aggregate of 6,000 shares of restricted common stock to our independent directors pursuant to
our Nonqualified Stock Option and Incentive Award Plan, which we refer to as our Incentive Plan, at the time of the closing of the private placement. In July
2004, when James Kimsey and Frank Caufield joined our board of directors, we issued each of them 2,000 additional shares of restricted common stock
pursuant to our Incentive Plan. As of December 31, 2004, we have a total of 11,845,010 shares of common stock outstanding.
Trends
Competition: We expect to face increased competition for our targeted investments. However, we expect that the size and growth of the market for
these investments, as well as the continuing trend of tranching and further retranching commercial mortgage loans into new securities that are packaged and
resold, will continue to provide us with a variety of investment opportunities. We believe borrowers need a full range of financing opportunities to make
acquisitions, in particular on larger assets where substantial equity commitments are required. In addition, as interest rates rise, we believe there will be more
pressure on senior lenders to be more prudent in their lending decisions, which provides additional opportunities for us. We believe that the mezzanine market
is growing because purchasers of commercial real estate are increasingly using mezzanine debt and preferred equity financing to reduce their required equity
investment and to attain greater leverage on their equity.
Rising interest rate environment: We believe that interest rates are likely to increase. With respect to our existing and future floating rate investments,
we believe such interest rate increases should result in increases in our net interest income. Similarly, we believe such an increase in interest rates should
result in an increase in our net interest income on future fixed interest rate investments made by us. Conversely, in periods of rising interest rates, prepayments
on mortgage loans generally decrease, in which case we would not have the prepayment proceeds available to invest in assets with higher yields. With respect
to our existing fixed rate investments, we believe our strategy of financing such assets through a future match-funded CDO will allow us to mitigate
reductions in net interest income. Nevertheless, we may not be able to successfully match fund all of our investments.
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Critical Accounting Policies
Our most critical accounting policies relate to investment consolidation, revenue recognition, securities valuation, loan loss provisions, derivative
accounting and income taxes. Each of these items involves estimates that require management to make judgments that are subjective in nature. We rely on
J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates' experience and analysis of historical and current market data in order to arrive at what we believe to be reasonable
estimates. Under different conditions, we could report materially different amounts using these critical accounting policies.
Investment Consolidation. For each investment we make, we evaluate the underlying entity that issued the securities we acquired or to which we made a
loan in order to determine the appropriate accounting. We refer to guidance in SFAS No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishments of Liabilities, and FIN 46R, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, in performing our analysis. FIN 46R addresses the application of
Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, "Consolidated Financial Statements," to certain entities in which voting rights are not effective in identifying an
investor with a controlling financial interest. An entity is subject to consolidation under FIN 46R if the investors either do not have sufficient equity at risk for
the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support, are unable to direct the entity's activities, or are not exposed to the entity's
losses or entitled to its residual returns ("variable interest entities" or "VIEs"). Variable interest entities within the scope of FIN 46R are required to be
consolidated by their primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity is determined to be the party that absorbs a majority of the
entity's expected losses, its expected returns, or both.
Our ownership of the subordinated classes of CMBS from a single issuer gives us the right to control the foreclosure/workout process on the underlying
loans ("Controlling Class CMBS"). FIN 46R has certain scope exceptions, one of which provides that an enterprise that holds a variable interest in a
qualifying special-purpose entity ("QSPE") does not consolidate that entity unless that enterprise has the unilateral ability to cause the entity to liquidate.
SFAS 140 provides the requirements for an entity to be considered a QSPE. To maintain the QSPE exception, the trust must continue to meet the QSPE
criteria both initially and in subsequent periods. A trust's QSPE status can be impacted in future periods by activities by its transferor(s) or other involved
parties, including the manner in which certain servicing activities are performed. To the extent its CMBS investments were issued by a trust that meets the
requirements to be considered a QSPE, we record the investments at the purchase price paid. To the extent the underlying trusts are not QSPEs, we follow the
guidance set forth in FIN 46R as the trusts would be considered VIEs.
We have analyzed the governing pooling and servicing agreements for each of our subordinated class CMBS and believe that the terms are industry
standard and are consistent with the QSPE criteria. However, given uncertainty with respect to QSPE treatment due to ongoing review by accounting standard
setters (including the FASB's project to amend SFAS 140), potential actions by various parties involved with the QSPE, as discussed above, as well as
varying and evolving interpretations of the QSPE criteria under SFAS 140, we have also analyzed the investments as if the trusts are not qualifying. Using the
fair value approach to compute expected losses and expected residual returns, we have concluded that we would not be the primary beneficiary of any of the
underlying trusts.
The non-investment grade and unrated tranches of the CMBS owned by us provide credit support to the more senior classes of the related commercial
securitizations. Cash flow from the underlying mortgages generally is allocated first to the senior tranches, with the most senior tranches having a priority
right to the cash flow. Any remaining cash flow is allocated, generally, among the other tranches in order of their relative seniority. To the extent there are
defaults and unrecoverable losses on the underlying mortgages resulting in reduced cash flows, the remaining CMBS classes will bear such losses in order of
their relative subordination.
42

Table of Contents

The table below details the purchase date, face amount of our CMBS and the face amount of the respective issuance as of December 31, 2004:
Total Face
Amount of
CMBS
Issuance

Face
Amount
Purchased

Investment Date
CMBS Trust

(in thousands)

MACH One 2004-1
CSFB 1998-C1
CSFB 2004-C4
MLMT 2004-BPC1
JPMCC 2004-C3

July 2004
August 2004
November 2004
November 2004
December 2004

Total

(in thousands)

$

50,637
12,500
52,976
76,986
81,561

$

643,261
2,482,942
1,138,077
1,242,650
1,517,410

$

274,660

$

7,024,340

Revenue Recognition. The most significant source of our revenue comes from interest income on our securities and loan investments. Interest income
on loans and securities investments is recognized over the life of the investment using the effective interest method. Mortgage loans will generally be
originated or purchased at or near par value and interest income will be recognized based on the contractual terms of the debt instrument. Any loan fees or
acquisition costs on originated loans will be deferred and recognized over the term of the loan as an adjustment to yield. Interest income on CMBS is
recognized on the effective interest method as required by EITF 99-20 "Recognition of Interest Income and Impairment on Purchased and Retained Beneficial
Interests in Securitized Financial Assets". Under EITF 99-20, management estimates, at the time of purchase, the future expected cash flows and determines
the effective interest rate based on these estimated cash flows and our purchase prices. Subsequent to the purchase and on a quarterly basis, these estimated
cash flows are updated and a revised yield is calculated based on the current amortized cost of the investment. In estimating these cash flows, there are a
number of assumptions that are subject to uncertainties and contingencies. These include the rate and timing of principal payments (including prepayments,
repurchases, defaults and liquidations), the pass through or coupon rate and interest rate fluctuations. In addition, interest payment shortfalls have to be
estimated due to delinquencies on the underlying mortgage loans and the timing and magnitude of credit losses on the mortgage loans underlying the
securities. These uncertainties and contingencies are difficult to predict and are subject to future events that may impact management's estimates and our
interest income. When current period cash flow estimates are lower than the previous period and fair value is less than an asset's carrying value, we will write
down the asset to fair market value and record an impairment charge in current period earnings.
Securities Valuation. We designate certain of our investments in mortgage backed securities, mortgage related securities and certain other securities as
available-for-sale. Securities available-for-sale are carried at estimated fair value with the net unrealized gains or losses reported as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders equity. Many of these investments are relatively illiquid and management must estimate their
values. In making these estimates, we use a discounted cash flow model that utilizes prepayment and loss assumptions based upon historical experience,
economic factors and the characteristics of the underlying cash flow in order to substantiate the fair value of the securities. The assumed discount rate is based
upon the yield of comparable securities. We also use pricing information from dealers who make markets in these securities, but under certain circumstances,
we may adjust these valuations based on our knowledge of the securities and the underlying collateral.
We must also assess whether unrealized losses on securities reflect a decline in value that is other than temporary, which would result in writing down
the impaired security to its fair value, through earnings. This will create a new carrying basis for the security and a revised yield will be calculated based on
the future estimated cash flows. See "—Revenue Recognition" above. Significant judgments of management are required in this analysis, which include
assumptions regarding the collectability of the principal and interest, net of expenses, on the underlying loans.
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Loan Loss Provisions. We purchase and originate mezzanine loans and commercial mortgage loans to be held as long-term investments. We evaluate
each of these loans for possible impairment on a quarterly basis. Impairment occurs when it is deemed probable that we will not be able to collect all amounts
due according to the contractual terms of the loan. Upon determination of impairment, we will establish a reserve for loan losses and a corresponding charge
to earnings through the provision for loan losses. Significant judgments are required in determining impairment, which include assumptions regarding the
value of the real estate or partnership interests that secure the mortgage loans.
Derivative Accounting. We account for our derivative and hedging activities, using SFAS 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities," as amended by SFAS 137 and SFAS 149, which requires all derivative instruments to be carried at fair value on the balance sheet.
Derivative instruments designated in a hedge relationship to mitigate exposure to variability in expected future cash flows, or other types of forecasted
transactions, are considered cash flow hedges. We formally document all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as our riskmanagement objective and strategy for undertaking each hedge transaction. We periodically review the effectiveness of each hedging transaction, which
involves estimating future cash flows. Cash flow hedges are accounted for by recording the fair value of the derivative instrument on the balance sheet as
either an asset or liability, with a corresponding amount recorded in other comprehensive income within stockholders' equity. Amounts are reclassified from
other comprehensive income to the income statement in the period or periods the hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings. Derivative instruments
designated in a hedge relationship to mitigate exposure to changes in the fair value of an asset, liability, or firm commitment attributable to a particular risk,
such as interest rate risk, are considered fair value hedges under SFAS 133.
Income Taxes. We operate in a manner that we believe will allow us to be taxed as a REIT and, as a result, we do not expect to pay substantial
corporate-level income taxes. Many of the requirements for REIT qualification, however, are highly technical and complex. If we were to fail to meet these
requirements and do not qualify for certain statutory relief provisions, we would be subject to federal income tax, which could have a material adverse impact
on our results of operations and amounts available for distributions to our stockholders.
Results of Operations
The net loss to common stockholders was approximately $5.9 million, or $(0.62) per diluted share, for the period from inception (April 19, 2004) to
December 31, 2004 primarily as a result of interest, stock compensation and general and administrative expenses. Prior to stock-based compensation expense
of $5.1 million, the net loss to common stockholders was approximately $0.8 million, or $(0.08) per diluted share. Management believes that net loss to
common stockholders prior to stock based compensation expense is useful to investors because the stock compensation grant was a one-time grant made in
connection with our formation and initial equity raise. The reconciliation of net loss to common stockholders prior to stock based compensation expense to net
loss to common stockholders is as follows:
Net loss (in thousands):
GAAP presentation
Add Back: Stock Compensation

$

(5,899)
5,137

Non-GAAP presentation

$

(762)

Net loss per share:
GAAP presentation
Add back: Stock Compensation

$

(0.62)
0.54

Non-GAAP presentation

(0.08)
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We use the net loss to common stockholders prior to stock based compensation expense in the evaluation of our business because we believe that such
financial measure is a useful indication of the expected recurring performance of our assets and liabilities as the grant of stock compensation at the completion
of our June 2004 private placement was a one-time event. As a non-GAAP financial measure, however, net loss to common stockholders prior to stock based
compensation expense has certain limitations, including that net loss to common stockholders prior to stock based compensation expense does not take into
account the overall dilutive effect to our financial performance on a per share basis as a result of our having issued additional common shares to our manager.
In addition, should the issuance of stock based compensation recur on a regular basis going forward, use of net loss to common stockholders prior to stock
based compensation would no longer be a useful or indicative financial measure. Therefore, currently, we do not use net loss to common stockholders prior to
stock based compensation expense as a measure of the performance of our financial results on a per share basis. In addition, going forward, if stock based
compensation recurs on a regular basis going forward, use of net loss to common stockholders prior to stock based compensation expense would no longer be
used.
Interest Income. Total interest income for the period from inception (April 19, 2004) to December 31, 2004 was $3.5 million. Interest income primarily
consisted of $2.3 million related to our CMBS investments. Interest income also included $1.0 million related to cash and cash equivalents and $0.2 million
related to real estate loans.
Management Fees. Management fees of $1.9 million for the period from inception (April 19, 2004) to December 31, 2004 were comprised entirely of
base management fees payable to our manager. Base management fees are calculated as a percentage of stockholders' equity adjusted to exclude the effect of
any unrealized gains, losses or other items that do not affect realized net income. Our manager is also entitled to receive quarterly incentive fees based on our
Funds From Operations. However, no incentive fees were payable to our manager during the period from inception (April 19, 2004) through December 31,
2004.
General and Administrative Expense. General and administrative expenses of $2.4 million for the period from inception (April 19, 2004) to December
31, 2004 consisted primarily of fees for professional services of $0.7 million, insurance premiums of $0.3 million and due diligence expenses of $0.9 million.
Other general and administrative expenses include overhead charges and reimbursements to our manager.
Stock Compensation. As part of the June 2004 private placement, we recorded $5.1 million ($.54 per share) in compensation expense related to stock
awards issued to our independent directors and our manager. As consideration for our manager's role in raising capital for the company, it was granted an
award of 335,000 shares of stock in connection with the private placement. One-half of the shares granted to our manager are subject to a risk of forfeiture if
we do not file with the SEC either a registration statement providing for the initial public offering of our common stock or a shelf registration statement
providing for the resale of our common stock by March 4, 2005. Additionally, each non-officer director was granted 2,000 shares of restricted stock on the
date of the first meeting of our board of directors attended by the director. One-half of the shares granted to the directors are subject to a risk of forfeiture if
the director no longer serves as a member of our board of directors on June 4, 2005, the vesting date of those shares.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our principal sources of funds will be operating cash flows, borrowings and future debt and equity offerings. Immediately after this offering, we will
have minimal cash balances for working capital purposes. We expect our borrowings will be through loan agreements, including warehouse facilities, and
other credit facilities with institutional lenders. We may also issue long-term debt securities and preferred stock. We currently have two repurchase
agreements in place secured by certain of our CMBS. The first agreement provides for up to $250 million in financing, secured by certain CMBS, B-Notes
and mezzanine loans and first mortgage loans that we acquire in the future, and matures on the earlier of December 31, 2005 or the completion of a
collateralized debt obligation of a majority of the assets financed under the facility. The second repurchase agreement provides financing of up to $100
million secured by rated and unrated CMBS. The agreement expires December 30, 2005.
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Both agreements bear interest based on one month LIBOR (2.98% at April 15, 2005) plus a margin of 35 to 125 basis points, tiered according to the security's
credit rating. Under both agreements, the financial institutions retain the right to mark the underlying collateral to estimated market values. A reduction in the
value of our pledged assets may require us to provide additional collateral or fund margin calls so that the outstanding loan amount will be less than or equal
to the allowable amount.
The following table presents certain information regarding our debt obligations as of April 15, 2005:

Balance
12/31/2004

Balance
4/15/2005

Weighted Avg.
Interest Rate

Range of
Maturities

(in thousands)

Repurchase agreements:
Banc of America Securities
Liquid Funding

$

39,200 $
—

186,706
0

3.56%
—%

$

39,200 $

186,706

3.56%

Less than 1 year
Less than 1 year

If we default in the payment of interest or principal on any debt, breach any representation or warranty in connection with any borrowing or violate any
covenant in any loan document, our lender may accelerate the maturity of such debt, requiring us to immediately repay all outstanding principal. If we are
unable to make payments, our lender could force us to sell our securities or foreclose on our assets that are pledged as collateral to such lender. The lender
could also sue us or force us into bankruptcy. Any of these events would likely have a material adverse effect on the value of an investment in our common
stock. Our current debt obligations do not include any financial or restrictive covenants. However, we expect that future debt obligations will contain such
restrictions.
We intend to make regular quarterly distributions to the holders of our common stock, commencing with a distribution for the first quarter of 2005,
which we intend to pay in the second quarter of 2005, subject to board approval. In order to qualify as a REIT and to avoid corporate-level tax on the income
we distribute to our stockholders, we are required to distribute at least 90% of our ordinary income and short-term capital gains on an annual basis. Therefore,
we will need to raise additional capital in order to acquire additional investments. We anticipate borrowing funds to obtain additional capital, but there can be
no assurance that we will be able to do so on terms acceptable or available to us, if at all.
We expect to meet our short-term liquidity requirements generally through the net proceeds from this offering, cash flow provided by operations as well
as borrowings. Our initial borrowings have been short-term, variable rate debt; however, we ultimately expect to finance the majority of our assets through a
match-funded CDO strategy. Our CDO strategy is dependent upon our ability to place the match-funded debt we intend to create in the market at spreads that
provide a positive arbitrage. If spreads for CDO liabilities widen or if demand for such liabilities ceases to exist, then our ability to execute the CDO strategy
will be severely restricted.
We expect to meet our long-term liquidity requirements, specifically the repayment of debt and our investment funding needs, through additional
borrowings, the issuance of debt and equity securities and the liquidation or refinancing of our assets at maturity. We believe that the value of these assets is,
and will continue to be, sufficient to repay our debt at maturity under either scenario. However, our ability to meet our long-term liquidity requirements is
subject to obtaining additional equity and debt financing. Decisions by investors and lenders to enter into transactions with us will depend upon a number of
factors, such as our historical and projected financial performance, compliance with the terms of our current credit arrangements, industry and market trends,
the availability of capital and our investors' and lenders' policies and rates applicable thereto, and the relative attractiveness of alternative investment or
lending opportunities.
We have conducted preliminary negotiations with financial institutions and believe, on the basis of these negotiations, that we will be able to obtain
longer-term financing in amounts and at interest rates generally
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consistent with our financing objectives. We cannot assure you, however, that negotiations with potential lenders will result in a definitive agreement being
entered into or consummated or at the terms consistent with our business plan. In the event that we are unable to secure lines of credit or collateralized
financing on favorable terms, our ability to successfully effect our investment strategy may be significantly impacted and returns to investors may be reduced.
We expect that the net proceeds from this offering, our cash flow provided by operations, and our current financings will satisfy our liquidity needs
over the next twelve months.
Inflation
We believe that the risk of increases in the market interest rates on any floating rate debt that we may invest in as a result of inflation will be largely
offset by our use of match funding financing and hedging instruments.
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Market Risk. Market risk is the exposure to loss resulting from changes in interest rates, credit curve spreads, foreign currency exchange rates,
commodity prices and equity prices. The primary market risks to which we are exposed are interest rate risk and credit curve risk. Interest rate risk is highly
sensitive to many factors, including governmental, monetary and tax policies, domestic and international economic and political considerations and other
factors beyond our control. Credit curve risk is highly sensitive to dynamics of the markets for commercial mortgage securities and other loans and securities
we plan to invest in. Excessive supply of these assets combined with reduced demand will cause the market to require a higher yield. This demand for higher
yield will cause the market to use a higher spread over the U.S. Treasury securities yield curve, or other benchmark interest rates, to value these assets.
Changes in the general level of the U.S. Treasury yield curve can have significant effects on the market value of our intended portfolio.
Our operating results depend substantially on the difference between the interest and related income earned on our assets and the interest expense
incurred in connection with our interest-bearing liabilities. Competition from other providers of real estate financing may lead to a decrease in the interest rate
earned on our interest-bearing assets, which we may not be able to offset by obtaining lower interest rate costs on our borrowings. Changes in the general
level of interest rates prevailing in the financial markets may affect the spread between our interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities. Any
significant compression of the spreads between interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities could have a material adverse effect on us. In addition,
an increase in interest rates could, among other things, reduce the value of our interest-bearing assets and our ability to realize gains from the sale of such
assets, and a decrease in interest rates could reduce the average life of our interest-earning assets.
We may utilize a variety of financial instruments, including interest rate swaps, caps, options, floors and other interest rate exchange contracts, in order
to limit the effects of fluctuations in interest rates on our operations. We do not intend to utilize derivatives for speculative or other purposes other than
interest rate management. The use of these types of derivatives to hedge interest-earning assets and/or interest-bearing liabilities carries certain risks,
including the risk that losses on a hedge position will reduce the funds available for payments to holders of securities and that such losses may exceed the
amount invested in such instruments. A hedge may not perform its intended purpose of offsetting losses. Moreover, with respect to certain of the instruments
used as hedges, we are exposed to the risk that the counterparties with which we trade may cease making markets and quoting prices in such instruments,
which may render us unable to enter into an offsetting transaction with respect to an open position. If we anticipate that the income from any such hedging
transaction will not be qualifying income for REIT income test purposes, we may conduct part or all of our hedging activities through a corporate subsidiary
that will be fully subject to federal corporate income taxation (a taxable REIT subsidiary). Our profitability may be adversely affected during any period as a
result of changing interest rates.
Interest rate sensitivity refers to the change in earnings that may result from the changes in the level of interest rates. Our net interest income is affected
by changes in various interest rates, primarily LIBOR and
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treasury rates. At December 31, 2004, our primary sensitivity to interest rates related to the income we earned on our $29.9 million mezzanine loans and the
interest expense incurred on $39.2 million of debt.
The following table shows the estimated change in net income for a 12-month period based on changes in the interest rates applied to our assets and
liabilities as of December 31, 2004:
Estimated Change in
Net Income Over 12
Months

Rate Change (Basis Points)

(in thousands)

-100
+100
+200

$

93.4
(93.4)
(186.7)

Interest rate changes will also affect the fair value of our CMBS investments, real estate loans and derivatives.
In December 2004, we entered into two forward-starting interest rate swaps to mitigate the risk of changes in the interest-related cash outflows on a
forecasted issuance of long-term debt. These swaps are designated as cash flow hedges for GAAP purposes and are expected to be effective in hedging the
risk of changes in 10 years of interest cash outflows attributable to changes in the 10-year USD-LIBOR swap rate over the term of the hedging relationship.
Under these swaps, we agreed to pay the counterparties a weighted average fixed interest rate of 4.65% per annum in exchange for floating payments on the
total notional amount of $100 million. The monthly interest payments are forecasted to begin between May 15, 2005 and November 15, 2005.
Credit Risk. Our portfolio of commercial real estate loans and securities is subject to a high degree of credit risk. Credit risk is the exposure to loss from
debtor defaults. Default rates are subject to a wide variety of factors, including, but not limited to, property performance, property management, supply and
demand factors, construction trends, consumer behavior, regional economics, interest rates, the strength of the American economy and other factors beyond
our control.
All loans are subject to a certain probability of default. We will underwrite our CMBS investments assuming the underlying loans will suffer a certain
dollar amount of defaults and the defaults will lead to some level of realized losses. Loss adjusted yields are computed based on these assumptions and
applied to each class of security supported by the cash flow on the underlying loans. The most significant variables affecting loss adjusted yields include, but
are not limited to, the number of defaults, the severity of loss that occurs subsequent to a default and the timing of the actual loss. The different rating levels of
CMBS will react differently to changes in these assumptions. The lowest rated securities are generally more sensitive to changes in timing of actual losses.
The higher rated securities are more sensitive to the severity of losses.
We generally assume that substantially all of the principal of a non-rated security will not be recoverable over time. The timing and the amount of the
loss of principal are the key assumptions to determine the economic yield of these securities. Timing is of paramount importance because we will assume
substantial losses of principal on the non-rated securities, therefore the longer the principal balance remains outstanding the more interest the holder receives
to support a greater economic return. Alternatively, if principal is lost faster than originally assumed, there is less opportunity to receive interest and a lower
or possibly negative return may result.
If actual principal losses on the underlying loans exceed assumptions, the higher rated securities will be affected more significantly as a loss of principal
may not have been assumed. We expect that most if not all principal will be recovered with respect to classes rated B or higher.
We will manage credit risk though the underwriting process, establishing loss assumptions and careful monitoring of loan performance. Before
acquiring a controlling class security (represented by a majority ownership interest in the most subordinate tranche) in a proposed pool of loans, we will
perform a rigorous analysis of all of the proposed underlying loans. Information from this review will then be used to establish loss
48

Table of Contents

assumptions. We will assume that a certain portion of the loans will default and calculate an expected or loss adjusted yield based on that assumption. After
the securities have been acquired, we will monitor the performance of the loans, as well as external factors that may affect their value.
Factors that indicate a higher loss severity or acceleration of the timing of an expected loss will cause a reduction in the expected yield and therefore
reduce our earnings. Furthermore, we may be required to write down a portion of the adjusted purchase price of the affected assets through a charge to
income.
We will also invest in commercial real estate loans, primarily mezzanine loans, bridge loans, B-notes, loans to real estate companies, mortgage loans
and net leased real estate. We may also invest in residential mortgages and related securities. These investments will be subject to credit risk. The extent of
our credit risk exposure will be dependent on risks associated with commercial real estate. Commercial property values and net operating income derived
from such properties are subject to volatility and may be affected adversely by a number of factors, including, but not limited to, national, regional and local
economic conditions (which may be adversely affected by industry slowdowns and other factors), local real estate conditions (such as an oversupply of
housing, retail, industrial, office or other commercial space); changes or continued weakness in specific industry segments; construction quality, age and
design; demographic factors; retroactive changes to building or similar codes; and increases in operating expenses (such as energy costs). In the event a
borrower's net operating income decreases, the borrower may have difficulty repaying our loans, which could result in losses to us. In addition, decreases in
property values reduce the value of the collateral and the potential proceeds available to a borrower to repay our loans, which could also cause us to suffer
losses.
49

Table of Contents

OUR COMPANY
We are a specialty finance company organized by J.E. Robert Company, Inc. primarily to originate and acquire real estate debt securities and loans. We
are externally managed and advised by JER Commercial Debt Advisors LLC, an affiliate of J.E. Robert Company, Inc. J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates
are a fully integrated real estate investment management firm. We will continue to capitalize on the knowledge and substantial resources of J.E. Robert
Company and its affiliates. We intend to take advantage of the growing volume and complexity of commercial real estate structured finance products by
investing primarily in loans and debt securities that we believe will yield the highest risk-adjusted returns. Our target investments include commercial real
estate structured finance products such as commercial mortgage backed securities (commonly known as CMBS), mezzanine loans and B-Note participation in
mortgage loans, as well as whole commercial mortgage loans, loans to real estate companies, preferred equity, and net-leased real estate. We may also invest
in residential mortgages and related securities. We intend to pursue a selective investment strategy, targeting specific transactions based on an analysis of debt
structure and taking into account the underlying real estate and borrower credit risk. We are organized and conduct our operations to qualify as a real estate
investment trust, or REIT, for federal income tax purposes.
J.E. Robert Company was founded in 1981 to provide expertise to public and private financial institutions in resolving real estate loan workout
situations. Since its founding, the firm has been active in all facets of the commercial real estate debt markets, including sourcing, due diligence, valuation,
acquisition, asset management and disposition.
Since 1991, J.E. Robert Company has served as the special servicer or asset manager for over 30 securitized pools of non-performing and performing
commercial loans with a par value at issuance of over $15 billion. The primary function of the special servicer is to manage any loans that default or become
delinquent at their maturity. Accordingly, the special servicer function is critical with respect to maximizing the return of principal and interest from the
underlying loans. J.E. Robert Company currently has the highest special servicer ratings of "CSS1" and "strong" from Fitch Investors Service, Inc. and
Standard & Poor's rating services, respectively. J.E. Robert Company is currently the special servicer for three of the five CMBS pools in which we have
made investments to date.
Our Investment Strategy
Our strategy is to hold a diversified portfolio of commercial real estate debt investments, including CMBS, mezzanine loans and B-Notes. We also
intend to invest in preferred equity, loans to real estate companies, mortgage loans and net leased real estate assets. We may also invest in residential
mortgages and related securities. Our strategy is to maximize the difference between the yields on our investments and the cost of financing these investments.
Our objective is to generate cash available for distribution, facilitate capital appreciation and provide attractive total returns to our stockholders.
We invest in commercial real estate structured finance products that provide rates of return that we believe are appropriate taking into account the
underlying credit risk. Our investments generally are secured, directly or indirectly, by individual real estate properties or pools of properties that generally
provide loan-to-value ratios in the range of 60% to 90%.
We currently finance our investments with short-term warehouse facilities and intend to use match-funded financing structures such as collateralized
debt obligations, commonly known as CDOs. We seek to maximize investment yields and mitigate risks to capital and dividends through prudent matchfunded liabilities.
We selectively pursue investments where we believe cash flows have been mispriced, including the purchase of discounted securities in sectors that
have fallen out of favor due to economic pressures, regulatory issues or illiquidity. We acquire assets primarily for income. Through our management
agreement with our
50

Table of Contents

manager, we draw on J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates' expertise and significant business relationships with participants in the real estate securities
industry to enhance our access to these investments, which may not be broadly marketed. Since 1991, J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates have purchased
investments from, purchased investments with, and served as asset manager of investments made by, major financial institutions and has developed
relationships with these institutions, which enhances our ability to access potential investments and financing.
We broadly diversify our portfolio by asset type, tenant, tenant industry, location and servicer. We believe that diversification reduces the risk of capital
loss and also enhances the terms of our financing.
Our Investment Guidelines
Our board of directors has adopted the following guidelines for our investments and borrowings:
•

no investment shall be made that would cause us to fail to qualify as a REIT for Federal income tax purposes;

•

no investment shall be made that would cause us to be regulated as an investment company under the Investment Company Act;

•

no more than 20% of our equity, determined as of the date of each investment, shall be invested in any single asset;

•

our debt-to-equity ratio generally shall be between approximately two-to-one and three-to-one, depending on the characteristics of our portfolio;

•

we shall not co-invest with our manager or any of its affiliates unless our investment committee determines that (i) the co-investment is otherwise
in accordance with these investment guidelines and (ii) the terms of the co-investment are at least as favorable to us as to our manager or the
affiliate (as applicable) making such co-investment; and

•

no more than 10% of our equity, determined as of the date of an investment, shall be invested in assets located outside of the United States or in
non-U.S. dollar denominated securities.

Except with respect to the allocation of investments made pursuant to J.E. Robert Company's conflicts policy in effect with respect to us and JER Fund
III, we are not permitted to invest in joint ventures with our manager or its affiliates unless the investment is (i) made in accordance with the above guidelines
and (ii) approved by all of the independent members of our board of directors. In addition, we are not permitted to (i) consummate any transaction that would
involve the acquisition by us of an asset in which our manager or any of its affiliates has an ownership interest, or the sale by us of an asset to our manager or
any of its affiliates, (ii) under circumstances where our manager is subject to an actual or potential conflict of interest because it is manages both us and any
other person with which we have a contractual relationship, take any action constituting the granting to such person of a waiver, forbearance or other relief, or
the enforcement against such person of remedies, under or with respect to the applicable contract or (iii) make a loan to any affiliate of our manager, unless
such transaction or action is approved by all independent members of our board. These investment guidelines may be changed by our board of directors
without the approval of our stockholders.
Targeted Investments
Our investment program focuses on the following real estate products:
•

CMBS;

•

mezzanine loans;

•

B-Notes;

•

bridge loans;
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•

preferred equity;

•

loans to real estate companies;

•

mortgage loans; and

•

net leased real estate assets.

We may also invest in residential mortgages and related securities. Various types of real property will serve as the underlying collateral for our
investments, including retail property, offices, industrial properties, apartments, condominiums and hotels. We intend to provide loans to all kinds of
borrowers, including corporations, individuals and special purpose vehicles. We have no current plans to invest in non-U.S. denominated securities but may
determine to invest in such securities in the future. Although we intend to invest as described in this prospectus, our actual investment allocations will depend
on changing market conditions. As a result, we cannot predict with any certainty the percentage of our assets that will be invested in each category. Many of
these asset classes may also be suitable investments for JER Fund III or other existing or future investment entities controlled by J.E. Robert Company and its
affiliates, giving rise to potential conflicts of interest. We will seek to identify those opportunities available in the market that can be acquired at attractive
pricing and that provide opportunities to manage corresponding liabilities to mitigate financial risks. We intend to purchase and originate mortgage loans and
our manager or J.E. Robert Company will service our investments. Mortgage loans that we originate will be sourced through direct relationships with owners
and operators of real estate. These relationships have been developed by J.E. Robert Company since its founding. Loans that we purchase will be sourced
through our manager's and J.E. Robert Company's direct relationships with loan sellers, including investment banks, commercial banks and insurance
companies. We believe the competition, investment underwriting analysis, risk and profit margin and collateral evaluation for originated loans and purchased
loans are approximately the same.
Since raising our initial equity in June 2004, we have invested approximately $348.9 million in commercial real estate debt securities and loans. As of
April 15, 2005, we had invested in the following:
% of Our Total
Investments

CMBS
BBB
BB
B
Non-rated

24.9%
22.7%
17.4%
9.6%

CMBS
Mezzanine loans
Originated
Acquired

6.4%
14.2%

Mezzanine loans
B Notes

20.6%
4.8%

Total at April 15, 2005

100.0%

74.6%

We may change our investment strategy and policies without a vote of our stockholders. We may acquire assets from our manager or its affiliates,
including securities issued by our manager or its affiliates upon approval of all the independent directors. These transactions must also comply with our
general investment guidelines.
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CMBS
We intend to invest in commercial mortgage backed securities, or CMBS, which are typically pass-through certificates created by the securitization of a
single commercial mortgage loan or a pool of mortgage loans that are collateralized by commercial real estate properties. We believe the investment
opportunity in CMBS currently lies in our ability to prudently underwrite and purchase the "first-loss" tranches and non-investment grade bonds, capitalizing
on our manager's ability to price the underlying real estate risk.
The securitization process is governed by one or more of the rating agencies, including Fitch, Moody's and Standard & Poor's, who determine the
respective bond class sizes, generally based on a sequential payment structure. Bonds that are rated from AAA to BBB by the rating agencies are considered
"investment grade." Bond classes that are subordinate to the BBB class are considered "non-investment" grade. The respective bond class sizes are determined
based on the review of the underlying collateral by the rating agencies. The payments received from the underlying loans are used to make the payments on
the CMBS. Based on the sequential payment priority, the risk of nonpayment for the AAA CMBS is lower than the risk of nonpayment for the non-investment
grade bonds. Accordingly, the AAA class is typically sold at a lower yield compared to the non-investment grade classes which are sold at higher yields. We
expect to invest primarily in the BBB and non-investment grade CMBS classes.
Each securitization typically requires the owner of the most subordinate CMBS class to appoint a special servicer. The primary function of the special
servicer is to manage any loans that default or become delinquent at their maturity. Accordingly, the special servicer function is critical with respect to
maximizing the return of principal and interest from the underlying loans.
J.E. Robert Company has been a special servicer since 1991 and has been engaged as special servicer or asset manager on over 30 securitized
transactions. The total par value at issuance of the underlying loans have exceeded $15 billion. Typically, the governing documents of a securitization require
that the special servicer be approved by one or more of the rating agencies. J.E. Robert Company currently has the highest special servicer ratings from both
Fitch and S&P, based on an analysis of staff expertise, a review of policies and procedures and an evaluation of the quality of resolution results. With respect
to those securitization transactions where we control the non-investment grade CMBS and have the right to appoint the special servicer, we intend to appoint
J.E. Robert Company as special servicer. J.E. Robert Company is currently the special servicer for three of the five CMBS pools in which we have made
investments to date.
According to the Federal Reserve Board, the total amount of outstanding commercial mortgages increased to $2.3 trillion at the end of 2004 from $958
billion at the end of 1994. Annual United States CMBS issuance reached historical highs in 2003 and 2004 with issuances of $77.8 billion and $93.1 billion,
respectively, according to Commercial Mortgage Alert. CMBS issuance in the United States from January 1, 2005 through March 31, 2005 was $32.7 billion,
also according to Commercial Mortgage Alert.
Based on the most recent rating agency treatment for conduit transactions that included non-investment grade bond structures, the non-investment grade
classes of CMBS have averaged approximately 3% to 6% of the total issuances. BBB rated classes averaged approximately 3% to 4% of the total issuances.
Based on assumed annual issuance consistent with the average of the prior five years and taking into account conventional pricing parameters, we estimate
that the total size of the non-investment grade CMBS market is approximately $1 billion annually. No assurance can be made that non-investment grade
components of CMBS will continue to be these sizes.
Mezzanine Loans
We intend to originate and invest in mezzanine loans (including mezzanine construction loans) to owners of real properties that are encumbered by first
lien mortgages, in which case our mezzanine loans generally will be secured by junior liens on the subject properties and/or by liens on the partnership or
membership interests in
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the borrower's property-owning subsidiary. Subject to negotiated contractual restrictions, the mezzanine lender generally has the right, following foreclosure,
to become the sole indirect owner of the property subject to the lien of the primary mortgagor. Mezzanine debt can also be either junior or senior, denoting the
particular leverage strip that may apply.
We may structure our mezzanine loans so that we receive a stated fixed or variable interest rate on the loan as well as a percentage of gross revenues
and/or a percentage of the increase in the fair market value of the property securing the loan, payable upon maturity, refinancing or sale of the property. Our
current mezzanine loan investments require the payment of current interest, which reduces our reliance on the residual value of the underlying property. Our
mezzanine loans may also have prepayment lockouts, origination fees, deferred interest, penalties, minimum profit hurdles and other mechanisms to protect
and enhance returns in the event of premature repayment.
B-Notes
We intend to invest in B-Notes generated from structured transactions that may or may not have been rated by a recognized rating agency. These are
junior participations in a first mortgage loan on a single property or group of related properties. The senior participation is known as an A-Note. Although a
B-Note may be evidenced by its own promissory note, it shares a single borrower and mortgage with the A-Note and is secured by the same collateral. B-Note
lenders have the same obligations, collateral and borrower as the A-Note lender, but in most instances are contractually limited in rights and remedies in the
event of a default. The B-Note is subordinate to the A-Note by virtue of a contractual or intercreditor arrangement between the A-Note lender and the B-Note
lender. For the B-Note lender to actively pursue a full range of remedies, it must, in most instances, purchase the A-Note, or maintain its performing status in
the event of a default on the B-Note. The B-Note lender may in some instances require a security interest in the stock or partnership interests of the borrower
as part of the transaction. If the B-Note holder can obtain a security interest, it may be able to accelerate gaining control of the underlying property, subject to
the rights of the A-Note holder. Both of these debt instruments are senior to the mezzanine debt tranches described above.
B-Notes share certain credit characteristics with subordinated CMBS, in that both reflect an interest in a first mortgage and are subject to more credit
risk with respect to the underlying mortgage collateral than the corresponding senior securities or the A-Notes. As opposed to a typical CMBS secured by a
large pool of mortgage loans, B-Notes typically are secured by a single property, and the associated credit risk is concentrated in that single property. B-Notes
also share certain credit characteristics with second mortgages, in that both are subject to more credit risk with respect to the underlying mortgage collateral
than the corresponding first mortgage or the A-Note. We intend to acquire B-Notes in negotiated transactions with the originators on large single and portfolio
private debt placements, as well as in the secondary market. The B-Note market has grown substantially in recent years with the expansion of the
securitization market, and J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates have established relationships with many of the primary originators of B-Note products,
which we believe will give us access to investment opportunities from these parties.
Bridge Loans
We may offer bridge loans to borrowers who are seeking short-term capital typically to be used in an acquisition of real estate. The bridge loans we
expect to originate will predominantly be secured by first mortgage liens on the property and contemplate a takeout, using the proceeds of a conventional
mortgage loan to repay our bridge loan. We may also receive origination fees and other deferred compensation in connection with our bridge loans. We
believe providing these bridge loans will lead to future investment opportunities for us, including mortgage loans, mezzanine debt and preferred equity
investments.
Preferred Equity
We may make preferred equity investments in property-owning entities, generally in situations where the borrower's capital structure does not allow for
secured mezzanine financing because of restrictions imposed by
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senior lenders or other debt covenants. These investments are unsecured. Although preferred equity holders do not have priority relative to creditors, preferred
equity holders have a first claim on cash flow and/or capital event proceeds relative to the common equity and often have covenant protections, such as
negative pledges and overall debt limitations, to protect their equity position. We expect these investments to be priced in a manner similar to a mezzanine
investment, though often with a premium because of the lack of collateral. Should an event of default occur, preferred equity holders have the right to replace
the other equity holders to become the primary owner of the property subject to the lien of the primary mortgage. Like true owners, preferred equity investors
have the option to support the loan during temporary cash flow shortfalls and dilute other common equity holders. We may also be able to negotiate special
voting rights to help mitigate risks. J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates' extensive equity underwriting experience qualifies it to underwrite, structure and
manage these types of equity interests if we must take an active equity participation role.
Loans to Real Estate Companies
We may also make loans to real estate-related operating companies, including REITs. These investments may take the form of secured debt, preferred
stock and other hybrid instruments such as convertible debt. Corporate mezzanine loans may finance, among other things, operations, mergers and
acquisitions, management buy-outs, recapitalizations, start-ups and stock buy-backs generally involving real estate and real estate-related entities. J.E. Robert
Company and its affiliates' extensive experience with credit underwriting of both the underlying real estate and corporate credits positions it well to
understand the appropriate approach for this type of investment.
Mortgage Loans
We may invest in portfolios of mortgage loans in the form of mortgage loans or participations from various sellers, including life insurance companies,
banks and other owners. We expect these loans to be secured by commercial or residential properties in the United States where we believe we can achieve
attractive risk adjusted returns. These loans typically have maturities ranging from five to ten years. We should have an advantage over many other mortgage
lenders given the range of debt and structuring flexibility we may offer creditworthy borrowers. We may also acquire portfolios of performing mortgages at a
discount where we believe we can achieve appropriate risk adjusted returns.
Net Leased Real Estate Assets
We may invest in net leased real property. We may also consider larger transactions involving portfolios of assets taking into account concentration
issues with a single tenant and the residual value of the underlying assets. JER's underwriting experience with this class of assets should also allow us to
pursue assets with lease terms of under 10 years. We also may buy mortgage loans secured by real estate under long-term leases to credit worthy tenants.
These generally include portfolios of fully amortizing mortgage loans or mortgage loans where some residual risk exist at the end of the term of the loan.
These portfolios may include geographically diverse tenant and borrower concentrations. J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates' credit and underwriting skills
are important to properly structure, acquire and manage these types of diverse portfolios.
Our Investments
Since raising our initial equity in June 2004, we have invested approximately $348.9 million in commercial real estate securities and loans. We acquired
the securities in our current portfolio from major financial institutions that originate and service securities such as those in our portfolio. We have acquired the
following investments from major financial institutions since the completion of our private placement in 2004:
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CMBS. Through April 15, 2005, we have invested $260.1 million in seven different CMBS transactions, including five newly-issued conduit
securitizations. Following is a summary of our CMBS investments as of December 31, 2004:
Weighted Average
Face
Amount

Estimated
Fair Value (1)

Coupon

Yield

Term (2)

Security Description
(In thousands)

CMBS
BBB
BB
B
Non-rated
Total securities

(1)

(2)

$

67,369 $
52,652
64,345
90,294

66,226
40,295
37,850
22,699

5.34%
4.61%
5.11%
5.03%

5.53%
7.39%
10.54%
14.67%

10.16
12.01
14.27
11.06

$

274,660 $

167,070

5.07%

8.30%

11.66

Our CMBS investments are carried at estimated fair value. In estimating fair value, we generally use available pricing information from dealers who
make markets in these securities, but under certain circumstances, we may adjust these valuations based on our knowledge of the securities and the
underlying collateral.
Represents the weighted average term in years as calculated based on the anticipated principal payments on bonds.

As of December 31, 2004, the mortgage loans in the underlying collateral pools for all CMBS were secured by properties of the types and at the
locations identified below:
% (1)

% (1)

Location

New York
California
Florida
Texas
Michigan
Other (2)
Re-Remic (3)
Total

(1)
(2)
(3)

Property Type

12.4%
11.8%
10.6%
10.4%
4.0%
39.7%
11.1%
100.0%

Retail
Office
Residential
Hospitality
Industrial
Other (2)
Re-Remic (3)
Total

26.8%
23.2%
22.4%
5.7%
3.2%
7.6%
11.1%
100.0%

Percentages are based on the unpaid principal balance of the underlying loans.
No other individual state or property type comprises more than 3.0% of the total.
Our investment in a Re-REMIC that holds CMBS from 41 previous conduit securitizations is not included in the above categories.

Mezzanine Loans. As of April 15, 2005, we had invested in seven mezzanine loans. In November 2004, we originated a $14.9 million mezzanine
tranche of an $89.9 million two year floating rate loan used to finance the recapitalization of a portfolio of four Class-A multifamily properties in Houston,
Texas. The properties are subject to a $75 million senior mortgage loan. The mezzanine loan bears interest at one month LIBOR (2.98% at April 15, 2005)
plus 700 basis points with a 2% LIBOR floor.
In December 2004, we acquired a $15 million participation in a $53.5 million senior mezzanine loan. The $53.5 million senior mezzanine loan was part
of a $970 million recapitalization of a portfolio of multifamily properties with concentrations in Texas, Virginia, South Carolina and Georgia. The properties
are subject to $810.0 million of senior mortgage financing. The mezzanine loan has an initial term of two years and bears interest at LIBOR plus 800 basis
points.
In February 2005, we acquired an $11.5 million mezzanine loan. The loan is part of a $28.5 million financing used to renovate a historic hotel in
Pittsburgh. The loan has an initial maturity of August 2006 and bears interest at LIBOR plus 4.91%.
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In April 2005, we acquired a $23 million junior mezzanine loan used to recapitalize the 755-room, full service Doubletree Metropolitan hotel in New
York City. The loan has an initial maturity date of February 2007, with three one year extension options. The junior mezzanine loan was part of a $200
million recapitalization. The loan bears an interest rate of LIBOR plus 500 basis points with a 1% commitment fee.
In March and April 2005, we originated, together with JER Fund III, three mezzanine loans. These mezzanine loans are part of a program to provide
financing for garden apartment condominium conversions in Florida. Because these mezzanine loans meet both our investment objectives and the investment
objectives of JER Fund III, the conflicts policy established by J.E. Robert Company requires that the ownership of these mezzanine loans be allocated equally
between us and JER Fund III. The loans include limited guarantees from the principals of the borrowers, are fully cross collateralized, and are further secured
by first liens on partnership interests and in some cases second mortgages. The mezzanine loans also provide, in certain circumstances, for cash flow sweeps
as well as "springing" second mortgages. All of these loans have an initial term of two years, with two one-year extensions. The loans carry an interest rate of
LIBOR plus 1800 basis points plus a 2% exit fee. The first mezzanine loan funded under this program was used to convert a 300 unit multifamily complex in
Ft Myers, Florida. We have funded $3.4 million in respect of our participation interest in this loan. The second loan relates to the acquisition and conversion
of a 252 unit garden multifamily project in Orlando, Florida. We have funded $2.0 million in respect of our participation interest in this loan. The third
mezzanine loan under the program relates to the acquisition and conversion of a 384-unit multifamily project in Tampa, Florida. We have funded $2.1 million
in respect of our participation interest in this loan.
Our mezzanine loans generally are serviced by a pledge, directly or indirectly, of the equity interests in the borrower's property-owning subsidiary.
B-Notes. In January 2005, we acquired a $33.8 million B-Note participation in a $176.5 million mortgage loan to finance the condominium conversion
of a hotel. The B-Note has an initial maturity of October 2006, with a one year extension option. The loan bears interest based on one-month LIBOR plus a
spread ranging from 750 to 950 basis points, depending upon the date of the completion of the construction, the principal balance and whether or not the loan
has been extended. During February 2005, we sold 50% of our investment in this B-Note at par to an unaffiliated third party reducing our investment to $16.8
million.
Capital and Leverage Policies
We seek to enhance returns to stockholders through the use of leverage with an overall target debt-to-equity ratio for our company of between
approximately two-to-one and three-to-one, depending on the characteristics of our portfolio. We may leverage individual investments at substantially higher
levels. Our financing strategy focuses on the use of match-funded financing structures. This means that we intend to seek to match the maturities of our
financial obligations with the maturities of our investments, thus reducing the impact of changing interest rates on earnings. In addition, we intend to seek to
match fund interest rates with like-kind debt (i.e., fixed-rate assets are financed with fixed-rate debt, and floating-rate assets are financed with floating-rate
debt), through the use of hedges such as interest rate swaps, caps, or through a combination of these strategies. This strategy is designed to reduce the impact
of changing interest rates on our earnings. In this regard, we seek to utilize securitization structures, particularly collateralized debt obligations, or CDOs, as
well as other match-funded financing structures. CDOs are multiple class debt securities, or bonds, secured by pools of assets, such as mortgage backed
securities, B-Notes and other mortgage assets. Like typical securitization structures, in a CDO (i) the assets are pledged to a trustee for the benefit of the
holders of the bonds, (ii) one or more classes of the bonds are rated by one or more rating agencies and (iii) one or more classes of the bonds are marketed to a
wide variety of investors, which enables the CDO sponsor to achieve a relatively low cost of long-term financing.
We believe that CDO financing structures are an appropriate financing vehicle for our targeted asset classes because they enable us to lock in a longterm cost of funds and minimize the risk that we will have to refinance
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our liabilities prior to the maturities of our investments, while providing flexibility to manage credit risk and, subject to certain limitations, to take advantage
of profit opportunities.
We also use short-term financing, in the form of repurchase agreements, and may use bridge loans and bank warehousing facilities, as an intermediary
step prior to the implementation of match-funded financing. Leverage will be utilized for the sole purpose of financing our portfolio and not for the purpose of
speculating on changes in interest rates. Our charter and bylaws do not limit the amount of indebtedness we can incur, and our board of directors has
discretion to deviate from or change our indebtedness policy at any time. However, we intend to maintain an adequate capital base to protect against various
business environments in which our financing and hedging costs might exceed interest income (net of credit losses) from our investments. These conditions
could occur, for example, due to credit losses or when, due to interest rate fluctuations, interest income on our investments lags behind interest rate increases
in our borrowings, which are expected to be predominantly variable rate.
To date, we have financed our investments with available cash and borrowings under short term repurchase agreements. We expect to obtain longer
term match-funded financing of some of these investments through the issuance of a CDO in 2005.
In December 2004, we entered into two forward-starting interest rate swaps to mitigate the risk of changes in the interest-related cash outflows on a
forecasted issuance of long-term debt. These swaps are designated as cash flow hedges for GAAP purposes and are expected to be effective in hedging the
risk of changes in 10 years of interest cash outflows attributable to changes in the 10-year USD-LIBOR swap rate over the term of the hedging relationship.
Under these swaps, we agreed to pay the counterparties a weighted average fixed interest rate of 4.65% per annum in exchange for floating payments on the
total notional amount of $100 million. The monthly interest payments are forecasted to begin between May 15, 2005 and November 15, 2005.
Credit and Interest Rate Risk Management
Our assets are exposed to various levels of credit risk, depending on the nature of the underlying assets and the nature and level of credit enhancements
supporting such assets. We originate or purchase mortgage loans that meet minimum debt service coverage standards established by us. We review and
monitor credit risk and other risks of loss associated with each investment. In addition, we seek to diversify our portfolio of assets to avoid undue geographic,
issuer, industry and certain other types of concentrations. The risk management staff of J.E. Robert Company, which implements and monitors our interest
rate risk management program, is overseen by the head of risk management for J.E. Robert Company. Our board of directors monitors the overall portfolio
risk and reviews levels of provision for loss.
Our interest rate risk management strategy is intended to mitigate the negative effects of major interest rate changes. We seek to reduce our interest rate
risk from borrowings both through hedging activities and by attempting to structure the key terms of our borrowings to generally correspond (in the aggregate
for the entire portfolio, and not on an asset-by-asset basis) to the interest rate and maturity parameters of our assets.
We intend to utilize a variety of financial instruments, including interest rate swaps, caps, options, floors and other interest rate exchange contracts, in
order to limit the effects of fluctuations in interest rates on our operations. The use of these types of derivatives to hedge interest-earning assets and/or
interest-bearing liabilities carries certain risks, including the risk that losses on a hedge position will reduce the funds available for payments to holders of
securities and that such losses may exceed the amount invested in such instruments. A hedge may not perform its intended purpose of offsetting losses.
Moreover, with respect to certain of the instruments used as hedges, we are exposed to the risk that the counterparties with which we trade may cease making
markets and quoting prices in such instruments, which may render us unable to enter into an offsetting transaction with respect to an open position. If we
anticipate that the income from any such hedging transaction could adversely affect our compliance with the REIT qualification requirements, we may
conduct part or all of our hedging activities through a corporate subsidiary that will be fully subject to federal corporate income taxation. Our profitability may
be adversely affected during any period as a result of changing interest rates.
58

Table of Contents

Investment Process
In making investment and management decisions on our behalf, our manager utilizes a carefully formulated strategy that begins with the sourcing of
potential investments. We typically focus on investments from sources where J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates have a strategic advantage or a direct
relationship with the counterparty. Our investment strategy is based on a very selective and disciplined approach that integrates J.E. Robert Company and its
affiliates' due diligence capacity and detailed asset underwriting process as well as their substantial experience in successfully structuring complex
investments with multiple real estate, financial, and legal issues.
Our Investment Committee. Our investment committee is chaired by Gene McQuown, our president and chief investment officer, and is comprised of
Joseph E. Robert, Jr., chairman of our board, Keith W. Belcher, vice chairman of our board and our executive vice president, Deborah L. Harmon, president
and chief investment officer of J.E. Robert Company, Cornelia C. Buckley, Senior Managing Director of J.E. Robert Company. Tae-Sik Yoon, our executive
vice president, Kari Doescher, our chief financial officer, and Dan Ward, our secretary. Our investment committee has authority delegated by our board of
directors to authorize transactions consistent with our investment guidelines. Any transaction deviating in a material way from these guidelines must be
approved by our board of directors unless otherwise delegated by the board.
The following is a description of our manager's activities during each stage of the investment process:
Sourcing Potential Investment Opportunities. We believe our manager's relationship with J.E. Robert Company provides us with a unique pipeline of
investment opportunities. J.E. Robert Company has developed an extensive network of relationships in its 23-year history in the real estate business and seeks
to source transactions for us through its network of relationships with commercial and investment banks, opportunity funds, institutional investors, operating
partners, borrowers and brokerage companies. J.E. Robert Company's staff of over 40 investment and asset management professionals are very active in
sourcing proprietary investment opportunities. The CMBS market has reached a substantial annual volume, with issuances exceeding $93 billion in 2004.
Within this market, new transactions are brought to market by various issuers on a frequent basis, usually with several new issues each month. The sellers are
comprised primarily of investment banks, commercial banks and insurance companies. Because J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates have been active in the
CMBS sector since the early 1990s and have established relationships with many of the issuers of CMBS through prior investments, partnerships and
management activity, our manager is well positioned to pursue new issue opportunities on our behalf. While it is typical that new issue transactions are
offered in a bid format, J.E. Robert Company historically has been able to negotiate certain CMBS acquisitions due to its relationships with specific issuers
and its reputation for speed, flexibility and closing ability. We have acquired three CMBS investments on a direct negotiation basis, rather than a bid format,
from major financial institutions that J.E. Robert Company and affiliates have purchased investments from, purchased investments with or served as asset
manager for in the past. Based on investment cost, these two negotiated transactions represented approximately 40% of our total $260.1 million of CMBS
investments as of April 15, 2005.
In addition, J.E. Robert Company's prominence in the equity investment markets over the last ten years has positioned it well to originate both high
yielding and mortgage loan debt related opportunities as well as net lease transactions for us. We believe J.E. Robert Company's core real estate competency,
coupled with its structuring flexibility and creativity, give it an advantage in direct debt obligations and net lease transactions.
Screening and Pursuit of Potential Transactions. All investments are screened prior to committing underwriting resources and are reviewed by our
investment committee for conformity to our investment guidelines and overall suitability, including consideration of regulatory and portfolio risk
management. A CMBS investment opportunity initially is screened based on the analysis of the asset composition of the underlying loan pool. Our manager
utilizes a stress test analysis with respect to the debt service capacity of the assets and their ultimate ability to refinance. Based on the stress test results as well
as our manager's review of the specific product types and property locations, a preliminary loan loss estimate is derived, which is then assessed against
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the proposed bond structure. Other factors that our manager considers include the reputation of the underwriters and issuers, the quality of the loan
underwriting, the quality of the respective borrowers and the adequacy of the related loan documents. Once the transaction is screened, the purchase
parameters are bid and negotiated, and our formal due diligence process is initiated.
In considering whether to acquire or make an investment, our manager performs certain due diligence tasks that reasonably may be expected to provide
relevant and material information as to the value of the loan and whether we should acquire or originate the debt. In determining the price of a loan, our
manager reviews and analyzes some or all of a number of factors, depending upon their expected materiality to the transaction. These factors may include
market conditions (market interest rates, the availability of refinancing and economic, demographic, geographic, tax, legal and other factors). They may also
include the yield to maturity of the loan, the liquidity of the loan, the limitations on the obligations of the seller with respect to the loan, the rate and timing of
payments to be made with respect to the loan, the underlying property securing the loan, the risk of adverse fluctuations in the market values of the underlying
property as a result of economic or political events or governmental regulations, the historical performance and other attributes of the borrower or property
manager responsible for managing the underlying property, relevant laws limiting actions that may be taken with respect to loans secured by real property or
other ownership interests, and limitations on recourse against the borrowers following realization on the collateral, risks of timing with respect to loan
prepayments, risks associated with geographic concentration of underlying assets, environmental risks, pending and threatened litigation, other liens and other
issues relating to title, a prior history of defaults by affiliated parties on similar and dissimilar obligations and other factors.
Due Diligence. Our manager subjects potential transactions to rigorous analysis to optimize pricing and structuring. Our manager relies on the
personnel provided to it by J.E. Robert Company to conduct due diligence on our behalf. Neither we nor our manager have a dedicated full-time staff to
diligence our investments. From a real estate perspective, the due diligence includes, but is not limited to:
•

conducting a thorough analysis, regardless of the recourse nature of a loan, of the borrower's investment history, reputation, credit history,
investment focus and expertise;

•

making site visits to assess the economic viability of the property including tenant and overall property viability;

•

reviewing submarket supply and demand and existing and planned competitive properties;

•

reviewing local submarket rental and sales comparables;

•

reviewing issuer and third party valuations and appraisals of the property, if applicable, and the loan to value ratio with respect to the property;

•

performing legal, accounting, environmental, zoning, structural analyses of the property and borrower;

•

reviewing the level and stability of cash flow from the underlying property to service the mortgage debt;

•

analyzing the availability of capital for refinancing by the borrower if the loan does not fully amortize;

•

reviewing loan documents to determine the lender's rights, including personal guarantees, additional collateral, default covenants and other
remedies as well as the lender's rights under any intercreditor agreements; and

•

making appropriate modifications to reflect the underlying collateral and borrower credit risk, including requiring letters of credit or other liquid
instruments to ensure timely payments and loan to value ratios appropriate for the yield.

As a result of the real estate review, a cash flow forecast for each collateral property is prepared and a valuation is assigned. The performance of the
respective loan is then forecast and individual loan losses are projected with regard to some CMBS issuances, in particular on non-investment grade CMBS,
which are always
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priced on a risk adjusted basis. These calculations are affected by the securitization structure, which is evaluated, modeled and reviewed in order to evaluate
the bond level cash flows. Sensitivity analysis is performed in consideration of differing levels of loan losses, variances in the timing of loan payoffs or
prepayments, loan extension scenarios and with respect to changing interest rates. In all cases, we consider the potential impact on the risk profile of our
investment portfolio and the impact on cash flow after we implement financing at the company level, whether in the form of a CDO or some other debt
instrument. Where certain assets within a securitization are deemed to constitute an excessive risk, they are either appropriately reserved and pro forma losses
adjusted, or the subject assets are rejected from the pool or further structured to mitigate the risk to us.
Investment Committee Participation. Following investment screening and initial due diligence, our investment committee reviews all potential
transactions to consider REIT and Investment Company Act compliance issues as well as pricing, structuring, real estate and borrower risk, finance capability,
hedging and portfolio risk management. Although we will receive legal advice in connection with the acquisition of assets for which there is uncertainty with
respect to the REIT rules and Investment Company Act treatment, we do not intend to receive a legal opinion in connection with each acquisition. Following
execution of a terms agreement with the counterparty, the investment committee supervises final due diligence to the extent applicable. Upon completion of
due diligence and prior to making any binding debt commitments or investments, our investment committee considers the impact of any material findings on
the transaction's risk profile. Some investments may be presented to our board of directors for consideration. All completed transactions are then reported to
our board of directors. Our independent directors must unanimously approve any acquisition from or sale to an affiliate of J.E. Robert Company.
Closing. The CMBS closing process is extensive due to the documentation associated with the bond issuance, including the loan sale agreement, the
various trust documents and the associated servicing agreement. Included in the servicing documentation is the pooling and servicing agreement, which
governs the responsibilities of the special servicer. J.E. Robert Company has established relationships with legal counsel and has streamlined the closing
process in order to minimize the associated cost, while achieving the requisite document provisions.
Non-CMBS closings are completed to the extent possible on our own standard documentation, but many direct high yield debt investments are on
documents specific to that transaction. Those documents are negotiated by our manager with the support of our chief investment officer, the general counsel
of our manager and outside counsel. Funding controls are in place with our chief financial officer and chief investment officer to ensure that no funding takes
place until all documents are in place and security interests perfected.
JER Fund III Partnership Agreement. The JER Fund III partnership agreement provides that neither J.E. Robert Company nor any affiliate can close on
another pooled investment vehicle with objectives substantially similar to those of JER Fund III, other than certain kinds of funds, including a JER CMBS
Fund. The JER Fund III partnership agreement further provides that none of J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates shall make investments outside of JER
Fund III that are substantially similar to the type of investments to be made by JER Fund III, except for investments that a JER CMBS Fund is permitted to
make under its governing documents. It is J.E. Robert Company's intention that we qualify as a JER CMBS Fund under the JER Fund III partnership
agreement. The JER Fund III partnership agreement defines a "JER CMBS Fund" as a fund organized by J.E. Robert Company or any of its affiliates to
"primarily" invest in (a) CMBS and other related loans issued in connection with conduit securitizations and (b) residential mortgages and related securities.
The JER Fund III partnership agreement defines "conduit securitizations" as CMBS collateralized primarily by newly originated loans (i) issued for the
purposes of securitizations, (ii) with fixed interest rates and maturities of seven to ten years and (iii) with loan to value ratios generally averaging
approximately 75% and debt service coverage ratios generally averaging 1.25% based on net cash flow from the underlying real estate, all as reasonably
determined by an affiliate of J.E. Robert Company as general partner acting in good faith. We contemplate investing in a variety of structured finance
products, including CMBS issued in connection with conduit securitizations, mezzanine loans, B-Note participations in mortgage loans, commercial loans,
loans to real estate companies, and net leased real estate. We may also invest in residential mortgages and related securities such as residential
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mortgage backed securities. The ability of our manager to invest in these types of structured finance products on our behalf is limited, but not completely
restricted, so long as we meet the definition in the JER Fund III partnership agreement of a JER CMBS Fund, which requires us to invest "primarily" in (a)
CMBS and other related loans issued in connection with conduit securitizations and (b) residential mortgages and related securities.
Asset Management
Our manager (with the assistance of J.E. Robert Company as special servicer where appropriate) performs the following asset management functions
for us:
Investment Monitoring. Our manager actively monitors and manages our investments. Surveillance on each investment is performed on an ongoing
basis as updated collateral information is obtained, including property operating statements and rent rolls. This information is analyzed and compared against
original underwriting forecasts. A negative variance in net operating income or in occupancy may result in the asset being placed on a "watch list." Submarket
trends and physical site inspections are also reviewed and evaluated with regard to future performance. Our investment committee periodically reviews the
portfolio on a formal basis to consider any watch list assets and determine any appropriate actions and reserve adjustments. Throughout the surveillance
process, asset management steps are taken as warranted in order to maximize the return on the investment.
Cash Collections. To the extent possible, we will enter into cash collection and lock box agreements, in particular on high yield investments.
Collateral Valuation. Our manager is responsible for determining the value of the collateral property, including an analysis of the condition of the
property, existing tenant base, current information and comparable market rents, occupancy and sales. When appropriate, our manager also conducts an
investigation of the borrower to identify other potential sources of recovery, including other non-real estate collateral and guarantees. Our manager then is
responsible for reviewing the collateral operating statements on an ongoing basis and within the market in order to accurately track asset value and cash flow
performance.
Recovery Strategies. To the extent a default is realized with respect to an investment, our manager is responsible for recommending and implementing
the appropriate recovery strategy in order to produce the highest present value recovery. This may include demand for payment, forbearance, modification,
compromise, deed-in-lieu of foreclosure, foreclosure and litigation. Typically, a number of alternatives can then be compared on a net present value basis and
consideration given to the risks related to executing each alternative. Our manager's real estate operating and distressed debt workout management experience
put us in a strong position to manage defaults or other problems that may arise with our investments.
Services Agreement with J.E. Robert Company
Because neither we nor our manager have any employees, we and our manager have entered into a services agreement with J.E. Robert Company to
provide our manager with the personnel, services and resources necessary for our manager to perform its obligations and responsibilities under the
management agreement, including due diligence, asset management and credit risk management. No employee of J.E. Robert Company will dedicate all of his
or her time to us. However, we expect that, pursuant to the services agreement, J.E. Robert Company will provide our manager with the equivalent of 10 to 20
full time employees during the calendar year 2005. It is anticipated that the number of full time employees provided by J.E. Robert Company will increase as
we acquire more investments.
Competition
We are subject to significant competition in seeking investments. We compete with several other companies for investments, including other REITs,
insurance companies and other investors. Recently, there has been
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increased competition in the CMBS market, with many companies seeking to invest in CMBS issuances. Some of our competitors have greater resources than
we do and we may not be able to compete successfully for investments.
Compliance With The Americans With Disabilities Act Of 1990
Properties that we may acquire, and the properties underlying our investments, will be required to meet federal requirements related to access and use
by disabled persons as a result of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. In addition, a number of additional federal, state and local laws may require
modifications to any properties we purchase, or may restrict further renovations of our properties, with respect to access by disabled persons. Noncompliance
with these laws or regulations could result in the imposition of fines or an award of damages to private litigants. Additional legislation could impose
additional financial obligations or restrictions with respect to access by disabled persons. If required changes involve greater expenditures than we currently
anticipate, or if the changes must be made on a more accelerated basis, our ability to make expected distributions could be adversely affected.
Compliance With Federal, State And Local Environmental Laws
Properties that we may acquire, and the properties underlying our investments, are subject to various federal, state and local environmental laws,
ordinances and regulations. Under these laws, ordinances and regulations, a current or previous owner of real estate (including, in certain circumstances, a
secured lender that succeeds to ownership or control of a property) may become liable for the costs of removal or remediation of certain hazardous or toxic
substances or petroleum product releases at, on, under or in its property. These laws typically impose cleanup responsibility and liability without regard to
whether the owner or control party knew of or was responsible for the release or presence of the hazardous or toxic substances. The costs of investigation,
remediation or removal of these substances may be substantial and could exceed the value of the property. An owner or control party of a site may be subject
to common law claims by third parties based on damages and costs resulting from environmental contamination emanating from a site. Certain environmental
laws also impose liability in connection with the handling of or exposure to materials containing asbestos. These laws allow third parties to seek recovery
from owners of real properties for personal injuries associated with materials containing asbestos. Our operating costs and the values of these assets may be
adversely affected by the obligation to pay for the cost of complying with existing environmental laws, ordinances and regulations, as well as the cost of
complying with future legislation, and our income and ability to make distributions to our stockholders could be affected adversely by the existence of an
environmental liability with respect to our properties. We will endeavor to ensure our properties are in compliance in all material respects with all federal,
state and local laws, ordinances and regulations regarding hazardous or toxic substances or petroleum products.
Legal Proceedings
We are not a party to any legal proceedings.
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OPERATING POLICIES AND STRATEGIES
Market/Interest Rate Risk Management
To the extent consistent with our election to qualify as a REIT, we follow an interest rate risk management strategy intended to mitigate the negative
effects of major interest rate changes. We seek to minimize our interest rate risk from borrowings by attempting to structure the key terms of our borrowings
to generally correspond to the interest rate term of our assets.
Hedging Activities
We have entered into interest rate swap agreements to attempt to reduce the interest rate risk on our indebtedness. The start date of the swap agreement
will coincide with the anticipated issuance date of the related liability. For a further description, see " Management's Discussion & Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations—Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk." In the future, we may enter into similar arrangements to
protect our investment portfolio from interest rate fluctuations and other changes in market conditions. These transactions may include interest rate swaps, the
purchase or sale of interest rate collars, caps or floors, options, mortgage derivatives and other hedging instruments. These instruments may be used to hedge
as much of the interest rate risk as our manager determines is in the best interest of our stockholders, given the cost of such hedges and the need to maintain
our status as a REIT. In general, income from hedging transactions does not constitute qualifying income under current law for purposes of the REIT gross
income requirements. To the extent, however, that we enter into a hedging transaction to reduce interest rate risk on indebtedness incurred to acquire or carry
real estate assets, any income or gain that we derive from the transaction would be excluded from gross income for purposes of the REIT 95% gross income
test, and would be treated as income that does not qualify for purposes of the 75% gross income test. See "Federal Income Tax Considerations—Taxation of
JER Investors Trust—Derivatives and Hedging Transactions." Our manager may elect to have us bear a level of interest rate risk that could otherwise be
hedged when it believes, based on all relevant facts, that bearing such risk is advisable.
Disposition Policies
Although we have no current plans to dispose of assets within our portfolio, our manager evaluates our asset portfolio on a regular basis to determine if
it continues to satisfy our investment criteria. Subject to certain restrictions applicable to REITs, we may sell our investments opportunistically and use the
proceeds of any sale for debt reduction, additional acquisitions or working capital purposes.
Equity Capital Policies
Subject to applicable law, our board of directors has the authority, without further stockholder approval, to issue additional authorized common stock
and preferred stock or otherwise raise capital, including through the issuance of senior securities, in any manner and on the terms and for the consideration it
deems appropriate, including in exchange for property. Our existing stockholders, and purchasers of common stock in this offering, will have no preemptive
right to purchase additional shares issued in any offering, and any offering might cause significant dilution of your investment. We may in the future issue
common stock in connection with acquisitions of additional investments.
We may repurchase our common stock in private transactions with our stockholders, if those purchases are approved by our board of directors. Our
board of directors has no present intention of causing us to repurchase any shares of our common stock, and any action would only be taken in conformity
with applicable federal and state laws and the applicable requirements for qualifying as a REIT, for so long as the board of directors concludes that we should
remain a REIT.
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Conflicts of Interest Policies
Except with respect to the allocation of investments made pursuant to J.E. Robert Company's conflicts policy in effect with respect to us and JER Fund
III, we are not permitted to invest in joint ventures with our manager or its affiliates unless the investment is (i) made in accordance with the investment
guidelines described elsewhere in this prospectus and (ii) approved by all of the independent members of our board of directors. In addition, we are not
permitted to (i) consummate any transaction that would involve the acquisition by us of an asset in which our manager or any of its affiliates has an ownership
interest, or the sale by us of an asset to our manager or any of its affiliates, (ii) under circumstances where our manager is subject to an actual or potential
conflict of interest because it manages both us and any other person with which we have a contractual relationship, take any action constituting the granting to
such person of a waiver, forbearance or other relief, or the enforcement against such person of remedies, under or with respect to the applicable contract, or
(iii) make a loan to any affiliate of our manager, unless such transaction or action is approved by all independent members of our board. For a further
description of our conflicts of interest policies, see "Our Manager and the Management Agreement—Conflicts of Interest in our Relationship with our
Manager."
Interested Director, Officer and Employee Transactions
We have adopted a policy that, unless the action is approved by a majority of the disinterested directors and is not otherwise prohibited by law, we will
not:
•

acquire from or sell to any of our directors, officers or employees, or any entity in which one of our directors, officers or employees has an
economic interest of more than five percent or a controlling interest, or acquire from or sell to any affiliate of any of the foregoing, any of our
assets or other property;

•

make any loan to or borrow from any of the foregoing persons; or

•

engage in any other transaction with any of the foregoing persons.

However, our by-laws do not prohibit any of our directors, officers, employees or agents, in their personal capacity or in a capacity as an affiliate,
employee or agent of any other person, or otherwise, from having business interests and engaging in business activities similar to or in addition to or in
competition with those of or relating to us.
Pursuant to Maryland law, a contract or other transaction between a company and a director or between the company and any other corporation or other
entity in which a director serves as a director or has a material financial interest is not void or voidable solely on the grounds of the common directorship or
interest, the presence of that director at the meeting at which the contract or transaction is authorized, approved or ratified or the counting of the director's vote
in favor thereof if (1) the material facts relating to the common directorship or interest and as to the transaction are disclosed to the board of directors or a
committee of the board, and the board or committee in good faith authorizes the transaction or contract by the affirmative vote of a majority of disinterested
directors, even if the disinterested directors constitute less than a quorum, (2) the material facts relating to the common directorship or interest of the
transaction are disclosed to the stockholders entitled to vote thereon, and the transaction is approved in good faith by vote of the stockholders, or (3) the
transaction or contract is fair and reasonable to the company at the time it is authorized, ratified or approved.
Policies with Respect to Other Activities
We have not engaged in trading, underwriting or agency distribution or sale of securities of other issuers and do not intend to do so. We have not in the
past, but we may in the future, invest in the securities of other issuers for the purpose of exercising control over such issuers. At all times, we intend to make
investments in a manner as to qualify as a REIT, unless because of circumstances or changes in the Internal Revenue Code or the
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regulations of the U.S. Department of the Treasury, our board of directors determines that it is no longer in our best interest to qualify as a REIT. We intend to
make investments in such a way that we will not be treated as an investment company under the Investment Company Act. We also intend to furnish our
stockholders with annual reports containing consolidated financial statements audited by our independent certified public accountants and with quarterly
reports containing unaudited consolidated financial statements for each of the first three quarters of each fiscal year.
Future Revisions in Policies and Strategies
Our board of directors has approved the operating policies and the strategies set forth in this prospectus. The board of directors has the power to modify
or waive these policies and strategies without the consent of our stockholders to the extent that the board of directors (including a majority of our independent
directors) determines that a modification or waiver is in the best interest of our stockholders. Among other factors, developments in the market that either
affect the policies and strategies mentioned herein or that change our assessment of the market may cause our board of directors to revise our policies and
strategies.
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OUR MANAGER AND THE MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT
Our Manager and J.E. Robert Company
We are externally managed and advised by JER Commercial Debt Advisors LLC, an affiliate of J.E. Robert Company. JER Commercial Debt Advisors
LLC was formed in April 2004 for the sole purpose of managing us. JER Commercial Debt Advisors LLC is 99% owned by Mr. Joseph E. Robert, Jr. and 1%
owned by J.E. Robert Company, Inc. J.E. Robert Company is wholly owned by Mr. Robert. We will have no employees and each of our executive officers is
also an officer of our manager.
J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates are a fully integrated real estate investment management firm that focuses primarily on commercial real estate
investments in the United States and abroad. J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates have more than 150 employees who provide a full complement of real
estate investment management services, including acquisitions, underwriting, asset management, portfolio and risk management, finance and accounting,
investor relations, legal, information technology and human resources. Our manager also has no employees and relies on employees of J.E. Robert Company.
J.E. Robert Company was founded in 1981 to provide expertise to public and private financial institutions in resolving real estate loan workout
situations. Since its founding, the firm has been active in all facets of the commercial real estate debt markets, including sourcing, due diligence, valuation,
acquisition, asset management and disposition.
Since 1991, J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates have also served as the special servicer or asset manager for over 30 securitized pools of nonperforming and performing commercial loans with a par value at issuance of over $15 billion. J.E. Robert Company currently has the highest special servicer
ratings of "CSS1" and "strong" from Fitch Investors Service, Inc. and Standard & Poor's, Inc. rating services, respectively. Since 1997, J.E. Robert Company
has primarily conducted its real estate investment management activities on a global basis through a series of private equity funds, which we refer to as the
JER Funds. J.E. Robert Company is currently the special servicer for three of the five CMBS pools in which we have made investments to date.
J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates are headquartered in McLean, Virginia with additional offices in California, Connecticut, Texas, France, Mexico
and the United Kingdom.
The executive offices of our manager are located at 1650 Tysons Blvd., Suite 1600, McLean, Virginia 22102, and the telephone number of their
executive offices is (703) 714-8000.
Officers of Our Manager
The senior management team of our manager is comprised of seven professionals that have an average of 19 years of real estate experience and 10
years of tenure with J.E. Robert Company.
Age
Name

Joseph E. Robert, Jr.
Keith W. Belcher
Gene C. McQuown
Tae-Sik Yoon
Kari L. Doescher
Kenneth D. Krejca
Daniel T. Ward

Position With Our Manager

53
45
50
37
40
35
47

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Managing Director
Senior Managing Director
Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer
Director
Director
Senior Managing Director and General Counsel

Joseph E. Robert, Jr. is chairman and chief executive officer of J.E Robert Company, Inc. and our manager and chairman of our board of directors.
Mr. Robert also serves on our investment committee. Mr. Robert founded J.E. Robert Company in 1981. Mr. Robert served as vice chairman of the board of
the National Realty Committee and was a member of its executive committee and is a founding member of the Real Estate Roundtable. Mr. Robert is a
member of the board and member of the executive committee of the Institute for International Economics. Mr. Robert is a member of the international
advisory board of EuroHypo, a German based commercial mortgage bank.
67

Table of Contents

Keith W. Belcher is a managing director of J.E Robert Company, Inc. and our manager, vice chairman of our board of directors and our executive vice
president. Mr. Belcher also serves on our investment committee. Mr. Belcher joined J.E. Robert Company in 1991. Mr. Belcher is responsible for all CMBS
acquisitions made by the JER Funds and performs the same function for us. He also oversees the asset management of the underlying assets in CMBS
issuances assigned to J.E. Robert Company as special servicer. Previously, Mr. Belcher managed J.E. Robert Company's asset management contracts with the
RTC, which exceeded $3.5 billion in asset value. Mr. Belcher holds a B.B.A. degree in finance and a B.A. degree in economics from Southern Methodist
University.
Gene C. McQuown is a senior managing director of J.E Robert Company, Inc. and our manager and our president and chief investment officer. Mr.
McQuown is also the chair of our investment committee. Mr. McQuown joined J.E. Robert Company in 1989. He has been actively involved in all aspects of
asset management, underwriting and principal investments, including non-real estate, real estate and related loan assets over the past 25 years in the United
States, Mexico, Europe and Asia. Mr. McQuown has overseen the underwriting, management or investment in over $17 billion in real estate and related loan
assets on behalf of various investment partners and financial institutions over the last 15 years. Mr. McQuown holds a B.A. degree from Louisiana State
University and an M.B.A. degree from the University of Dallas.
Tae-Sik Yoon is a managing director and Chief Financial Officer of J.E Robert Company, Inc. and our manager and also serves as our executive vice
president. Mr. Yoon also serves on our investment committee. Mr. Yoon joined J.E. Robert Company in 1999. He has primary responsibility for risk and
portfolio management, capital markets (debt and equity) and finance and accounting for J.E. Robert Company. From 1989 to 1991, and then again from 1997
to 1999, Mr. Yoon worked in the real estate investment banking group of Morgan Stanley & Co. in New York City and Los Angeles, CA, and from 1994 to
1997 was a corporate attorney at the law firm of Williams & Connolly in Washington, D.C. Mr. Yoon received a B.A. degree in biology from the Johns
Hopkins University and a J.D. degree from Harvard Law School. He is a member of the bars of Washington, D.C., the State of Maryland and the United
States Patent & Trademark Office.
Kari L. Doescher is a director of J.E Robert Company, Inc. and our manager and our chief financial officer and treasurer. Ms. Doescher also serves on
our investment committee. Ms. Doescher joined J.E. Robert Company in June 2002 to assume responsibility for the treasury, compliance and investor
reporting aspects of the JER Funds. Ms. Doescher previously worked for J.E. Robert Company from 1992 to 1994, where she primarily focused on financial
and accounting issues related to the joint venture with Goldman Sachs. Prior to returning to J.E. Robert Company in 2002, Ms. Doescher was senior vice
president and chief financial officer of Gemini Air Cargo from 1996 to 1999 overseeing finance, accounting, human resources and information technology of
the 450 person international air cargo carrier. She has also held the position of Vice President at CRIIMI MAE and worked at Arthur Andersen. Ms. Doescher
holds an M.B.A. degree in Finance and a B.S. degree in Accounting from the George Washington University. She is a certified public accountant and a
member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Kenneth D. Krejca is a director of J.E. Robert Company, Inc. and our manager and also serves as our vice president. Mr. Krejca's primary
responsibilities include sourcing, underwriting and managing CMBS investments for us. Before joining J.E. Robert Company, from 1996 to 2004, Mr. Krejca
was a director in Bank One's CMBS investment group. In his capacity as a director, Mr. Krejca has been involved in all facets of the CMBS investment
process, including originating, underwriting, syndicating and managing loan pools. Mr. Krejca has over 9 years experience in subordinate CMBS investments.
Mr. Krejca holds a B.S. degree in accounting from DePaul University.
Daniel T. Ward is a senior managing director and general counsel of J.E Robert Company, Inc. and our manager and our secretary. Mr. Ward also
serves on our investment committee. Mr. Ward joined J.E. Robert Company in 1991. Mr. Ward is responsible for all legal matters involving investment
structuring, document negotiation and transaction closings and capital raising activities for the JER Funds. Mr. Ward holds a B.S. degree in accounting from
Villanova University and a J.D. degree from The National Law Center, George Washington University. Mr. Ward is a member of the Washington, D.C. Bar.
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The Management Agreement
We are party to a management agreement with JER Commercial Debt Advisors LLC, our manager, pursuant to which our manager provides for the
day-to-day management of our operations.
Management Services
The management agreement requires our manager to oversee our business affairs in conformity with the policies and the investment guidelines that are
approved and monitored by our board of directors. Our manager operates under the direction of our board of directors. Our manager is responsible for (i) our
purchase and sale of real estate securities and other real estate-related assets, (ii) management of our real estate, including arranging for acquisitions, sales,
leases, maintenance and insurance, (iii) the purchase, sale and servicing of mortgages for us, and (iv) providing us with investment advisory services. Our
manager is responsible for our day-to-day operations and performs (or causes to be performed) services and activities relating to our assets and operations as
may be appropriate, including, without limitation, the following:
•

serving as our consultant with respect to formulation of investment criteria and preparation of policy guidelines by our board of directors;

•

counseling us in connection with policy decisions to be made by our board of directors;

•

investigating, analyzing and selecting potential investment opportunities for us;

•

making decisions concerning the evaluation, purchase, negotiation, structuring, monitoring, and disposition of our investments, including the
accumulation of assets for securitization; however, the board of directors will review all investments where an affiliate or related party is
involved. Additionally, from time to time the manager may present certain investments to the board of directors for approval either because of the
size of the investment, the parties involved or some other term or feature of the investment;

•

evaluating, recommending and approving all decisions regarding any financings, securitizations, hedging activities or borrowings undertaken by
us;

•

arranging for the issuance of mortgage backed securities from pools of mortgage loans or mortgage backed securities owned by us;

•

making available to us its knowledge and experience with respect to real estate, real estate related assets and real estate operating companies;

•

engaging and supervising, on our behalf and at our expense, independent contractors that provide real estate brokerage, legal, accounting, transfer
agent, registrar and leasing services, master servicing, special servicing, mortgage brokerage, securities brokerage, banking, investment banking
and other financial services and such other services as may be required relating to our investments or potential investments;

•

engaging and supervising, on our behalf and at our expense, other service providers to us; and

•

providing certain general management services to us relating to our day-to-day operations and administration (including, e.g., communicating
with the holders of our equity and debt securities as required to satisfy the reporting and other requirements of any governing bodies or agencies
and to maintain effective relations with these holders, causing us to qualify to do business in all applicable jurisdictions, complying with all
regulatory requirements applicable to us in respect of our business activities, including preparing all financial statements required under
applicable regulations and contractual undertakings and all reports and documents, if any, required under the Exchange Act, and causing us to
comply with all applicable laws).

Our manager has not assumed any responsibility other than to render the services called for under the management agreement and is not responsible for
any action of our board of directors in following or declining
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to follow its advice or recommendations. Our manager, its directors and its officers are not liable to us, any subsidiary of ours, our directors, our stockholders
or any subsidiary's stockholders for acts performed in accordance with and pursuant to the management agreement, except by reason of acts constituting bad
faith, willful misconduct, gross negligence, or reckless disregard of their duties under the management agreement. We have agreed to indemnify J.E. Robert
Company and our manager, and their respective directors and officers with respect to all expenses, losses, damages, liabilities, demands, charges and claims
arising from acts not constituting bad faith, willful misconduct, gross negligence, or reckless disregard of their respective duties, performed in good faith in
accordance with and pursuant to the management agreement and the related services agreement. Our manager has agreed to indemnify us, our directors and
officers with respect to all expenses, losses, damages, liabilities, demands, charges and claims arising from acts of our manager constituting bad faith, willful
misconduct, gross negligence or reckless disregard of its duties under the management agreement. Our manager carries errors and omissions and other
customary insurance.
J.E. Robert Company, through our manager, has provided to us key personnel, including a president and chief financial officer, whose primary
responsibility is to provide management services to us. These persons devote as much of their time to our management as our board of directors reasonably
deems necessary and appropriate, commensurate with our level of activity.
Pursuant to an agreement between us, our manager and J.E. Robert Company, J.E. Robert Company has agreed to provide our manager with the
personnel, services and resources as needed by our manager to enable it to carry out its obligations and responsibilities under the management agreement.
Pursuant to the management agreement, J.E. Robert Company is not liable to us or our manager for any acts or omissions performed in accordance with and
pursuant to the agreement except by reason of acts constituting bad faith, willful misconduct, gross negligence or reckless disregard for its duties. Our
manager is not significantly capitalized and does not have its own facilities or employees separate from J.E. Robert Company.
Term and Termination Rights
The management agreement has an initial term of two years and will be automatically renewed for one-year terms thereafter unless terminated by either
us or our manager. The management agreement does not limit the number of renewal terms. The management agreement may only be terminated without
cause upon the date of completion of the initial term of the management agreement, which is June 4, 2006. Our manager must be provided 180 days prior
notice of any termination without cause or non-renewal of the agreement and under those circumstances will be paid a termination fee, within ninety days of
termination, equal to four times the sum of our manager's base management fees and incentive fees for the 12-month period preceding the date of termination,
calculated as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal quarter prior to the date of termination. In addition, following any termination of the
management agreement, we must pay our manager all compensation accruing to the date of termination. We also may not assign the management agreement
in whole or in part to a third party without the written consent of our manager.
In addition, if we decide to terminate the management agreement without cause due to fees that our independent directors have determined to be unfair,
our manager may agree to perform its management services at fees our independent directors determine to be fair, and the management agreement will not
terminate. Our manager may give us notice that it wishes to renegotiate the fees, in which case we and our manager must negotiate in good faith, and if we
cannot agree on a revised fee structure at the end of our 180 day notice period, the agreement will terminate, and we must pay the termination fees described
above.
We may also terminate the management agreement with 60 days' prior notice for cause, which is defined as (i) our manager's fraud or gross negligence,
(ii) our manager's willful noncompliance with the management agreement, (iii) the commencement of any proceeding relating to our manager's bankruptcy or
insolvency or a material breach of any provision of the management agreement, uncured for a period of 60 days or (iv) a change in control of our manager.
Our manager may at any time assign certain duties under the management agreement to any affiliate of our manager provided that our manager shall remain
liable to us for the affiliate's performance.
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Management Fees and Incentive Compensation
We do not maintain an office or employ personnel. In addition, our manager has no employees. As a result, we rely on the facilities, resources and
personnel of J.E. Robert Company to conduct our operations. The management fee is payable monthly in arrears in cash, and the incentive fee is payable
quarterly in arrears in cash. The base management fee and incentive fee are intended to reimburse J.E. Robert Company for providing personnel to our
manager to satisfy our manager's obligation to provide certain services to us as described in "Our Manager and the Management Agreement—The
Management Agreement—Management Services." Our manager and J.E. Robert Company may also be entitled to certain expense reimbursements as
described below. Expense reimbursements to our manager or J.E. Robert Company are made monthly.
Base Management Fee. We pay our manager a base management fee monthly in arrears in an amount equal to 1/12 of the sum of (i) 2.0% of the first
$400 million of our equity and (ii) 1.5% of our equity in an amount in excess of $400 million and up to $800 million and (iii) 1.25% of our equity in excess of
$800 million. For purposes of calculating the base management fee, our equity equals the month-end value, computed in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, of our stockholders' equity, adjusted to exclude the effect of any unrealized gains, losses or other items that do not affect realized net
income. Our manager uses the proceeds from its management fee in part to pay compensation to J.E. Robert Company officers and employees provided to us
through our manager who, notwithstanding that certain of them also are our officers, receive no cash compensation directly from us. During the period from
April 19, 2004 (inception) through December 31, 2004, we incurred $1.9 million in base management fees in accordance with the terms of our management
agreement.
Incentive Compensation. Our manager is entitled to receive quarterly incentive compensation pursuant to the terms of the management agreement with
us. The purpose of the incentive compensation is to provide an additional incentive for our manager to achieve targeted levels of Funds From Operations and
to increase our stockholder value. Our manager is entitled to receive quarterly incentive compensation in an amount equal to the product of:
(i) 25% of the dollar amount by which
(a) our Funds From Operations per share of common stock for such quarter, exceed
(b) an amount equal to (A) the weighted average prices per share of our common stock in all offerings by us multiplied by (B) the greater of (1)
2.25% or (2) .875% plus one fourth of the 10-year U.S. treasury rate (as defined below) for such quarter
multiplied by
(ii) the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding in such quarter.
"Funds From Operations" means net income (computed in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles), excluding gains (losses) from
debt restructuring and gains (or losses) from sales of property, plus depreciation and amortization on real estate assets, and after adjustments for
unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures. Funds From Operations does not represent cash generated from operating activities in accordance with GAAP
and should not be considered as an alternative to net income as an indication of our performance or to cash flows as a measure of liquidity or ability to make
distributions.
"10-year U.S. treasury rate" means the arithmetic average of the weekly average yield to maturity for actively traded current coupon U.S. Treasury
fixed interest rate securities (adjusted to a constant maturity of 10 years) published by the Federal Reserve board during a quarter, or, if such rate is not
published by the Federal Reserve board, any Federal Reserve bank or agency or department or the federal government selected by us. If we determine in good
faith that the 10-year U.S. treasury rate cannot be calculated as provided above, then the rate shall be the arithmetic average of the per annum average yields
to maturities, based upon closing asked prices on each business day during a quarter, for each actively traded marketable U.S. Treasury fixed interest rate
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security with a final maturity date not less than eight nor more than 12 years from the date of the closing asked prices as chosen and quoted for each business
day in each such quarter in New York City by at least three recognized dealers in United States government securities selected by us.
The following example illustrates how we would calculate our quarterly incentive compensation in accordance with the management agreement.
Assume the following:
•

Funds From Operations for the quarter equals $5,000,000;

•

11,845,010 shares of common stock are outstanding and the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the quarter
is 11,845,010;

•

U.S. treasury rate is 4.5%; and

•

weighted average offering price per share of common stock is $15.00.

Under these assumptions, the quarterly incentive fee payable to our manager would be $250,577 as calculated below:
1. Funds From Operations per share ($5,000,000/11,845,010)
2. Weighted average offering price per share of common stock ($15.00) multiplied by the greater of (A) 2.25% or (B) 0.875% plus one-fourth of
10-year U.S. Treasury rate
3. Excess of Funds From Operations per share over amount calculated in 2 above ($0.4221-$0.3375)
4. Weighted average number of shares outstanding multiplied by the amount calculated in 3 above (11,845,010 x $0.0846)
5. Incentive Fee equals 25% of amount calculated in 4 above

$

0.4221

$ 0.3375
$ 0.0846
$1,002,309
$ 250,577

Pursuant to the calculation formula, if Funds From Operations increases and the weighted average share price and shares of common stock outstanding
remain constant, the incentive fee will increase.
Reimbursement of Expenses. We pay all our operating expenses. The expenses required to be paid by us include, but are not limited to, transaction costs
incident to the acquisition, disposition and financing of our investments, legal and auditing fees and expenses, the compensation and expenses of our
independent directors, the costs associated with our establishment and maintenance of any credit facilities and other indebtedness (including commitment fees,
legal fees, closing costs and similar expenses), expenses associated with other securities offerings by us, expenses relating to the payment of dividends, costs
incurred by personnel of J.E. Robert Company for travel on our behalf, costs associated with any computer software or hardware that is used primarily for us,
all taxes and license fees, all insurance costs incurred by us and our pro rata portion of rent, telephone, utilities, office furniture, equipment, machinery and
other office, internal and overhead expenses of J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates required for our operations. Our manager has agreed that for the initial
12 month period of the management agreement (through June 4, 2005), our pro rata portion of such overhead expenses shall not exceed $1.2 million.
In accordance with the provisions of our management agreement, we recorded reimbursements to our manager of $0.3 million for certain expenses
incurred on our behalf for the period from April 19, 2004 (inception) through December 31, 2004, which are included in general and administrative expenses
on financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus. In addition, we reimbursed our manager for costs in the amount of $0.1 million related to the
private placement.
Under the management agreement, our manager may engage J.E. Robert Company or its affiliates to perform certain legal, accounting, due diligence,
asset management, securitization, property management, brokerage, loan servicing, leasing and other services that outside professionals or outside consultants
otherwise
72

Table of Contents

would perform on our behalf. J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates may be reimbursed or paid for the cost of performing such tasks, provided that such costs
and reimbursements are no greater than those that would be paid to outside professionals or consultants on an arm's-length basis. In addition, our manager is
reimbursed for any expenses incurred in contracting with third parties. In addition, each CMBS securitization requires that a special servicer be appointed by
the purchaser controlling the most subordinated non-investment grade class of securities. As our manager does not have special servicer status, it is required to
appoint J.E. Robert Company or another entity that has special servicer status as the special servicer whenever we acquire a controlling interest in the most
subordinated non-investment grade class of a CMBS securitization. All fees due J.E. Robert Company as special servicer are paid by the securitization vehicle
and not by us. Under the management agreement, our manager is responsible for all costs incident to the performance of its duties under the management
agreement, including the employment compensation of J.E. Robert Company personnel who perform services for us pursuant to the management agreement.
During the period from April 19, 2004 (inception) through December 31, 2004, we incurred no incentive fees.
Incentive Awards. On the date of consummation of the private placement, we granted 335,000 shares of common stock to our manager and an aggregate
of 6,000 shares of restricted stock to our three independent directors pursuant to the incentive plan. Subsequent to the private placement, Frank Caufield and
James Kimsey joined our board of directors and in July 2004, each was granted 2,000 shares of restricted stock. In the sole discretion of the compensation
committee of our board of directors, we may from time to time grant additional equity incentive awards pursuant to the incentive plan. These awards provide a
means of performance-based compensation in order to provide an additional incentive for our manager and our directors to enhance the value of our common
stock. These awards described above were made pursuant to the incentive plan and are subject to the maximum number of shares available for issuance
(1,150,000 shares) under the incentive plan.
Conflicts of Interest in Our Relationship with Our Manager
Our chairman, Joseph E. Robert, Jr., also serves as chairman and chief executive officer of J.E. Robert Company, Inc. and, at the time of our formation
when our management agreement, incentive compensation plan and other organizational matters were approved for us, Mr. Robert was our sole stockholder
and our sole director. In addition, Mr. Robert and J.E. Robert Company are the only members of our manager. As a result, these matters were not negotiated at
arm's length and their terms, including fees payable to our manager, may not be as favorable to us as if they had been negotiated with an unaffiliated third
party.
J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates currently manage and invest in, and will continue to manage and invest in, other real estate-related investment
entities and are not required to devote a specific amount of time to us. In addition, our chairman and our other officers also serve as officers and directors of
these other entities. Affiliates of the J.E. Robert Company, in their capacity as general partner of the JER Funds, are currently in the process of making
investments in a wide range of commercial real estate equity and debt assets for JER Fund III, one of the JER Funds. The JER Fund III partnership agreement
provides that neither J.E. Robert Company nor any affiliate can close on another pooled investment vehicle with objectives substantially similar to those of
JER Fund III, other than certain kinds of funds, including a JER CMBS Fund. The JER Fund III partnership agreement further provides that none of J.E.
Robert Company and its affiliates shall make investments outside of JER Fund III that are substantially similar to the type of investments to be made by JER
Fund III, except for investments that a JER CMBS Fund is permitted to make under its governing documents. It is J.E. Robert Company's intention that we
qualify as a JER CMBS Fund under the JER Fund III partnership agreement. The JER Fund III partnership agreement defines a "JER CMBS Fund" as a fund
organized by J.E. Robert Company or any of its affiliates to "primarily" invest in (a) CMBS and other related loans issued in connection with conduit
securitizations and (b) residential mortgages and related securities. The JER Fund III partnership agreement defines "conduit securitizations" as CMBS
collateralized primarily by newly originated loans (i) issued for the purposes of securitizations, (ii) with fixed interest rates and maturities of seven to ten years
and (iii) with loan to value ratios generally averaging approximately 75% and debt service coverage ratios generally averaging 1.25%
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based on net cash flow from the underlying real estate, all as reasonably determined by an affiliate of J.E. Robert Company as general partner acting in good
faith. We contemplate investing in a variety of structured finance products, including CMBS issued in connection with conduit securitizations, mezzanine
loans, B-Note participations in mortgage loans, commercial loans, loans to real estate companies, and net leased real estate. We may also invest in residential
mortgages and related securities such as residential mortgage backed securities. The ability of our manager to invest in these types of structured finance
products on our behalf is limited, but not completely restricted, so long as we meet the definition in the JER Fund III partnership agreement of a JER CMBS
Fund, which requires us to invest "primarily" in (a) CMBS and other related loans issued in connection with conduit securitizations and (b) residential
mortgages and related securities. The JER Fund III partnership agreement may prevent our manager from pursuing desirable investment opportunities on our
behalf and subject us to the risk that we will be limited in our ability to refocus our investment strategy if trends in the availability and performance of
residential mortgages and related securities and conduit securitization investments make such a change desirable.
While we intend to target primarily conduit commercial mortgage backed securities, mezzanine loans, bridge loans, B-Notes, preferred equity, loans to
real estate companies, mortgage loans and net leased real estate and residential mortgages and related securities, JER Fund III seeks to invest in direct
ownership of real estate, non-conduit commercial mortgage backed securities, equity securities, preferred equity and high yield debt (typically with equity
participation). The investments we intend to pursue may overlap with the investment objectives of JER Fund III. J.E. Robert Company has developed a
conflicts policy in an effort to provide fair treatment of us and JER Fund III with respect to investment allocation. Acting reasonably and in good faith,
J.E. Robert Company will determine if any real estate debt products sourced for either JER Fund III or us meet both our own and JER Fund III's investment
objectives, taking into account such considerations as risk/return objectives, nature of the investment focus of each entity, leverage and other restrictions, tax
and regulatory issues, expected holding periods, current pay or accrual features, product and geographic concentration, the relative sources of capital and any
other consideration deemed relevant by J.E. Robert Company. We and JER Fund III may both acquire any such overlapping investments subject to the
applicable provisions of the conflicts of interest policy. If there is an overlap on a particular investment, J.E. Robert Company will allocate the investment
opportunity equally between us and JER Fund III wherever reasonably practicable. Where J.E. Robert Company determines that an equal allocation is not
reasonably practicable, it will allocate that investment in a manner that it determines in good faith to be fair and reasonable. J.E. Robert Company will also
apply the foregoing allocation procedures between us and any future investment funds, companies or vehicles or other entities it controls with which we have
overlapping investment objectives. J.E. Robert Company may alter these policies at any time without notice to or input from us or our stockholders.
We are permitted to invest in debt securities or loans relating to real estate assets where JER Fund III has an equity interest, subject to our conflict
policies. However, in the event of a default under that indebtedness, we must either give control of the foreclosure or restructuring process to other
unaffiliated holders of that debt or transfer decision making power to an unaffiliated entity.
J.E. Robert Company also intends to engage in additional real estate-related management and investment opportunities in the future that may also
compete with us for investments. J.E. Robert Company will also apply the foregoing allocation procedures between us and any future fund it controls with
which we have overlapping investment objectives. However, so long as the management agreement is in effect, J.E. Robert Company has agreed not to raise,
sponsor or advise any new investment fund, company or vehicle (including any REIT) that invests primarily in conduit CMBS and other related loan products
in the United States.
The management compensation structure that we have agreed to with our manager may also cause our manager to invest in high risk investments. In
addition to its base management fee, our manager is entitled to receive incentive compensation based in part upon our achievement of targeted levels of Funds
From Operations. In evaluating investments and other management strategies, the opportunity to earn incentive compensation based on Funds From
Operations may lead our manager to place undue emphasis on the maximization of Funds From Operations at the expense of other criteria, such as
preservation of capital, in order to achieve a higher
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incentive compensation. Investments with higher yield potential are generally riskier or more speculative. This could result in increased risk to the value of
our invested portfolio.
The management agreement between us and our manager may only be terminated by either party to the agreement without cause after the completion of
the initial term of the management agreement on June 4, 2006. Our manager will be provided 180 days prior notice of any such termination and will be paid a
termination fee, within ninety days of termination, equal to four times the sum of the base management fee and the incentive fee for the 12-month period
preceding the date of termination, calculated as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal quarter prior to the date of termination. In addition, following
any termination of the management agreement, we must pay our manager all compensation accruing to the date of such termination. We also may not assign
the management agreement in whole or in part to a third party without the written consent of our manager. These provisions increase the effective cost to us of
terminating the management agreement, thereby adversely affecting our ability to terminate our manager without cause.
Our manager is authorized to follow very broad investment guidelines and has great latitude within those guidelines in determining the types of assets it
may decide are proper investments for us. Our directors periodically review our investment guidelines and our investment portfolio. However, our board will
not review each proposed investment. In addition, in conducting periodic reviews, the directors will rely primarily on information provided to them by our
manager. Furthermore, transactions entered into by our manager may be difficult or impossible to unwind by the time they are reviewed by our directors.
We have adopted certain policies that are designed to eliminate or minimize certain potential conflicts of interest. Our board of directors has established
investment guidelines, and our independent directors have approved these investment guidelines. Except with respect to the allocation of investments made
pursuant to J.E. Robert Company's conflicts policy in effect with respect to us and JER Fund III, we are not permitted to invest in joint ventures with our
manager or its affiliates unless the investment is (i) made in accordance with the above guidelines and (ii) approved by all of the independent members of our
board of directors. In addition, we are not permitted to (i) consummate any transaction that would involve the acquisition by us of an asset in which our
manager or any of its affiliates has an ownership interest, or the sale by us of an asset to our manager or any of its affiliates, (ii) under circumstances where
our manager is subject to an actual or potential conflict of interest because it is manages both us and any other person with which we have a contractual
relationship, take any action constituting the granting to such person of a waiver, forbearance or other relief, or the enforcement against such person of
remedies, under or with respect to the applicable contract or (iii) make a loan to any affiliate of our manager, unless such transaction or action is approved by
all independent members of our board.
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MANAGEMENT
Our Directors and Executive Officers
Our board of directors consists of seven directors, five of whom are independent directors, as determined by our board of directors, consistent with the
rules of the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. Upon the expiration of their current terms at the annual meeting of stockholders in 2005, directors will be elected
to serve a term of one year. Our by-laws provide that a majority of the entire board of directors may establish, increase or decrease the number of directors,
provided that the number of directors shall never be less than one, which is the minimum number required by the Maryland General Corporation Law, nor
more than 15. All officers serve at the discretion of our board of directors. The following table sets forth certain information about our directors and executive
officers.
Age
Position With Us

Name

Joseph E. Robert, Jr.
Keith W. Belcher
Daniel J. Altobello
Peter D. Linneman
W. Russell Ramsey
Frank J. Caufield
James V. Kimsey
Gene C. McQuown
Tae-Sik Yoon
Kari L. Doescher
Kenneth D. Krejca
Daniel T. Ward

53
45
64
54
45
65
65
50
37
40
35
47

Chairman of the Board of Directors
Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors and Executive Vice President
Independent Director
Independent Director
Independent Director
Independent Director
Independent Director
President and Chief Investment Officer
Executive Vice President
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
Vice President
Secretary

Information for each of our independent directors is set forth below. For biographical information on Messrs. Robert, Belcher, McQuown, Yoon, Krejca
and Ward and Ms. Doescher, see "Our Manager and the Management Agreement—Officers of Our Manager."
Daniel J. Altobello has been a director since April 2004. Since 1991, Mr. Altobello has been chairman of Altobello Family LP. Mr. Altobello also
served as chairman of the board of Onex Food Services, Inc., the parent corporation of Caterair International, Inc. and LSG/SKY Chefs from 1995 to 2001.
From 1989 to 1995, Mr. Altobello was the chairman, chief executive officer and president of Caterair International Corporation. He currently serves on the
board of directors of MESA Air Group, World Airways, Inc., and Friedman, Billings, Ramsey Group, Inc., the parent company of Friedman, Billings, Ramsey
& Co, Inc., the lead managing underwriter of this offering. In addition, Mr. Altobello serves on the board for a number of non-public entities, including the
Advisory Board of Thayer Capital Partners, Mercury Air Centers, Associated Asphalt and Diamond Rock Hospitality Trust, Inc.
Peter D. Linneman has been a director since April 2004. Dr. Linneman is the Albert Sussman Professor of Real Estate, Finance and Public Policy at
the Wharton School of Business, the University of Pennsylvania. A member of Wharton's faculty since 1979, Dr. Linneman served as the founding chairman
of Wharton's real estate department, the director of Wharton's Zell-Lurie Real Estate Center for 13 years and the founding co-editor of The Wharton Real
Estate Review. Dr. Linneman is currently the principal of Linneman Associates. He serves on the board of directors of Equity One, Inc. and Bedford Property
Investors. Dr. Linneman holds a Ph.D. in economics from the University of Chicago.
W. Russell Ramsey has been a director since April 2004. He is also the chairman and chief executive officer of Ramsey Asset Management, a
Washington, D.C.-based investment firm, which he founded in 2001. Prior to 2001, Mr. Ramsey was president and co-chief executive officer of Friedman,
Billings, Ramsey Group,
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Inc., which he co-founded in 1989 and which is the parent of Friedman, Billings, Ramsey & Co., Inc., the lead managing underwriter of this offering. He is
currently a member of Friedman, Billings, Ramsey Group's board of directors, and currently sits on the board of Quanta Capital Holdings Ltd. as well as the
boards of several private and non-profit companies. He is also on the National Geographic Society's Council of Advisors, and is a vice chairman of George
Washington University's 2004-2005 board of trustees. He received a B.S. in Business Administration from George Washington University.
Frank J. Caufield has been a director since June 2004. He is a co-founder of Kleiner Perkins Caufield & Byers (KPCB). KPCB is one of the largest
and most prominent venture capital firms in the United States. Since 1978, it has invested in over 250 companies that today have revenues of over $150
billion and employ over 300,000 people. Mr. Caufield has served on the board of Quantum Corporation, Caremark, Inc., Megabios, Verifone, Inc., Wyse
Technology, Quickturn Corporation, and AOL, Inc., as well as many other private and public companies. He is currently on the board of Time Warner. He
also serves as a director of The U.S. Russia Investment Fund, Refugees International, Business Executives for National Security, is a member of the Council
on Foreign Relations and serves as Chairman of the Child Abuse Prevention Society of San Francisco. Prior to the formation of KPCB, Mr. Caufield was a
general partner and manager of Oak Grove Ventures, a venture capital partnership located in Menlo Park, California. He is a past president of both the
Western Association of Venture Capitalists and the National Venture Capital Association. Mr. Caufield is a graduate of the United States Military Academy
and holds an MBA from the Harvard Business School.
James V. Kimsey has been a director since June 2004. Mr. Kimsey is the Founding CEO of America Online, Inc. In 1996, he became AOL Chairman
Emeritus and turned his energies to new challenges in business, philanthropy and personal diplomacy through the creation of the Kimsey Foundation. He
currently holds a presidential appointment to the Kennedy Center Board of Trustees and is chairman of the International Commission on Missing Persons. He
is a member of the board of directors of Capital One Financial Corporation, Thayer Capital, the American Film Institute, Innisfree, the JFK Center for
Performing Arts, the National Symphony Orchestra, Refugees International, the Washington Scholarship Fund, the International Crisis Group, and the US
Russian Investment Fund as well as civic and charitable organizations. He serves on the Executive Committee of the Washington National Opera and the
National Symphony. Mr. Kimsey is a graduate of the United States Military Academy.
Corporate Governance—Board of Directors and Committees
Our business is managed through the oversight and direction of our board of directors, which has established investment guidelines for our manager to
follow in its day to day management of our business. A majority of our board of directors is "independent," as determined by our board of directors, consistent
with the rules of the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. Our independent directors are nominated by our nominating and corporate governance committee.
Our board consists of seven directors, two of whom are affiliated with our manager and five of whom are "independent" directors. The directors keep
informed about our business at meetings of our board and its committees and through supplemental reports and communications. Our independent directors
meet regularly in executive sessions without the presence of our corporate officers.
Our board has established three committees consisting solely of independent directors, the principal functions of which are briefly described below.
Matters put to a vote at any one of our three committees must be approved by a majority of the directors on the committee who are present at a meeting at
which there is a quorum or by unanimous written consent of the directors on that committee.
Audit Committee
Our board of directors has established an audit committee, which is composed of three of our independent directors, Messrs. Altobello, Ramsey and
Linneman. Mr. Altobello chairs our audit committee and serves as our
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audit committee financial expert, as that term is defined by the Securities and Exchange Commission. The audit committee assists the board in overseeing:
•

our accounting and financial reporting processes;

•

the integrity and audits of our consolidated financial statements;

•

our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

•

the qualifications and independence of our independent auditors; and

•

the performance of our independent auditors and any internal auditors.

The audit committee is also responsible for engaging independent public accountants, reviewing with the independent public accountants the plans and
results of the audit engagement, approving professional services provided by the independent public accountants, reviewing the independence of the
independent public accountants, considering the range of audit and non-audit fees and reviewing the adequacy of our internal accounting controls.
Compensation Committee
Our board of directors has established a compensation committee, which is composed of Messrs. Kimsey, Caufield and Altobello. Mr. Kimsey chairs
our compensation committee. The principal functions of the compensation committee are to:
•

evaluate the performance of our officers;

•

review the compensation payable to our officers;

•

evaluate the performance of our manager;

•

review the compensation and fees payable to our manager under our management agreement; and

•

administer the issuance of any stock issued to our employees or the employees of our manager who provide services to us.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
Our board of directors has established a nominating and corporate governance committee, which is composed of Messrs. Linneman, Ramsey and
Kimsey. Mr. Linneman chairs our nominating and corporate governance committee. The nominating and corporate governance committee is responsible for
seeking, considering and recommending to the full board of directors qualified candidates for election as directors and recommending a slate of nominees for
election as directors at the annual meeting of stockholders. It also periodically prepares and submits to the board for adoption the committee's selection criteria
for director nominees. It reviews and makes recommendations on matters involving general operation of the board and our corporate governance, and
annually recommends to the board nominees for each committee of the board. In addition, the committee annually facilitates the assessment of the board of
directors' performance as a whole and of the individual directors and reports thereon to the board.
Compensation of Directors
We pay a $30,000 annual director's fee to each of our independent directors. All members of our board of directors are reimbursed for their costs and
expenses in attending all meetings of our board of directors. We pay an annual fee of $10,000 to the chair of the audit committee of our board of directors and
an annual fee of $5,000 to the chair of any other committee of our board of directors. Fees to the directors may be made by issuance of common stock, based
on the value of such common stock at the date of issuance, rather than in cash. In addition, pursuant to our incentive plan, we provided to each director who
was not our officer or employee an initial
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restricted stock grant of 2,000 shares of our common stock on the closing of the private placement. On June 30, 2004, Frank Caufield and James Kimsey
joined our board of directors and in July 2004, each was granted 2,000 shares of restricted stock. Any director who joins the board in the future will receive an
initial restricted stock grant of 2,000 shares upon attendance of his or her first board of directors meeting. One half of the shares subject to each director's
initial restricted stock grant will fully vest on the date of grant, and the other half will vest on the first anniversary of the date of grant, as long as the director
is serving as a board member on the first anniversary of the date of grant. All of the shares subject to each director's initial restricted stock grant are subject to
restrictions on transferability for a period of one year from the date of grant. The incentive plan also provides for automatic, annual restricted stock awards of
2,000 shares of our common stock on the first business day after our annual meeting of stockholders to each director who is not our officer or employee and
who is on our board of directors at the time of such meeting. One half of the shares subject to each director's annual restricted stock grant will fully vest on the
date of grant, and the other half will vest on the first anniversary of the date of grant, as long as the director is serving as a board member on the first
anniversary of the date of grant. All of the shares subject to each director's annual restricted stock grant will be subject to restrictions on transferability for a
period of one year from the date of grant.
Executive Compensation
Because our management agreement provides that our manager is responsible for managing our affairs, our officers, in their capacities as such, do not
receive cash compensation directly from us. We pay our manager an annual management fee, and our manager uses the proceeds from the management fee in
part to pay compensation to its officers and employees, some of whom are our officers. Our manager has informed us that, because the services performed by
these officers or employees in their capacities as such are performed primarily, but not exclusively, for us, it cannot segregate and identify that portion of the
compensation awarded to, earned by or paid to our officers by the manager that relates solely to their services to us.
Incentive Plan
We have adopted the JER Investors Trust Nonqualified Stock Option and Incentive Award Plan, referred to in this prospectus as the incentive plan, to
provide incentives to attract and retain qualified directors, officers, employees, advisors, consultants and other personnel. J.E. Robert Company and our
manager and their respective directors, officers, employees and affiliates and our officers, directors, employees, consultants and advisors are eligible to
receive awards under the incentive plan. The incentive plan is administered by the compensation committee of our board of directors. The incentive plan has a
term of ten years from May 27, 2004. A maximum of 1,150,000 shares may be issued during the plan's life.
The incentive plan permits the granting of options that do not qualify as incentive stock options under section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code to
purchase shares of our common stock. The exercise price of each option will be determined by the committee and may be less than the fair market value of
our common stock subject to the option on the date of grant. The committee will determine the terms of each option, including when each option may be
exercised and the period of time, if any, after retirement, death, disability or termination of employment during which options may be exercised. Options
become vested and exercisable in installments, and the exercisability of options may be accelerated by the committee. Upon exercise of options, the option
exercise price must be paid in full either in cash or its equivalent, by certified or bank check, by delivery of a promissory note or other instrument acceptable
to the committee or, if the committee so permits, by delivery of shares of common stock already owned by the optionee or by a broker pursuant to irrevocable
instructions to the broker from the optionee. All options granted under the incentive plan will become immediately and fully exercisable upon a change in
control of us.
The incentive plan also allows for awards of restricted stock. A restricted stock award is an award of shares of common stock that may be subject to
forfeiture (vesting), restrictions on transferability and such other restrictions, if any, as the committee may impose at the date of grant. The shares may vest
and the restrictions
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may lapse separately or in combination at such times, under such circumstances, including, without limitation, a specified period of employment or the
satisfaction of pre-established criteria, in such installments or otherwise, as our board of directors or a committee of our board of directors may determine.
Except to the extent restricted under the award agreement relating to the restricted stock, a participant-granted restricted stock has all of the rights of a
stockholder, including, without limitation, the right to vote and the right to receive dividends on the restricted shares. Although dividends are paid on all
restricted stock, whether or not vested, at the same rate and on the same date as on shares of our common stock, holders of restricted stock are prohibited from
selling the shares until they vest. All shares of restricted stock granted under the incentive plan will become immediately and fully vested upon a change of
control of us.
The committee may also grant shares of our common stock, stock appreciation rights, performance awards and other stock and non-stock-based awards
under the incentive plan. These awards may be subject to such conditions and restrictions as the committee may determine, including, but not limited to, the
achievement of certain performance goals or continued employment with us through a specific period. Each award under the plan may not be exercisable
more than 10 years after the date of grant.
Our board of directors may at any time amend, alter or discontinue the incentive plan, but cannot, without a participant's consent, take any action that
would impair the rights of such participant under any award granted under the plan. To the extent required by law, the board of directors will obtain approval
of the stockholders for any amendment that would:
•

other than through adjustment as provided in the incentive plan, increase the total number of shares of our common stock reserved for issuance
under the incentive plan;

•

change the class of eligible participants under the incentive plan; or

•

otherwise require such approval.

Incentive Awards
On June 4, 2004, we granted 335,000 shares of common stock to our manager, and 6,000 shares of common stock to our then three independent
directors pursuant to our incentive plan. On June 30, 2004, Frank Caufield and James Kimsey joined our board of directors and in July 2004, each was granted
2,000 shares of restricted stock. Our board may from time to time grant additional equity incentive awards to such persons, including up to 230,000 additional
shares of restricted stock.
Limitation of Liability and Indemnification
Maryland Law permits a Maryland corporation to include in its charter a provision limiting the liability of its directors and officers to the corporation
and its stockholders for money damages except for liability resulting from (i) actual receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money, property or services or
(ii) active and deliberate dishonesty established by a final judgment as being material to the cause of action. Our charter contains such a provision and
eliminates such liability to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law.
Our charter authorizes us, to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law, to indemnify and pay or reimburse reasonable expenses in advance of
final disposition of a proceeding to (i) any present or former director or officer or (ii) any individual who, while serving as our director or officer and at our
request, serves or has served another corporation, real estate investment trust, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or any other enterprise as
a director, officer, partner or trustee of such corporation, real estate investment trust, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other
enterprise, from and against any claim or liability to which such person may become subject or which such person may incur by reason of his or her status as
our present or former director or officer. Our by-laws obligate us, to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law, to indemnify and pay or reimburse
reasonable expenses in advance of final disposition of a
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proceeding to (i) any present or former director or officer who is made a party to the proceeding by reason of his service in that capacity or (ii) any individual
who, while serving as our director and at our request, serves or has served another corporation, real estate investment trust, partnership, joint venture, trust,
employee benefit plan or any other enterprise as a director, officer, partner or trustee of such corporation, real estate investment trust, partnership, joint
venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise, and who is made a party to the proceeding by reason of his service in that capacity. Our charter and
by-laws also permit us to indemnify and advance expenses to any person who served any predecessor of us in any of the capacities described above and to any
employee or agent of us or of our predecessor.
Maryland law requires a corporation (unless its charter provides otherwise, which our charter does not) to indemnify a director or officer who has been
successful, on the merits or otherwise, in the defense of any proceeding to which he is made a party by reason of his service in that capacity. Maryland law
permits a corporation to indemnify its present and former directors and officers, among others, against judgments, penalties, fines, settlements and reasonable
expenses actually incurred by them in connection with any proceeding to which they may be made a party by reason of their service in those or other
capacities unless it is established that (i) the act or omission of the director or officer was material to the matter giving rise to the proceeding and (a) was
committed in bad faith or (b) was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty, (ii) the director or officer actually received an improper personal benefit in
money, property or services or (iii) in the case of any criminal proceeding, the director or officer had reasonable cause to believe that the act or omission was
unlawful. However, under Maryland law, a Maryland corporation may not indemnify for an adverse judgment in a suit by or in the right of the corporation or
for a judgment of liability on the basis that a personal benefit was improperly received, unless in either case a court orders indemnification and then only for
expenses. In addition, the MGCL permits a corporation to advance reasonable expenses to a director or officer upon the corporation's receipt of (i) a written
affirmation by the director or officer of his good faith belief that he has met the standard of conduct necessary for indemnification by the corporation and (ii) a
written undertaking by him or on his behalf to repay the amount paid or reimbursed by the corporation if it shall ultimately be determined that the standard of
conduct was not met.
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Our chairman and each of our executive officers also serve as officers of our manager and other affiliated companies of J.E. Robert Company. At the
time of our formation when our management agreement, incentive plan, conflicts policy and other organizational matters were approved for us, Mr. Robert,
the sole stockholder of J.E. Robert Company, was our sole stockholder and sole director. In addition, Mr. Robert and J.E. Robert Company are the only
members of our manager. As a result, these matters were not negotiated at arm's length and their terms, including fees payable to our manager, may not be as
favorable to us as if they had been negotiated with an unaffiliated third party. In addition, J.E. Robert Company and its affiliates manage other real estate
investment entities including JER Fund III, which may have investment objectives similar to ours. See "Our Manager and the Management Agreement—
Conflicts of Interest in Our Relationship with Our Manager."
Our manager received an award of 335,000 shares of our common stock upon closing of our June 2004 private placement. J.E. Robert Company and its
affiliates, including officers and directors and J.E. Robert Company and our manager, currently beneficially own approximately 11.6% of our common stock
and upon completion of this offering, will beneficially own approximately
% of our common stock.
Two of our directors, Messrs. Altobello and Ramsey, are also directors of Friedman, Billings, Ramsey Group, Inc., the parent company of Friedman,
Billings, Ramsey & Co., Inc. Friedman, Billings, Ramsey & Co., Inc. acted as initial purchaser and placement agent in connection with the private placement
and Friedman, Billings, Ramsey & Co., Inc. and its affiliates purchased 910,683 shares in that offering. Friedman, Billings, Ramsey & Co., Inc. is the lead
managing underwriter of this offering and currently owns approximately 7.7% of our common stock.
Pursuant to the terms of our management agreement with JER Commercial Debt Advisors LLC, our manager, we pay our manager a monthly base
management fee and, if earned, a quarterly incentive fee. The management agreement also provides that we will reimburse our manager for certain expenses
incurred by our manager on our behalf. During the period from April 19, 2004 (inception) through December 31, 2004, we incurred $1.9 million in base
management fees to our manager. We also recorded reimbursements to our manager of $0.3 million for certain expenses incurred on our behalf during the
same period, which are included in general and administrative expenses on our financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus. In addition, we
reimbursed J.E. Robert Company for costs in the amount of $0.1 million related to the private placement. We incurred no incentive fee during this period. See
"Our Manager and the Management Agreement."
We have not entered into any other transactions in which any other director or officer or stockholder of ours or of our manager had any material
interest.
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
The following table sets forth certain information regarding the ownership of our common stock by our manager, each holder of five percent or more of
our common stock known to us as of April 15, 2005, each of our executive, officers, each of our directors and all our directors and executive officers as a
group prior to, and upon completion of this offering. Unless otherwise indicated, all shares are owned directly, and the indicated person has sole voting and
investment power.
Prior to this Offering

Number of
Shares Beneficially
Owned

After this Offering

Percent
of Class

Number of
Shares Beneficially
Owned

Percent
of Class

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner(1)(2)

Friedman, Billings, Ramsey Group, Inc.
Joseph E. Robert, Jr.
JER Commercial Debt Advisors LLC
Frank J. Caufield
James V. Kimsey
W. Russell Ramsey
Gene C. McQuown
Keith W. Belcher
Tae-Sik Yoon
Kari L. Doescher
Daniel T. Ward
Daniel J. Altobello
Peter D. Linneman
Kenneth D. Krejca
All directors and officers as a group (12 persons)
J.E. Robert Company, Inc. and affiliates
*
(1)

(2)
(3)

(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)

(8)
(9)

910,683(3)
853,340(4)
335,000(5)
135,333(6)
135,000(6)
35,300(7)
26,667
20,000
7,000
6,667
3,500
2,000(8)
2,000(8)
1,667
1,228,474
1,371,309(9)

7.7%
7.2%
2.8%
1.1%
1.1%
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
10.4%
11.6%

%

Less than 1%.
Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission and generally includes securities over
which a person has voting or investment power. Shares of common stock subject to options or warrants currently exercisable, or exercisable within 60
days of the date hereof, are deemed beneficially owned for computing the percentage of the person holding such options or warrants but are not deemed
outstanding for computing the percentage of any other person.
The address of JER Commercial Debt Advisors LLC and all officers and directors listed above is c/o J.E. Robert Company, Inc., 1650 Tysons Blvd.,
Suite 1600, McLean, Virginia 22102.
Includes 377,350 shares owned directly by Friedman, Billings, Ramsey Group, Inc., the parent company of Friedman, Billings, Ramsey & Co., Inc.,
and 533,333 shares held by various investment funds over which Friedman, Billings, Ramsey Group, Inc., through a wholly-owned indirect subsidiary,
exercises shared investment and voting power. The address for Friedman, Billings, Ramsey Group, Inc. is 1001 Nineteenth Street North, 18th Floor,
Arlington Virginia 22209.
Includes 335,000 shares granted to JER Commercial Debt Advisors LLC pursuant to our incentive plan upon closing of the private placement. Joseph
E. Robert, Jr. is the managing member of JER Commercial Debt Advisors LLC and owns, directly or indirectly, 100% of its membership interests.
Represents a stock grant upon closing of the private placement pursuant to our incentive plan.
Includes a restricted stock grant of 2,000 shares. One half of the shares subject to this grant fully vested on July 20, 2004, and the other half will vest on
July 20, 2005, as long as such director is serving as a board member on such date.
Includes a restricted stock grant of 2,000 shares upon closing of the private placement pursuant to our incentive plan. One half of the shares subject to
this grant fully vested on June 4, 2004, and the other half will vest on June 4, 2005, as long as such director is serving as a board member on such date.
Mr. Ramsey holds all other shares of common stock through RNR, LLC, which is jointly owned by Mr. Ramsey and his wife, Norma Ramsey.
Represents a restricted stock grant of 2,000 shares upon closing of the private placement pursuant to our incentive plan. One half of the shares subject to
this grant fully vested on June 4, 2004, and the other half will vest on June 4, 2005, as long as such director is serving as a board member on such date.
Includes shares of common stock owned by JER Commercial Debt Advisors LLC, Joseph E. Robert, Jr., all officers, directors and employees of JER
Investors Trust Inc. and all officers, directors and employees of J.E. Robert Company, Inc. and affiliates.
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SELLING STOCKHOLDERS
The following table sets forth information, as of
, 2005, with respect to the selling stockholders and shares of our common stock beneficially
owned by the selling stockholders that selling stockholders propose to offer pursuant to this prospectus.
The shares of common stock offered by the selling stockholders pursuant to this prospectus were originally issued and sold by us in the private
placement in June 2004. The term selling stockholders includes the holders of our common stock listed below and the beneficial owners of the common stock
and their transferees, pledgees, donees or other successors. All of the selling stockholders acquired their securities in the private placement.
Shares of
Common Stock
Beneficially Owned
Before Resale

Shares of
Common Stock
Offered by this
Prospectus

Shares of
Common Stock
Beneficially Owned
After Resale

Percentage
of Class
Beneficially Owned
After Resale

Selling Stockholders

Total
Natural Person or Persons with
Voting or Dispositive Power
Selling Stockholders

Except as indicated above, the selling stockholders do not have, and have not had since our inception, any position, office or other material relationship
with us or any of our predecessors or affiliates. The selling stockholders identified above may have sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of all or a portion
of their securities since the date on which they provided the information regarding their securities, in transactions exempt from the registration requirements of
the Securities Act.
The selling stockholders will each agree, with limited exceptions, for a period of 90 days after the date of this prospectus, that they will not, without the
prior written consent of Friedman, Billings, Ramsey & Co., Inc., directly or indirectly, offer to sell, sell or otherwise dispose of any shares of our common
stock or any securities convertible into, or exercisable or exchangeable for, shares of our common stock or our other capital stock, other than the shares of
common stock sold by the selling stockholders in this offering.
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DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK
The following description of the terms of our stock is only a summary. For a complete description, we refer you to the Maryland General Corporation
Law, or the MGCL, our charter and our by-laws, which are filed as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part. Copies of our
charter and by-laws are available upon request.
General
Our charter provides that we may issue up to 100,000,000 shares of common stock, $.01 par value per share, and up to 50,000,000 shares of preferred
stock, $.01 par value per share. Currently, 11,845,010 shares of common stock, and no shares of preferred stock are issued and outstanding. As of January 5,
2005, there were 310 holders of record of our common stock. Under Maryland law, our stockholders generally are not liable for our debts or obligations.
Upon completion of this offering,
shares of common stock and no shares of preferred stock will be issued and outstanding.
Common Stock
The law firm of DLA Piper Rudnick Gray Cary US LLP has acted as our Maryland counsel and has opined that all shares offered under this prospectus
will be duly authorized, fully paid and non-assessable, subject to standard assumptions. Holders of our common stock are entitled to receive dividends, if as
and when authorized by our board of directors out of assets legally available for the payment of dividends. They are also entitled to share ratably in our assets
legally available for distribution to our stockholders in the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, after payment of or adequate provision for all of
our known debts and liabilities. These rights are subject to the preferential rights of any other class or series of our stock and to the provisions of our charter
regarding restrictions on transfer of our stock.
Subject to our charter restrictions on transfer of our stock, each outstanding share of common stock entitles the holder to one vote on all matters
submitted to a vote of stockholders, including the election of directors. Except as provided with respect to any other class or series of stock, the holders of our
common stock will possess the exclusive voting power. There is no cumulative voting in the election of directors, which means that the holders of a majority
of the outstanding shares of common stock can elect all of the directors then standing for election, and the holders of the remaining shares will not be able to
elect any directors.
Holders of our common stock have no preference, conversion, exchange, sinking fund, redemption or appraisal rights and have no preemptive rights to
subscribe for any of our securities. Subject to our charter restrictions on transfer of stock, all shares of common stock will have equal dividend, liquidation and
other rights.
Under the MGCL, a Maryland corporation generally cannot dissolve, amend its charter, merge, sell all or substantially all of its assets, engage in a share
exchange or engage in similar transactions outside the ordinary course of business, unless approved by the affirmative vote of stockholders holding at least
two thirds of the shares entitled to vote on the matter. However, a Maryland corporation may provide in its charter for approval of these matters by a lesser
percentage, but not less than a majority of all of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. Our charter provides that these matters may be approved by a
majority of all of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter.
Power to Reclassify Unissued Shares of Our Stock
Our charter authorizes our board of directors to classify and reclassify any unissued shares of our common stock or preferred stock into other classes or
series of stock. Prior to issuance of shares of each class or series, our board is required by the MGCL and by our charter to set, subject to our charter
restrictions on transfer of stock, the terms, preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends or other
distributions, qualifications and terms or conditions of redemption for each class or series. Therefore, our board could authorize the issuance of shares of
preferred stock with terms and conditions which could have the effect of
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delaying, deferring or preventing a transaction or a change in control that might involve a premium price for holders of our common stock or otherwise be in
their best interest. No shares of our preferred stock are presently outstanding and we have no present plans to issue any preferred stock.
Power to Issue Additional Shares of Common Stock and Preferred Stock
We believe that the power to issue additional shares of common stock or preferred stock and to classify or reclassify unissued shares of common stock
or preferred stock and thereafter to issue the classified or reclassified shares provides us with increased flexibility in structuring possible future financings and
acquisitions and in meeting other needs that might arise. These actions can be taken without stockholder approval, unless stockholder approval is required by
applicable law or the rules of any stock exchange or automated quotation system on which our securities may be listed or traded. Although we have no present
intention of doing so, we could issue a class or series of stock that could delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change in control of us that might involve a
premium price for holders of common stock or otherwise be in their best interest.
Dividend Reinvestment Plan
We may implement a dividend reinvestment plan whereby stockholders may automatically reinvest their dividends in our common stock. Details about
any such plan would be sent to our stockholders following adoption thereof by our board of directors.
Transfer Agent and Registrar
The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is American Stock Transfer and Trust Company.
Transfer Restrictions
Our charter, subject to certain exceptions, contains restrictions on the number of shares of our stock that a person may own. No person may acquire or
hold, directly or indirectly, shares of capital stock (of all classes or series of our stock) in excess of 9.8% of the aggregate value of our outstanding capital
stock.
Our charter further prohibits (a) any person from owning shares of our stock that would result in our being "closely held" under Section 856(h) of the
Internal Revenue Code or otherwise cause us to fail to qualify as a REIT and (b) any person from transferring shares of our stock if the transfer would result in
our stock being owned by fewer than 100 persons. Any person who acquires or intends to acquire shares of our stock that may violate any of these restrictions,
or who is the intended transferee of shares of our stock which are transferred to the Trust, as defined below, is required to give us immediate written notice
and provide us with such information as we may request in order to determine the effect of the transfer on our status as a REIT. The above restrictions will not
apply if our board of directors determines that it is no longer in our best interests to continue to qualify as a REIT.
Our board of directors, in its sole discretion, may exempt a person from certain of these limits, subject to such terms, conditions, representations and
undertakings as it may determine.
Any attempted transfer of our stock that, if effective, would result in a violation of the above limitations will cause the number of shares causing the
violation (rounded to the nearest whole share) to be automatically transferred to a trust ("Trust") for the exclusive benefit of one or more charitable
beneficiaries ("Charitable Beneficiary"), and the proposed transferee will not acquire any rights in the shares. The automatic transfer will be deemed to be
effective as of the close of business on the business day (as defined in our charter) prior to the date of the transfer. Shares of our stock held in the Trust will be
issued and outstanding shares. The proposed transferee will not benefit economically from ownership of any shares of stock held in the Trust, will have no
rights to dividends and no rights to vote or other rights attributable to the shares of stock held in the Trust. The trustee of the Trust will have all voting rights
and rights to dividends or other distributions with respect to the shares held in the Trust. These rights will be exercised for the exclusive benefit of the
Charitable Beneficiary.
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Any dividend or other distribution paid prior to our discovery that shares of stock have been transferred to the Trust will be paid by the recipient to the Trustee
upon demand. Any dividend or other distribution authorized but unpaid will be paid when due to the Trustee. Any dividend or distribution paid to the Trustee
will be held in trust for the Charitable Beneficiary. Subject to Maryland law, the Trustee will have the authority (i) to rescind as void any vote cast by the
proposed transferee prior to our discovery that the shares have been transferred to the Trust and (ii) to recast the vote in accordance with the desires of the
Trustee acting for the benefit of the Charitable Beneficiary. However, if we have already taken irreversible corporate action, then the Trustee will not have the
authority to rescind and recast the vote. If necessary to protect our status as a REIT, we may establish additional Trusts with distinct Trustees and Charitable
Beneficiaries to which shares may be transferred.
Within 20 days of receiving notice from us that shares of our stock have been transferred to the Trust, the Trustee will sell the shares to a person
designated by the Trustee, whose ownership of the shares will not violate the above ownership limitations. Upon the sale, the interest of the Charitable
Beneficiary in the shares sold will terminate and the Trustee will distribute the net proceeds of the sale to the proposed transferee and to the Charitable
Beneficiary as follows. The proposed transferee will receive the lesser of (i) the price paid by the proposed transferee for the shares or, if the proposed
transferee did not give value for the shares in connection with the event causing the shares to be held in the Trust (e.g., a gift, devise or other similar
transaction), the Market Price (as defined in our charter) of the shares on the day of the event causing the shares to be held in the Trust and (ii) the price
received by the Trustee from the sale or other disposition of the shares. Any net sale proceeds in excess of the amount payable to the proposed transferee will
be paid immediately to the Charitable Beneficiary. If, prior to our discovery that shares of our stock have been transferred to the Trust, the shares are sold by
the proposed transferee, then (i) the shares shall be deemed to have been sold on behalf of the Trust and (ii) to the extent that the proposed transferee received
an amount for the shares that exceeds the amount he was entitled to receive, the excess shall be paid to the Trustee upon demand.
In addition, shares of our stock held in the Trust will be deemed to have been offered for sale to us, or our designee, at a price per share equal to the
lesser of (i) the price per share in the transaction that resulted in the transfer to the Trust (or, in the case of a devise or gift, the Market Price at the time of the
devise or gift) and (ii) the Market Price on the date we, or our designee, accept the offer. We will have the right to accept the offer until the Trustee has sold
the shares. Upon a sale to us, the interest of the Charitable Beneficiary in the shares sold will terminate and the Trustee will distribute the net proceeds of the
sale to the proposed transferee.
All certificates representing shares of our stock will bear a legend referring to the restrictions described above.
Every owner of more than a specified percentage of our stock that, pursuant to Treasury regulations, may be as low as 0.5%, is required, within 30 days
after the end of each taxable year, to give us written notice, stating his name and address, the number of shares of each class and series of our stock which he
beneficially owns and a description of the manner in which the shares are held. Each such owner shall provide us with such additional information as we may
request in order to determine the effect, if any, of his beneficial ownership on our status as a REIT and to ensure compliance with the ownership limits. In
addition, each stockholder shall upon demand be required to provide us with such information as we may request in good faith in order to determine our status
as a REIT and to comply with the requirements of any taxing authority or governmental authority or to determine such compliance.
These ownership limits could delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change in control that might involve a premium price for the common stock or
otherwise be in the best interest of the stockholders.
Registration Rights
In connection with the private placement, we entered into a registration rights agreement with Friedman, Billings, Ramsey & Co. on behalf of the
holders of common stock issued in the private placement. Pursuant to
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that agreement, we have included in the registration statement, of which this prospectus is a part,
shares of common stock proposed to be offered
by certain selling stockholders who purchased shares of our common stock originally issued and sold in the private placement. We have also agreed to file a
shelf registration statement for the benefit of the holders of our common stock issued in the private placement within 90 days after the completion of this
offering. We agreed to cause such shelf registration statement to remain effective until the first to occur of (1) the disposition of all shares of common stock
sold in the private placement under a registration statement or pursuant to Rule 144, (2) the date on which the shares of common stock sold in the private
placement are saleable under Rule 144(k) under the Securities Act or (3) the date that is two years after the effective date of the shelf registration statement.
If:
•

after the earlier of the withdrawal or abandonment of this offering, we have not filed a shelf registration statement with the SEC within 30 days
after such withdrawal or abandonment;

•

we do not file a shelf registration statement within 90 days after the completion of this offering; or

•

we fail to comply with our obligations to file, when and as required, any documents or other materials necessary to effect, or maintain the
effectiveness of, any shelf registration statement;

the (i) payment of the incentive fee to our manager shall be suspended until such date as we comply with the registration obligations under the
registration rights agreement, at which time all suspended amounts shall become due and payable and (ii) our manager shall deliver to us 50% of the
335,000 shares of our common stock granted to our manager pursuant to our incentive plan upon the closing of the private placement. However, such
forfeiture of shares shall not apply if we have endeavored in good faith to timely file either the shelf registration statement but are unable to make such
filing timely as a result of circumstances that are beyond our reasonable control. In addition, penalties shall not become effective until after the second
business day following such nine month period, during which time we may file a registration statement and cure any failure thereunder.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, we will be permitted, under limited circumstances, to suspend the use, from time to time, of the prospectus that is part
of the shelf registration statement (and therefore suspend sales under the shelf registration statement) for certain periods, referred to as "blackout periods," if a
majority of our independent directors, in good faith, determines that it is in our best interest to suspend the use of the registration statement, and:
•

in an underwritten offering by us where we are advised by the representative of the underwriters for such offering that the sale of registrable
shares pursuant to the shelf registration statement would have a material adverse effect on our primary offering;

•

that the offer or sale of any registrable shares would materially impede, delay or interfere with any material proposed acquisition, merger, tender
offer, business combination, corporate reorganization, consolidation or similar material transaction;

•

after the advice of counsel, sale of the registrable shares would require disclosure of non-public material information not otherwise required to be
disclosed under applicable law; and

•

disclosure would have a material adverse effect on us or on our ability to close the applicable transaction.

In addition, we may effect a blackout if a majority of our independent directors, in good faith, determines that it is in our best interest to suspend the use
of the registration statement, and, after advice of counsel, that it is required by law, rule or regulation to supplement the registration statement or file a posteffective amendment for the purposes of:
•

including in the registration statement any prospectus required under Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act;
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•

reflecting any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement that represents a fundamental change in information set
forth therein; or

•

including any material information with respect to the plan of distribution or change to the plan of distribution not set forth therein.

The cumulative blackout periods in any 12 month period may not exceed an aggregate of 90 days and furthermore may not exceed 30 days in any 90
day period. We may not institute a blackout period more than three times in any 12 month period. Upon the occurrence of any blackout period, we will use
our commercially reasonable efforts to take all action necessary to promptly permit resumed use of the registration statement.
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SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE
Prior to this offering, there has been no public market for our common stock. We cannot predict the effect, if any, that sales of shares or the availability
of shares for sale will have on the market price of our common stock prevailing from time to time. Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the
public market, or the perception that such sales could occur, could adversely affect the prevailing market price of our common stock.
Prior to this offering, we have 11,845,010 shares of our common stock outstanding. Upon completion of this offering, we will have outstanding an
aggregate of approximately
shares of our common stock. The shares of common stock sold in this offering will be freely tradable without
restriction or further registration under the Securities Act unless the shares are held by any of our "affiliates," as that term is defined in Rule 144 under the
Securities Act. As defined in Rule 144, an "affiliate" of an issuer is a person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, is
controlled by or is under common control with the issuer. The shares of common stock issued in connection with our private placement and not sold in this
offering and all shares of our common stock held by our affiliates, including our officers and directors, are restricted securities as that term is defined in Rule
144 under the Securities Act. Restricted securities may be sold in the public market only if registered under the securities laws or if they qualify for an
exemption from registration under Rule 144, as described below.
Rule 144
In general, under Rule 144, a person who owns shares of our common stock that are restricted securities and that were acquired from us or any of our
affiliates at least one year prior to the proposed sale is entitled to sell, within any three-month period beginning 90 days after the date of this prospectus, a
number of shares that does not exceed the greater of:
•

1% of the number of shares of common stock then outstanding; or

•

the average weekly trading volume of the common stock on the NYSE during the four calendar weeks preceding the filing of a notice on Form
144 with respect to such sale.

Sales under Rule 144 are also subject to certain manner of sale provisions, certain notice requirements and the availability of current public information
about us.
Our affiliates must comply with all the provisions of Rule 144 other than the one-year holding period requirement in order to sell shares of our common
stock that are not restricted securities (such as shares acquired by our affiliates either in this offering or through purchases in the open market following this
offering).
Rule 144(k)
Under Rule 144(k), a person who has not been our affiliate at any time during the three months preceding a sale is entitled to sell restricted securities
without regard to the public information, volume limitation, manner of sale and notice provisions of Rule 144, provided that at least two years have elapsed
since the later of the date the shares were acquired from us or any of our affiliates.
Lock-Up Agreements
We will agree with the underwriters not to offer to sell, contract to sell, or otherwise dispose of, loan, pledge or grant any rights with respect to any
shares of our common stock, any options or warrants to purchase any shares of our common stock or any securities convertible into or exercisable for any of
our common stock for a period of
days following the date of this prospectus, subject to certain exceptions. Our directors and officers will agree, with
limited exceptions, for a period of
days after the date of this prospectus, and the selling
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stockholders will agree, with limited exceptions, for a period of 90 days after the date of this prospectus, that they will not, without the prior written consent of
Friedman, Billings, Ramsey & Co., directly or indirectly, offer to sell, sell or otherwise dispose of any shares of our common stock or any securities
convertible into, or exercisable or exchangeable for, shares of our common or our other capital stock other than the shares of common stock sold by the selling
stockholders in this offering.
The following table summarizes when shares of common stock may be resold following the completion of this offering:
Total Shares Outstanding
Prior to Offering

Shares Available for Sale
After Expiration of 90
Day Lock-Up

Additional Shares
Available for Sale After
Day Lock-Up

11,845,010

All of the shares issued prior to this offering are "restricted securities" as defined under Rule 144 of the Securities Act. We have agreed to file a shelf
registration statement to register the shares sold to investors in the private placement. Until the shelf is effective, only limited resales can be made under Rule
144.
In addition, holders of common stock issued in the private placement have agreed not to sell their shares for a period of thirty days prior to, and ninety
days following, the effective date of the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part.
Registration Rights
In connection with the private placement, we entered into a registration rights agreement with Friedman, Billings, Ramsey & Co. on behalf of the
holders of common stock issued in the private placement. Pursuant to that agreement, we have included in the registration statement, of which this prospectus
is a part,
shares of common stock proposed to be offered by certain selling stockholders who purchased shares of our common stock originally
issued and sold in the private placement. We have also agreed to file a shelf registration statement for the benefit of the holders of shares of our common stock
issued in the private placement within 90 days after the completion of this offering. We agreed to cause this shelf registration statement to remain effective
until the first to occur of (1) the disposition of all shares of common stock sold in the private placement under a registration statement or pursuant to Rule 144,
(2) the date on which the shares of common stock sold in the private placement are saleable under Rule 144(k) under the Securities Act or (3) the date that is
two years after the effective date of the shelf registration statement.
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IMPORTANT PROVISIONS OF MARYLAND LAW AND
OF OUR CHARTER AND BY-LAWS
The following description of the terms of our stock and of certain provisions of Maryland law is only a summary. For a complete description, we refer
you to the Maryland General Corporation Law, or the MGCL, and our charter and our by-laws, which we filed as exhibits to the registration statement on
which this prospectus is a part. Copies of our charter and by-laws are available upon request.
Our Board of Directors
Our by-laws provide that the number of our directors may be established by our board of directors but may not be fewer than the minimum required by
the MGCL (which is currently one) nor more than fifteen. Any vacancy will be filled, at any regular meeting or at any special meeting called for that purpose,
by a majority of the remaining directors, except that a vacancy resulting from an increase in the number of directors must be filled by a majority of the entire
board of directors.
Members of our board of directors will be chosen for one-year terms upon the expiration of the initial directors' current terms on the date of our annual
stockholders meeting in 2005. Holders of shares of our common stock will have no right to cumulative voting in the election of directors. Consequently, at
each annual meeting of stockholders, the holders of a majority of the shares of our common stock will be able to elect all of the successors of the directors
whose terms expire at that meeting.
Removal of Directors
Our charter provides that a director may be removed only for cause (as defined in the charter) and only by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of
the votes entitled to be cast in the election of directors. This provision, when coupled with the provision in our by-laws authorizing our board of directors to
fill vacant directorships, precludes stockholders from removing incumbent directors except for cause and with a substantial affirmative vote and filling the
vacancies created by the removal with their own nominees.
Business Combinations
Under the MGCL, "business combinations" between a Maryland corporation and an interested stockholder or an affiliate of an interested stockholder
are prohibited for five years after the most recent date on which the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. These business combinations
include a merger, consolidation, share exchange, or, in circumstances specified in the statute, an asset transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity
securities. An interested stockholder is defined as:
•

any person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power of the outstanding voting stock of the corporation's shares; or

•

an affiliate or associate of the corporation who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in question, was the beneficial owner of
10% or more of the voting power of the then outstanding voting stock of the corporation.

A person is not an interested stockholder under the statute if the board of directors approved in advance the transaction by which he otherwise would
have become an interested stockholder. However, in approving a transaction, the board of directors may provide that its approval is subject to compliance, at
or after the time of approval, with any terms and conditions determined by the board.
After the five-year prohibition, any business combination between the Maryland corporation and an interested stockholder generally must be
recommended by the board of directors of the corporation and approved by the affirmative vote of at least:
•

80% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of outstanding shares of voting stock of the corporation, voting together as a single voting group;
and
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•

two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of voting stock of the corporation other than shares held by the interested stockholder with
whom or with whose affiliate the business combination is to be effected or held by an affiliate or associate of the interested stockholder.

These super-majority vote requirements do not apply if, among other conditions, the corporation's common stockholders receive a minimum price, as
defined in the MGCL, for their shares in the form of cash or other consideration in the same form as previously paid by the interested stockholder for its
shares.
The statute permits various exemptions from its provisions, including business combinations that are exempted by the board of directors before the time
that the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. Pursuant to the statute, we have exempted all business combinations between us and any
third party. Consequently, the five-year prohibition and the super-majority vote requirements will not apply to business combinations between us and any of
them. As a result, such parties may be able to enter into business combinations with us that may not be in the best interest of our stockholders, without
compliance with the super-majority vote requirements and the other provisions of the statute.
If the exemption in our charter is repealed, by charter amendment approved by both our board of directors and our stockholders, then the application of
the business combination statute may discourage others from trying to acquire control of us and increase the difficulty of consummating any offer.
Control Share Acquisitions
Maryland law provides that control shares of a Maryland corporation acquired in a control share acquisition have no voting rights except to the extent
approved by a vote of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. Shares owned by the acquiror, by officers of the corporation or by directors who
are employees of the corporation are excluded from shares entitled to vote on the matter. Control shares are voting shares of stock that, if aggregated with all
other shares of stock owned by the acquiror or in respect of which the acquiror is able to exercise or direct the exercise of voting power (except solely by
virtue of a revocable proxy), would entitle the acquiror to exercise voting power in electing directors within one of the following ranges of voting power:
•

one-tenth or more but less than one-third,

•

one-third or more but less than a majority, or

•

a majority or more of all voting power.

Control shares do not include shares the acquiring person is then entitled to vote as a result of having previously obtained stockholder approval. A
control share acquisition means the acquisition of control shares, subject to certain exceptions.
A person who has made or proposes to make a control share acquisition may compel the board of directors of the corporation to call a special meeting
of stockholders to be held within 50 days of demand to consider the voting rights of the shares. The right to compel the calling of a special meeting is subject
to the satisfaction of certain conditions, including an undertaking to pay the expenses of the meeting. If no request for a meeting is made, the corporation may
itself present the question at any stockholders meeting.
If voting rights are not approved at the meeting or if the acquiring person does not deliver an acquiring person statement as required by the statute, then
the corporation may redeem for fair value any or all of the control shares, except those for which voting rights have previously been approved. The right of the
corporation to redeem control shares is subject to certain conditions and limitations. Fair value is determined, without regard to the absence of voting rights
for the control shares, as of the date of the last control share acquisition by the acquiror or of any meeting of stockholders at which the voting rights of the
shares are considered and not approved. If voting rights for control shares are approved at a stockholders meeting and the acquiror becomes entitled to vote a
majority of the shares entitled to vote, all other stockholders may exercise appraisal rights. The
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fair value of the shares as determined for purposes of appraisal rights may not be less than the highest price per share paid by the acquiror in the control share
acquisition.
The control share acquisition statute does not apply (a) to shares acquired in a merger, consolidation or share exchange if the corporation is a party to
the transaction, or (b) to acquisitions approved or exempted by the charter or by-laws of the corporation.
Our by-laws contain a provision exempting from the control share acquisition statute any and all acquisitions by any person of shares of our stock. This
provision may be amended or eliminated by our board of directors at any time in the future.
Amendment to Our Charter
Our charter may be amended only by the affirmative vote of the holders of not less than a majority of all of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter,
except for those provisions relating to the removal of directors, which may be amended only by the affirmative vote of the holders of not less than two-thirds
of all of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter.
Advance Notice of Director Nominations and New Business
Our bylaws provide that any stockholder of record seeking to have stockholders request a special meeting is required to send a written notice to our
secretary requesting the board of directors to fix a record date to determine the stockholders entitled to request a special meeting ("Request Record Date").
The written notice must set forth (a) the purpose of the meeting and the matters proposed to be acted on at it, (b) the signature and date of signature of at least
one stockholder of record as of the date of the signature and (c) all information relating to the requesting stockholder(s) that must be disclosed in solicitations
of proxies for election of directors or as otherwise required pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Upon its
receipt of any such written notice, the board of directors may adopt a resolution fixing a Request Record Date, which must be within ten days after the date on
which such resolution is adopted. If the board of directors fails to adopt such a resolution within ten days of its receipt of any such written notice, the Request
Record Date is automatically fixed as the close of business on the tenth day after the first date on which the written notice is received by the secretary.
The Request Record Date provides a 60-day window during which stockholders of record as of the Request Record Date may request a special meeting.
Such stockholders must send written requests for a special meeting to the secretary ("Special Meeting Request") signed by stockholders of record as of the
Request Record Date entitled to cast not less than a majority of all of the votes entitled to be cast at such meeting. The request must also set forth (a) the
purpose of the meeting and the matters proposed to be acted on at it, which are required to be limited to the matters set forth in the Record Date Request
Notice, (b) the date of signature of each stockholder signing the request, (c) the name and address, as they appear in our books, of each stockholder signing
such request, and (d) the class and number of shares of our stock owned of record and beneficially by each such stockholder. The secretary shall inform the
requesting stockholders of the reasonably estimated cost of preparing and mailing the notice of meeting (including our proxy materials), and the requesting
stockholders must pay such estimated cost to the secretary before the secretary may call a special meeting.
The board of directors may then designate the place, date and time for a special meeting, which shall not be more than 90 days after the record date for
such meeting ("Meeting Record Date"). The Meeting Record Date shall be the close of business on the 30th day after the date on which a valid Special
Meeting Request is actually received by the secretary ("Delivery Date"), unless the board of directors fixes an earlier date. If the board of directors fails to
designate a place for the special meeting within ten days after the Delivery Date, then such meeting shall be held at our principal executive offices. If the
board of directors fails to designate a date and time for the special meeting within ten days after the Delivery Date, then such meeting shall be held at 2:00
p.m. local time on the 90th day after the Meeting Record Date.
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Our bylaws also provide that, with respect to annual meetings of stockholders, in order for nominations of persons for election to the board of directors
and other business to be properly brought before an annual meeting by a stockholder, the stockholder must comply with the advance notice procedures set
forth in our bylaws. The stockholder generally must provide notice to the secretary not less than 90 days nor more than 120 days prior to the first anniversary
of the date of mailing of the notice for the preceding year's annual meeting. The stockholder's notice must include, among other information, (a) each board
nominee proposed for election or reelection and all information relating to such board nominee that is required to be disclosed in solicitations of proxies for
election of directors or as otherwise required pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and (b) as to any other
business that the stockholder proposes to bring the meeting, a description of any such business, the reasons for conducting such business at the meeting and
any material interest in such business of such stockholder. Nominations of persons for election to the board of directors and other proposed business may be
made by a stockholder provided that the stockholder is entitled to vote at the meeting and has complied with the advance notice provision set forth in our
bylaws.
The advance notice provisions of our bylaws could delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change in control of the Company that might involve a
premium price for holders shares of our common stock or otherwise be in their best interest.
Anti-takeover Effect of Certain Provisions of Maryland Law and of Our Charter and By-laws
If the applicable exemption in our charter is repealed, the business combination provisions and, if the applicable exemption in our by-laws is repealed,
the control share acquisition provisions of Maryland law, as well as the provisions of our charter on removal of directors and the limitations on stock
ownership, together with the advance notice provisions of our by-laws, alone or in combination, could serve to delay, deter or prevent a transaction or a
change in the control of us that might involve a premium price for holders of our common stock or otherwise be in their best interest.
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FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS
The following is a summary of the material United States federal income tax consequences of an investment in common stock of JER Investors Trust.
The law firm of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP has acted as our tax counsel and has reviewed this summary. For purposes of this section under
the heading "Federal Income Tax Considerations," references to "JER Investors Trust," "we," "our" and "us" mean only JER Investors Trust and not its
subsidiaries or other lower-tier entities, except as otherwise indicated. This summary is based upon the Internal Revenue Code, the regulations promulgated
by the U.S. Treasury Department, rulings and other administrative pronouncements issued by the IRS, and judicial decisions, all as currently in effect, and all
of which are subject to differing interpretations or to change, possibly with retroactive effect. No assurance can be given that the IRS would not assert, or that
a court would not sustain, a position contrary to any of the tax consequences described below. No advance ruling has been or will be sought from the IRS
regarding any matter discussed in this prospectus. The summary is also based upon the assumption that the operation of JER Investors Trust and its
subsidiaries and affiliated entities will be in accordance with its applicable organizational documents or partnership agreement. This summary is for general
information only, and does not purport to discuss all aspects of federal income taxation that may be important to a particular investor in light of its investment
or tax circumstances, or to investors subject to special tax rules, such as:
•

financial institutions;

•

insurance companies;

•

broker-dealers;

•

regulated investment companies;

•

holders who receive JER Investors Trust stock through the exercise of employee stock options or otherwise as compensation;

•

persons holding JER Investors Trust stock as part of a "straddle," "hedge," "conversion transaction," "synthetic security" or other integrated
investment;

and, except to the extent discussed below:
•

tax-exempt organizations; and

•

foreign investors.

This summary assumes that investors will hold their common stock of ours as a capital asset, which generally means as property held for investment.
The federal income tax treatment of holders of JER Investors Trust common stock depends in some instances on determinations of fact and
interpretations of complex provisions of federal income tax law for which no clear precedent or authority may be available. In addition, the tax
consequences to any particular stockholder of holding JER Investors Trust common stock will depend on the stockholder's particular tax
circumstances. You are urged to consult your tax advisor regarding the federal, state, local, and foreign income and other tax consequences to you in
light of your particular investment or tax circumstances of acquiring, holding, exchanging, or otherwise disposing of JER Investors Trust common
stock.
Taxation of JER Investors Trust
JER Investors Trust intends to elect to be taxed as a REIT, commencing with its initial taxable year ended December 31, 2004, upon the filing of its
federal income tax return for such year. We believe that we have been organized, have operated and expect to continue to operate in such a manner as to
qualify for taxation as a REIT.
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The law firm of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP has acted as our tax counsel in connection with our formation and planned election to be
taxed as a REIT. We expect to receive an opinion of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP to the effect that, commencing with its initial taxable year
that ended on December 31, 2004, JER Investors Trust was organized in conformity with the requirements for qualification as a REIT under the Internal
Revenue Code, and that its actual method of operation has enabled, and its proposed method of operation will enable it to meet the requirements for
qualification and taxation as a REIT. It must be emphasized that the opinion of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP is based on various assumptions
relating to the organization and operation of JER Investors Trust, and is conditioned upon fact-based representations and covenants made by the management
of JER Investors Trust regarding its organization, assets, income, and the past, present and future conduct of its business operations. While JER Investors
Trust intends to operate so that it will qualify as a REIT, given the highly complex nature of the rules governing REITs, the ongoing importance of factual
determinations, and the possibility of future changes in the circumstances of JER Investors Trust, no assurance can be given by Skadden, Arps, Slate,
Meagher & Flom LLP or JER Investors Trust that JER Investors Trust will so qualify for any particular year. The opinion will be expressed as of the date
issued, and does not cover subsequent periods. Counsel will have no obligation to advise JER Investors Trust or the holders of JER Investors Trust common
stock of any subsequent change in the matters stated, represented or assumed, or of any subsequent change in the applicable law. You should be aware that
opinions of counsel are not binding on the IRS, and no assurance can be given that the IRS will not challenge the conclusions set forth in such opinions.
Qualification and taxation as a REIT depends on the ability of JER Investors Trust to meet on a continuing basis, through actual operating results,
distribution levels, and diversity of stock ownership, various qualification requirements imposed upon REITs by the Internal Revenue Code, the compliance
with which will not be reviewed by Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP. JER Investors Trust's ability to qualify as a REIT also requires that it
satisfies certain asset tests, some of which depend upon the fair market values of assets directly or indirectly owned by JER Investors Trust. Such values may
not be susceptible to a precise determination. Accordingly, no assurance can be given that the actual results of JER Investors Trust's operations for any taxable
year satisfy such requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT.
Taxation of REITs in General
As indicated above, qualification and taxation as a REIT depends upon the ability of JER Investors Trust to meet, on a continuing basis, various
qualification requirements imposed upon REITs by the Internal Revenue Code. The material qualification requirements are summarized below under "—
Requirements for Qualification—General." While JER Investors Trust intends to operate so that it qualifies as a REIT, no assurance can be given that the IRS
will not challenge its qualification, or that it will be able to operate in accordance with the REIT requirements in the future. See "—Failure to Qualify."
Provided that JER Investors Trust qualifies as a REIT, it will generally be entitled to a deduction for dividends that it pays and therefore will not be
subject to federal corporate income tax on its net income that is currently distributed to its stockholders. This treatment substantially eliminates the "double
taxation" at the corporate and stockholder levels that generally results from investment in a corporation. Rather, income generated by a REIT generally is
taxed only at the stockholder level upon a distribution of dividends by the REIT.
The Jobs and Growth Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of 2003 (the "2003 Act") reduces the rate at which most domestic stockholders that are individuals,
trusts and estates are taxed on corporate dividends from a maximum of 38.6% (as ordinary income) to a maximum of 15% (the same as long-term capital
gains) for the 2003 through 2008 tax years. With limited exceptions, however, dividends received by stockholders from JER Investors Trust or from other
entities that are taxed as REITs are generally not eligible for the reduced rates, and will continue to be taxed at rates applicable to ordinary income, which,
pursuant to the 2003 Act, will be as high as 35% through 2010. See "Taxation of Stockholders—Taxation of Taxable Domestic Stockholders—Distributions."
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Net operating losses, foreign tax credits and other tax attributes of a REIT generally do not pass through to the stockholders of the REIT, subject to
special rules for certain items such as capital gains recognized by REITs. See "Taxation of Stockholders."
If JER Investors Trust qualifies as a REIT, it will nonetheless be subject to federal tax in the following circumstances:
•

JER Investors Trust will be taxed at regular corporate rates on any undistributed income, including undistributed net capital gains.

•

JER Investors Trust may be subject to the "alternative minimum tax" on its items of tax preference, including any deductions of net operating
losses.

•

If JER Investors Trust has net income from prohibited transactions, which are, in general, sales or other dispositions of property held primarily
for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business, other than foreclosure property, such income will be subject to a 100% tax. See "—
Prohibited Transactions", and "—Foreclosure Property", below.

•

If JER Investors Trust elects to treat property that it acquires in connection with a foreclosure of a mortgage loan or certain leasehold
terminations as "foreclosure property", it may thereby avoid the 100% tax on gain from a resale of that property (if the sale would otherwise
constitute a prohibited transaction), but the income from the sale or operation of the property may be subject to corporate income tax at the
highest applicable rate (currently 35%).

•

If JER Investors Trust derives "excess inclusion income" from an interest in certain mortgage loan securitization structures (i.e., a "taxable
mortgage pool" or a residual interest in a real estate mortgage investment conduit, or "REMIC"), JER Investors Trust could be subject to
corporate level federal income tax at a 35% rate to the extent that such income is allocable to specified types of tax-exempt stockholders known
as "disqualified organizations" that are not subject to unrelated business income tax. See "—Taxable Mortgage Pools and Excess Inclusion
Income" below.

•

If JER Investors Trust should fail to satisfy the 75% gross income test or the 95% gross income test, as discussed below, but nonetheless
maintains its qualification as a REIT because other requirements are met, it will be subject to a 100% tax on an amount based on the magnitude
of the failure adjusted to reflect the profit margin associated with JER Investors Trust's gross income.

•

Pursuant to provisions in recently enacted legislation that take effect in 2005, if JER Investors Trust should fail to satisfy the asset or other
requirements applicable to REITs, as described below, yet nonetheless maintain its qualification as a REIT because there is reasonable cause for
the failure and other applicable requirements are met, JER Investors Trust may be subject to an excise tax. In that case, the amount of the tax will
be at least $50,000 per failure, and, in the case of certain asset test failures, will be determined as the amount of net income generated by the
assets in question multiplied by the highest corporate tax rate (currently 35%) if that amount exceeds $50,000 per failure.

•

If JER Investors Trust should fail to distribute during each calendar year at least the sum of (a) 85% of its REIT ordinary income for such year,
(b) 95% of its REIT capital gain net income for such year, and (c) any undistributed taxable income from prior periods, JER Investors Trust
would be subject to a non-deductible 4% excise tax on the excess of the required distribution over the sum of (i) the amounts actually distributed,
plus (ii) retained amounts on which income tax is paid at the corporate level.

•

JER Investors Trust may be required to pay monetary penalties to the IRS in certain circumstances, including if it fails to meet record keeping
requirements intended to monitor its compliance with rules relating to the composition of a REIT's stockholders, as described below in "—
Requirements for Qualification—General."

•

A 100% tax may be imposed on transactions between a REIT and a taxable REIT subsidiary (as described below) that do not reflect arm's length
terms.
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•

If JER Investors Trust acquires appreciated assets from a corporation that is not a REIT (i.e., a corporation taxable under subchapter C of the
Internal Revenue Code) in a transaction in which the adjusted tax basis of the assets in the hands of JER Investors Trust is determined by
reference to the adjusted tax basis of the assets in the hands of the subchapter C corporation, JER Investors Trust may be subject to tax on such
appreciation at the highest corporate income tax rate then applicable if it subsequently recognizes gain on a disposition of any such assets during
the ten-year period following their acquisition from the subchapter C corporation.

•

The earnings of JER Investors Trust's subsidiaries could be subject to federal corporate income tax to the extent that such subsidiaries are
subchapter C corporations.

In addition, JER Investors Trust and its subsidiaries may be subject to a variety of taxes, including payroll taxes and state, local, and foreign income,
property and other taxes on their assets and operations. JER Investors Trust could also be subject to tax in situations and on transactions not presently
contemplated.
Requirements for Qualification—General
The Internal Revenue Code defines a REIT as a corporation, trust or association:
(1) that is managed by one or more trustees or directors;
(2) the beneficial ownership of which is evidenced by transferable shares, or by transferable certificates of beneficial interest;
(3) that would be taxable as a domestic corporation but for the special Internal Revenue Code provisions applicable to REITs;
(4) that is neither a financial institution nor an insurance company subject to specific provisions of the Internal Revenue Code;
(5) the beneficial ownership of which is held by 100 or more persons;
(6) in which, during the last half of each taxable year, not more than 50% in value of the outstanding stock is owned, directly or indirectly, by
five or fewer "individuals" (as defined in the Internal Revenue Code to include specified tax-exempt entities); and
(7) which meets other tests described below, including with respect to the nature of its income and assets.
The Internal Revenue Code provides that conditions (1) through (4) must be met during the entire taxable year, and that condition (5) must be met
during at least 335 days of a taxable year of 12 months, or during a proportionate part of a shorter taxable year. Conditions (5) and (6) need not be met during
a corporation's initial tax year as a REIT (i.e., 2004 in the case of JER Investors Trust). JER Investors Trust's charter provides restrictions regarding the
ownership and transfers of its shares, which are intended to assist JER Investors Trust in satisfying the share ownership requirements described in conditions
(5) and (6) above.
To monitor compliance with the share ownership requirements, JER Investors Trust is generally required to maintain records regarding the actual
ownership of its shares. To do so, JER Investors Trust must demand written statements each year from the record holders of significant percentages of its
stock in which the record holders are to disclose the actual owners of the shares (i.e., the persons required to include the dividends paid by JER Investors Trust
in their gross income). A list of those persons failing or refusing to comply with this demand must be maintained as part of JER Investors Trust's records.
Failure by JER Investors Trust to comply with these record keeping requirements could subject it to monetary penalties. A stockholder that fails or refuses to
comply with the demand is required by Treasury regulations to submit a statement with its tax return disclosing the actual ownership of the shares and other
information.
In addition, a corporation generally may not elect to become a REIT unless its taxable year is the calendar year. JER Investors Trust intends to adopt
December 31 as its year end, and thereby satisfy this requirement.
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The Internal Revenue Code provides relief from violations of the REIT gross income requirements, as described below under "—Income Tests," in
cases where a violation is due to reasonable cause and not willful neglect, and other requirements are met, including the payment of a penalty tax that is based
upon the magnitude of the violation. In addition, the recently enacted American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the "2004 Act") includes provisions that extend
similar relief in the case of certain violations of the REIT asset requirements (see "—Asset Tests" below) and other REIT requirements, again provided that
the violation is due to reasonable cause and not willful neglect, and other conditions are met, including the payment of a penalty tax. These provisions of the
2004 Act become effective beginning with the 2005 tax year. If JER Investors Trust fails to satisfy any of the various REIT requirements, there can be no
assurance that these relief provisions would be available to enable it to maintain its qualification as a REIT, and, if available, the amount of any resultant
penalty tax could be substantial.
Effect of Subsidiary Entities
Ownership of Partnership Interests. In the case of a REIT that is a partner in an entity that is treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes,
Treasury regulations provide that the REIT is deemed to own its proportionate share of the partnership's assets, and to earn its proportionate share of the
partnership's income, for purposes of the asset and gross income tests applicable to REITs as described below. A REIT's proportionate share of a partnership's
assets and income is based on the REIT's capital interest in the partnership (except that for purposes of the 10% value test with respect to the 2005 and future
taxable years, JER Investors Trust's proportionate share is based on its proportionate interest in the equity and certain debt securities issued by the
partnership). In addition, the assets and gross income of the partnership are deemed to retain the same character in the hands of the REIT. Thus, JER Investors
Trust's proportionate share of the assets and items of income of any subsidiary partnerships will be treated as assets and items of income of JER Investors
Trust for purposes of applying the REIT requirements described below. A summary of certain rules governing the federal income taxation of partnerships and
their partners is provided below in "Tax Aspects of Investments in Affiliated Partnerships."
Disregarded Subsidiaries. If a REIT owns a corporate subsidiary that is a "qualified REIT subsidiary," that subsidiary is disregarded for federal income
tax purposes, and all assets, liabilities and items of income, deduction and credit of the subsidiary are treated as assets, liabilities and items of income,
deduction and credit of the REIT itself, including for purposes of the gross income and asset tests applicable to REITs as summarized below. A qualified
REIT subsidiary is any corporation, other than a "taxable REIT subsidiary" as described below, that is wholly-owned by a REIT, or by other disregarded
subsidiaries, or by a combination of the two. Other entities that are wholly-owned by a REIT, including single member limited liability companies that have
elected not to be taxed as corporations for federal income tax purposes, are also generally disregarded as a separate entities for federal income tax purposes,
including for purposes of the REIT income and asset tests. Disregarded subsidiaries, along with any partnerships in which JER Investors Trust holds an equity
interest, are sometimes referred to herein as "pass-through subsidiaries."
In the event that a disregarded subsidiary of JER Investors Trust ceases to be wholly-owned—for example, if any equity interest in the subsidiary is
acquired by a person other than JER Investors Trust or another disregarded subsidiary of JER Investors Trust—the subsidiary's separate existence would no
longer be disregarded for federal income tax purposes. Instead, it would have multiple owners and would be treated as either a partnership or a taxable
corporation. Such an event could, depending on the circumstances, adversely affect JER Investors Trust's ability to satisfy the various asset and gross income
requirements applicable to REITs, including the requirement that REITs generally may not own, directly or indirectly, more than 10% of the securities of
another corporation. See "—Asset Tests" and "—Income Tests."
Taxable Subsidiaries. A REIT, in general, may jointly elect with subsidiary corporations, whether or not wholly-owned, to treat the subsidiary
corporation as a taxable REIT subsidiary ("TRS"). A REIT generally may not own more than 10% of the securities of a taxable corporation, as measured by
voting power or value, unless the corporation elects to be a TRS. The separate existence of a TRS or other taxable corporation, unlike a
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disregarded subsidiary as discussed above, is not ignored for federal income tax purposes. Accordingly, such an entity would generally be subject to corporate
income tax on its earnings, which may reduce the cash flow generated by JER Investors Trust and its subsidiaries in the aggregate, and JER Investors Trust's
ability to make distributions to its stockholders.
A parent REIT is not treated as holding the assets of a taxable subsidiary corporation or as receiving any income that the subsidiary earns. Rather, the
stock issued by the subsidiary is an asset in the hands of the parent REIT, and the REIT recognizes as income, the dividends, if any, that it receives from the
subsidiary. This treatment can affect the income and asset test calculations that apply to the parent REIT, as described below. Because a parent REIT does not
include the assets and income of such subsidiary corporations in determining the parent's compliance with the REIT requirements, such entities may be used
by the parent REIT to indirectly undertake activities that the REIT rules might otherwise preclude it from doing directly or through pass-through subsidiaries
(for example, activities that give rise to certain categories of income such as management fees or foreign currency gains).
Income Tests
In order to qualify as a REIT, JER Investors Trust annually must satisfy two gross income requirements. First, at least 75% of JER Investors Trust's
gross income for each taxable year, excluding gross income from sales of inventory or dealer property in "prohibited transactions", generally must be derived
from investments relating to real property or mortgages on real property, including interest income derived from mortgage loans secured by real property
(including certain types of mortgage backed securities), "rents from real property," dividends received from other REITs, and gains from the sale of real estate
assets, as well as specified income from temporary investments. Second, at least 95% of JER Investors Trust's gross income in each taxable year, excluding
gross income from prohibited transactions and certain hedging transactions, must be derived from some combination of such income from investments in real
property (i.e., income that qualifies under the 75% income test described above), as well as other dividends, interest, and gain from the sale or disposition of
stock or securities, which need not have any relation to real property.
Interest income constitutes qualifying mortgage interest for purposes of the 75% income test (as described above) to the extent that the obligation is
secured by a mortgage on real property. If JER Investors Trust receives interest income with respect to a mortgage loan that is secured by both real property
and other property, and the highest principal amount of the loan outstanding during a taxable year exceeds the fair market value of the real property on the
date that JER Investors Trust acquired or originated the mortgage loan, the interest income will be apportioned between the real property and the other
collateral, and JER Investors Trust's income from the arrangement will qualify for purposes of the 75% income test only to the extent that the interest is
allocable to the real property. Even if a loan is not secured by real property, or is undersecured, the income that it generates may nonetheless qualify for
purposes of the 95% income test.
To the extent that the terms of a loan provide for contingent interest that is based on the cash proceeds realized upon the sale of the property securing
the loan (a "shared appreciation provision"), income attributable to the participation feature will be treated as gain from sale of the underlying property, which
generally will be qualifying income for purposes of both the 75% and 95% gross income tests provided that the property is not held as inventory or dealer
property.
To the extent that a REIT derives interest income from a mortgage loan, or income from the rental of real property (discussed below), where all or a
portion of the amount of interest or rental income payable is contingent, such income generally will qualify for purposes of the gross income tests only if it is
based upon the gross receipts or sales, and not the net income or profits, of the borrower or lessee. This limitation does not apply, however, where the
borrower or lessee leases substantially all of its interest in the property to tenants or subtenants, to the extent that the rental income derived by the borrower or
lessee, as the case may be, would qualify as rents from real property had it been earned directly by a REIT.
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Among the assets in which JER Investors Trust and its subsidiaries have invested in are mezzanine loans, which are loans secured by equity interests in
an entity that directly or indirectly owns real property, rather than by a direct mortgage of the real property. The IRS recently issued Revenue Procedure
2003-65, which provides a safe harbor pursuant to which a mezzanine loan, if it meets each of the requirements contained in the Revenue Procedure, will be
treated by the IRS as a real estate asset for purposes of the REIT asset tests described below, and interest derived from it will be treated as qualifying
mortgage interest for purposes of the REIT 75% income test. Although the Revenue Procedure provides a safe harbor on which taxpayers may rely, it does not
prescribe rules of substantive tax law. JER Investors Trust intends to structure, and believes that it has in the past structured, any investments in mezzanine
loans in a manner that complies with the various requirements applicable to its qualification as a REIT. To the extent, however, that any of its mezzanine
loans do not meet all of the requirements for reliance on the safe harbor set forth in the Revenue Procedure, there can be no assurance that the IRS will not
challenge the tax treatment of these loans.
JER Investors Trust and its subsidiaries also have invested in real estate mortgage investment conduits, or REMICs, and in other commercial mortgage
backed securities, or CMBS. See below under "—Asset Tests" for a discussion of the effect of such investments on JER Investors Trust's qualification as a
REIT.
Rents received by JER Investors Trust will qualify as "rents from real property" in satisfying the gross income requirements described above only if
several conditions are met, including the following. If rent is partly attributable to personal property leased in connection with a lease of real property, the
portion of the total rent that is attributable to the personal property will not qualify as "rents from real property" unless it constitutes 15% or less of the total
rent received under the lease. In addition, the amount of rent must not be based in whole or in part on the income or profits of any person. However, an
amount received or accrued generally will not be excluded from rents from real property solely by reason of being based on fixed percentages of receipts or
sales. Moreover, for rents received to qualify as "rents from real property," the REIT generally must not operate or manage the property or furnish or render
services to the tenants of such property, other than through an "independent contractor" from which the REIT derives no revenue. JER Investors Trust and its
affiliates are permitted, however, to perform services that are "usually or customarily rendered" in connection with the rental of space for occupancy only and
are not otherwise considered rendered to the occupant of the property. In addition, JER Investors Trust and its affiliates may directly or indirectly provide
non-customary services to tenants of its properties without disqualifying all of the rent from the property if the payment for such services does not exceed 1%
of the total gross income from the property. For purposes of this test, the income received from such non-customary services is deemed to be at least 150% of
the direct cost of providing the services. Moreover, JER Investors Trust is generally permitted to provide services to tenants or others through a TRS without
disqualifying the rental income received from tenants for purposes of the REIT income requirements. Also, rental income will qualify as rents from real
property only to the extent that JER Investors Trust does not directly or constructively hold a 10% or greater interest, as measured by vote or value, in the
lessee's equity.
JER Investors Trust may indirectly receive distributions from TRSs or other corporations that are not REITs or qualified REIT subsidiaries. These
distributions will be classified as dividend income to the extent of the earnings and profits of the distributing corporation. Such distributions will generally
constitute qualifying income for purposes of the 95% gross income test, but not under the 75% gross income test. Any dividends received by JER Investors
Trust from a REIT will be qualifying income in JER Investors Trust's hands for purposes of both the 95% and 75% income tests.
Effective beginning in 2005, any income or gain derived by JER Investors Trust or its pass-through subsidiaries from instruments that hedge certain
risks, such as the risk of changes in interest rates, will be excluded from gross income for purposes of the 95% gross income test, provided that specified
requirements are met, including the requirement that the instrument hedges risks associated with indebtedness issued by JER Investors Trust or its passthrough subsidiaries that is incurred to acquire or carry "real estate assets" (as described below under "—Asset Tests"), and the instrument is properly
identified as a hedge, along with the risk that it hedges, within prescribed time periods. Income and gain from such transactions will not be qualifying
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income for the 75% gross income test, and income and gain from all other hedging transactions will not be qualifying income for either the 95% or 75%
income test.
If JER Investors Trust fails to satisfy one or both of the 75% or 95% gross income tests for any taxable year, it may still qualify as a REIT for the year if
it is entitled to relief under applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue Code. These relief provisions will be generally available for the 2004 taxable year if
the failure of JER Investors Trust to meet these tests was due to reasonable cause and not due to willful neglect, JER Investors Trust attaches to its tax return a
schedule of the sources of its income, and any incorrect information on the schedule was not due to fraud with intent to evade tax. For the 2005 and
subsequent taxable years, those relief provisions will be generally available if the failure of JER Investors Trust to meet the gross income tests was due to
reasonable cause and not due to willful neglect and JER Investors Trust files a schedule of the source of its gross income in accordance with Treasury
regulations. It is not possible to state whether JER Investors Trust would be entitled to the benefit of these relief provisions in all circumstances. If these relief
provisions are inapplicable to a particular set of circumstances involving JER Investors Trust, JER Investors Trust will not qualify as a REIT. As discussed
above under "—Taxation of REITs in General," even where these relief provisions apply, a tax would be imposed based upon the amount by which JER
Investors Trust fails to satisfy the particular gross income test.
Asset Tests
JER Investors Trust, at the close of each calendar quarter, must also satisfy four tests relating to the nature of its assets. First, at least 75% of the value
of the total assets of JER Investors Trust must be represented by some combination of "real estate assets", cash, cash items, U.S. government securities, and,
under some circumstances, stock or debt instruments purchased with new capital. For this purpose, real estate assets include interests in real property, such as
land, buildings, leasehold interests in real property, stock of other corporations that qualify as REITs, and some kinds of mortgage backed securities and
mortgage loans. Assets that do not qualify for purposes of the 75% test are subject to the additional asset tests described below.
The second asset test is that the value of any one issuer's securities owned by JER Investors Trust may not exceed 5% of the value of JER Investors
Trust's total assets. Third, JER Investors Trust may not own more than 10% of any one issuer's outstanding securities, as measured by either voting power or
value. The 5% and 10% asset tests do not apply to securities of TRSs. Fourth, the aggregate value of all securities of TRSs held by a REIT may not exceed
20% of the value of the REIT's total assets.
Notwithstanding the general rule, as noted above, that for purposes of the REIT income and asset tests, a REIT is treated as owning its share of the
underlying assets of a subsidiary partnership, if a REIT holds indebtedness issued by a partnership, the indebtedness will be subject to, and may cause a
violation of, the asset tests, unless it is a qualifying mortgage asset, or other conditions are met. Similarly, although stock of another REIT is a qualifying asset
for purposes of the REIT asset tests, any non-mortgage debt held by JER Investors Trust that is issued by another REIT may not so qualify (except that debt
issued by REITs will not be treated as "securities" for purposes of the 10% value test, as explained below).
The 2004 Act contains a number of provisions applicable to REITs, including relief provisions that make it easier for REITs to satisfy the asset
requirements, or to maintain REIT qualification notwithstanding certain violations of the asset and other requirements. These provisions are generally
effective beginning with the 2005 tax year, except as otherwise noted below.
One such provision allows a REIT which fails one or more of the asset requirements to nevertheless maintain its REIT qualification if (a) it provides the
IRS with a description of each asset causing the failure, (b) the failure is due to reasonable cause and not willful neglect, (c) the REIT pays a tax equal to the
greater of (i) $50,000 per failure, and (ii) the product of the net income generated by the assets that caused the failure multiplied by the highest applicable
corporate tax rate (currently 35%), and (d) the REIT either disposes of the
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assets causing the failure within 6 months after the last day of the quarter in which it identifies the failure, or otherwise satisfies the relevant asset tests within
that time frame.
A second relief provision contained in the 2004 Act applies to de minimis violations of the 10% and 5% asset tests. A REIT may maintain its
qualification despite a violation of such requirements if (a) the value of the assets causing the violation does not exceed the lesser of 1% of the REIT's total
assets, and $10,000,000, and (b) the REIT either disposes of the assets causing the failure within 6 months after the last day of the quarter in which it
identifies the failure, or the relevant tests are otherwise satisfied within that time frame.
The 2004 Act also provides that certain securities will not cause a violation of the 10% value test described above. Such securities include instruments
that constitute "straight debt," which now has an expanded definition and includes securities having certain contingency features. A newly enacted restriction,
however, precludes a security from qualifying as "straight debt" where a REIT (or a controlled TRS of the REIT) owns other securities of the issuer of that
security which do not qualify as straight debt, unless the value of those other securities constitute, in the aggregate, 1% or less of the total value of that issuer's
outstanding securities. In addition to straight debt, the 2004 Act provides that certain other securities will not violate the 10% value test. Such securities
include (a) any loan made to an individual or an estate, (b) certain rental agreements in which one or more payments are to be made in subsequent years (other
than agreements between a REIT and certain persons related to the REIT), (c) any obligation to pay rents from real property, (d) securities issued by
governmental entities that are not dependent in whole or in part on the profits of (or payments made by) a non-governmental entity, (e) any security (including
debt securities) issued by another REIT, and (f) any debt instrument issued by a partnership if the partnership's income is of a nature that it would satisfy the
75% gross income test described above under "—Income Tests." The 2004 Act also provides that in applying the 10% value test, a debt security issued by a
partnership is not taken into account to the extent, if any, of the REIT's proportionate interest in equity and certain debt securities issued by that partnership.
Each of the changes described in this paragraph that were made by the 2004 Act have retroactive effect beginning with the 2001 tax year.
Any interests in a REMIC held by JER Investors Trust or its pass-through subsidiaries will generally qualify as real estate assets, and income derived
from REMIC interests will generally be treated as qualifying income for purposes of the REIT income tests described above. If less than 95% of the assets of
a REMIC are real estate assets, however, then only a proportionate part of JER Investors Trust's interest in the REMIC, and its income derived from the
interest, qualifies for purposes of the REIT asset and income tests. Where a REIT holds a "residual interest" in a REMIC from which it derives "excess
inclusion income," the REIT will be required to either distribute the excess inclusion income or pay tax on it (or a combination of the two), even though the
income may not be received in cash by the REIT. To the extent that distributed excess inclusion income is allocable to a particular stockholder, the income (i)
would not be allowed to be offset by any net operating losses otherwise available to the stockholder, (ii) would be subject to tax as unrelated business taxable
income in the hands of most types of stockholders that are otherwise generally exempt from federal income tax, and (iii) would result in the application of
U.S. federal income tax withholding at the maximum rate (30%), without reduction of any otherwise applicable income tax treaty, to the extent allocable to
most types of foreign stockholders. Moreover, any excess inclusion income received by a REIT that is allocable to specified categories of tax-exempt
investors which are not subject to unrelated business income tax, such as government entities, may be subject to corporate-level income tax in the REIT's
hands, whether or not it is distributed. See "Taxable Mortgage Pools and Excess Inclusion Income."
To the extent that JER Investors Trust and its pass-through subsidiaries hold mortgage participations or CMBS that do not represent REMIC interests,
such assets may not qualify as real estate assets, and the income generated from them might not qualify for purposes of either or both of the REIT income
requirements, depending upon the circumstances and the specific structure of the investment.
JER Investors Trust believes that its holdings of securities and other assets will comply with the foregoing REIT asset requirements, and it intends to
monitor compliance on an ongoing basis. Certain mezzanine loans
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may qualify for the safe harbor in Revenue Procedure 2003-65 pursuant to which certain loans secured by a first priority security interest in ownership
interests in a partnership or limited liability company will be treated as qualifying assets for purposes of the 75% real estate asset test and the 10% vote or
value test. See "—Income Tests." However, it is possible that JER Investors Trust may make some mezzanine loans that do not qualify for that safe harbor
and that do not qualify as "straight debt" securities or for one of the other exclusions from the definition of "securities" for purposes of the 10% value test.
JER Investors Trust intends to make such investments in such a manner as to not cause it to fail the assets tests described above, and believes that its existing
investments satisfy such requirements.
No independent appraisals have been obtained, however, to support JER Investors Trust's conclusions as to the value of its total assets, or the value of
any particular security or securities. Moreover, values of some assets, including instruments issued in securitization transactions, may not be susceptible to a
precise determination, and values are subject to change in the future. Furthermore, the proper classification of an instrument as debt or equity for federal
income tax purposes may be uncertain in some circumstances, which could affect the application of the REIT asset requirements. Accordingly, there can be
no assurance that the IRS will not contend that JER Investors Trust's interests in its subsidiaries or in the securities of other issuers will not cause a violation
of the REIT asset tests.
Annual Distribution Requirements
In order to qualify as a REIT, JER Investors Trust is required to distribute dividends, other than capital gain dividends, to its stockholders in an amount
at least equal to:
(a) the sum of
(1) 90% of the "REIT taxable income" of JER Investors Trust, computed without regard to its net capital gains and the deduction for dividends
paid, and
(2) 90% of the net income, if any, (after tax) from foreclosure property (as described below), minus
(b) the sum of specified items of noncash income.
These distributions generally must be paid in the taxable year to which they relate, or in the following taxable year if declared before JER Investors
Trust timely files its tax return for the year and if paid with or before the first regular dividend payment after such declaration. In order for distributions to be
counted for this purpose, and to give rise to a tax deduction by JER Investors Trust, they must not be "preferential dividends." A dividend is not a preferential
dividend if it is pro rata among all outstanding shares of stock within a particular class, and is in accordance with the preferences among different classes of
stock as set forth in the REIT's organizational documents.
To the extent that JER Investors Trust distributes at least 90%, but less than 100%, of its "REIT taxable income," as adjusted, it will be subject to tax at
ordinary corporate tax rates on the retained portion. JER Investors Trust may elect to retain, rather than distribute, its net long-term capital gains and pay tax
on such gains. In this case, JER Investors Trust could elect to have its stockholders include their proportionate share of such undistributed long-term capital
gains in income, and to receive a corresponding credit for their share of the tax paid by JER Investors Trust. Stockholders would then increase the adjusted
basis of their JER Investors Trust stock by the difference between the designated amounts of capital gains from JER Investors Trust that they include in their
taxable income, and the tax paid on their behalf by JER Investors Trust with respect to that income.
To the extent that a REIT has available net operating losses carried forward from prior tax years, such losses may reduce the amount of distributions
that it must make in order to comply with the REIT distribution requirements. Such losses, however, will generally not affect the character, in the hands of
stockholders, of any distributions that are actually made by the REIT, which are generally taxable to stockholders to the extent that
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the REIT has current or accumulated earnings and profits. See "—Taxation of Stockholders—Taxation of Taxable Domestic Stockholders—Distributions."
If JER Investors Trust should fail to distribute during each calendar year at least the sum of (a) 85% of its REIT ordinary income for such year, (b) 95%
of its REIT capital gain net income for such year, and (c) any undistributed taxable income from prior periods, JER Investors Trust would be subject to a nondeductible 4% excise tax on the excess of such required distribution over the sum of (x) the amounts actually distributed and (y) the amounts of income
retained on which it has paid corporate income tax.
It is possible that JER Investors Trust, from time to time, may not have sufficient cash to meet the distribution requirements due to timing differences
between (a) the actual receipt of cash, including receipt of distributions from its subsidiaries, and (b) the inclusion of items in income by JER Investors Trust
for federal income tax purposes. Other potential sources of non-cash taxable income include "residual interests" in REMICs or taxable mortgage pools, loans
or mortgage backed securities held by JER Investors Trust as assets that are issued at a discount and require the accrual of taxable economic interest in
advance of its receipt in cash, loans on which the borrower is permitted to defer cash payments of interest, and distressed loans on which JER Investors Trust
may be required to accrue taxable interest income even though the borrower is unable to make current servicing payments in cash. In the event that such
timing differences occur, in order to meet the distribution requirements, it might be necessary to arrange for short-term, or possibly long-term, borrowings, or
to pay dividends in the form of taxable in-kind distributions of property.
JER Investors Trust may be able to rectify a failure to meet the distribution requirements for a year by paying "deficiency dividends" to stockholders in
a later year, which may be included in JER Investors Trust's deduction for dividends paid for the earlier year. In this case, JER Investors Trust may be able to
avoid losing its REIT status or being taxed on amounts distributed as deficiency dividends. However, JER Investors Trust will be required to pay interest and
a penalty based on the amount of any deduction taken for deficiency dividends.
Failure to Qualify
IF JER Investors Trust fails to satisfy one or more requirements for REIT qualification during its 2005 or subsequent taxable years, other than the gross
income tests and the asset tests, it could avoid disqualification if its failure is due to reasonable cause and not to willful neglect and it pays a penalty of
$50,000 for each such failure. In addition, there are relief provisions for a failure of the gross income tests and asset tests, as described above in "—Income
Tests" and —Asset Tests."
If JER Investors Trust fails to qualify for taxation as a REIT in any taxable year, and the relief provisions described above do not apply, JER Investors
Trust would be subject to tax, including any applicable alternative minimum tax, on its taxable income at regular corporate rates. Distributions to stockholders
in any year in which JER Investors Trust is not a REIT would not be deductible by JER Investors Trust, nor would they be required to be made. In this
situation, to the extent of current and accumulated earnings and profits, distributions to domestic stockholders that are individuals, trusts and estates will
generally be taxable at capital gains rates (through 2008) pursuant to 2003 Act, and, subject to limitations of the Internal Revenue Code, corporate distributees
may be eligible for the dividends received deduction. Unless JER Investors Trust is entitled to relief under specific statutory provisions, JER Investors Trust
would also be disqualified from re-electing to be taxed as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year during which qualification was lost. It is not
possible to state whether, in all circumstances, JER Investors Trust would be entitled to this statutory relief.
Prohibited Transactions
Net income derived by a REIT from a prohibited transaction is subject to a 100% tax. The term "prohibited transaction" generally includes a sale or
other disposition of property (other than foreclosure property, as discussed below) that is held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade
or business. JER
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Investors Trust intends to conduct its operations so that no asset owned by JER Investors Trust or its pass-through subsidiaries will be held for sale to
customers, and that a sale of any such asset will not be in the ordinary course of JER Investors Trust's business. Whether property is held "primarily for sale to
customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business" depends, however, on the particular facts and circumstances. No assurance can be given that any
property sold by JER Investors Trust will not be treated as property held for sale to customers, or that JER Investors Trust can comply with certain safe-harbor
provisions of the Internal Revenue Code that would prevent such treatment. The 100% tax does not apply to gains from the sale of property that is held
through a TRS or other taxable corporation, although such income will be subject to tax in the hands of the corporation at regular corporate rates.
Foreclosure Property
Foreclosure property is real property and any personal property incident to such real property (i) that is acquired by a REIT as the result of the REIT
having bid in the property at foreclosure, or having otherwise reduced the property to ownership or possession by agreement or process of law, after there was
a default (or default was imminent) on a lease of the property or a mortgage loan held by the REIT and secured by the property, (ii) for which the related loan
or lease was acquired by the REIT at a time when default was not imminent or anticipated, and (iii) for which such REIT makes a proper election to treat the
property as foreclosure property. REITs generally are subject to tax at the maximum corporate rate (currently 35%) on any net income from foreclosure
property, including any gain from the disposition of the foreclosure property, other than income that would otherwise be qualifying income for purposes of the
75% gross income test. Any gain from the sale of property for which a foreclosure property election has been made will not be subject to the 100% tax on
gains from prohibited transactions described above, even if the property would otherwise constitute inventory or dealer property in the hands of the selling
REIT. To the extent that JER Investors Trust receives any income from foreclosure property that is not qualifying income for purposes of the 75% gross
income test, it intends to make an election to treat the related property as foreclosure property.
Foreign Investments
JER Investors Trust and its subsidiaries may hold investments and pay taxes in foreign countries. Taxes paid by JER Investors Trust in foreign
jurisdictions may not be passed through to, or used by, its stockholders as a foreign tax credit or otherwise. Foreign investments might also generate foreign
currency gains and losses. Foreign currency gains are treated as income that does not qualify under the 95% or 75% income tests, unless certain technical
requirements are met. No assurance can be given that these technical requirements will be met in the case of any foreign currency gains recognized by JER
Investors Trust directly or through pass-through subsidiaries, and will not adversely affect JER Investors Trust's ability to satisfy the REIT qualification
requirements.
Derivatives and Hedging Transactions
JER Investors Trust and its subsidiaries may enter into hedging transactions with respect to interest rate exposure on one or more of their assets or
liabilities. Any such hedging transactions could take a variety of forms, including the use of derivative instruments such as interest rate swap contracts,
interest rate cap or floor contracts, futures or forward contracts, and options. Effective beginning in 2005, to the extent that JER Investors Trust or a passthrough subsidiary enters into a hedging transaction to reduce interest rate risk on indebtedness incurred to acquire or carry real estate assets and the
instrument is properly identified as a hedge, along with the risk it hedges, within prescribed time periods, any periodic income from the instrument, or gain
from the disposition of it, would not be treated as gross income for purposes of the REIT 95% gross income test, and would be treated as non-qualifying
income for the 75% gross income test. To the extent that JER Investors Trust hedges in other situations (for example, hedges against fluctuations in the value
of foreign currencies), the resultant income will, under current law, be treated as income that does not qualify under the 95% or 75% income tests. JER
Investors Trust intends to structure any hedging transactions in a manner that does not
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jeopardize its status as a REIT. JER Investors Trust may conduct some or all of its hedging activities (including hedging activities relating to currency risk)
through a TRS or other corporate entity, the income from which may be subject to federal income tax, rather than participating in the arrangements directly or
through pass-through subsidiaries. No assurance can be given, however, that JER Investors Trust's hedging activities will not give rise to income that does not
qualify for purposes of either or both of the REIT income tests, and will not adversely affect JER Investors Trust's ability to satisfy the REIT qualification
requirements.
Taxable Mortgage Pools and Excess Inclusion Income
An entity, or a portion of an entity, may be classified as a taxable mortgage pool ("TMP") under the Internal Revenue Code if (1) substantially all of its
assets consist of debt obligations or interests in debt obligations, (2) more than 50% of those debt obligations are real estate mortgages or interests in real
estate mortgages as of specified testing dates, (3) the entity has issued debt obligations (liabilities) that have two or more maturities, and (4) the payments
required to be made by the entity on its debt obligations (liabilities) "bear a relationship" to the payments to be received by the entity on the debt obligations
that it holds as assets. Under regulations issued by the U.S. Treasury Department, if less than 80% of the assets of an entity (or a portion of an entity) consist
of debt obligations, these debt obligations are considered not to comprise "substantially all" of its assets, and therefore the entity would not be treated as a
TMP. JER Investors Trust's financing and securitization arrangements may give rise to TMPs, with the consequences as described below.
Where an entity, or a portion of an entity, is classified as a TMP, it is generally treated as a taxable corporation for federal income tax purposes. In the
case of a REIT, or a portion of a REIT, or a disregarded subsidiary of a REIT, that is a TMP, however, special rules apply. The TMP is not treated as a
corporation that is subject to corporate income tax, and the TMP classification does not directly affect the tax status of the REIT. Rather, the consequences of
the TMP classification would, in general, except as described below, be limited to the stockholders of the REIT. The Treasury Department has not yet issued
regulations to govern the treatment of stockholders as described below. A portion of the REIT's income from the TMP arrangement, which might be non-cash
accrued income, could be treated as "excess inclusion income."
The REIT's excess inclusion income, including any excess inclusion income from a residual interest in a REMIC, would be allocated among its
stockholders. A stockholder's share of excess inclusion income (i) would not be allowed to be offset by any net operating losses otherwise available to the
stockholder, (ii) would be subject to tax as unrelated business taxable income in the hands of most types of stockholders that are otherwise generally exempt
from federal income tax, and (iii) would result in the application of U.S. federal income tax withholding at the maximum rate (30%), without reduction for
any otherwise applicable income tax treaty, to the extent allocable to most types of foreign stockholders. See "—Taxation of Stockholders." Although
Treasury regulations have not yet been drafted to clarify the law, to the extent that excess inclusion income is allocated from a TMP to a tax-exempt
stockholder of a REIT that is not subject to unrelated business income tax (such as government entities), the REIT may be taxable on this income at the
highest applicable corporate tax rate (currently 35%). In that case, the REIT could reduce distributions to such stockholders by the amount of such tax paid by
the REIT attributable to such stockholder's ownership. Treasury regulations provide that such a reduction in distributions would not give rise to a preferential
dividend that could adversely affect the REIT's compliance with its distribution requirements. See "—Annual Distribution Requirements." The manner in
which excess inclusion income is calculated, or would be allocated to stockholders, including allocations among shares of different classes of stock, is not
clear under current law. Tax-exempt investors, foreign investors and taxpayers with net operating losses should carefully consider the tax consequences
described above, and are urged to consult their tax advisors.
If a subsidiary partnership of JER Investors Trust, not wholly-owned by JER Investors Trust directly or through one or more disregarded entities, were
a TMP, the foregoing rules would not apply. Rather, the partnership that is a TMP would be treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes, and
would potentially be subject to corporate income tax. In addition, this characterization would alter JER Investors Trust's
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REIT income and asset test calculations, and could adversely affect its compliance with those requirements. JER Investors Trust intends to monitor the
structure of any TMPs in which it has an interest to ensure that they will not adversely affect its status as a REIT.
Tax Aspects of Investments in Affiliated Partnerships
General
JER Investors Trust may hold investments through entities that are classified as partnerships for federal income tax purposes. In general, partnerships
are "pass-through" entities that are not subject to federal income tax. Rather, partners are allocated their proportionate shares of the items of income, gain,
loss, deduction and credit of a partnership, and are potentially subject to tax on these items, without regard to whether the partners receive a distribution from
the partnership. JER Investors Trust will include in its income its proportionate share of these partnership items for purposes of the various REIT income tests
and in the computation of its REIT taxable income. Moreover, for purposes of the REIT asset tests, JER Investors Trust will include its proportionate share of
any assets held by subsidiary partnerships. A REIT's proportionate share of a partnership's assets and income is based on the REIT's capital interest in the
partnership (except that for purposes of the 10% value test with respect to the 2005 and future taxable years, a REIT's proportionate share is based on its
proportionate interest in the equity and certain debt securities issued by the partnership). See "Taxation of JER Investors Trust—Effect of Subsidiary Entities
—Ownership of Partnership Interests."
Entity Classification
Any investment by JER Investors Trust in partnerships involves special tax considerations, including the possibility of a challenge by the IRS of the
status of any subsidiary partnership as a partnership, as opposed to an association taxable as a corporation, for federal income tax purposes (for example, if the
IRS were to assert that a subsidiary partnership is a TMP). See "Taxation of JER Investors Trust—Taxable Mortgage Pools and Excess Inclusion Income." If
any of these entities were treated as an association for federal income tax purposes, it would be taxable as a corporation and therefore could be subject to an
entity-level tax on its income. In such a situation, the character of the assets of JER Investors Trust and items of gross income of JER Investors Trust would
change and could preclude JER Investors Trust from satisfying the REIT asset tests or the gross income tests as discussed in "Taxation of JER Investors Trust
—Asset Tests" and "—Income Tests," and in turn could prevent JER Investors Trust from qualifying as a REIT, unless JER Investors Trust is eligible for
relief from the violation pursuant to relief provisions described above. See "Taxation of JER Investors Trust—Asset Tests," "—Income Test" and "—Failure
to Qualify," above, for discussion of the effect of the failure to satisfy the REIT tests for a taxable year, and of the relief provisions. In addition, any change in
the status of any subsidiary partnership for tax purposes might be treated as a taxable event, in which case JER Investors Trust could have taxable income that
is subject to the REIT distribution requirements without receiving any cash.
Tax Allocations with Respect to Partnership Properties
Under the Internal Revenue Code and the Treasury regulations, income, gain, loss and deduction attributable to appreciated or depreciated property that
is contributed to a partnership in exchange for an interest in the partnership must be allocated for tax purposes in a manner such that the contributing partner is
charged with, or benefits from, the unrealized gain or unrealized loss associated with the property at the time of the contribution. The amount of the unrealized
gain or unrealized loss is generally equal to the difference between the fair market value of the contributed property at the time of contribution, and the
adjusted tax basis of such property at the time of contribution (a "book-tax difference"). Such allocations are solely for federal income tax purposes and do not
affect the book capital accounts or other economic or legal arrangements among the partners.
To the extent that any subsidiary partnership of JER Investors Trust acquires appreciated (or depreciated) properties by way of capital contributions
from its partners, allocations would need to be made in a manner consistent with these requirements. Where a partner contributes cash to a partnership at a
time that the
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partnership holds appreciated (or depreciated) property, the Treasury regulations provide for a similar allocation of these items to the other (i.e., noncontributing) partners. These rules may apply to the contribution by JER Investors Trust to any subsidiary partnerships of the cash proceeds received in
offerings of its stock. As a result, partners, including JER Investors Trust, in subsidiary partnerships, could be allocated greater or lesser amounts of
depreciation and taxable income in respect of a partnership's properties than would be the case if all of the partnership's assets (including any contributed
assets) had a tax basis equal to their fair market values at the time of any contributions to that partnership. This could cause JER Investors Trust to recognize,
over a period of time, taxable income in excess of cash flow from the partnership, which might adversely affect JER Investors Trust's ability to comply with
the REIT distribution requirements discussed above.
Taxation of Stockholders
Taxation of Taxable Domestic Stockholders
Distributions. Provided that JER Investors Trust qualifies as a REIT, distributions made to its taxable domestic stockholders out of current or
accumulated earnings and profits, and not designated as capital gain dividends, will generally be taken into account by them as ordinary income and will not
be eligible for the dividends received deduction for corporations. With limited exceptions, dividends received from REITs are not eligible for taxation at the
preferential income tax rates (15% maximum federal rate through 2008) for qualified dividends received by domestic stockholders that are individuals, trusts
and estates from taxable C corporations pursuant to the 2003 Act. Such stockholders, however, are taxed at the preferential rates on dividends designated by
and received from REITs to the extent that the dividends are attributable to (i) income retained by the REIT in the prior taxable year on which the REIT was
subject to corporate level income tax (less the amount of tax), (ii) dividends received by the REIT from TRSs or other taxable C corporations, or (iii) income
in the prior taxable year from the sales of "built-in gain" property acquired by the REIT from C corporations in carryover basis transactions (less the amount
of corporate tax on such income).
Distributions from JER Investors Trust that are designated as capital gain dividends will generally be taxed to stockholders as long-term capital gains,
to the extent that they do not exceed the actual net capital gain of JER Investors Trust for the taxable year, without regard to the period for which the
stockholder has held its stock. A similar treatment will apply to long-term capital gains retained by JER Investors Trust, to the extent that JER Investors Trust
elects the application of provisions of the Internal Revenue Code that treat stockholders of a REIT as having received, for federal income tax purposes,
undistributed capital gains of the REIT, while passing through to stockholders a corresponding credit for taxes paid by the REIT on such retained capital
gains. See "Taxation of JER Investors Trust—Annual Distribution Requirements." Corporate stockholders may be required to treat up to 20% of some capital
gain dividends as ordinary income. Long-term capital gains are generally taxable at maximum federal rates of 15% (through 2008) in the case of stockholders
who are individuals, trusts and estates, and 35% in the case of stockholders that are corporations. Capital gains attributable to the sale of depreciable real
property held for more than 12 months are subject to a 25% maximum federal income tax rate for taxpayers who are taxed as individuals, to the extent of
previously claimed depreciation deductions.
Distributions in excess of current and accumulated earnings and profits will generally represent a return of capital and will not be taxable to a
stockholder to the extent that they do not exceed the adjusted basis of the stockholder's shares in respect of which the distributions were made, but rather, will
reduce the adjusted basis of these shares. To the extent that such distributions exceed the adjusted basis of a stockholder's shares, they will be included in
income as long-term capital gain, or short-term capital gain if the shares have been held for one year or less. In addition, any dividend declared by JER
Investors Trust in October, November or December of any year and payable to a stockholder of record on a specified date in any such month will be treated as
both paid by JER Investors Trust and received by the stockholder on December 31 of such year, provided that the dividend is actually paid by JER Investors
Trust before the end of January of the following calendar year.
To the extent that a REIT has available net operating losses and capital losses carried forward from prior tax years, such losses may reduce the amount
of distributions that must be made in order to comply with the REIT
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distribution requirements. See "Taxation of JER Investors Trust—Annual Distribution Requirements." Such losses, however, are not passed through to
stockholders and do not offset income of stockholders from other sources, nor would they affect the character of any distributions that are actually made by a
REIT, which are generally subject to tax in the hands of stockholders to the extent that the REIT has current or accumulated earnings and profits.
If excess inclusion income from a taxable mortgage pool or REMIC residual interest is allocated to any JER Investors Trust stockholder, that income
will be taxable in the hands of the stockholder and would not be offset by any net operating losses of the stockholder that would otherwise be available. See
"Taxation of JER Investors Trust—Taxable Mortgage Pools and Excess Inclusion Income."
Dispositions of JER Investors Trust Stock. In general, capital gains recognized by individuals, trusts and estates upon the sale or disposition of shares of
JER Investors Trust stock will, pursuant to the 2003 Act, be subject to a maximum federal income tax rate of 15% (through 2008) if the JER Investors Trust
stock is held for more than one year, and will be taxed at ordinary income rates (of up to 35% through 2010) if the JER Investors Trust stock is held for one
year or less. Gains recognized by stockholders that are corporations are subject to federal income tax at a maximum rate of 35%, whether or not classified as
long-term capital gains. Capital losses recognized by a stockholder upon the disposition of JER Investors Trust stock held for more than one year at the time
of disposition will be considered long-term capital losses, and are generally available only to offset capital gain income of the stockholder but not ordinary
income (except in the case of individuals, who may offset up to $3,000 of ordinary income each year). In addition, any loss upon a sale or exchange of shares
of JER Investors Trust stock by a stockholder who has held the shares for six months or less, after applying holding period rules, will be treated as a long-term
capital loss to the extent of distributions received from JER Investors Trust that are required to be treated by the stockholder as long-term capital gain.
If an investor recognizes a loss upon a subsequent disposition of stock or other securities of JER Investors Trust in an amount that exceeds a prescribed
threshold, it is possible that the provisions of recently adopted Treasury regulations involving "reportable transactions" could apply, with a resulting
requirement to separately disclose the loss generating transaction to the IRS. While these regulations are directed towards "tax shelters," they are written quite
broadly, and apply to transactions that would not typically be considered tax shelters. In addition, the 2004 Act imposes significant penalties for failure to
comply with these requirements. You should consult your tax advisors concerning any possible disclosure obligation with respect to the receipt or disposition
of stock or securities of JER Investors Trust, or transactions that might be undertaken directly or indirectly by JER Investors Trust. Moreover, you should be
aware that JER Investors Trust and other participants in the transactions involving JER Investors Trust (including their advisors) might be subject to
disclosure or other requirements pursuant to these regulations.
Taxation of Foreign Stockholders
The following is a summary of certain U.S. federal income and estate tax consequences of the ownership and disposition of JER Investors Trust stock
applicable to non-U.S. holders of JER Investors Trust stock. A "non-U.S. holder" is any person other than:
(a) a citizen or resident of the United States,
(b) a corporation or partnership created or organized in the United States or under the laws of the United States, or of any state thereof, or the
District of Columbia,
(c) an estate, the income of which is includable in gross income for U.S. federal income tax purposes regardless of its source, or
(d) a trust if a United States court is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of such trust and one or more United States
fiduciaries have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust.
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If a partnership, including for this purpose any entity that is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, holds common stock of JER
Investors Trust, the tax treatment of a partner in the partnership will generally depend upon the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. An
investor that is a partnership and the partners in such partnership should consult their tax advisors about the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the
acquisition, ownership and disposition of JER Investors Trust common stock.
The discussion is based on current law, and is for general information only. It addresses only selected, and not all, aspects of U.S. federal income and
estate taxation.
Ordinary Dividends. The portion of dividends received by non-U.S. holders payable out of the earnings and profits of JER Investors Trust which are
not attributable to capital gains of JER Investors Trust and which are not effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business of the non-U.S. holder will be
subject to U.S. withholding tax at the rate of 30%, unless reduced or eliminated by treaty. Reduced treaty rates are not available to the extent that income is
attributable to excess inclusion income of JER Investors Trust allocable to the foreign stockholder. See "Taxation of JER Investors Trust—Taxable Mortgage
Pools and Excess Inclusion Income."
In general, non-U.S. holders will not be considered to be engaged in a U.S. trade or business solely as a result of their ownership of JER Investors Trust
stock. In cases where the dividend income from a non-U.S. holder's investment in JER Investors Trust stock is, or is treated as, effectively connected with the
non-U.S. holder's conduct of a U.S. trade or business, the non-U.S. holder generally will be subject to U.S. tax at graduated rates, in the same manner as
domestic stockholders are taxed with respect to such dividends, such income must generally be reported on a U.S. income tax return filed by or on behalf of
the non-U.S. holder, and the income may also be subject to the 30% branch profits tax in the case of a non-U.S. holder that is a corporation.
Non-Dividend Distributions. Unless JER Investors Trust stock constitutes a U.S. real property interest (a "USRPI"), distributions by JER Investors
Trust which are not dividends out of the earnings and profits of JER Investors Trust will not be subject to U.S. income tax. If it cannot be determined at the
time at which a distribution is made whether or not the distribution will exceed current and accumulated earnings and profits, the distribution will be subject
to withholding at the rate applicable to dividends. However, the non-U.S. holder may seek a refund from the IRS of any amounts withheld if it is subsequently
determined that the distribution was, in fact, in excess of JER Investors Trust's current and accumulated earnings and profits. If JER Investors Trust stock
constitutes a USRPI, as described below, distributions by JER Investors Trust in excess of the sum of its earnings and profits plus the stockholder's basis in its
JER Investors Trust stock will be taxed under the Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act of 1980 ("FIRPTA") at the rate of tax, including any
applicable capital gains rates, that would apply to a domestic stockholder of the same type (e.g., an individual or a corporation, as the case may be), and the
collection of the tax will be enforced by a refundable withholding at a rate of 10% of the amount by which the distribution exceeds the stockholder's share of
JER Investors Trust's earnings and profits.
Capital Gain Dividends. Under FIRPTA, a distribution made by JER Investors Trust to a non-U.S. holder, to the extent attributable to gains from
dispositions of USRPIs held by JER Investors Trust directly or through pass-through subsidiaries ("USRPI capital gains"), will, except as described below, be
considered effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business of the non-U.S. holder and will be subject to U.S. income tax at the rates applicable to U.S.
individuals or corporations, without regard to whether the distribution is designated as a capital gain dividend. See above under "—Taxation of Foreign
Stockholders—Ordinary Dividends," for a discussion of the consequences of income that is effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business. In addition,
JER Investors Trust will be required to withhold tax equal to 35% of the amount of dividends to the extent the dividends constitute USRPI capital gains.
Distributions subject to FIRPTA may also be subject to a 30% branch profits tax in the hands of a non-U.S. holder that is a corporation. A distribution is not a
USRPI capital gain if JER Investors Trust held the underlying asset solely as a creditor. Capital gain dividends received by a non-U.S. holder from a REIT
that are attributable to dispositions by that REIT of assets other than USRPIs are not subject
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to U.S. income or withholding tax, unless (1) the gain is effectively connected with the non-U.S. holder's U.S. trade or business, in which case the non-U.S.
holder would be subject to the same treatment as U.S. holders with respect to such gain, or (2) the non- U.S. holder is a nonresident alien individual who was
present in the United States for 183 days or more during the taxable year and has a "tax home" in the United States, in which case the non-U.S. holder will
incur a 30% tax on his or her capital gains.
Pursuant to the 2004 Act, a capital gain dividend by JER Investors Trust that would otherwise have been treated as a USRPI capital gain will not be so
treated or be subject to FIRPTA, will generally not be treated as income that is effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business, and will instead be treated
the same as an ordinary dividend from JER Investors Trust (see "—Taxation of Foreign Stockholders—Ordinary Dividends"), provided that (1) the capital
gain dividend is received with respect to a class of stock that is regularly traded on an established securities market located in the United States, and (2) the
recipient non-U.S. holder does not own more than 5% of that class of stock at any time during the taxable year in which the capital gain dividend is received.
This provision of the 2004 Act is effective for tax years beginning after December 31, 2004. JER Investors Trust anticipates that its common stock will be
"regularly traded" on an established securities exchange following this offering.
Dispositions of JER Investors Trust Stock. Unless JER Investors Trust stock constitutes a USRPI, a sale of the stock by a non-U.S. holder generally will
not be subject to U.S. taxation under FIRPTA. The stock will not be treated as a USRPI if less than 50% of JER Investors Trust's assets throughout a
prescribed testing period consist of interests in real property located within the United States, excluding, for this purpose, interests in real property solely in a
capacity as a creditor. It is not currently anticipated that JER Investors Trust stock will constitute a USRPI.
Even if the foregoing test is not met, JER Investors Trust stock nonetheless will not constitute a USRPI if JER Investors Trust is a "domesticallycontrolled REIT." A domestically-controlled REIT is a REIT in which, at all times during a specified testing period, less than 50% in value of its shares is
held directly or indirectly by non-U.S. holders. JER Investors Trust believes that it is, and it expects to continue to be, a domestically-controlled REIT and,
therefore, the sale of JER Investors Trust stock should not be subject to taxation under FIRPTA. Because it is expected that JER Investors Trust stock will be
publicly traded following this offering, however, no assurance can be given that JER Investors Trust will remain a domestically-controlled REIT.
In the event that JER Investors Trust does not constitute a domestically-controlled REIT, but its common stock becomes "regularly traded," as defined
by applicable Treasury Department regulations, on an established securities market, a non-U.S. holder's sale of common stock nonetheless would not be
subject to tax under FIRPTA as a sale of a USRPI, provided that the selling non-U.S. holder held 5% or less of JER Investors Trust's outstanding common
stock at all times during a specified testing period.
If gain on the sale of stock of JER Investors Trust were subject to taxation under FIRPTA, the non-U.S. holder would be required to file a U.S. federal
income tax return and would be subject to the same treatment as a U.S. stockholder with respect to such gain, subject to applicable alternative minimum tax
and a special alternative minimum tax in the case of non-resident alien individuals, and the purchaser of the stock could be required to withhold 10% of the
purchase price and remit such amount to the IRS.
Gain from the sale of JER Investors Trust stock that would not otherwise be subject to FIRPTA will nonetheless be taxable in the United States to a
non-U.S. holder in two cases: (a) if the non-U.S. holder's investment in the JER Investors Trust stock is effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business
conducted by such non-U.S. holder, the non-U.S. holder will be subject to the same treatment as a U.S. stockholder with respect to such gain, or (b) if the nonU.S. holder is a nonresident alien individual who was present in the United States for 183 days or more during the taxable year and has a "tax home" in the
United States, the nonresident alien individual will be subject to a 30% tax on the individual's capital gain.
Estate Tax. JER Investors Trust stock owned or treated as owned by an individual who is not a citizen or resident (as specially defined for U.S. federal
estate tax purposes) of the United States at the time of death will be
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includable in the individual's gross estate for U.S. federal estate tax purposes, unless an applicable estate tax treaty provides otherwise, and may therefore be
subject to U.S. federal estate tax.
Taxation of Tax-Exempt Stockholders
Tax-exempt entities, including qualified employee pension and profit sharing trusts and individual retirement accounts, generally are exempt from
federal income taxation. However, they may be subject to taxation on their unrelated business taxable income ("UBTI"). While some investments in real
estate may generate UBTI, the IRS has ruled that dividend distributions from a REIT to a tax-exempt entity do not constitute UBTI. Based on that ruling, and
provided that (1) a tax-exempt stockholder has not held its JER Investors Trust stock as "debt financed property" within the meaning of the Internal Revenue
Code (i.e., where the acquisition or holding of the property is financed through a borrowing by the tax-exempt stockholder), and (2) the JER Investors Trust
stock is not otherwise used in an unrelated trade or business, distributions from JER Investors Trust and income from the sale of the JER Investors Trust stock
generally should not give rise to UBTI to a tax-exempt stockholder.
To the extent, however, that JER Investors Trust (or a part of JER Investors Trust, or a disregarded subsidiary of JER Investors Trust) is a TMP, or if
JER Investors Trust holds residual interests in a REMIC, a portion of the dividends paid to a tax-exempt stockholder that is allocable to excess inclusion
income may be subject to tax as UBTI. If, however, excess inclusion income is allocable to some categories of tax-exempt stockholders that are not subject to
UBTI, JER Investors Trust might be subject to corporate level tax on such income, and, in that case, may reduce the amount of distributions to those
stockholders whose ownership gave rise to the tax. See "Taxation of JER Investors Trust—Taxable Mortgage Pools and Excess Inclusion Income."
Tax-exempt stockholders that are social clubs, voluntary employee benefit associations, supplemental unemployment benefit trusts, and qualified group
legal services plans exempt from federal income taxation under sections 501(c)(7), (c)(9), (c)(17) and (c)(20) of the Internal Revenue Code, respectively, are
subject to different UBTI rules, which generally will require them to characterize distributions from JER Investors Trust as UBTI.
In certain circumstances, a pension trust that owns more than 10% of JER Investors Trust's stock could be required to treat a percentage of the
dividends from JER Investors Trust as UBTI, if JER Investors Trust is a "pension-held REIT." JER Investors Trust will not be a pension-held REIT unless
either (A) one pension trust owns more than 25% of the value of JER Investors Trust's stock, or (B) a group of pension trusts, each individually holding more
than 10% of the value of JER Investors Trust's stock, collectively owns more than 50% of such stock. Certain restrictions on ownership and transfer of JER
Investors Trust's stock should generally prevent a tax-exempt entity from owning more than 10% of the value of JER Investors Trust's stock, or JER Investors
Trust from becoming a pension-held REIT.
Tax-exempt stockholders are urged to consult their tax advisor regarding the federal, state, local and foreign income and other tax
consequences of owning JER Investors Trust stock.
Other Tax Considerations
Legislative or Other Actions Affecting REITs
The rules dealing with federal income taxation are constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative process and by the IRS and the U.S.
Treasury Department. Changes to the federal tax laws and interpretations thereof could adversely affect an investment in our stock
The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 contains a number of provisions that affect the tax treatment of REITs and their stockholders. As discussed
above, the 2004 Act includes provisions that generally ease compliance with certain REIT asset requirements, with the REIT 95% gross income requirement
(in connection with income from hedging activities), and which grant relief in cases involving violations of the REIT asset and
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other requirements, provided that specified conditions are met. See "Taxation of JER Investors Trust—Requirements for Qualification—General," "—Asset
Tests," "—Income Tests" and "—Failure to Qualify." The 2004 Act also alters the tax treatment of capital gain dividends received by foreign stockholders in
some cases. See "Taxation of Stockholders—Taxation of Foreign Stockholders—Capital Gain Dividends." These changes are generally effective beginning in
2005, except that the provisions relating to the 10% asset (value) requirement have retroactive effect to 2001.
State, Local and Foreign Taxes
JER Investors Trust and its subsidiaries and stockholders may be subject to state, local or foreign taxation in various jurisdictions, including those in
which it or they transact business, own property or reside. JER Investors Trust may own properties located in numerous jurisdictions, and may be required to
file tax returns in some or all of those jurisdictions. The state, local or foreign tax treatment of JER Investors Trust and its stockholders may not conform to
the federal income tax treatment discussed above. JER Investors Trust may pay foreign property taxes, and dispositions of foreign property or operations
involving, or investments in, foreign property may give rise to foreign income or other tax liability in amounts that could be substantial. Any foreign taxes
incurred by JER Investors Trust do not pass through to stockholders as a credit against their United States federal income tax liability. Prospective investors
should consult their tax advisors regarding the application and effect of state, local and foreign income and other tax laws on an investment in stock or other
securities of JER Investors Trust.
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ERISA CONSIDERATIONS
The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended or ERISA, and Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code impose certain
restrictions on (a) employee benefit plans (as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA) that are subject to Title I of ERISA, (b) plans (as defined in Section 4975(e)
(1) of the Internal Revenue Code) that are subject to Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code, including individual retirement accounts or Keogh plans, (c)
any entities whose underlying assets include plan assets by reason of such a plan's investment in such entities, each of (a), (b) and (c), a plan and (d) persons
who have certain specified relationships to Plans (referred to as "parties in interest" under ERISA and "disqualified persons" under the Internal Revenue
Code). Moreover, based on the reasoning of the United States Supreme Court in John Hancock Life Ins. Co. v. Harris Trust and Sav. Bank, 510 U.S. 86
(1993), an insurance company's general account may be deemed to include assets of the plans investing in the general account (for example, through the
purchase of an annuity contract), and such insurance company might be treated as a party in interest with respect to a plan by virtue of such investment.
ERISA also imposes certain duties on persons who are fiduciaries of plans subject to ERISA, and ERISA and Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code
prohibit certain transactions between a plan and parties in interest or disqualified persons with respect to such plan. Violations of these rules may result in the
imposition of excise taxes and other penalties and liabilities under ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code.
ERISA and Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code prohibit a broad range of transactions involving plan assets and parties in interest and
disqualified persons, unless a statutory or administrative exemption is available. Parties in interest and disqualified persons that participate in a prohibited
transaction may be subject to a penalty imposed under ERISA and/or an excise tax imposed pursuant to Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code, unless a
statutory or administrative exemption is available. These prohibited transactions generally are set forth in Section 406 of ERISA and Section 4975 of the
Internal Revenue Code.
In addition, under Department of Labor Regulation Section 2510.3-101, the purchase of equity interests in us with plan assets that are subject to Title I
of ERISA or Section 4975 of Internal Revenue the Code would cause our assets to be deemed plan assets of the investing plan which, in turn, would subject
us and our assets to the fiduciary responsibility provisions of ERISA and the prohibited transaction provisions of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Internal
Revenue Code unless an exception to this regulation is applicable.
One exception under the Department of Labor's plan assets regulation provides that an investing plan's assets will not include any of the underlying
assets of an entity if the class of "equity" interests in question are "publicly-offered securities," defined as securities that are (1) held by 100 or more investors
who are independent of the issuer and each other, (2) freely transferable, and (3) either (a) part of a class of securities registered under Section 12(b) or 12(g)
of the Exchange Act or (b) sold to the plan as part of an offering of securities to the public under an effective registration statement under the Securities Act of
1933 and the class of securities of which that security is part is registered under the Exchange Act within the requisite time.
Prior to the time that this registration statement becomes effective, investors using assets of plans subject to ERISA or Section 4975 of the Internal
Revenue Code (including, as applicable, assets of an insurance company general account) have not been permitted to acquire the shares and each investor has
been deemed to have represented to us that it is not a plan subject to ERISA or Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code.
Although no assurances can be given, we believe that the "publicly-offered securities" exception will be applicable to the common stock offered hereby
upon effectiveness of this registration statement, so that our underlying assets would not be deemed to be assets of an investing plan.
If our common stock does not meet the "publicly-offered securities" exception, our assets could be deemed to be the assets of Plans investing in our
common stock. If our assets were deemed to constitute the assets of an investing Plan, (i) transactions involving our assets could be subject to the fiduciary
responsibility and prohibited transaction provisions of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code for which no exemption may be
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available, (ii) our assets could be subject to ERISA's reporting and disclosure requirements, and (iii) the fiduciary causing the Plan to make an investment in
our common stock could be deemed to have delegated its responsibility to manage the assets of the Plan.
Any purchaser that is an insurance company using the assets of an insurance company general account should note that pursuant to regulations
promulgated under Section 401(c) of ERISA the assets of an insurance company general account will not be treated as "plan assets" for purposes of the
fiduciary responsibility provisions of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code to the extent such assets relate to contracts issued to employee
benefit plans on or before December 31, 1998 and the insurer satisfies various conditions. The plan asset status of insurance company separate accounts is
unaffected by Section 401(c) of ERISA, and separate account assets continue to be treated as the plan assets of any such plan invested in a separate account.
Certain employee benefit plans, such as governmental plans (as defined in Section 3(32) of ERISA) and certain church plans (as defined in Section
3(33) of ERISA), are not subject to the requirements of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code. Accordingly, assets of such plans may be
invested in the shares without regard to the ERISA considerations described herein, subject to the provisions or other applicable federal and state law.
However, any such plan that is qualified and exempt from taxation under Sections 401(a) and 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code is subject to the prohibited
transaction rules set forth in Section 503 of the Internal Revenue Code.
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UNDERWRITING
Friedman, Billings, Ramsey & Co., Inc. is acting as representative of the underwriters of this offering. Subject to the terms and conditions in the
underwriting agreement entered into in connection with the sale of our common stock described in this prospectus, the underwriters named below have
severally agreed to purchase the number of shares of common stock set forth opposite their respective names:
Number of
Shares of
Common Stock
Underwriter

Friedman, Billings, Ramsey & Co., Inc.
Banc of America Securities LLC
Total

The underwriting agreement provides that the obligations of the underwriters to purchase and accept delivery of the shares of common stock offered by
this prospectus are subject to approval by their counsel of legal matters and to other conditions contained in the underwriting agreement including, among
other items, the receipt of legal opinions from counsel, the receipt of comfort letters from our current auditors, the absence of any material adverse changes
affecting us or our business and the absence of any objections from the National Association of Securities Dealers Inc. with respect to the fairness and
reasonableness of the underwriting terms. The underwriters are obligated to purchase and accept delivery of all of the shares of common stock offered by this
prospectus, other than those covered by the over-allotment option described below, if any shares are taken. If an underwriter defaults, the underwriting
agreement provides that the purchase commitments of the non-defaulting underwriters may be increased or, in the event that the purchase commitments of the
defaulting underwriters represent more than 10% of the total number shares of common stock offered by this prospectus, the underwriting agreement may be
terminated.
The underwriters propose to offer the shares of common stock directly to the public at the public offering price indicated on the cover page of this
prospectus and to various dealers at that price less a concession not to exceed $
per share, of which $
may be reallowed to other dealers. After
this offering, the public offering price, concession and reallowance to dealers may be reduced by the underwriters. No reduction shall change the amount of
proceeds to be received by us as indicated on the cover page of this prospectus. The common stock is offered by the underwriters as stated in this prospectus,
subject to receipt and acceptance by them and subject to their right to reject any order in whole or in part.
We have granted to the underwriters an option, exercisable within 30 days after the date of this prospectus, to purchase from time to time up to an
aggregate of
additional shares of our common stock to cover over-allotments, if any, at the public offering price less the underwriting discount. If the
underwriters exercise their over-allotment option to purchase any of the additional
shares of common stock, each underwriter, subject to certain
conditions, will become obligated to purchase these additional shares based on the underwriters' percentage purchase commitment in the offering as indicated
in the table above. If purchased, these additional shares will be sold by the underwriters on the same terms as those on which the shares offered by this
prospectus are being sold. The underwriters may exercise the over-allotment option to cover over-allotments made in connection with the sale of the shares of
common stock offered in this offering.
The following table summarizes the underwriting compensation to be paid to the underwriters by us and the selling stockholders. These amounts
assume both no exercise and full exercise of the underwriters' over-allotment option to purchase additional shares.
Without Over-Allotment

By us:
Per share
Total
By the selling stockholders:
Per share
Total
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We estimate that the total expenses payable by us in connection with this offering will be approximately $

.

We and the selling stockholders have agreed to indemnify the underwriters against various liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act of
1933, or to contribute to payments the underwriters may be required to make because of any of those liabilities. The underwriters have informed us that they
do not intend to confirm sales to any accounts over which they exercise discretionary authority.
We intend to apply to list our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange upon the completion of this offering under the symbol "JRT." In
connection with the listing of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange, the underwriters will undertake to sell round lots of 100 shares or more to
a minimum of 2,000 beneficial owners.
Prior to this offering, there has been no public market for our common stock, other than limited trading on the Portal Market. The initial public offering
price has been determined through negotiations between the underwriters and us. Among the factors considered in such determination were:
•

prevailing market conditions;

•

dividend yields and financial characteristics of publicly traded REITs that we and the underwriters believe to be comparable to us;

•

the present state of our financial and business operations;

•

our management;

•

estimates of our business and earnings potential; and

•

the prospects for the industry in which we operate.

Each of our executive officers and directors has agreed, subject to specified exceptions, not to:
•

offer, sell, agree to offer or sell, solicit offers to purchase, grant any call option or purchase any put option with respect to, pledge, borrow or
otherwise dispose of any shares of common stock, any of our or our subsidiaries' other equity securities or any securities convertible into or
exercisable or exchangeable for shares of our common stock or any such equity securities; or

•

establish or increase any "put equivalent position" or liquidate or decrease any "call equivalent position" or otherwise enter into any swap,
derivative or other transaction or arrangement that transfers to another, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences associated with the
ownership of any shares of our common stock or of our or our subsidiaries' other equity securities (regardless of whether any of these transactions
are to be settled by the delivery of common stock, other securities, cash or otherwise) for a period of
days after the date of this prospectus
without the prior written consent of Friedman, Billings, Ramsey & Co., Inc. This restriction terminates after the close of trading of the common
stock on and including the th day after the date of this prospectus. However, Friedman, Billings, Ramsey & Co., Inc. may, in its sole discretion
and at any time or from time to time before the termination of the -day period, without notice, release all or any portion of the securities subject
to lock-up agreements. There are no other existing agreements between the underwriters and any officer or director who has executed a lock-up
agreement providing consent to the sale of shares prior to the expiration of the lock-up period.

In addition, we have agreed that, for
days after the date of this prospectus, we will not, without the prior written consent of Friedman, Billings,
Ramsey & Co., Inc., issue, sell, contract to sell, or otherwise dispose of, any shares of common stock, any options or warrants to purchase any shares of
common stock or any securities convertible into, exercisable for or exchangeable for shares of common stock other than our sale of shares in this offering, the
issuance of options or shares of common stock upon the exercise of outstanding options or warrants, the issuance of options or shares of common stock under
existing stock option and incentive plans, or the
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issuance of common stock or other securities convertible into common stock issued in connection with the acquisition of properties. We also have agreed that
we will not consent to the disposition of any shares held by officers or directors subject to lock-up agreements prior to the expiration of their respective lockup periods unless pursuant to an exception to those agreements or with the consent of Friedman, Billings, Ramsey & Co., Inc. The lockup provisions do not
prohibit us from filing a resale registration statement to register the resale of the shares issued in our June 2004 private placement.
Our stockholders other than our executive officers and directors may not sell or otherwise dispose of any of the shares of our common stock or
securities convertible into our common stock that they have acquired prior to the date of this prospectus and are not selling in this offering until 90 days after
the date of this prospectus, subject to limited exceptions.
In connection with this offering, the underwriters may engage in activities that stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the price of our common stock,
including:
•

short sales;

•

syndicate covering transactions;

•

imposition of penalty bids; and

•

purchases to cover positions created by short sales.

Stabilizing transactions consist of bids or purchases made for the purpose of preventing or retarding a decline in the market price of our common stock
while this offering is in progress. Stabilizing transactions may include making short sales of our common stock, which involves the sale by the underwriters of
a greater number of shares of common stock than they are required to purchase in this offering, and purchasing common stock from us or in the open market
to cover positions created by short sales. Short sales may be "covered" shorts, which are short positions in an amount not greater than the underwriters' overallotment option referred to above, or may be "naked" shorts, which are short positions in excess of that amount.
The underwriters may close out any covered short position either by exercising their over-allotment option, in whole or in part, or by purchasing shares
in the open market. In making this determination, the underwriters will consider, among other things, the price of shares available for purchase in the open
market compared to the price at which the underwriters may purchase shares pursuant to the over-allotment option.
A naked short position is more likely to be created if the underwriters are concerned that there may be downward pressure on the price of the common
stock in the open market that could adversely affect investors who purchased in this offering. To the extent that the underwriters create a naked short position,
they will purchase shares in the open market to cover the position.
The representatives also may impose a penalty bid on underwriters and selling group members. This means that if the representative purchases shares in
the open market in stabilizing transactions or to cover short sales, the representative can require the underwriters or selling group members that sold those
shares as part of this offering to repay underwriting discount or the selling concession received by them.
As a result of these activities, the price of our common stock may be higher than the price that otherwise might exist in the open market. If the
underwriters commence these activities, they may discontinue them at any time. The underwriters may carry out these transactions on the New York Stock
Exchange, in the over-the-counter market or otherwise.
The underwriters do not expect sales to accounts over which they exercise discretionary authority to exceed 5% of the total number of shares of
common stock offered by this prospectus.
120

Table of Contents

At our request, the underwriters have reserved up to
% of the common stock being offered by this prospectus for sale to our directors, employees,
business associates and related persons at the public offering price. The sales will be made by Friedman, Billings, Ramsey & Co., Inc. through a directed share
program. We do not know if these persons will choose to purchase all or any portion of these reserved shares, but any purchases they do make will reduce the
number of shares available to the general public. These persons must commit to purchase no later than the close of business on the day following the date of
this prospectus. Any directors, employees or other persons purchasing such reserved shares will be prohibited from disposing of or hedging such shares for a
period of at least
days after the date of this prospectus. The common stock issued in connection with the directed share program will be issued as part of
the underwritten public offering.
Two of our directors, Messrs. Altobello and Ramsey, are also directors of Friedman, Billings, Ramsey Group, Inc., the parent company of Friedman,
Billings, Ramsey & Co., Inc. Friedman, Billings, Ramsey & Co., Inc. acted as initial purchaser and placement agent in connection with the private placement
and Friedman, Billings, Ramsey & Co., Inc. and its affiliates purchased 910,683 shares in that offering. Friedman, Billings, Ramsey & Co., Inc. is the co-lead
managing underwriter of this offering and currently owns approximately 7.7% of our common stock.
Banc of America Securities LLC currently provides us with a $250 million maximum availability repurchase agreement secured by certain of our
CMBS, B-Notes, and mezzanine loans and any first mortgage loans that we acquire in the future. A portion of the net proceeds of this offering will be used to
repay our borrowings under this repurchase facility. In April 2005 we purchased from Banc of America Securities $53.8 million of CMBS.
The underwriters and their affiliates may from time to time engage in future transactions with us and our affiliates and provide services to us and our
affiliates in the ordinary course of their business.
LEGAL MATTERS
Certain legal matters will be passed upon for us by Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, New York, New York, and DLA Piper Rudnick Gray
Cary US LLP, Baltimore, Maryland, and for the underwriters by Hunton & Williams LLP.
EXPERTS
The consolidated financial statements and schedule of JER Investors Trust Inc. as of December 31, 2004 and for the period from inception (April 19,
2004) to December 31, 2004 appearing in this prospectus have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, as set
forth in their report thereon, and are included in reliance upon such report given on the authority of such firm as experts in accounting and auditing.
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Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of JER Investors Trust Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of JER Investors Trust Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, shareholders' equity, and cash flows for the period from inception (April 19, 2004) to December 31, 2004. Our audit
also included the financial statement schedule of Mortgage Loans on Real Estate. These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the
Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged
to perform an audit of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as
a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of JER Investors Trust Inc.
and subsidiaries at December 31, 2004, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for the period from inception (April 19, 2004) to
December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when
considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
McLean, Virginia
March 21, 2005
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JER INVESTORS TRUST INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
DECEMBER 31, 2004
(In thousands, except share data)
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
CMBS, at fair value
Real estate loans
Other assets

$

Total Assets

1,177
167,070
29,865
1,567

$ 199,679

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Liabilities:
Repurchase agreements
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Due to affiliate
Other liabilities

$

Total Liabilities

39,200
855
509
326
40,890

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized, and 11,845,010 shares issued and outstanding
Additional paid-in capital
Undistributed loss
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Total Stockholders' Equity

118
165,147
(5,899)
(577)
158,789

Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity

$ 199,679

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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JER INVESTORS TRUST INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE PERIOD FROM INCEPTION (April 19, 2004) TO DECEMBER 31, 2004
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
REVENUES
Interest income from cash and cash equivalents
Interest income from CMBS
Interest income from real estate loans

$

Total Revenues
EXPENSES
Management fees
General and administrative (excluding stock compensation)
Stock compensation

951
2,344
245
3,540
1,864
2,438
5,137

Total Expenses

9,439

NET LOSS

$

(5,899)

Basic and diluted loss per share

$

(0.62)

Weighted average shares used in computing basic and diluted loss per share

9,511,915

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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JER INVESTORS TRUST INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
FOR THE PERIOD FROM INCEPTION (April 19, 2004) TO DECEMBER 31, 2004
(In thousands)
Common Stock

Shares

Balance at April 19, 2004
Comprehensive loss:
Net loss
Unrealized loss on cash flow hedges
Unrealized holding losses on securities available-for-sale

Amount

— $

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

— $

— $

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Undistributed
Loss

—

$

—

(5,899)
(234)
(343)

Total comprehensive loss
Shares issued, net of offering costs
Stock awards issued
Amortization of unearned compensation

11,500
345

115
3

Balance at December 31, 2004

11,845 $

118 $ 165,147 $

F-5

$

—
(5,899)
(234)
(343)
(6,476)
160,128
5,100
37

160,013
5,097
37

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Total

(5,899) $

(577) $ 158,789
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JER INVESTORS TRUST INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE PERIOD FROM INCEPTION (April 19, 2004) TO DECEMBER 31, 2004
(In thousands)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Amortization
Compensation expense related to stock awards
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Increase in other assets
Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses

$

(5,899)
(330)
5,137
(1,567)
1,455

Net cash used in operating activities

(1,204)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase/origination of real estate loans
Purchase of CMBS

(29,865)
(167,082)

Net cash used in investing activities

(196,947)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of offering costs
Proceeds from borrowings

160,128
39,200

Net cash provided by financing activities

199,328

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

1,177
—

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

$

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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JER INVESTORS TRUST INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. ORGANIZATION
JER Investors Trust Inc., a Maryland corporation (the "Company"), was formed on April 19, 2004 for the purpose of acquiring and originating a
diversified portfolio of commercial real estate structured finance investments. References herein to "we", "us" or "our" refer to JER Investors Trust Inc. unless
the context specifically requires otherwise.
The Company intends to be taxed as a real estate investment trust ("REIT") for federal income tax purposes. As a REIT, the Company generally will
not be subject to federal income tax on that portion of income that is distributed to stockholders if at least 90% of its REIT taxable income is distributed to its
stockholders. Subject to certain restrictions and limitations, the business of the Company will be managed by JER Commercial Debt Advisors LLC (the
"Manager"). The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its taxable REIT subsidiary ("TRS"). There are no balances and
activities in the TRS.
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America ("GAAP"). In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management must make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
Income Taxes
The Company intends to elect to be taxed as a REIT and to comply with the related provisions of the Internal Revenue Code. Accordingly, the
Company generally will not be subject to federal income tax to the extent of its distributions to stockholders and as long as certain asset, income and stock
ownership tests are met. If the Company were to fail to meet these requirements, it would be subject to federal income tax which could have a material
adverse impact on its results of operations and amounts available for distributions to its stockholders.
Dividends to Stockholders
In order for corporate income tax not to apply to the earnings that the Company distributes, the Company must distribute to its stockholders an amount
at least equal to (i) 90% of its REIT taxable income (determined before the deduction for dividends paid and excluding any net capital gain), plus (ii) 90% of
the excess of its net income from foreclosure property (as defined in Section 856(e) of the Internal Revenue Code) over the tax imposed on such income by
the Internal Revenue Code, less (iii) any excess non-cash income (as determined under the Internal Revenue Code). The Company is subject to income tax on
income that is not distributed, and to an excise tax to the extent that certain percentages of its income are not distributed by specified dates. The actual amount
and timing of distributions is at the discretion of the Company's board of directors, and depends upon various factors. Dividends to stockholders are recorded
on the record date.
Earnings per Share
The Company calculates basic and diluted earnings per share in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 128
"Earnings per Share." Basic earnings per share ("EPS") is calculated
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JER INVESTORS TRUST INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
using income available to common stockholders divided by the weighted average of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is similar to
Basic EPS except that the weighted average of common shares outstanding is increased to include the number of additional common shares that would have
been outstanding if the dilutive potential common shares had been exercised. A total of 172,500 shares of common stock with contingent features have been
excluded from the calculation of earnings per share, because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.
Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Comprehensive income consists of net income and other comprehensive income. The Company's other comprehensive income is comprised primarily
of unrealized gains and losses on securities categorized as available-for-sale and from net deferred gains and losses on certain derivative instruments
accounted for as cash flow hedges.
Revenue Recognition
Interest income on loans and securities investments is recognized over the life of the investment using the effective interest method. Mortgage loans
will generally be originated or purchased at or near par value and interest income will be recognized based on the contractual terms of the debt instrument.
Any loan fees or acquisition costs on originated loans will be deferred and recognized over the term of the loan as an adjustment to yield. Interest income on
commercial mortgage-backed securities ("CMBS") is recognized on the effective interest method as required by Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") 99-20.
Under EITF 99-20 management estimates, at the time of purchase, the future expected cash flows and determines the effective interest rate based on
these estimated cash flows and the Company's purchase prices. On a quarterly basis, these estimated cash flows are updated and a revised yield is calculated
based on the current amortized cost of the investment. In estimating these cash flows, there are a number of assumptions that are subject to uncertainties and
contingencies. These include the rate and timing of principal payments (including prepayments, repurchases, defaults and liquidations), the pass through or
coupon rate, and interest rate fluctuations. In addition, interest payment shortfalls due to delinquencies on the underlying mortgage loans, and the timing of
and magnitude of credit losses on the mortgage loans underlying the securities have to be judgmentally estimated. These uncertainties and contingencies are
difficult to predict and are subject to future events which may impact management's estimates and the Company's interest income.
When current period cash flow estimates are lower than the previous period, and fair value is less than an asset's carrying value, the Company will write
down the asset to fair market value and record the impairment charge in current period earnings. After taking into account the effect of the impairment charge,
income is recognized using the market yield for the security used in establishing the write-down.
Loan Loss Provisions
The Company purchases and originates commercial mortgage and mezzanine loans to be held as long-term investments. The loans are evaluated for
possible impairment on a quarterly basis. Impairment occurs when it is deemed probable that the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due
according to the contractual terms of the loan. Upon determination of impairment, the Company will establish a reserve for loan losses and a corresponding
charge to earnings through the provision for loan losses. Significant judgments are required in determining impairment, which includes making assumptions
regarding the value of the loan and the value of the real estate or partnership interests that secure the loan.
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JER INVESTORS TRUST INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
Derivative Activities
The Company accounts for derivative and hedging activities using SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities," as
amended, which requires all derivative instruments to be carried at fair value on the balance sheet.
The Company formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management objective and
strategy for undertaking each hedge transaction. Derivative instruments designated in a hedge relationship to mitigate exposure to variability in expected
future cash flows, or other types of forecasted transactions, are considered cash flow hedges. The Company currently has two swaps designated as cash flow
hedges, as further described in Footnote 7. Cash flow hedges are accounted for by recording the fair value of the derivative instrument on the balance sheet as
either an asset or liability. To the extent hedges are effective, a corresponding amount is recorded in other comprehensive income within stockholders' equity.
Amounts are then reclassified from other comprehensive income to the income statement in the period or periods the hedged forecasted transaction affects
earnings. Ineffectiveness, if any, is recorded in the income statement. The Company periodically reviews the effectiveness of each hedging transaction, which
involves estimating future cash flows, at least quarterly as required by the standard. Derivative instruments designated in a hedge relationship to mitigate
exposure to changes in the fair value of an asset, liability, or firm commitment attributable to a particular risk, such as interest rate risk, will be considered fair
value hedges under SFAS 133. The Company currently has no fair value hedges outstanding.
Stock-Based Compensation
The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with SFAS No. 123, as amended, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,"
which established accounting and disclosure requirements using a fair-value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation plans.
Compensation expense related to grants of stock, stock options and other equity instruments is recognized over the vesting period of such grants based on the
estimated fair value on the grant date.
Securities Valuation
The Company accounts for CMBS in accordance with SFAS No. 115, "Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities." The
Company classifies its CMBS investments as available-for-sale because the Company may dispose of them prior to maturity in response to changes in the
market, liquidity needs or other events even though it does not hold the securities for the purpose of selling them in the near term.
Many of these investments are relatively illiquid and management must estimate their values. In making these estimates, management also uses pricing
information from dealers who make markets in these securities, but under certain circumstances the Company may adjust these valuations based on its
knowledge of the securities and the underlying collateral. Management also uses a discounted cash flow model which utilizes prepayment and loss
assumptions based upon historical experience, economic factors and the characteristics of the underlying cash flow in order to substantiate the fair value of the
securities. The assumed discount rate is based upon the yield of comparable securities. The determination of future cash flows and the appropriate discount
rate is inherently subjective and actual results may vary from management's estimates. Management also uses pricing information from dealers who make
markets in these securities, but under certain circumstances the Company may adjust these valuations based on its knowledge of the securities and the
underlying collateral.
Any unrealized gains and losses on securities available-for-sale which are determined to be temporary do not affect the Company's reported income or
cash flows, but are reported as a component of accumulated other
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JER INVESTORS TRUST INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders' equity and, accordingly, affect book value per share. The Company must also assess whether unrealized losses
on securities indicate impairment, which would result in writing down the security to its fair value, through earnings. This will create a new carrying basis for
the security and a revised yield will be calculated based on the future estimated cash flows as described above under Revenue Recognition.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash, time deposits, money market funds, and commercial paper with an original maturity of 90 days or less when
purchased. Carrying value approximates fair value due to the short-term maturity of the investments.
Variable Interest Entities
In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued a revised version of FASB Interpretation No. 46, "Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities" ("FIN 46R"). FIN 46R addresses the application of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, "Consolidated Financial Statements," to
certain entities in which voting rights are not effective in identifying an investor with a controlling financial interest. An entity is subject to consolidation
under FIN 46R if the investors either do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial
support, are unable to direct the entity's activities, or are not exposed to the entity's losses or entitled to its residual returns ("variable interest entities" or
"VIEs"). Variable interest entities within the scope of FIN 46R are required to be consolidated by their primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary of a
variable interest entity is determined to be the party that absorbs a majority of the entity's expected losses, its expected returns, or both.
The Company's ownership of the subordinated classes of CMBS from a single issuer gives it the right to control the foreclosure/workout process on the
underlying loans ("Controlling Class CMBS"). FIN 46R has certain scope exceptions, one of which provides that an enterprise that holds a variable interest in
a qualifying special-purpose entity ("QSPE") does not consolidate that entity unless that enterprise has the unilateral ability to cause the entity to liquidate.
SFAS No. 140, "Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities" provides the requirements for an entity to be
considered a QSPE. To maintain the QSPE exception, the trust must continue to meet the QSPE criteria both initially and in subsequent periods. A trust's
QSPE status can be impacted in future periods by activities by its transferor(s) or other involved parties, including the manner in which certain servicing
activities are performed. To the extent its CMBS investments were issued by a trust that meets the requirements to be considered a QSPE, the Company
records the investments at the purchase price paid. To the extent the underlying trusts are not QSPEs the Company follows the guidance set forth in FIN 46R
as the trusts would be considered VIEs.
The Company has analyzed the governing pooling and servicing agreements for each of its Controlling Class CMBS and believes that the terms are
industry standard and are consistent with the QSPE criteria. However, given uncertainty with respect to QSPE treatment due to ongoing review by accounting
standard setters (including the FASB's project to amend SFAS 140), potential actions by various parties involved with the QSPE, as discussed above, as well
as varying and evolving interpretations of the QSPE criteria under SFAS 140, the Company has also analyzed the investments as if the trusts are not
qualifying. Using the fair value approach to compute expected losses and expected residual returns, the Company has concluded that it would not be the
primary beneficiary of any of the underlying trusts.
The financing structures that the Company offers to its borrowers on certain of its loans involve the creation of entities that could be deemed VIEs and,
therefore, could be subject to FIN 46R. Management has evaluated these entities and has concluded that they are either not VIEs subject to consolidation
under FIN 46R, or if they are VIEs, the Company is not the primary beneficiary.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
3. CMBS
The Company's CMBS investments are carried at estimated fair value. In estimating fair value, management uses available pricing information from
dealers who make markets in these securities, but under certain circumstances the Company may adjust these valuations based on its knowledge of the
securities and the underlying collateral. Additionally, for certain of the Company's CMBS, fair values are not readily available since the instruments are
relatively illiquid. Accordingly, fair values are estimated for these instruments using various valuation techniques such as computing the present value of
estimated future cash flows using discount rates commensurate with the risks involved. However, the determination of future cash flows and the appropriate
discount rate is inherently subjective and imprecise.
The following is a summary of the Company's CMBS as of December 31, 2004:
(In thousands)
Gross Unrealized
Amortized
Cost

Gains

Weighted Average

Losses

Estimated Fair
Value

Security Description

BBB
BB
B
Not Rated
Total CMBS

Coupon

Yield

Term (yrs)

$

66,848 $
40,891
37,990
21,684

— $
—
446
1,246

(622) $
(596)
(586)
(231)

66,226
40,295
37,850
22,699

5.34%
4.61%
5.10%
5.03%

5.53%
7.39%
10.54%
14.67%

10.16
12.01
14.27
11.06

$

167,413 $

1,692 $

(2,035) $

167,070

5.07%

8.30%

11.66

As of December 31, 2004, the mortgage loans in the underlying collateral pools for all CMBS was secured by properties of the types and at the
locations identified below:
% (1)

% (1)

Location

New York
California
Florida
Texas
Michigan
Other (2)
Re-Remic (3)
Total

(1)
(2)
(3)

Property Type

12.4%
11.8%
10.6%
10.4%
4.0%
39.7%
11.1%
100.0%

Retail
Office
Residential
Hospitality
Industrial
Other (2)
Re-Remic (3)
Total

26.8%
23.2%
22.4%
5.7%
3.2%
7.6%
11.1%
100.0%

Percentages are based on the unpaid principal balance of the underlying loans.
No other individual state or property type comprises more than 3.0% of the total.
The Company's investment in a Re-REMIC backed by CMBS from 41 previous conduit securitizations is not included in the above categories due to
the stratification information on the original loan collateral not being meaningful.

The non-investment grade and unrated tranches of the CMBS owned by the Company provide credit support to the more senior classes of the related
commercial securitizations. Cash flow from the underlying mortgages generally is allocated first to the senior tranches, with the most senior tranches having a
priority right to the cash flow. Any remaining cash flow is allocated, generally, among the other tranches in order of their relative seniority. To the extent
there are defaults and unrecoverable losses on the underlying mortgages resulting in reduced cash flows, the remaining CMBS classes will bear such losses in
order of their relative subordination.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
The table below details the purchase date, face amount of the Company's CMBS and the face amount of the respective issuance as of December 31,
2004:
Total Face
amount of
CMBS
issuance

Face
amount
purchased

Investment Date
CMBS Trust

(in thousands)

MACH One 2004-1
CSFB 1998-C1
CSFB 2004-C4
MLMT 2004-BPC1
JPMCC 2004-C3

July 2004
August 2004
November 2004
November 2004
December 2004

Total

$

50,637
12,500
52,976
76,986
81,561

$

643,261
2,482,942
1,138,077
1,242,650
1,517,410

$

274,660

$

7,024,340

4. REAL ESTATE LOANS
In November 2004, the Company originated a $14.9 million mezzanine tranche of an $89.9 million floating rate loan used to finance the recapitalization
of a portfolio of multifamily properties in Houston, Texas. The loan has an initial maturity of July 2006, bearing interest based on one month LIBOR plus 7%
subject to a 2% floor and provided for a 1% origination fee.
In December 2004, the Company acquired a $15 million participation in a $53.5 million senior mezzanine loan on a portfolio comprised of multifamily
properties with concentrations in Texas, Virginia, South Carolina and Georgia. The loan has an initial term of 2 years and bears interest at one month LIBOR
plus 8%.
5. REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS
In December 2004, the Company entered into a CMBS repurchase agreement with Banc of America Securities LLC to finance certain of its CMBS
securities. Securities with a fair value of $53.3 million are pledged under the repurchase agreement. As of December 31, 2004, $39.2 million was outstanding
under the agreement at a weighted average borrowing rate of 2.78%. The agreement provides for up to $50.0 million in financing and matures on March 31,
2005. The Company is in the process of finalizing a two year term facility and a nine month warehouse facility with the lender.
The Company entered into a second CMBS repurchase agreement in December 2004 which would provide financing of up to $100 million based on
one month LIBOR plus a margin, tiered according to the security's credit rating. The agreement has a term of 364 days. There were no amounts outstanding as
of December 31, 2004.
Under both agreements, the financial institutions retain the right to mark the underlying collateral to estimated market values. A reduction in the value
of its pledged assets may require the Company to provide additional collateral or fund margin calls so that the outstanding loan amount will be less than or
equal to the allowable amount.
6. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Estimated fair values of the Company's financial instruments are presented in accordance with SFAS No. 107, "Disclosures about Fair Value of
Financial Instruments", which defines fair value as the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing
parties, in other than a forced
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
sale or liquidation. The following table presents the carrying value and estimated fair value of financial instruments as of December 31, 2004:
Carrying
Value

Estimated
Fair Value

(in thousands)

ASSETS:
CMBS
Real estate loans
LIABILITIES:
Repurchase agreements
Interest rate swap agreements

$
$

167,070
29,865

$
$

167,070
29,865

$
$

39,200
234

$
$

39,200
234

The fair values of the Company's CMBS and interest rate swap agreements are based on market prices provided by certain dealers who make markets in
these financial instruments as further described in Footnotes 3 and 7, respectively. The fair values reported reflect estimates and may not necessarily be
indicative of the amounts the Company could realize in a current market exchange. Real estate loans and repurchase agreements are floating rate instruments,
and based on these terms their carrying value approximates fair value.
7. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
In December 2004, the Company entered into two forward-starting interest rate swaps to mitigate the risk of changes in the interest-related cash
outflows on a forecasted issuance of long-term debt. These swaps are designated as cash flow hedges for GAAP and are expected to be effective in hedging
the risk of changes in 10 years of interest cash outflows attributable to changes in the 10-year USD-LIBOR swap rate over the term of the hedging
relationship. Under these swaps, the Company agreed to pay the counterparties a weighted average fixed interest rate of 4.65% per annum in exchange for
floating payments on the total notional amount of $100 million. The monthly interest payments are forecasted to begin between May 15, 2005 and November
15, 2005.
As of December 31, 2004, the Company's swaps were determined to be highly effective. The decrease in fair value related to these swaps of $0.2
million is therefore reflected in other comprehensive income (loss). Once the debt on which interest payments are being hedged prices, the amounts deferred
in other comprehensive income related to the swaps will be reclassified to the income statement at the same time that the hedged interest payments affect
earnings. In 2005, the Company estimates that approximately $14,000 will be reclassified from other comprehensive income to earnings in connection with
the swaps. There was no ineffectiveness for the period ended December 31, 2004.
The Company's derivative financial instruments contain credit risk to the extent that its bank counterparties may be unable to meet the terms of the
agreement. The Company minimizes such risk by limiting its counterparties to major financial institutions with good credit ratings. Additionally, the potential
risk of loss with any one party resulting from this type of credit risk is monitored.
8. DIFFERENCES BETWEEN FINANCIAL STATEMENT NET INCOME AND TAXABLE INCOME
The differences between GAAP net income and taxable income are generally attributable to differing treatment, including timing related thereto, of
unrealized/realized gains and losses associated with certain assets; the bases, income, impairment, and/or credit loss recognition related to certain assets,
primarily CMBS, accounting for derivative instruments and amortization of various costs. The distinction between GAAP net
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income and taxable income is important to the Company's stockholders because dividends or distributions, if any, are declared and paid on the basis of taxable
income or loss. The Company does not pay Federal income taxes on income that it distributes on a current basis, provided that it satisfies the requirements for
qualification as a REIT pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code. The Company calculates its taxable income or loss as if it were a regular domestic corporation.
This taxable income or loss level determines the amount of dividends, if any, the Company is required to distribute over time in order to reduce or eliminate
its tax liability pursuant to REIT requirements.
The net difference between the tax and GAAP bases of the underlying CMBS assets is approximately $1.0 million at December 31, 2004 due to
differing tax treatment of original issue discount and due diligence related to the acquisition of the assets.
9. COMMON STOCK
In June 2004, the Company sold 11.5 million shares of its common stock through transactions which were exempt from the registration requirements of
the Securities Act of 1933 pursuant to Rule 144A, Regulation S and Regulation D (the "144A Offering"). Gross proceeds were $172.1 million. Net proceeds,
after deducting the initial purchaser's discount and other offering expenses were $160.1 million. The Company issued 345,000 shares to its Manager and
independent directors pursuant to its Nonqualified Option and Incentive Award Plan as further described in Footnote 11. As of December 31, 2004, the
Company has a total of 11,845,010 common shares outstanding.
10. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Company entered into a management agreement (the "Management Agreement") with the Manager in June 2004 for an initial term of two years.
After the initial term, the Management Agreement will automatically be renewed each year for an additional one-year period unless the Company or the
Manager terminates the agreement. Pursuant to the Management Agreement and subject to the supervision and direction of the Company's Board of Directors,
the Manager performs services for the Company including the purchase, sale and management of real estate and other real estate-related assets, the day-to-day
management of the Company and the performance of certain administrative duties. For performing these services, the Company pays the Manager a monthly
base management fee in arrears equal to 1/12 of the sum of (i) 2.0% of the first $400 million of the Company's equity and (ii) 1.5% of equity in an amount in
excess of $400 million and up to $800 million and (iii) 1.25% of equity in excess of $800 million. For purposes of calculating the base management fee, the
Company's equity equals the month-end value, computed in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, of the Company's stockholders' equity,
adjusted to exclude the effect of any unrealized gains, losses or other items that do not affect realized net income.
In addition, the Manager is entitled to receive a quarterly incentive fee in an amount, not less than zero, equal to the product of (i) 25% of the dollar
amount by which (a) Funds From Operations of the Company for such quarter per share of Common Stock (based on the weighted average number of shares
outstanding for such quarter) exceeds (b) an amount equal to (A) the weighted average of the price per share of Common Stock in the 144A Offering, and the
prices per share of Common Stock in any subsequent offerings by the Company multiplied by (B) the greater of (1) 2.25% and (2) .875% plus one fourth of
the ten-year U.S. treasury rate for such quarter, multiplied by (ii) the weighted average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding such during quarter.
"Funds From Operations" is net income (computed in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles) excluding gains or losses from debt
restructuring and sales of property, plus depreciation and amortization on real estate assets, and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint
ventures.
During the period from inception through December 31, 2004, the Company incurred $1.9 million in base management fees in accordance with the
terms of the Management Agreement. At December 31, 2004, $0.3
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million related to management fees were unpaid and included in due to affiliate in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. No incentive fees
were due to the Manager during the period from inception through December 31, 2004.
The Management Agreement provides that the Company is allowed to reimburse the Manager for certain expenses incurred by the Manager on the
Company's behalf. If services are provided by the Manager, the reimbursement for such services will be no greater than what management believes would be
paid to outside professionals, consultants or other third parties on an arm's length basis. In accordance with the provisions of the Management Agreement, the
Company recorded reimbursements to the Manager of $0.3 million for certain expenses incurred on behalf of the Company for the period from inception
through December 31, 2004, which are included in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. In addition,
the Company reimbursed the Manager for costs in the amount of $0.1 million related to the 144A Offering. At December 31, 2004, $0.2 million of expenses
to be reimbursed was unpaid and included in due to affiliate in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
11. STOCK OPTION AND INCENTIVE AWARD PLAN
The Company adopted the Nonqualified Stock Option and Incentive Award Plan, (the "Plan"), which provides for awards under the Plan in the form of
stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, other equity-based incentive awards and cash. Officers, directors and employees of the Company and
of the Manager are eligible to receive awards under the Plan. The Plan has a term of ten years and limits the awards to a maximum of 1,150,000 shares of
Common Stock, unless the Plan is amended.
In accordance with the Plan, a total of 345,000 shares of Common Stock have been issued to the Manager and the independent directors. As
consideration for the Manager's role in raising capital for the Company, the Manager was granted an award of 335,000 shares of stock upon the closing of the
144A Offering. Additionally, each independent director was granted 2,000 shares of restricted stock upon the date of the first Board meeting attended by the
independent director. As discussed below under "Registration Rights Agreement", one-half of the shares granted to the Manager are subject to a risk of
forfeiture. One-half of the shares granted to the independent directors are also subject to a risk of forfeiture for one year from the date of the grant if the
independent director no longer serves as a member of the Board of Directors of the Company. Compensation expense in the amount of $5.1 million, equal to
the fair value of the stock, was recorded related to the incentive award and restricted stock grants at December 31, 2004. Stock compensation expense was
shown separately from general and administrative expense in the Company's statement of operations due to its significance.
12. REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT
At the time of the 144A Offering, the Company entered into a Registration Rights Agreement that requires, among other things, that it file with the SEC
no later than nine months following the closing of the 144A Offering either a registration statement providing for the initial public offering of the Company's
Common Stock or a shelf registration statement providing for the resale of shares of the Company's Common Stock. The Company is also required to use its
commercially reasonable efforts to cause the registration statement to become effective as promptly as practicable after the filing and to become listed on the
Nasdaq National Market or the New York Stock Exchange if the Company meets the criteria for listing.
To the extent that the Company does not meet the requirements of the Registration Rights Agreement, one-half of the shares granted to the Manager as
discussed under the Stock Option and Incentive Award Plan above are subject to forfeiture unless the Company has endeavored in good faith to file and was
unable to file due to circumstances that were outside of its control. Additionally, payment of the incentive fee to the Manager is suspended until the Company
is in compliance with the registration obligations discussed above, at which time all suspended amounts are due and payable.
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13. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
During the period from January 1, 2005 through March 21, 2005 the Company acquired a $33.8 million loan participation, a $11.5 million mezzanine
loan and funded $5.4 million toward a mezzanine investment program. One-half of the loan participation was subsequently sold to an unaffiliated third party.
The Company also committed to invest a total of approximately $196.5 million: $136.0 million in the bonds rated BBB- and below in three CMBS conduit
issuances, $23 million in one mezzanine loan and an additional $32.1 million in the mezzanine investment program. These investments will be funded through
a combination of existing debt facilities and longer term facilities which are currently being finalized.
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SCHEDULE IV
JER INVESTORS TRUST INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
MORTGAGE LOANS ON REAL ESTATE
December 31, 2004
(In thousands)

Loan Type/
Property Type
MEZZANINE LOANS:
Multi-family-TX
Milti-family-TX,VA,SC,GA

Interest
Rate

Libor + 700
Libor + 800

Maturity
Date

2006
2006

Periodic
Payment Terms

Interest Only
Interest Only

Prior
Liens

75,000
822,500
$ 897,500 $
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Principal Amount
of Loans

Carrying Amount
of Loans

14,865
15,000

14,864
15,000

29,865 $

29,865

Principal Amount of
Loss Subject to Delinquent
Principal or Interest

—
—
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Until
, 2005, (25 days after the commencement of this offering), all dealers that effect transactions in these securities, whether or not participating
in this offering, may be required to deliver a prospectus. This delivery is in addition to the dealer's obligation to deliver a prospectus when acting as an
underwriter and with respect to their unsold allotments or subscriptions.
You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus or to which we have referred you. We have not authorized anyone to provide
you with information that is different. This prospectus may only be used where it is legal to sell these securities. The information in this prospectus
may only be accurate on the date of this prospectus.

Shares of Common Stock
PROSPECTUS
FRIEDMAN BILLINGS RAMSEY

BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES LLC
, 2005

Table of Contents

PART II
INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS
Item 31.

Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution.

The following table sets forth the costs and expenses expected to be incurred in connection with the sale and distribution of the securities being
registered, all of which are being borne by the registrant. All amounts except the SEC registration fee and the NASD fee are estimates.
Securities and Exchange Commission registration fee
NASD fee
Printing and engraving expenses
Transfer Agent Fees
Legal fees and expenses
Accounting fees and expenses
Miscellaneous

$27,071
23,500
*
*
*
*
*

Total

*

* To be filed by amendment.
Item 32.

Sales to Special Parties

N/A
Item 33.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

On April 21, 2004, in connection with the incorporation of JER Investors Trust Inc. (the "Company"), the Company issued 10 shares of common stock,
$0.01 par value per share (the "Common Stock") to Joseph E. Robert, Jr. for $100. Such issuance was exempt from the registration requirements of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act") pursuant to Section 4(2) thereof.
On June 4, 2004, the Company sold 6,083,361 shares of Common Stock for an aggregate price of $84,862,885.95 to Friedman, Billings, Ramsey & Co.,
Inc. ("FBR"), as initial purchaser, in reliance on Section 4(2) of the Securities Act. FBR then sold such shares of Common Stock to Qualified Institutional
Buyers (as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act) in reliance on the exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act provided by
Rule 144A under the Securities Act. The offering price per share of Common Stock was $15.00.
On June 4, 2004, the Company sold 1,271,600 shares of Common Stock for an aggregate price of $17,738,820 to FBR, as initial purchaser, in reliance
on Section 4(2) of the Securities Act. FBR then sold such shares of Common Stock to investors outside the United States pursuant to Regulation S under the
Securities Act. The offering price per share of Common Stock was $15.00.
On June 4, 2004, the Company sold 2,645,039 shares of Common Stock to a limited number of "accredited investors" (as defined in Rule 501 under the
Securities Act) in reliance on the exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act provided by Rule 506 of Regulation D under the
Securities Act. The offering price per share of Common Stock was $15.00. FBR acted as the placement agent for the Common Stock sold pursuant to Rule
506 and received $2,014,291.65 in placement agent fees from the Company.
The aggregate proceeds to the Company before expenses from the offerings described in the three preceding paragraphs and the aggregate initial
purchaser discount/placement agent fee were $140.3 million and $9.3 million, respectively.
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On June 16, 2004 the Company sold 1,500,000 shares of its Common Stock to a limited number of "accredited investors" (as defined in Rule 501 under
the Securities Act) in reliance on the exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act provided by Rule 506 of Regulation D under the
Securities Act. The offering price per share of Common Stock was $15.00. FBR acted as placement agent for the Common Stock and received $1,575,000 in
placement agent fees from the Company. The aggregate proceeds to the Company before expenses from such offering and the aggregate placement agent's
discount were $20.9 million and $1.6 million, respectively.
On June 4, 2004, the Company granted a total of 335,000 restricted shares of Common Stock to JER Commercial Debt Advisors LLC, as manager of
the Company, pursuant to the Nonqualified Stock Option and Incentive Award Plan of the Company (the "Incentive Plan"). On June 4, 2004, the Company
granted 2,000 restricted shares of Common Stock to each of Daniel J. Altobello, Peter D. Linneman and W. Russell Ramsey, the independent directors of the
Company, pursuant to the Incentive Plan. On July 20, 2004, the Company granted 2,000 restricted shares of Common Stock to each of Frank Caufield and
James Kimsey when they joined the board of directors of the Company as independent directors pursuant to the Incentive Plan. Such grants were exempt from
the registration requirements of the Securities Act pursuant to Section 4(2) thereof. For a more detailed description of the Incentive Plan, see "Management—
Incentive Plan" in this Registration Statement.
Item 34.

Indemnification of Directors and Officers.

Maryland law permits a Maryland corporation to include in its charter a provision limiting the liability of its directors and officers to the corporation
and its stockholders for money damages except for liability resulting from (a) actual receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money, property or services or
(b) active and deliberate dishonesty established by a final judgment and which is material to the cause of action. The Company's charter contains such a
provision which eliminates directors' and officers' liability to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law.
The charter authorizes the Company, to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law, to obligate itself to indemnify any present or former director
or officer or any individual who, while a director or officer of the Company and at the request of the Company, serves or has served another corporation, real
estate investment trust, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise as a director, officer, partner or trustee, from and against any
claim or liability to which that person may become subject or which that person may incur by reason of his or her status in any of the foregoing capacities and
to pay or reimburse their reasonable expenses in advance of final disposition of a proceeding. The by-laws obligate the Company, to the maximum extent
permitted by Maryland law, to indemnify any present or former director or officer or any individual who, while a director of the Company and at the request
of the Company, serves or has served another corporation, real estate investment trust, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other
enterprise as a director, officer, partner or trustee and who is made a party to a proceeding by reason of his service in that capacity from and against any claim
or liability to which that person may become subject or which that person may incur by reason of his or her status in that capacity and to pay or reimburse
their reasonable expenses in advance of final disposition of the proceeding. The charter and by-laws also permit the Company to indemnify and advance
expenses to any person who served a predecessor of the Company in any of the capacities described above and to any employee or agent of the Company or a
predecessor of the Company.
Maryland law requires a corporation (unless its charter provides otherwise, which the Company's charter does not) to indemnify a director or officer
who has been successful in the defense of any proceeding to which he is made a party by reason of his service in that capacity. Maryland law permits a
corporation to indemnify its present and former directors and officers, among others, against judgments, penalties, fines, settlements and reasonable expenses
actually incurred by them in connection with any proceeding to which they may be made a party by reason of their service in those or other capacities unless it
is established that (a) the act or omission of the director or officer was material to the matter giving rise to the proceeding and (i) was committed in bad faith
or (ii) was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty, (b) the director or officer actually received an improper
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personal benefit in money, property or services or (c) in the case of any criminal proceeding, the director or officer had reasonable cause to believe that the act
or omission was unlawful. However, under Maryland law, a Maryland corporation may not indemnify for an adverse judgment in a suit by or in the right of
the corporation or for a judgment of liability on the basis that personal benefit was improperly received, unless in either case a court orders indemnification
and then only for expenses. In addition, Maryland law permits a corporation to advance reasonable expenses to a director or officer upon the corporation's
receipt of (a) a written affirmation by the director or officer of his good faith belief that he has met the standard of conduct necessary for indemnification by
the corporation and (b) a written undertaking by him or on his behalf to repay the amount paid or reimbursed by the corporation if it is ultimately determined
that the standard of conduct was not met.
Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers or persons controlling the
registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, the registrant has been informed that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such
indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is therefore unenforceable.
The Company has also agreed to indemnify its directors and executive officers to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law, and pay such
persons' expenses in defending any civil or criminal proceeding in advance of final disposition of such proceeding.
Item 35.

Treatment of Proceeds From Stock Being Registered.

N/A
Item 36.

Financial Statements and Exhibits.

(a)

See page F-1 for an index of the financial statements that are being filed as part of this Registration Statement:

(b)

The following is a list of exhibits filed as part of this Registration Statement:

Exhibit
Number
Description

1.1
3.1
3.2
4.1
4.2
5.1
8.1
10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4

Form of Underwriting Agreement.*
Articles of Incorporation of the Registrant.†
By-laws of the Registrant.†
Form of Certificate for Common Stock.†
Registration Rights Agreement, dated May 27, 2004, between Registrant and Friedman, Billings, Ramsey & Co., Inc.†
Opinion of DLA Piper Rudnick Gray Cary US LLP relating to the legality of the securities being registered.*
Opinion of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP regarding tax matters.*
Management Agreement, dated May 27, 2004, between Registrant and JER Commercial Debt Advisors LLC.†
Nonqualified Stock Option and Incentive Award Plan.†
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement.†
Services Agreement, dated June 4, 2004, by and among JER Investors Trust Inc., JER Commercial Debt Advisors LLC and J.E. Robert
Company, Inc.
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Exhibit
Number
Description

21.1
23.1
23.2
23.3
24.1

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.†
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.
Consent of DLA Piper Rudnick Gray Cary US LLP (contained in Exhibit 5.1).
Consent of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP (contained in Exhibit 8.1).
Powers of attorney.†

* To be filed by amendment.
† Previously filed.
Item 37.

Undertakings.

(a) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of
the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange
Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for
indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the
registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the
securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of
appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Act and will be governed by the final
adjudication of such issue.
(b) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to provide to the underwriters at the closing, as specified in the underwriting agreement, certificates in
such denomination and registered in such names as required by the underwriters to permit prompt delivery to each purchaser.
(c) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that:
(i) For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, the information omitted from the form of prospectus filed as part of
this registration statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained in a form of prospectus filed by the registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(1) or (4) or
497(h) under the Securities Act shall be deemed to be part of this registration statement as of the time it was declared effective.
(ii) for the purposes determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each post-effective amendment that contains a form of prospectus
shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered herein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be
deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of the
requirements for filing on Form S-11 and has duly caused this Amendment No. 3 to the registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized, in the County of Fairfax, Commonwealth of Virginia, on April 15, 2005.
JER INVESTORS TRUST INC.
By:
/S/ DANIEL T. WARD
Name: Daniel T. Ward
Title: Secretary
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this Amendment No. 3 to the registration statement has been signed by the following
persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Title

Signature

*

Date

Chairman of the Board

April 15, 2005

President and Chief Investment Officer (Principal executive officer)

April 15, 2005

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer (Principal financial officer and principal accounting officer)

April 15, 2005

Vice Chairman of the Board and Executive Vice President

April 15, 2005

Director

April 15, 2005

Director

April 15, 2005

Director

April 15, 2005

Director

April 15, 2005

Director

April 15, 2005

Joseph E. Robert, Jr.

*
Gene C. McQuown

*
Kari L. Doescher

*
Keith W. Belcher

*
Daniel J. Altobello

*
Peter D. Linneman

*
W. Russell Ramsey

*
Frank J. Caufield

*
James V. Kimsey

*By:

/S/

DANIEL T. WARD
As Attorney-in-Fact
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Form of Underwriting Agreement.*
Articles of Incorporation of the Registrant.†
By-laws of the Registrant.†
Form of Certificate for Common Stock.†
Registration Rights Agreement, dated May 27, 2004, between Registrant and Friedman, Billings, Ramsey & Co., Inc.†
Opinion of DLA Piper Rudnick Gray Cary US LLP relating to the legality of the securities being registered.*
Opinion of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP regarding tax matters.*
Management Agreement, dated May 27, 2004, between Registrant and JER Commercial Debt Advisors LLC.†
Nonqualified Stock Option and Incentive Award Plan.†
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement.†
Services Agreement, dated June 4, 2004, by and among JER Investors Trust Inc., JER Commercial Debt Advisors LLC and J.E. Robert
Company, Inc.
Subsidiaries of the Registrant.†
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.
Consent of DLA Piper Rudnick Gray Cary US LLP (contained in Exhibit 5.1).
Consent of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP (contained in Exhibit 8.1).
Powers of attorney.†

* To be filed by amendment.
† Previously filed.

EXHIBIT 10.4
SERVICES AGREEMENT, dated as of June 4, 2004 (the "Agreement"), by and among JER COMMERCIAL DEBT ADVISORS LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company (the "Manager"), JER Investors Trust Inc., a Maryland corporation (the "Company"), and J.E. ROBERT COMPANY, INC., a
Delaware corporation ("JER").
W I T N E S S E T H:
WHEREAS, the Manager has entered into a management agreement (as such agreement may be amended from time to time, the "Management
Agreement"), dated as of June 4, 2004, between the Company and the Manager; and
WHEREAS, JER desires to provide such services, including personnel, services and resources, to the Manager to enable the Manager to perform its
duties under the Management Agreement.
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which
are hereby acknowledged, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:
1.

Agreement to Provide Services. JER agrees to provide the Manager with such personnel, services and resources to enable the Manager to carry
out its obligations and responsibilities under the Management Agreement.

2.

Term. This Agreement will terminate upon the termination of the Management Agreement.

3.

Assignments. This Agreement may not be assigned by any party hereto, in whole or in part, and shall terminate automatically in the event of any
such assignment, unless such assignment is consented to in writing by the other party; provided, however, that JER may delegate to one or more
of its Affiliates performance of any of its responsibilities hereunder so long as it remains liable for any such Affiliate's performance.

4.

Governing Law. This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties under this Agreement shall be governed by, and construed and
interpreted in accordance with, the law of the state of New York.

5.

Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed by the parties to this Agreement on any number of separate counterparts (including by
telecopy), and all of said counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument.

6.

Severability. Any provision of this Agreement which is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be
ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof, and any such prohibition or
unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction.

7.

Binding Nature of Agreement; Successors and Assigns.This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and
their respective heirs, personal representatives, successors and permitted assigns as provided in this Agreement.

8.

Amendments. This Agreement may not be modified or amended other than by an agreement in writing signed by the parties hereto.
[rest of page intentionally left blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.
JER COMMERCIAL DEBT ADVISORS LLC
By:
/s/ Daniel T. Ward
Name: Daniel T. Ward
Title: Senior Managing Director
J.E. ROBERT COMPANY, INC.
By:
/s/ Daniel T. Ward
Name: Daniel T. Ward
Title: Senior Managing Director
JER INVESTORS TRUST INC.
By:
TAE-SIK YOON
Name: Tae-Sik Yoon
Title: Executive Vice President
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Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the reference to our firm under the caption "Experts" and to the use of our report dated March 21, 2005, in Amendment No. 3 to the
Registration Statement (Form S-11 No. 333-122802) and related Prospectus of JER Investors Trust Inc. dated April 15, 2005.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
McLean, Virginia
April 11, 2005

April 15, 2005
VIA HAND DELIVERY AND EDGAR
Peggy Kim, Esq.
Division of Corporation Finance
Securities and Exchange Commission
Judiciary Plaza
450 Fifth Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20549
Re:

JER Investors Trust Inc.
Amendment No. 3 to Form S-11
Registration No. 333-122802

Dear Ms. Kim:
On behalf of JER Investors Trust Inc. (the "Company"), a Maryland corporation, we hereby electronically transmit, pursuant to Regulation S-T
promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission"), Amendment No. 3 to the Registration Statement on Form S-11 (Registration
No. 333-122802) (as amended, the "Registration Statement"), initially filed with the Commission on February 14, 2005 and amended on February 15, 2005
and March 24, 2005, relating to the initial public offering of shares of common stock, par value $.01 per share (the "Common Stock"), by the Company and
the sale by certain stockholders of the Company of shares of Common Stock. In addition, we are responding, on behalf of the Company, to the comments of
the staff of the Commission (the "Staff") set forth in your letter dated April 7, 2005 (the "Comment Letter").
Each of the numbered comments below relates to the corresponding numbered comment in the Comment Letter and is immediately followed by the
response to such comment. All references to page numbers are to the pages in Amendment No. 3 to the Registration Statement, as filed with the Commission
on the date hereof.
General
1.

We note your response to prior comment 2; however, we reissue our previous comment. Please identify the person who founded and organized
JER Investors Trust.
The disclosure in the first sentence on pages 1 and 50 of the prospectus has been revised in response to the Staff's comment to indicate that the
Company was organized by J.E. Robert Company, Inc. We also refer the Staff to our prior response to this comment and clarify that no individual
natural person or persons founded or organized the Company or contributed anything of value to, or received anything of value from, the Company in
connection with the Company's formation.

Peggy Kim, Esq.
Division of Corporation Finance
Securities and Exchange Commission
Page 2
2.

We are continuing to review your response to prior comment 3. We may have further comment.
We note the Staff's comment.

Prospectus Summary, page 1
3.

We note your response to prior comment 11; however, we reissue our previous comment. Please include Mr. J.E. Roberts, JER Commercial
Debt Advisors, J.E. Roberts Company, and any other affiliated companies in your organizational chart. Please also include ownership
percentages.
We have added a structure chart on page 7 of the prospectus in response to the Staff's comment. We note that the ownership structure of the
manager may change and any change will be reflected in a subsequent filing.
Our Manager, page 4

4.

Please disclose in this section that J.E. Robert Company is wholly-owned by Mr. Robert and that the manager is wholly-owned by Mr. Robert
and J.E. Robert Company.
We have added disclosure on pages 4 and 67 of the prospectus in response to the Staff's comment.
Targeted Investments, page 4

5.

We note your response to comment 14. However, we were unable to access the referenced information on the website you provided. Please
supplementally provide us with copies of the demographic and other market data referenced in the prospectus, identify where it was used in
the prospectus, and confirm that it is available to the general public.
We have supplementally provided the Staff with copies of the data referenced in the paragraph entitled "CMBS" on page 4 and the fourth
paragraph on page 53 of the prospectus. We also confirm that such data is available to the public generally at the following web address: http://
www.cmalert.com/Public/MarketPlace/MarketStatistics/index.cfm.
Conflicts of Interest, page 5

6.

Please disclose that the Chairman of your Board of Directors indirectly wholly-owns your manager.

Peggy Kim, Esq.
Division of Corporation Finance
Securities and Exchange Commission
Page 3
We have added disclosure on pages 6 and 11 of the prospectus in response to the Staff's comment. We note that the ownership structure of the
manager may change and any change will be reflected in a subsequent filing.
Risk Factors, page 10
7.

We note your response to comment 26. We also note your disclosure regarding the risk created by the impact of increased FFO on the
calculation of the incentive fee. However, it appears to us that the incentive fee may also be increased by a decrease in the weighted average
price per share of your common stock offerings. Please supplementally advise us whether a decrease in your stock price, and subsequent stock
offerings at the reduced price would, assuming FFO is unchanged, increase the incentive fee. In addition, please supplementally advise us
whether you believe the company can downwardly pressure its stock price without impacting its FFO, including, for example, by increasing its
dividend and FFO payout ratio. If so, please disclose this potential conflict of interest between the manager and your stockholders.
The calculation of the incentive fee is based on the "weighted average offering price" of the outstanding shares of common stock of the
Company. Therefore, even if the market price of the already issued and outstanding shares decreases below the offering price, incentive fee does not
change.
Assuming that the dollar amount of FFO is unchanged and the same dollar amount of capital is raised, subsequent offerings of Common Stock at
a reduced price per share will not increase the incentive fee. Incentive fee is calculated based on FFO per share. Therefore, if the dollar amount of FFO
does not change, FFO per share will be reduced since the number of shares offered will have increased (i.e., to raise the same dollar amount of capital at
a reduced share price, more shares will have to be issued). The result is no change in the dollar amount of the incentive fee. Please see the examples
attached hereto as Annex A.
There are numerous things that the Company could theoretically do to put downward pressure on its stock price without affecting the dollar
amount of FFO. However, as written above, there is no economic objective in putting downward pressure on stock price in an effort to increase
incentive fee.

8.

We note your response to prior comment 28; however, we reissue our previous comment. FBR is a principal stockholder of JER and appears
to be the sole initial purchaser and placement agent for the private placement. Further, it appears that the stockholders who received shares
from FBR in that private placement will now be selling their shares in this public offering. In addition, it appears that FBR may still be
affiliated with the company, notwithstanding the fact that the two board members of JER sit on the board

Peggy Kim, Esq.
Division of Corporation Finance
Securities and Exchange Commission
Page 4
of the parent company of FBR, rather than FBR itself. If you do not believe that there is an actual conflict, then please revise to describe the
risk of the potential conflict of interest.
We note the Staff's comment. We advise the Staff that the Company and the underwriters continue to believe that FBR's ownership of the
Company's common stock does not present a risk to the Company that would be appropriate for the "Risk Factors" section of the prospectus. FBR has
again advised the Company and the other underwriters that it is aware of its responsibilities and liability under Sections 11 and 12 of the Securities Act.
The Company and the underwriters believe that the underwriters are conducting a thorough due diligence investigation commensurate with that for any
similar public offering. The Company and the underwriters also note that the rules of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. presume
affiliation and conflict of interest where an NASD member beneficially owns in excess of 10% of the issuer's stock. FBR's parent beneficially owns
only 7.7% of the Company's stock prior to completion of the offering. The Company notes that Messrs. Altobello and Ramsey are independent directors
of the Company and neither is an officer of the Company or its affiliates or of FBR or its affiliates. As previously noted to the Staff in response to the
Staff's prior comment, Messrs. Altobello and Ramsey were chosen by the Company as directors independently with no input from FBR. The Company
adds that Messrs. Altobello and Ramsey abstained from any Board decision regarding FBR's engagement. Thus the Company and the underwriters do
not believe the directorships of Messrs. Altobello and Ramsey present a risk to the Company.
Any balanced discussion of a the potential risks of a conflict of interest stemming from FBR's relationship with the Company would also need to
include offsetting disclosure that addressed why the Company and the underwriters did not believe that the potential risks actually existed. That type of
analysis, however, does not lend itself to risk factor disclosure-the Staff has consistently taken the position that mitigating language is inappropriate in a
risk factor section. The Company and the underwriters note that disclosure of these relationships is included in the "Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions," "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" and "Underwriting" sections of the prospectus, and thus this
information is disclosed clearly to investors. The Company and the underwriters believe these sections are the appropriate location for disclosure of this
information as the relationships do not pose a risk to the Company.
The JER Fund III partnership agreement limits our ability to invest in certain real estate structured finance products, page 11
9.

We note that you state: "[t]he JER Fund III partnership agreement restricts our manager's ability to cause us to invest in real estate
structured finance products." Please revise, here and on page 57, to further describe and quantify the restriction. Please revise to describe
what "related securities" are. In this connection, we note your response to prior comment 98. Please supplementally provide us with a copy of
the JER Fund III partnership agreement. We may have further comment.
The disclosure on pages 12, 61-62 and 73-74 of the prospectus has been revised in response to the Staff's comment. We have supplementally
provided the Staff with the JER Fund III partnership agreement.
Interest rate fluctuations could reduce our ability to generate income on our investments and may cause losses, page 14

10.

Please disclose in this risk factor the impact on your net income of a 100 basis point change in interest rates. We note the similar disclosure on
page 45.
We have added disclosure on page 16 of the prospectus in response to the Staff's comment.

Investments in net lease properties may generate losses, page 20
11.

We note your response to prior comment 22. Please revise the list of generic risks to describe the specific risks associated with net leases,
including the risk that tenants may fail to fulfill their lease obligations of maintenance and repair and the difficulty of releasing property that
may have been suited to the particular needs of the former tenant.
The risk factor disclosure on pages 21-22 of the prospectus has been revised in response to the Staff's comment.

Our manager has discretion in the use of the proceeds of this offering and investors in this offering will not have an opportunity to evaluate the
investments that may be made with the proceeds of this offering, page 31

Peggy Kim, Esq.
Division of Corporation Finance
Securities and Exchange Commission
Page 5
12.

We note your response to comment 20. Please disclose, if accurate, that after the offering and the use of the proceeds as provided in the
prospectus, you will be able to re-borrow the amounts repaid on your repurchase agreements in order to make new investments.
The risk factor disclosure on page 32 of the prospectus has been revised in response to the Staff's comment to disclose that after the offering and
the use of proceeds as provided in the prospectus, the Company may reborrow amounts repaid under its repurchase agreements in order to make new
investments and stockholders will not have an opportunity to evaluate these investments.

Use of Proceeds, page 34
13.

We note that in the risk factor on page 31 you state that the manager has discretion to use some of the proceeds to repay debt and some of the
proceeds to acquire unidentified assets. Please revise the Use of Proceeds section to describe this discretion and estimate the amounts that may
be used to repay outstanding debt and the amounts that will be used to acquire assets that have not yet been identified. Refer to Instruction 7
of Item 504 of Regulation S-K.
We have revised the risk factor on page 32 to delete the language that stated that the Company has discretion in the use of proceeds from this
offering to acquire assets. The Company intends to use all of the proceeds from this offering to repay its outstanding indebtedness under its two
repurchase agreements.

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, page 39
Trends, page 39
14.

Please expand your disclosure about how the historical lending practices of bank lenders will provide opportunities for mezzanine lending. In
particular, please briefly explain these historical lending practices.
The disclosure on page 41 of the prospectus has been revised in response to the Staff's comment.

Rising interest rate environment, page 39
15.

Please discuss the effect of rising interest rates on prepayment proceeds, as disclosed on page 16.
We have added the sentence from page 16 to page 41 in response to the Staff's comment.

Peggy Kim, Esq.
Division of Corporation Finance
Securities and Exchange Commission
Page 6
Results of Operations, page 42
16.

We note your response to our prior comment 43 and the related changes to your disclosure. Revise your disclosure to include the following
disclosures:
•

The manner in which management uses the non-GAAP measure to conduct or evaluate its business;

•

The economic substance behind management's decision to use the measure;

•

The material limitations associated with use of the non-GAAP financial measure as compared to the use of the most directly comparable
GAAP financial measure; and

•

The manner in which management compensates for these limitations when using the non-GAAP financial measure.

Refer to question 8 of the Frequently Asked Questions Regarding the Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures dated June 13, 2003.
The disclosure on page 45 of the prospectus has been revised in response to the Staff's comment.
Liquidity and Capital Resources, page 43
17.

We have considered your response to our prior comment 45. In a supplemental response explain how you have considered your commitments
to acquire loans subsequent to year end in your analysis.
Any commitments as of December 31, 2004 to fund new investments were expected to be and have been funded through additional borrowings
under debt facilities, remaining cash on hand and cash flow provided by operations.

Our Company, page 47
Targeted Investments, page 49
18.

We note your response to comment 57. In addition to disclosing that you will purchase and originate your investments, please provide a brief
description of the differences between these two sources of investments, including the differences in competitive conditions, your capabilities,
your business relationships and the relative risks and profit margins. In addition, please disclose the percentage of your portfolio to date that
you originated.

Peggy Kim, Esq.
Division of Corporation Finance
Securities and Exchange Commission
Page 7
The disclosure on page 52 of the prospectus has been revised in response to the Staff's comment.
Our Investments, page 52
19.

We have considered your response to our prior comment 62. In a supplemental response, please explain how you had concluded that you were
the primary beneficiary of the Re-REMIC Trust as of September 30, 2004 and the change in assumptions that lead you to conclude that you
were no longer the primary beneficiary as of year end. Additionally, please explain to us how you arrived at the conclusion that despite the
existence of voting rights, the issuing trusts for your four CMBS transactions still qualify as QSPE in accordance with SFAS 140. Cite any
relevant accounting literature in your response.
The Company initially believed the Re-remic trust formed in 2004 (the "Re-remic Trust") was not a qualified special purpose entity under SFAS
140 based on the Company's understanding at that time of the nature of certain voting powers held by the assets of the Re-remic Trust (which are
beneficial interests in other trusts). As such, the Company applied FIN 46 and believed that consolidation was required.
Subsequent to its initial filing, the Company had several follow-up discussions with other industry participants and the attorneys involved in
developing the relevant governing documents of the Re-remic Trusts that clarified the Company's understanding of the voting rights in the Re-remic
Trust transaction. Based on this analysis, the Company has revised its initial conclusion and now believes the Re-remic Trust is a qualifying special
purpose entity.
Paragraphs 35 and 39 of SFAS 140 provide that to be a qualifying special purpose entity an entity can hold only passive financial assets.
Specifically, paragraph 39 states:
"a financial asset or derivative instrument is passive only if holding the asset or instrument does not involve the holder in making decisions other
than the decisions inherent in servicing (paragraph 61). An equity instrument is not passive if the qualifying SPE can exercise the voting rights and is
permitted to choose how to vote."
The assets held by the Re-remic Trust allow the Re-remic Trust to vote to make certain amendments to the documents of the underlying trusts
that formed the beneficial interests the Re-remic Trust holds. While the Company was initially concerned that such voting rights could be substantive,
the Company now understands that these rights are not substantive. Any votes would be for amendments for minor technical corrections. Any
substantive amendments would require a vote of the majority of the beneficial interest holders of the underlying trusts themselves, which would involve
classes of interest holders containing

Peggy Kim, Esq.
Division of Corporation Finance
Securities and Exchange Commission
Page 8
significantly more votes than are held by the Re-remic Trust. Historically, there have been very few (if any) amendments to Remic transactions other
than for administrative changes.
The Re-Remic Trust also has the ability to appoint the special servicer to an underlying trust. We believe this is a permitted activity of a QSPE as
it is an inherent right related to the servicing of the beneficial interests the Re-remic Trust holds. Under paragraph 35 (c) (4) of SFAS 140, a QSPE is
allowed to hold servicing rights, and as such the Company believes the QSPE would also be able to hold the right to appoint the servicer (or special
servicer). Of course, the entity is restricted to servicing activities in which it can engage, as described in FAS 140 and the related Q&A's.
To further support the Company's conclusion to not consolidate the Re-remic Trust, the Company also revisited its FIN 46 analysis. In reperforming the analysis, the Company concluded that its previous assessment was incomplete and that expected losses and related variability should
include both credit losses and the impact of changing interest rates because all of the Re-remic Trust's investments are fixed rate instruments. This is in
contrast to the analysis performed for the Company's September 30, 2004 financial statements, which simply measured the loss exposure to credit losses
and not interest rate variability. Based on the updated analysis, the Company concluded that it was not the primary beneficiary.
It should be noted that only the Re-remic Trust has underlying assets with potential voting rights. For the three additional transactions undertaken
in the fourth quarter of 2004, the underlying assets are predominantly commercial mortgage loans that do not have voting rights and are deemed to be
passive assets under the guidance set forth in paragraph 39.
20.

To the extent you are no longer required to consolidate the Re-REMIC Trust, please clarify if there is any exposure related to the trust that
could impact your liquidity or financial condition. If so, please disclose any risks for these off-balance sheet arrangements in your MD&A.
Reference is made to Item 303(A)(4) of Regulation S-K.
There are no requirements of the investment in the Re-Remic trust held by the Company to fund additional capital to, repay the indebtedness of
or pay principal or interest with respect to the other certificates issued by such Re-Remic trust. Therefore, the Company does not believe that the ReRemic trust adversely impacts the liquidity of the Company beyond what has been disclosed and stated in the registration statement.
Credit and Interest Rate Risk Management, page 54

Peggy Kim, Esq.
Division of Corporation Finance
Securities and Exchange Commission
Page 9
21.

We note your response to comment 64 and 67. Please disclose the number of employees of J.E. Robert that will be dedicated to the manager for
the purposes of reviewing and monitoring your credit risk, conducting your due diligence and performing your asset management functions.
We have added disclosure on page 62 of the prospectus in response to the Staff's comment.

Our Manager and the Management Agreement, page 63
The Management Agreement, page 65
22.

We note that the manager is completely dependent on J.E. Robert in fulfilling its obligations under the management agreement. Please disclose
what contractual rights exist between the manager and J.E. Robert. Please also disclose what rights, if any, you have to proceed against J.E.
Robert for its actions with respect to you and the manager. In addition, please disclose any risks to you of entering into a management
agreement with what appears to be a shell entity.
We have added disclosure on page 70 and in the risk factors on page 11 of the prospectus in response to the Staff's comment.

23.

Please disclose the number of employees that are provided by J.E. Robert to the manager for the purposes of fulfilling its obligations under the
management agreement.
We have added a paragraph on page 62 that discusses the Services Agreement among the Company, the Manager and J.E. Robert Company and
the obligations of J.E. Robert Company to provide the Manager with employees for the purposes of reviewing and monitoring the Company's credit
risk, conducting the Company's due diligence and performing the Company's asset management functions in response to the Staff's comment.
Management Fees and Incentive Compensation, page 66

24.

We refer to our earlier comment regarding calculation of the incentive fee. If the incentive fee may be increased as a result of a decrease in
your share price and share offerings at the reduced price, please provide appropriate disclosure in your discussion of items that may impact
the incentive fee.
We direct the Staff to our response to comment number 7 above.

Certain Relationships and Related Parts, Transactions, page 78

Peggy Kim, Esq.
Division of Corporation Finance
Securities and Exchange Commission
Page 10
25.

We note your response to prior comment 75 and your statement: "[t]he offers and sales made to Qualified Institutional Buyers were made
pursuant to Rule 144A of the Securities Act and the offers and sales made to individual investors were made in reliance on Rule 506 of the
Securities Act. Please note that Rule 506 applies to offers and sales by issuers. Please supplementally tell us the exemptions relied upon for the
initial offer of shares to FBR and the resale by FBR in June 2004. Specifically, please confirm that FBR relied only on Rule 144A and
Regulation S for its resales, or advise us.
The offers and sales made to Qualified Institutional Buyers were made pursuant to Rule 144A of the Securities Act, and FBR acted as initial
purchaser with respect to shares sold pursuant to Rule 144A. The offers and sales made to individual investors pursuant to Rule 506 were made directly
from the Company to such individual investors in reliance on Rule 506 of the Securities Act. FBR acted as placement agent with respect to the shares
sold pursuant to Rule 506. All sales made by the Company pursuant to Rule 506 were made directly to investors, not resold through FBR. Because the
offerings were simultaneous, the Company entered into a single agreement with FBR that was a purchase/placement agreement in connection with such
sales that covered separately, where appropriate, the two separate forms of offerings and FBR's role as initial purchaser in the 144A offering and as
placement agent in the Rule 506 offering. We confirm to the Staff that FBR relied only on Rule 144A and Regulation S for its resales.

Selling Stockholders, page 80
26.

We note your responses to prior comments 76-79. We may have further comment on the selling stockholder disclosure when it is filed. Also,
please confirm that you will include this information in any preliminary prospectus that you distribute to potential investors.
We note the Staff's comment and confirm that we will include all selling stockholder information in any preliminary prospectus that the Company
distributes to potential investors.

Description of Capital Stock, page 81
27.

We note your response to prior comment 80. Please disclose the information described in Item 201(a) of Regulation S-K with respect to the
trading of your common stock as reported on the PORTAL Market.
We have added a table on page 39 of the prospectus in response to the Staff's comment.
Common Stock, page 81

Peggy Kim, Esq.
Division of Corporation Finance
Securities and Exchange Commission
Page 11
28.

We note your response to comment 82. Since the opinion will be filed prior to effectiveness, please confirm that you will update this disclosure
prior to effectiveness.
Because the opinion will be filed prior to effectiveness, the disclosure on page 85 of the prospectus has been revised to state that Maryland
counsel has opined that all shares offered under the prospectus will be duly authorized, fully paid and non-assessable, subject to standard assumptions.

Financial Statements
Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm page F-2
29.

It appears that the second paragraph of the audit report has been amended to include some of the suggested language from AU Section
9508.18. The suggested modification from AU 9508.18 also includes the following language "The Company is not required to have, nor were we
engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting." Either revise to include this additional sentence or have your
auditors tell us why they believe revision is not necessary. We may have further comment upon review of the response.
The Company's independent public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, has provided the Company with the following information in response
to this comment:
"We have included the additional language in the scope paragraph of our report to clarify that the purpose and extent of our consideration of internal
control over financial reporting was to determine that the nature, timing and extent of tests to be performed were appropriate in the circumstances, but
was not sufficient to express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Inclusion of this language is consistent with the
recent release from the AICPA's Center for Public Company Audit Firms (CPCAF). Although the wording included in our report differs slightly from
the language included in Interpretation No. 18 to SAS 59, Reports on Audited Financial Statements, and the alternative included in the CPCAF release,
we have previously discussed this wording with individuals in the Chief Accountant's Office of the Division of Corporation Finance, who agreed to
accept the revised wording in our reports."

Consolidated Statement of Earnings, page F-4
30.

We note your response to our prior comment 92. Please revise your income statement to parenthetically note next to general and
administrative expenses
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that the amount is exclusive of stock based compensation which is shown separately.
The disclosure on pages 10, 40 and F-4 of the prospectus has been revised in response to the Staff's comment.
CMBS, page F-11
31.

Please explain to us how you considered the disclosure requirements of EITF 03-1 in preparing your disclosure.
The Company assessed the disclosure requirements of EITF 03-1 in preparing the CMBS footnote to the financial statements. Included in that
footnote is a table showing the cost, fair value and unrealized gains/losses for the Company's CMBS securities. Because none of the Company's
investments have been owned for twelve months (and the majority were acquired in the fourth quarter), the disclosures set forth in paragraph 21a.(2) of
EITF 03-1 are not applicable for the December 31, 2004 financial statements.
Similarly, the Company believes the disclosure covers the relevant information set forth in 21b, particularly when considering that most of the
investments were acquired in the fourth quarter. The Company describes the nature of the investments b(1), the severity and duration b(4), and when
taken with other disclosure, the number of positions in a loss position. Overall, the reason for the decline in fair value for those assets in an unrealized
loss position was due to changes in the market interest rates ( i.e., the ten year treasury) during the period from acquisition to the balance sheet date.
The Company would expect to expand its disclosure in future filings in which it has held investments for more than a twelve month period.

Stock Option and Incentive Award Plan, page F-15
32.

We have considered your response to our prior comment 96. How did you determine that it was appropriate to recognize the entire expense for
stock granted to the Manager prior to the Manager satisfying the performance criteria under SFAS 123 and EITF 00-18? Please cite any
relevant accounting literature in your response.
The Company considered the guidance set forth in FAS 123, EITF 00-18 and EITF 96-18 in determining its accounting for the shares issued to
the Manager. The Company believes that the facts and circumstances for determining a measurement date in this situation are different than those
addressed by EITF 96-18 and EITF 00-18. The relationship of the Manager to the Company is much more similar to that of an employee than a third
party non-employee. Most
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employees are economically dependent on the employer and, therefore, presumptively will perform under a contractual arrangement; otherwise, the
employee would risk losing his or her job. By contrast, a nonemployee does not have the same commitment to the issuing company, and generally has
multiple sources of revenue. The Company believes that it is this distinction that drives the guidance of determining a measurement date under EITF
96-18 (because of the subjectivity of the relationship between the nonemployee and the company, performance cannot be presumed unless the
arrangement contains a substantive disincentive for nonperformance). In the Company's case, the Manager has the same characteristics as an employee
as it provides all day to day functions from an operational, strategic and financial standpoint on behalf of the Company. Also, other than incidental
revenue (e.g. interest earned on cash accounts), the Manager has no sources of revenue other than what is earned as a result of its services to the
Company. Therefore, the Company believes a measurement date exists as of the date of grant because performance under the contract can be presumed
at that date given the fact that the Manager is economically dependent on the Company and the Company cannot carry out its day to day operations
without the Manager.
The shares (which were fully vested at the grant date) were awarded to the Manager in return for effecting the private placement offering that
raised the initial capital for the Company. The Registration Rights Agreement, entered into at the time of the private placement, stipulates that the
Company is required to use "commercially reasonable efforts" to file a Registration Statement within 9 months, otherwise the Manager would forfeit
one-half of its shares. Since there is no requirement that the Registration Statement be declared effective and the filing of a Registration Statement is
solely in control of the Company and the Manager, we believe that at the date of grant, there was no doubt that the Company would file such a
Registration Statement. Additionally, we viewed the filing of the Registration Statement as a perfunctory obligation (since it was not required that the
filing be declared effective). And, in fact, the Company did file a Registration Statement within the 9 month period. Both EITF 96-18 and EITF 00-18
stipulate that "any measured cost of the transaction should be recognized in the same period(s) and in the same manner (that is, capitalize versus
expense) as if the enterprise had paid cash for the goods or services." Accordingly, the Company believes recording the stock award expense in 2004
accurately reflects the economics of the award, as all the significant services for which the award was granted occurred in 2004 and represents how the
transaction would have been recorded if the Manager received cash as compensation.
Part II. Information Not Required in Prospectus
Item 33. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities, page II-1
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33.

We note that it appears that you have combined several transactions in the second paragraph. Please revise the disclosure of the June 2004
transactions to separately describe:
•

The initial purchase by FBR including the date, title and amount of securities, consideration and the exemption relied upon.

•

The resale by FBR including the exemptions relied upon and identifying the types of purchasers.

•

Each sale of securities by the company to purchasers other than FBR.
The disclosure on pages II-1 and II-2 of the Registration Statement has been revised in response to the Staff's comment.

Exhibits
Legal Opinion
34.

We note assumption 6 and the pricing committee resolutions regarding among other things, authorization of the issuance of stock, setting
consideration, and reclassification of unissued stock. Please remove assumption 6, or tell us how counsel will be able to opine that the shares
are validly authorized and issued, fully paid, and non-assessable given this assumption.
Once the pricing committee meets and adopts resolutions regarding authorization of the issuance of Common Stock, consideration, and
reclassification of unissued stock, among other things, the final version of the Exhibit 5 opinion will be filed, in which Maryland counsel will remove
assumption number 6.

Tax Opinion
35.

We note that in the last paragraph you state that the opinion "may not be relied upon by anyone else without our prior written consent."
Please omit this sentence since it implies that investors may not rely upon your opinion.
We will delete the sentence as per the Staff's comment before filing the tax opinion.
*

*

*

*

Any questions or comments relating to the foregoing or the enclosed materials should be directed to the undersigned at (212) 735-3669.
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Very truly yours,
/s/ Tymour Okasha
Tymour Okasha
cc:

Michael McTiernan, Esq.,
Division of Corporation Finance
Securities and Exchange Commission
Robert Telewicz,
Division of Corporation Finance
Securities and Exchange Commission
Cicely Luckey
Senior Staff Accountant
Division of Corporation Finance
Securities and Exchange Commission
Daniel T. Ward,
Secretary
JER Investors Trust Inc.
Kari L. Doescher,
Chief Financial Officer
JER Investors Trust Inc.
David C. Wright,
Hunton & Williams LLP
David J. Goldschmidt

Annex A
Example 1: No Additional Equity Raise
Assume the following:
•

Funds from Operations for the quarter equals $5,000,000;
11,845,010 shares of common stock are outstanding and the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the quarter is
11,845,010;
• U.S. Treasury rate is 4.5%; and
•
Weighted average offering price per share of common stock is $15.00.
Under these assumptions, the quarterly incentive fee payable to our manager would be $250,577 as calculated below:
•

1. Funds from Operations per share ($5,000,000/11,845,010)
2. Weighted average offering price per share of common stock ($15.00) multiplied by the greater of (A) 2.25% or (B) 0.875% plus one-fourth of
10-year U.S. Treasury rate
3. Excess of Funds from Operations per share over amount calculated in 2 above ($0.4221—$0.3375)
4. Weighted average number of shares outstanding multiplied by the amount calculated in 3 above (11,845,010 x $0.0846)
5. Incentive Fee equals 25% of amount calculated in 4 above

$

0.4221

$ 0.3375
$ 0.0846
$1,002,309
$ 250,577

Example 2: $30 Million Equity Offering at $10/share
Assume the following:
•

Funds from Operations for the quarter equals $5,000,000;
14,845,010 shares of common stock are outstanding and the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the quarter is
14,845,010;
•
U.S. Treasury rate is 4.5%;
•
Weighted average offering price per share of common stock is $13.99; and
•
At the beginning of the quarter, 3,000,000 new shares were issued at $10 per share.
Under these assumptions, the quarterly incentive fee payable to our manager would be $81,827 as calculated below:
•

1. Funds from Operations per share ($5,000,000/14,845,010)
$0.3368
2. Weighted average offering price per share of common stock ($13.99) multiplied by the greater of (A) 2.25% or (B) 0.875% plus one-fourth of 10year U.S. Treasury rate
$0.3148
3. Excess of Funds from Operations per share over amount calculated in 2 above ($0.3368 - $0.3148)
$0.0220

4. Weighted average number of shares outstanding multiplied by the amount calculated in 3 above (14,845,010 x $0.0220)
5. Incentive Fee equals 25% of amount calculated in 4 above

$ 327,309
$ 81,827

Example 3: $30 Million Equity Offering at $20/share
Assume the following:
•

Funds from Operations for the quarter equals $5,000,000;
13,345,010 shares of common stock are outstanding and the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the quarter is
13,345,010;
•
U.S. Treasury rate is 4.5%;
•
Weighted average offering price per share of common stock is $15.56; and
•
At the beginning of the new quarter, 1,500,000 million new shares were issued at $20 per share.
Under these assumptions, the quarterly incentive fee payable to our manager would be $81,827 as calculated below:
•

1. Funds from Operations per share ($5,000,000/13,345,010)
2. Weighted average offering price per share of common stock ($15.56) multiplied by the greater of (A) 2.25% or (B) 0.875% plus one-fourth of
10-year U.S. Treasury rate
3. Excess of Funds from Operations per share over amount calculated in 2 above ($0.3747—$0.3501)
4. Weighted average number of shares outstanding multiplied by the amount calculated in 3 above (13,345,010 x $0.0245)
5. Incentive Fee equals 25% of amount calculated in 4 above

$ 0.3747
$ 0.3501
$ 0.0245
$327,309
$ 81,827

